Department of Water Affairs and Forestry

Chief Directorate: Resource Directed Measures

COMPREHENSIVE RESERVE DETERMINATION STUDY FOR SELECTED WATER RESOURCES (RIVERS, GROUNDWATER AND WETLANDS) IN THE INKOMATI WATER MANAGEMENT AREA, MPUMALANGA

SABIE AND CROCODILE SYSTEMS: MAIN REPORT

MARCH 2010

PREPARED BY: Rivers for Africa PO Box 1684 Derdepark Pretoria 0053

DWAF Project No: WP 9133 Report No: 26/8/3/10/12/015



Reports as part of this project:

Report no	Report title
26/8/3/10/12/001	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Inception report
26/8/3/10/12/002	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Desktop EcoClassification report
26/8/3/10/12/003	Newsletters
26/8/3/10/12/004	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Basic Human Needs Reserve report
26/8/3/10/12/005	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Groundwater report
26/8/3/10/12/006	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Resource Unit report
26/8/3/10/12/007	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Desktop Estimation report
26/8/3/10/12/008	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Wetland report
26/8/3/10/12/009	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: EcoClassification report
26/8/3/10/12/010	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: EWR scenario report
26/8/3/10/12/011	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Operation scenarios and consequences report
26/8/3/10/12/012	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: EcoSpecs report
26/8/3/10/12/013	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Socio Economic Present State Evaluation Report
26/8/3/10/12/014	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Training audit and report
26/8/3/10/12/015	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Main report
26/8/3/10/12/016	Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for selected water resources in the Inkomati WMA, Mpumalanga: Electronic information and data

Bold indicates this report

REFERENCES

This report is to be referred in bibliographies as:

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Main Report: Prepared by Water for Africa, compiled by D Louw and S Koekemoer. Report no. 26/8/3/10/12/015.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

CHAPTER 3 DESKTOP ECOCLASSIFICATION

The EcoQuat model used in this study was designed by RQS. Dr Kleynhans is especially thanked for his guidance, input and participation in the running of the EcoQuat model and the refinement of the EIS. Mr Engelbrecht and Mr Roux are thanked for the input and data they provided in populating the model.

The Socio-Cultural Importance model was designed during various projects and updated for these projects by Greg Huggins (Water for Africa).

The evaluation process to determine locality of hotspots, the evaluation matrices, and the presentation of results was developed and designed, prior to this project, by Delana Louw (Water for Africa).

The Water Resource Use Importance was conceptually designed by Toriso Tlou (previous projects) and refined by Delana Louw, Pieter van Rooyen (Water Resources Planning) and Stephen Mallory (Water for Africa).

The specialists from the Project Team involved in the 2005 study were:

- Ms Delana Louw (Water for Africa);
- Mr Greg Huggins (Water for Africa);
- Mr Toriso Tlou (Water for Africa);

The specialists from DWAF: RQS and Mpumalanga Parks Board involved in the 2005 study were:

- Dr CJ Kleynhans
- Ms Christa Thirion
- Dr Johan Engelbrecht
- Mr Francios Roux

CHAPTER 6: WETLAND TYPING AND ECOCLASSIFICATION

Ms. Jackie Jay from the DWA: RDM Chief Directorate is thanked for the recommendations with regard to the wetland information requirements of the Department of Water Affairs (DWA). The assistance received from Mrs Nicolene Fourie (DWA: GIS Directorate) in obtaining relevant GIS layers is gratefully acknowledged.

The South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) kindly allowed use of their draft National Wetland Probability Map for this study. Mr Allan Batchelor kindly provided insight and information regarding the wetlands of the Msukaligwa and Albert Luthuli Local Municipal Districts.

The river Desktop Present Ecological State (PES) and Ecological Importance and Sensitivity (EIS) models, developed by Dr Neels Kleynhans, were used as templates for the development of similar assessment tools for wetlands at the quaternary and sub-quaternary scale. Without the initial development of the river tools, modification to wetland-appropriate assessment tools would not have been easily possible. Dr Neels Kleynhans also very kindly assisted with sourcing old TPA wetland reports for the region.

The valuable reviewing and resultant comments and suggestions provided by Delana Louw and Shael Koekemoer for this report, and by Patsy Scherman, Delana Louw and Shael Koekemoer on similar wetland studies, have greatly improved this report, and their contributions are gratefully acknowledged.

CHAPTER 7: RESOURCE UNITS

Dr Neels Kleynhans, DWAF, RQS, for providing methods and approaches, review, and guidance.

Contributors to the report: Dr Patsy Scherman (Physico-chemical variables) Dr Drew Birkhead (Hydraulics) Dr Piet Kotze (Fish) Dr Mandy Uys (Aquatic invertebrates) James Mackenzie (Riparian vegetation) Mark Rountree (Fluvial Geomorphology) Stephen Mallory (System Hydrology) Adhishri Singh (Review) Shileen Louw (Editing)

CHAPTER 8: ECOCLASSIFICATION (LEVEL 4) OF EWR SITES

Dr Neels Kleynhans, DWA: RQS, for providing methods and approaches, review, and guidance.

Contributors to the report and specialist meeting:

Dr Deacon, Andrew (Fish) Ms Koekemoer, Shael (Diatoms and Editing) Dr Kleynhans, Neels (Fish and EcoClassification specialist) Dr Kotze, Piet (Fish and report review) Ms Louw, Delana (IHI & process facilitator) Mr Mackenzie, James (Riparian vegetation) Mr Mallory, Stephen (System Hydrology) Mr Rountree, Mark (Fluvial Geomorphology) Dr Scherman, Patsy (Physico-chemical variables) Ms Singh, Adhishri (Report review) Ms Thirion, Christa (Macroinvertebrates) Ms Todd, Colleen (Macroinvertebrates) Dr Uys, Mandy (Macroinvertebrates) Ms Vos, Petro (Macroinvertebrates)

The following trainees participated in the workshop:

The following trainees participated in the workshop: Mr de Castro, Tony (Riparian vegetation) Dr Dickens, Chris (Physico-chemical variables) Mr Niehaus, Brenton (Macroinvertebrates) Mr Senoge, Ntaki (Macroinvertebrates) Dr Wepener, Victor (Physico-chemical variables)

CHAPTER 9: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT

Dr Neels Kleynhans, DWA: RQS, for providing methods and approaches, review, and guidance.

Contributors to the report and specialist meeting:

Dr Birkhead, Drew (Hydraulics) Dr Deacon, Andrew (Fish) Mr Hoffman, Andre (Fish) Prof Hughes, Denis (Hydrology) Ms Koekemoer, Shael (Editing) Dr Kleynhans, Neels (Fish and EcoClassification specialist) Dr Kotze, Piet (Fish) Ms Louw, Delana (Process facilitator) Mr Mackenzie, James (Riparian vegetation) Mr Mallory, Stephen (System Hydrology) Mr Rountree, Mark (Fluvial Geomorphology) Ms Singh, Adhishri (Report review) Ms Thirion, Christa (Macroinvertebrates) Dr Uys, Mandy (Macroinvertebrates)

Trainees:

The following trainees participated in the workshop: Mr Desai, Ahmed (Hydraulics) Mr Hlongwane, Lindo (Geomorphology) Mr Senoge, Ntaki (Macroinvertebrates) Ms Vos, Petro (Macroinvertebrates)

CHAPTER 10: OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

Other contributors through personal communication with the author: *Mr Brian Jackson, Incomati Catchment Management Agency*

Trainees:

The following trainees assisted with the analyses and report writing: Mr Desai, Ahmed (Hydraulics and Systems Analysis)

CHAPTER 11: ECOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

Ecological Consequences:

Dr Neels Kleynhans, DWA: RQS, for providing methods and approaches, review, and guidance.

Contributors to the report and specialist meeting:

Dr Deacon, Andrew (Fish) Ms Koekemoer, Shael (Editing) Dr Kotze, Piet (Fish) Ms Louw, Delana (Process facilitator) Mr Mackenzie, James (Riparian vegetation) Mr Mallory, Stephen (System Hydrology) Mr Rountree, Mark (Fluvial Geomorphology) Dr Scherman, Patsy (Physico-chemical variables) Ms Thirion, Christa (Macroinvertebrates) Dr Uys, Mandy (Macroinvertebrates)

Contributors to the process:

Dr Kleynhans, Neels (D:RQS)

Trainees:

The following trainees participated in the workshop: Mr Hlongwane, Lindo (Geomorphology) Mr Senoge, Ntaki (Macroinvertebrates) Ms Vos, Petro (Macroinvertebrates)

Goods and Services Consequences:

The specialists from the Project Team involved in this study were: Dr Deacon, Andrew Dr Kotze, Piet Ms Louw, Delana Mr Mackenzie, James Mr Rountree, Mark Dr Scherman, Patsy Ms Thirion, Christa

CHAPTER 12: PRESENT STATE EVALUATION AND MACRO ECONOMIC CONSEQUENCES

Authors of the report:

Ms Koekemoer, Shael (Editing) Dr Kotze, Piet (Fish and report review)

Ms Louw, Delana (Process)

Mr Mackenzie, James (Riparian vegetation)

Mr Rountree, Mark (Fluvial geomorphology and wetlands)

Ms Thirion, Christa (Macroinvertebrates)

Dr Uys, Mandy (Macroinvertebrates)

Mr Greg Huggins (Goods and Services)

Contributors to the process:

Dr Kleynhans, Neels

Mr Angliss, Mick (Limpopo Department of Economic Development Environment and Tourism: Biodiversity and Resource Use Management)

Mr Rogers, Stan (Limpopo Department of Economic Development Environment and Tourism: Biodiversity and Resource Use Management)

Trainees:

The following trainees participated in the workshop Mr de Castro, Tony (Riparian vegetation) Mr Grant, Byron (Physico-chemical variables)

CHAPTER 13: GOODS AND SERVICES CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS Authors of the report:

William Mullins

Contributors to the process:

Toriso Tlou Stephan Mallory

Trainee: *Riekie Cloete*

CHAPTER 13: IDENTIFICATION OF ECOSPECS

Dr Neels Kleynhans, DWA: RQS, for providing methods and approaches, review, and guidance.

Contributors to the report and specialist meeting:

Dr Deacon, Andrew (Fish) Ms Koekemoer, Shael (Diatoms and Editing) Dr Kotze, Piet (Fish and report review) Ms Louw, Delana (Process facilitator) Mr Mackenzie, James (Riparian vegetation) Mr Rountree, Mark (Fluvial Geomorphology) Dr Scherman, Patsy (Physico-chemical variables) Ms Thirion, Christa (Macroinvertebrates) Dr Uys, Mandy (Macroinvertebrates)

CHAPTER 14: ESTIMATION AND EXTRAPOLATION OF EWRS AT SELECTED HYDRONODES

The Desktop Reserve model adjustments for hydronodes in the Sabie, Crocodile and Mokolo River catchments were performed by D Birkhead, D Louw, J Mackenzie, A Desai and M Uys.

Dr CJ Kleynhans developed and ran the models to determine the biophysical similarity of sites and predict the indicator fish guilds.

Stephen Mallory and Delana Louw developed the methods to present the results based on the yield modelling.

BACKGROUND

The CD:RDM identified the Inkomati Water Management Area (WMA) as requiring a comprehensive Reserve assessment in light of the initiation of the Compulsory Licensing Process in the WMA and the proposed construction of the Montrose and Mountain View Dams. These studies require higher levels of confidence in the Reserve determination results as is currently available in certain catchments, such as the Sabie-Sand and Crocodile River catchments. The results of a Comprehensive Reserve study in these catchments would thus assist DWA to make informed decisions regarding the authorisation of future water use and the magnitude of the impacts of the present and proposed developments.

STUDY AREA

The Reserve requirements for the Komati River system (the remaining major river system in WMA 5) was determined and approved in 2003, the results of which are at a high confidence and are still relevant for use and implementation by the DWA. As such it was deemed unnecessary to include this system in the study area. The focus of this study therefore is only on the Crocodile (X2) and Sabie-Sand (X3) catchments.

PROJECT PLAN

The project plan designed around the 8 step Reserve process is illustrated in the flow diagram below.



The numbers in the flow diagram refers to the study tasks. Various reports have been produced for these tasks and these reports, with specific emphasis on the results, are summarised in this main report.

An extensive training programme was also followed as part of the study.

DESKTOP ECOCLASSIFICATION: CATCHMENT SCALE

Rivers

This task provides EcoClassification information at a scoping or desktop level, as well as a more detailed assessment. The purpose of EcoClassification is to gain insight into the causes and sources of the deviation of the PES from the reference condition. This provides the information needed to derive the desirable and attainable future ecological objectives for the river. The present state of the river is described in terms of Ecological Categories (A to F).

A combination of EIS, SCI, and PES provide an indication of overall / integrated importance with the emphasis on the restoration potential. The restoration potential refers to the probability of achieving the rehabilitation of the river to an improved state. The results are provided in the integrated importance map.

The integrated importace was compared to an assessment of Water Resource Use importance to identify quaternary catchments which are so called 'hotspots'. A biodiversity/ecological hotspot is a

biogeographic region which is a significant reservoir of biodiversity which is threatened with destruction (<u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Biodiversity_hotspot</u>). In the context used in the Desktop EcoClassification, the hotspot represents a quaternary catchment with a high Integrated Importance which could be under threat due to its importance for water resource use. These hotspots indicate areas where Reserve assessments should ideally result in high confidence recommendations. This then guides the initial estimate of the level of the assessments required, and indicates areas where detailed investigations would be required if development was being considered.



Crocodile Sub-catchment: Map illustrating areas of high Integrated Importance



Sabie & Sand Sub-catchment: Map illustrating areas of high Integrated Importance



Crocodile Sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water Resource Use)



Sabie & Sand Sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water Resource Use)

Wetlands

The purpose of this study was to identify the major wetland types within the catchment and conduct a predominantly desktop level EcoClassification assessment of wetlands within the Mokolo catchment.

In this catchment the Vegetation Types and Level I and II EcoRegion boundaries were primarily used to delineate the Wetland Resource Units. Six main Wetland Resource Units (WRUs) were delineated, namely the:

- WRU 1: Highveld Grassland WRU.
- WRU 2: Escarpment Grasslands WRU.
- WRU 3: Bushveld WRU, which can be subdivided into the Sour and Mountain Bushveld zones.
- WRU 4: Granite Lowveld WRU.
- WRU 5: Basalt Lowveld WRU; and
- WRU 6: Lebombo WRU.

A summary of the WRU within the Inkomati WMA and associated wetlands are provided in the table below

WRU	Quatenaries	Description	Impacts	PES, EIS
1	Portions of catchments X11 and X12.	High density of large wetlands. Very large pans (rare). The vegetation type is regarded as "Endangered". Assumed that the wetland - dependent species within this vegetation type are similarly threatened.	Widespread agriculture (water quality impacts; trampling/grazing, erosion; encroachment into & channelization). Water quality impacts from mining. Limited impacts from invasive alien plants and the effects of dams drowning some wetlands and reducing water availability.	Moderate - estimates range from a C to C/D EC. High EIS
2	Portions of catchments X11, X12, X21, X23 and X14.	High density of very large wetlands. Ddiversity of types moderate. Vegetation types are "Vulnerable" - assumed that the wetland-dependent species are therefore similarly not critically threatened.	Trout farming - dams drowning wetlands & reducing water availability, water quality impacts and canalisation. Agricultural areas - runoff; trampling/grazing & erosion; encroachment & channelization. Afforestation, invasive alien vegetation, mining.	Most Moderate EIS scores. X21A, X21B, X21C and X21F: High EIS scores. In these quats diversity of wetland types is higher (number of large pans - rare). Density of wetlands high. X21A adjacent to the RAMSAR-listed Verloren Vlei. PES relatively High - estimates range from a B/C to C EC.
3	X22 and portions of catchments X21, X31, X23 & X24.	Moderate (Mountain Bushveld) to low (Sour Bushveld) density. Wetlands moderate to small. Density & diversity is low , density slightly higher in the Sour Bushveld area. Veg type endangered . Veg types in the Mountain Bushveld unit - "Least Threatended" - accounts for the slight differences in average EIS scores.	Extensive afforestation - reduced interflow, reducing water availability for wetlands. Forestry has encroached. Edge effects of forestry & roads disturb wetlands. Result in degradation. Irrigation farming, peri-urban areas of the former homelands and invasive alien vegetation have also caused some wetland degradation.	PES of the wetlands is relatively low - Range from a C to D EC. Quaternary catchments within the Sour Bushveld WRU have Moderate EIS scores, whilst those in the Mountain Bushveld WRU tend to have Low EIS scores.
4	Portions of catchments X31, X32, X40, X33,	Wetlands small or cryptic. Density & diversity very low – few wetlands. Those that do occur are not rare or	Afforestation, agriculture and peri-urban areas. Forestry and the extensive agricultural areas have reduced the area	Low EIS scores. A wide range of PES: D to A ECs - indicative of the diverse conditions. Entire catchments

Summary of WRU and associated wetlands

WRU	Quatenaries	Description	Impacts	PES, EIS
	X24, X14 and X13.	high diversity relative. The vegetation types are listed as "Vulnerable". Large areas of this section of the catchment are protected within significant conservation areas.	of wetlands and the water available. Both landuse activities have encroached in places on the wetlands; whilst per-urban areas have caused erosion (though increased runoff, grazing pressures and confinement of the drainage lines associated with infrastructure development).	are impacted by urbanisation of former homeland areas, Lower quats within KNP and private conservation areas. Little change from reference conditions in these areas; albeit that very few wetlands are found here.
5	Portions of catchments X40, X33, X24 and X13.	Wetlands confined to valley bottom positions. Density and diversity is very low. Few that do occur are not rare types or occur in high diversity relative to one another. The vegetation types are listed as "Least Threatened".	Most of the quaternaries are located within the Kruger National Park, and no significant impacts at a regional (catchment) scale are likely to have occurred.	Low EIS scores. PES very high – in A & B ECs. Notable exceptions are the quaternaries X13J, X13K and X13L which have been heavily impacted by urban and peri- urban areas of the former homelands, as well as by extensive irrigation farming.
6	Portions of catchments X40, X33 and X24.	No wetlands of any regional rainfall and high evaporation Diversity would be very low,	importance are expected due to si demands. and density/occurrence extremely	teep slopes, shallow soils, low low.

. BASIC HUMAN NEEDS RESERVE

In order to calculate the BHNR the following steps were undertaken:

- The population size of the communities/areas dependant on run of river was calculated at quaternary catchment level. The point of departure had been the 2001 National Census at "sub-place name level".
- Communities likely to be reliant on run of river were identified within the catchment. In order to do this, available mapping was consulted. Mapping was checked for its currency and the necessary interviews at a district or local municipal planning level were undertaken to verify the assumptions as to areas/communities dependent on run of river.
- Having calculated the qualifying population per quaternary catchment the next step in determining the BHNR was to project the population to a target date. For the purposes of this exercise the population was projected to a sensible target year. The population was projected using generic growth rates applicable to the kinds of municipalities in the resource area or analysis of all settlement types within the study area and the application of different rates based on settlement type, economic forecasts and from historic trends. For the purposes of the Crocodile East catchments a 0% growth rate was used. Virtually all of the population deemed to be reliant on run of river lives in the rural parts of the catchment. Trends indicate that the growth rate in rural area is negative. As a precautionary measure the population is deemed not to decline but to remain stable.
- Using the population figures a BHNR for the qualifying population can be estimated per quaternary catchment. The results calculated at 25 l per person per day are set out.
- Figures are expressed as m³ per day consumption.

Cumulative BHNR per EWR site in the Incomati WMA



EWR 1	X21A	6.98	0.00255	6.975	0.00255
EWR 2	X21B	9.35	0.00341	16.325	0.00596
EWR 3	X21E	16.90	0.00617	48.825	0.01782
EWR4	X22K	0.00	0.00000	172.425	0.06294
EWR 7	Х23Н	25.18	0.00919	78.575	0.02868
EWR5	X24D	13.98	0.00510	264.975	0.09672
EWR6	X24H	15.25	0.00557	303.325	0.11071
SABIE-SA	ND SUB-CATC	HMENT			
EWR 1	X31B	0.00	0.00000	0	0.00000
EWR 4	X31C	5.03	0.00183	5.025	0.00183
EWR 2	X31D	22.10	0.00807		
EWR 5	X31G	198.85	0.07258	280.025	0.10221
EWR 3	X31K	496.90	0.18137	889.925	0.32482
			0.00/50	454.0	0 16404
	X32C	223.35	0.08152	451.9	0.10494
EWR 6	X32C X32F	223.35 308.10	0.08152 0.11246	451.9 514.35	0.18774

GROUNDWATER COMPONENT OF THE RESERVE

Based on the groundwater flow balance assessment, the quaternary catchments were classified based on the ratio of outflow/inflow, before groundwater evapo-transpiration losses or actual base flow takes place.

There are 5 catchments where further development of groundwater resources should be approached with caution (Figure 5-1).

- Status D = 3 (3.23 %);
- Status E = 2 (2.15 %);

There are 88 quaternary catchments in which the groundwater resource status range from A to C. Additional development of groundwater resources is still possible in these catchments (Figure 5-1):

- Status A = 49 (52.7 %)
- Status B = 30 (32.3 %)
- Status C = 9 (9.68 %);

According to the Groundwater Yield Model and interpretations from the results obtained, the regional groundwater balance calculations of the Inkomati WMA indicate that overall there is a surplus of groundwater in the WMA due to inflow (1 333 319 818 m^3/a) exceeding outflow (114 934 413 m^3/a). The total volume of groundwater recharge is in the order of 1326 Mm^3/a

MANAGEMENT RESOURCE UNITS AND EWR SITES

Resource Units (RUs) are required as it would not be appropriate to set the same numerical Reserve for the headwaters of a river as for the lowland reaches. The breakdown of a catchment into RUs for the purpose of determining the Reserve for rivers is therefore done primarily on a biophysical basis within the catchment and called Natural Resource Units (NRUs). Management requirements (DWAF, 1999, volume 3) also play a role in the delineation. Furthermore, the type of disturbance/impact on river plays a role to select homogenous river reaches from a biophysical basis under present circumstances. These are called Management Resource Units (MRUs).

The results of the delineation are summarized in the table below and illustrated in the map.

Description of MRUs

MRU	Delineation	Quat
	CROCODILE RIVER	
MRU Croc A	Origin of river to upper reaches of Kwena Dam.	X21A, X21B
MRU Croc B	Kwena Dam Wall to the Elands River confluence.	X21D, X21E
MRU Croc C	Elands River confluence to Nelspruit.	X22B, X22C, X22J, X22K
MRU Croc D	Nelspruit to border of KNP.	X22J, X22K, X24C
RUA Croc D.1	Gorge.	X22K, X24C
MRU Croc E	KNP border to Komati confluence.	X24D, X24E, X24G, X24H
	KAAP RIVER	
MRU Kaap A	Confluence of the Noord and Suid Kaap to confluence with the Crocodile.	X23G, X32H, X23B
RAU Kaap A.1	Start and end of Upper Foothills.	X23H, X23G
MRU	Delineation	Quat
	SABIE RIVER	-
MRU Sabie A	Origin of the river to the Marite confluence.	X31A, X31B, X31D
RAU Sabie A.1	Source of river to end of the Mountain Stream.	X31A
RAU Sabie A.2	Mac-Mac confluence to Marite confluence.	X31D
MRU Sabie B	Marite confluence (start of EcoRegion 3.07) to KNP entrance.	X31M, X31K
MRU Sabie B.1	Point where river forms the border of the KNP to the Kruger Gate.	X31M, X31K
MRU Sabie C	Kruger Gate to border of KNP with Mozambique.	X31M, X33A, X33B, X33D
RAU Sabie C.1	Kruger Gate to Sand confluence.	X31M
	SAND & MUTLUMUVI	-
MRU Sand A	Origin of river to confluence with Mutlumuvi.	X32A, X32C
MRU Mutlumuvi A	Origin of river to confluence with Sand.	X32D, X32F
MRU Sand B	Confluence with the Mutlumuvi to the confluence with the Sabie.	X32G, X32H, X32J
RAU Sand B.1	Border of the Sabie Sand to the confluence with the Sabie.	X32G, X32H, X32J

The selection of EWR sites is guided by a number of considerations. The key considerations are:

- The suitability of the sites for accurate hydraulic modelling throughout the range of possible flows, especially low flows.
- Accessibility of the sites.
- An area or site that could be critical for ecosystem functioning. These are often represented by riffle units, where low flow conditions or the cessation of flow constitutes a break in the functioning of the river, and consequently, the biota dependant on this habitat and/or perennial flow are adversely affected. Pools are not considered critical habitats in perennial system since they are still able to function or at least maintain life during periods of no flow.

Details regarding the sites selected are provided in the table below and the map.

Locality and characteristics of the EWR sites.									
Site information	EWR sites	Illustration							
	Crocodile								
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 1 Valyspruit Crocodile EWR 1 X2Croc-Valys -25.49412, 30.14427 S25 29.647, E30 08.656 9.02 Upper Foothills 1852 MRU Croc A X21A Valyspruit -								
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 2 Goedenhoop Crocodile EWR 2 X2CROC-UKWEN -25.40925, 30.31592 S25 24.555, E30 18.955 9.04 Upper Foothills 1207 MRU Croc A X21B Goedenhoop -								
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 3 Poplar Creek Crocodile EWR 3 X2CROC-DKWEN -25.45211, 30.68108 S25 27.127, E30 40.865 10.02 Lower Foothills 834 MRU Croc B X21E Mooifontein X2H013								
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 4 KaNyamazane Crocodile EWR 4 X2CROC-DNELS -25.50243, 31.18198 S25 30.146,E31 10.919 4.04 Lower Foothills 472 MRU Croc D X22K State ground X2H032								

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 5 Malelane Crocodile EWR 5 X2CROC-MALEL -25.48287,31.50773 S25 28.972,E31 30.464 3.07 Lower Foothills 286 MRU Croc E X24D KNP S2H046	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 6 Nkongoma Crocodile EWR 6 X2CROC-NKONG -25.39050,31.97444 S25 23.430, E31 58.467 12.01 Lower Foothills 135 MRU Croc E X24H KNP X2H016	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 7 Honeybird Kaap EWR 7 X2Kaap-Honey -25.64947, 31.24286 S25 38.968, E31 14.572 4.04 Upper Foothills 470 MRU Kaap A X23H Lovedale -	
	Sa	bie-Sand
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 1 Upper Sabie Sabie - - -25.0737, 30.84874 S25 04.424, E30 50.924 4.04 Upper Foothills 862 MRU Sabie A X31B -	

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) MRU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 2 Aan de Vliet Sabie - X3Sabie-Brand -25.0279, 31.05166 S25 01.675, E31 03.099 4.04 Lower Foothills 463 MRU Sabie A, RAU A.2 X31D Evert 5 X3H023	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 3 Kidney Sabie IFR 3 X3Sabie-Sekur -24.9876, 31.29287 S24 59.256,E31 17.572 3.07 Lower Foothills 369 MRU Sabie B.1 X31K KNP X3H021	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 4 Mac Mac Mac Mac - -25.0133, 31.00405 S25 00.800, E31 00.243 4.04 Upper Foothills 582 MRU Mac A X31C Richmond 573 -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 5, Marite Marite IFR 1 ×3Mari-Sandf -25.018, 31.13328 S25 01.077, E31 07.997 4.04 Upper Foothills 457 MRU Mar A X31G 291/33 -	

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 6 Mutlumuvi Mutlumuvi IFR 6 X3Mutl-Thula -24.7559, 31.13205 S24 45.352, E31 07.923 3.05 Upper Foothills 503 MRU Mut A X32F New Forest 234 -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 7 Tlulandziteka Tlulandziteka (Sand) - -24.6805, 31.08647 S24 40.829, E31 05.188 3.07 Lower Foothills 543 MRU Sand A X32C -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 8 Lower Sand Sand IFR 8 X3Sand-Skuku -24.9674, 31.62734 S24 58.045, E31 37.641 3.07 Lower Foothills 250 MRU Sand B, RAU B.1 X32J KNP -	







Report no 26/8/3/10/12/015 Page xxii

ECOCLASSIFICATION (LEVEL 4) OF EWR SITES

The procedure for the EcoClassification of the rivers and Physico-chemical input was according to the revised methods for rivers as outlined in Louw and Hughes (2002), and the EcoClassification manual version 2 (Kleynhans and Louw, 2007). The approach consists broadly of the following steps:

- Determine reference conditions for each component.
- Determine PES for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine the trend for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine reasons for PES and whether these are flow or non-flow related.
- Determine the Ecological Importance and Sensitivity (EIS) for the biota and habitat.
- Considering the PES and the EIS, suggest a realistic Recommended Ecological Category (REC) for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine alternative Ecological Categories (ECs) for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.

The EcoClassification results are summarised in the table below

EcoClassification results for the EWR sites



EIS: High	Driver	PES			
Rare and endangered fish, vegetation and bird spp, some of which are sensitive to flow and quality changes.	Components	Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
PES: B/C	HYDROLOGY	C		В	D
Major problems related to upstream Kwena Dam and its operation, e.g. migration, sedimentation, changed flow regime. The changed flow regime consists of higher than	WATER QUALITY	С		B/C	C/D
natural flows in the dry season and much lower low flows in the wet season.	GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	С
REC: B The EIS is high; therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. This can be	Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
achieved by improving the flow regime (low flows) and removal of exotic vegetation	FISH	В	Stable	В	С
species. AEC down: C/D	MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	Negative	В	C/D
Lower flows than natural in both the dry and wet season. Associated increase in	INSTREAM	B/C		В	С
temperature and oxygen.	RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
	ECOSTATUS	B/C		В	C/D
EWR 4 KaNyamazane (Crocodile River)					
EIS: High	Driver	PES	Trend	REC	AFCI
present. There is also a high species taxon richness and a diversity of habitat types	Components	Category	Trena	REC	AEC
PES: C		C C		R	C
in flow regime due to upstream Kwena Dam and the operation of upstream system.					
Abstractions, return flows, landuse mismanagement, water quality issues, and sedimentation	GEOMORPHOLOGY	B/C	Stable	в	C
REC: B	Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
The EIS is HIGH, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Improvements to flow regime will be required. Only successful if combined with removed of evolution	FISH	В	Stable	В	С
vegetation and if there are some improvement in grazing and browsing.	MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	Stable	В	D
AEC down: C/D	INSTREAM	B/C		В	С
clogged and covered with sediment, reed growth will increase, the marginal zone will	RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
expand and vegetation will encroach.	ECOSTATUS	С		В	C/D
EWD 5 Melalana (Graadila Biyar)					
EWR 5 Malelane (Crocodile River)					
Rare and endangered spp. sensitive to flow and quality changes. High species taxon	Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
richness and diversity of habitat types, KNP on LB.	HYDROLOGY	С		В	D
Change in low flows, specifically in the dry season. Change in flooding regime. All	WATER QUALITY	С		В	D
impacts associated with sugarcane activities.	GEOMORPHOLOGY	C/D	Negative	С	D
The EIS is VERY HIGH, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Changes	Response	PES	Trend	REC	AFCI
mostly focussing on improving the low flow regime and some land use management.	Components	Category	Stable	D	
Decreased low flows and periods of zero flows in some stretches of the river which will	MACRO	C C	Stable	B	
result in increased algal growth, temperature and nutrient problems, loss of deeper	INVERTEBRATES	C C	otable	B	
channel sections, increased reed and vegetation growth.	RIPARIAN	C	Negative	B	
	VEGETATION	C	Negative	P	
	200011100			Ľ	U
EWR 6 Nkongoma (Crocodile River)					
EIS: Very High	Driver	PES		250	150
richness and diversity of habitat types, KNP on left bank.	Components	Category	Irend	REC	
PES: C	HYDROLOGY	D		В	D
change in low flows, even zero flows present, specifically in the dry season. Change in flooding regime. All impacts associated with sugarcane activities.	WATER QUALITY	C		В	D
REC: B	GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	C/D
The EIS IS VERY HIGH, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Changes mostly focussing on improving the low flow regime and some land use management.	Response	PES	Trend	REC	AEC
AEC down: D	FISH	Category	Stable	B	D
Decreased low flows and periods of zero flows in some stretches of the river which will result in increased algal growth, temperature and nutrient problems. loss of deeper	MACRO	C C	Stable	B	C/D
channel sections, increased reed and vegetation growth.	INVERTEBRATES	C C	otable	B	
	RIPARIAN	C C	Negative	B	D
		C	galive	B	D
	LCOSTATOS			Ð	U
EWR 7 Kaap (Kaap River)					
EIS: High					
Rare and endangered spp. sensitive to flow and quality changes. High species taxon richness and habitat types sensitive to flow and quality changes.					
PES: C					
Changes are flow and non-flow related. Low to zero flows present due to upstream abstractions. Land-use activities related to agriculture and mining. Extensive exotic					

vegetation present. REC B: The EIS is high, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. No zero flows, increased low flows, more moderate floods. This must happen in conjunction with exotic vegetation removal. AEC D: Mountain View Dam will be present which will result in much lower flows than present and decreased floods. The channel will be narrower, some riffles will be sandier and smaller in general which will result in more reeds and a narrower marginal zone.	Driver Component HYDROLOGY WATER QUALITY GEOMORPHOLO Response Component FISH MACRO NVERTEBRATES NSTREAM RIPARIAN VEGETATION ECOSTATUS	s PES Catego D A B B A B C C C S S B B/C C C C C C	rry Trend Negative Stable Stable Negative Negative Negative	REC C B REC REC	AEC, D C C AEC, D C C C C D D D D
EWR 1: Upper Sabie (Sabie River)					
EIS: High Rare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Fish species present that are intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes PES: B/C	Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Impacts due to forestry, exotic vegetation species, and abstraction. Impacts	ROLOGY	A/B		A/B	B/C
REC: B	TER QUALITY	A/B		A/B	B/C
ine LIS is high, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Inactivity of picnic site and removal of aliens is required. Improved fish EC dependent on	MORPHOLOGY	В	Stable	В	С
improved vegetation cover.	Response	PES	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Decreased low flows resulting in increased sediment with increased nutrients,	i omponents	B/C	Stable	B	
turbidity, temperature, additional toxics. Increased vegetation exotics and reeds	CRO	DIC	Stable		
	ERTEBRATES	B	Stable	AVB	
	TREAM	B/C		В	С
	ARIAN SETATION	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
EC	DSTATUS	B/C		В	C/D
EWR 2: Aan de Vliet (Sabie River)					
EIS: High Bare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Species present intolerant to	Driver	DES			
flow and flow related water quality changes.	components	Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Forestry and landuse activities, mostly non-flow related.	ROLOGY	С		B/C	D
REC: B	TER QUALITY	В		A/B	С
Remove exotic vegetation and cease mowing in the riparian zone. Reduce	MORPHOLOGY	В	Negative	B	С
AEC down: C/D	Response components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Increased abstraction could lead to increased return flows that will cause	1	B/C	Stable	В	C/D
terms of forestry and agriculture	CRO ERTEBRATES	B/C	Stable	В	С
INS	TREAM	B/C		В	С
RIP.	ARIAN ETATION	С	Negative	В	D
EC	OSTATUS	С		В	C/D
EWR 3 Kidnev (Sabie River)					
EIS: Very High					
Rare and endangered species, taxon richness and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. Refuge area for biota and an important migration corridor for birds and fish. Within KNP.	Driver Components	PES & Categ	REC .	[rend	
PES: A/B Forestry, abstraction, Invaka Dam and landuse activities (Flow and non-flow	UKULUGY	C			C/D
related) REC: A/B	TER QUALITY	B			C
As the PES is already an A/B, the REC = the PES.	OMORPHOLOGY	B	Ne	egative	C
Increased abstractions, no Reserve implementation, less floods. Increased	Response Components	PES & Categ	Iory	Frend	AEC↓
channel shallower and sandier. Vegetation exotics will increase.	H CRO	B	5	Stable	С
	ERTEBRATES	B	5	Stable	С
		В			С
		A/	B s	Stable	B/C
EC	OSTATUS	A/	B		B/C

EIS: High Rear and andragened fish and vegatation species. Species present intolerant to PESS 100 Image: Antipage: Antip	EWR 4 Mac Mac (Mac Mac Rive	er)					
Ition and low related water quality changes. Impacts and flow and not the tree of the second and non-flow classes. FDES 19 Crossry, coold: vegetation and wastewater input. Impacts are flow and non-flow classes. Impacts and flow related water quality changes. The ES an EWR 4 is high and the REC is therefore to improve the PES by improving the flow. Improve the tree of the second and the quality required. Impacts and the second an	EIS: High Rare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Species present intolerant to		Driver	PES			
Processor <	flow and flow related water quality changes.		Components	Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
relations RECL 10 RECL 10 R	Figure 3. B Forestry, exotic vegetation and wastewater input. Impacts are flow and non-flow						
The EIS at EWR 4 is high and the REC is therefore to improve the PES by improving the first, improved water quality required. A B C AEC down: C Decreased (not flow due to e.g. a weir or small dam in the upper catchment in the reparation zone. B/C 9889 B/C B/	related. REC: A/B				Stable	A 	
AEC down: C Descreased own of works also is a, a weir or small dam in the upper catchment in the south regetation in the riparian zone. Image: assess also is a set of the small dam in the upper catchment in the upper catchment in the riparian zone. EXERT SMALL B B C/D Increased excite vegetation in the riparian zone. B B C/D Increased excite vegetation in the riparian zone. B B C/D Increased excite vegetation in the riparian zone. EWR 5 Marite (Marite River) Image: Construct a set of the set	The EIS at EWR 4 is high and the REC is therefore to improve the PES by improving the fish. Improved water quality required		Response	PES	Trond	REC	AECI
Ubcicased low flows due to d_ 3 wint of shall dam in the upper clatimeterit DC uses AB DC uses AB DC uses AB DC uses AB BC USE	AEC down: C		Components		Stable	D	
Increased exotic vegetation in the riparian zone. Increased exotic vegetation in the riparian zone. Increased exotic vegetation in the riparian zone. Increase right of the riparian zone. EWR 5 Marite (Marite River) EWR 6 Muritemuvi (Muritemuvi River) EWR	This will result in embedded cobbles. Nutrients and temperature will increase.		MACRO		Stable		B/C
Image: bit	Increased exotic vegetation in the riparian zone.			A/D	Stable	A/D	
EVER 5 Marite (Marite River) EXE 5 Marite (Marite River) EXE 5 Marite (Marite River) ES: High. Race. endangeed and unique biots. Species richness high and species intolerant to flow and low related water quality changes present. PES: BC Increases for the EVFR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sec Own: CD No flow relates for the EVFR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sec Own: CD No flow relates for the EVFR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sec Own: CD No flow relates area in the reach will be lost. Tramping. EXE 6 Multimuti (Multimuti River) (Multimuti BC Marine BC CD Multimuti BC Marine BC			RIPARIAN	₽ A/R	Negative	۵ ۸/R	B/C
EWR 5 Marite (Marite River) EWR 5 Marite (Marite River) EST BC Rare. endangered and unique biots. Species richness high and species inclearant to live and flow related water quality changes present. PES: BC Improvement of the PES. More nature inclearant to live regulare. Reduce grazing and trampling, errores exoto vegetation. Improvement of the PES. More nature inclearant flow related. Reduce grazing and trampling, errores exoto vegetation. Improvement of the PES. More nature inclearant flow relates and embedded colobles. Increased alters, removal, grazing, and trampling. Improvement of the PES. More nature increase in a dearbor of the dam. More nutritients and oxisco present. Sandher river, some international diver related water quality changes present. Improvement requires inforwas present. Sandher river, some increase and barks and embedded colobles. Increased alters, removal, grazing, and trampling. Improvement requires inforwas present. Improvement requires inforwas the flow and tow related water quality changes present. FES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow will become less dense and Maturu will disappear. Improvement requires improved system operation whitch improves the low flow regime. Improvement requires improved system operation whitch improves the low flow regime. Improvement requires improved system operation whitch improves the low flow regime. Improvement requires improved system operation whitch improves the low flow regime. Impresement refut and toperation and law challes enternates and law di				R	nogunro		
EVEN 5 Marine (Martine NVMT) EIS: High. Rare, endangered and unique hiota. Species ichness high and species information do writeded water quality changes present. PES: BC No flow releases for the EVR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction frow releases in the reach will be lost, vegetation encroachment on bars and banks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling. EVR 6 Muttumuvi (Muttumuvi River) EVR 7 Tutandziteka (Tutandziteka River) EVR 7 Tutandziteka (River)	EMD E Marita Marita Divas						
Rere. endangered and unique bida. Species ichness high and species inclement of the PES. More natural increased low flows and law related water quality changes present. Image: Comparison of the Comparison of the PES. More natural distribution of flows required. RecLe grazing and trampling, remove exotic vegetation. Image: Comparison of the Comparison of the PES. More natural distribution of flows required. RecLe grazing and trampling, remove exotic vegetation from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some rifes and backs areas in the react will be lost, vegetation encreachment to hore nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some rifes and backs areas in the react will be lost, vegetation encreachment to hore and flow related water quality changes present. Image: Comparison of the com	EIS: High.						
Interstendence Intercent of the Network and landuse activities. Impacts mosity flow related REC: B International flow flows and landuse activities. Interased blands and sharks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling. International flow flows and landuse activities. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling. REC down: CD BCC Negative BCC BC No flow releases for the EWR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some rifles and backs and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling. BCC Negative BCC BC Name BCC BCC BCC BCC BCC Name BCC BCC BCC BCC BCC BCC Name BCC BCC <td>Rare, endangered and unique biota. Species richness high and species intelerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present.</td> <td></td> <td>Driver Components</td> <td>PES Category</td> <td>Trend</td> <td>REC</td> <td>AEC↓</td>	Rare, endangered and unique biota. Species richness high and species intelerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Increased low flows and landuse activities. Impacts mostly flow related REC: B The EIS is high; therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. More natural distribution of lows required. Reduce grazing and trampling, remove exotic vegetation. REC down: CID No flow releases for the EWR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some trampling. EIS: High Rene, endangered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and species inflore and badrock areas in the reach will be lost, vegetation encreachment on trampling. EVR 6 Muthumuvi (Muthumuvi River) EIS: High Rene, endangered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and species inflore and to more related. NEC SIS high and improvement requires improved system operation which Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. EWR 7 Tulandziteka (Tulandziteka River) EIS: Moderate Rera and andagered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. EWR 7 Tulandziteka (Tulandziteka River) EIS: Moderate Rera and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts thor related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts there and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts there are and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and	PES: B/C		HYDROLOGY	С			D
The EIS is high: therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. More natural distribution of lows required. Reduce grazing and trampling, remove exotic vegetation. Image: Comparison of Comparis	Increased low flows and landuse activities. Impacts mostly flow related REC: B		WATER QUALITY	В		В	С
vagetation. Res down: CD No for veleases for the EWR, less diution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction form the dam. More nurinests and toxics present. Sandier rive, and toxics present. Res down: CD No for veleases for the EWR. less diution and less floods due to e.g. direct abstraction fore nurinest and toxics present. Sandier rive, and toxics present. B/C B C/D We may and banks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and the standard rive, and and toxic present. B/C B C/D We may and the divert for the EWR of the toxic present. B/C B C/D EIS: High B/C B C/D Rare, andangered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and improve may and non-rich related. B C/D REC : B The E/IS is high and improvement	The EIS is high; therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. More natural distribution of flows required Reduce grazing and trampling remove exotic		GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	D
AEC down: CJD Name Name </td <td>vegetation.</td> <td></td> <td>Response Components</td> <td>PES Category</td> <td>Trend</td> <td>REC</td> <td>AEC↓</td>	vegetation.		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sander river, some rifes and backock areas in the reach will be lost, vegetation encroachment and the reach will be lost. B/C B/C B/C B/C EVER 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi River) B/C B/C B/C C/D ES: High Rare, endangered and unique bida. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present. Impact and the reach will be core related. Impact and the reach will be core related. REC: B B/C B C/D AEC down: CD B C/D Decreased low flow related. Sec of the reach will be appear. B C ES: Moderate B/C B C/D Decreased low flow regime. AEC of the reach will be appear. B C Decreased low flow related. G/D association flow related. B C/D REC down: CD Decreased log flow flow flow and flow present ind flow	No flow releases for the EWR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct		FISH	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
bars and banks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling. Imitted B/C B C/D WHARMAN B/C Negative B C/D EWR 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi River) ECOSTATUS B/C B C/D EIS: High Rare, endangered and unique biota. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow related water quality changes present. PES: C More category Trend REC ALC B C/D Geogenetic category informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. B/C C D C/D GC/D G	abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some riffles and bedrock areas in the reach will be lost, vegetation encroachment on		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Stable	В	С
Image: Construint of the section of the sectin ascelesecon of the section of the section of the section of the	bars and banks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and		INSTREAM	B/C		В	C/D
EWR 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi River) EIS: High Rare, endangered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and species inolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present. Diver PES C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. Impacts flow REC: B C B C/D The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D B C/D B C/D Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderane floods will clause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. Mathematical Mathematis Mathematical Mathematical Mathematis Mathematical Math	uamping.		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
EWR 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi River) EIS: High Rare, endengered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present. PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. REC: B The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. B C/D B C B C/D B C B C D B Component CD D D creased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. B C /D B C B C D B C D B C B C /D B C B C D B C D B C B C /D B C C B C /D B C B C /D B C B C /D B C B C /D B C C B C /D B C B C /D B C C B C /D B C B C /D B C C B C /D			ECOSTATUS	B/C		В	C/D
EIS: High Rare, endangered and unique biota. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present. Driver CPES Calegory Trend REC AEC WERCOMPORT CO PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. MATEROUALITY B C/D REC: B The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. MATEROUALITY B/C B C/D Rect down: CD Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. MATEROUALITY MACE Negative B D EWR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River) EWR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River) Negative B D EIS: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. MEC D D FES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of	EWR 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi Ri	ive	er)				
Rare, endangered and unique biola. Taxon species richness high and species Diver PES Trend REC AEC PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. Marce auauity B/C B C/D REC: B The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. AEC 1	EIS: High		- /				
PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow and non-flow related. REC: B The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. Not an experiment of the exp	Rare, endangered and unique biota. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
and non-flow related. REC: B The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. WATER OWALTY B/C BE B C C B C C C C C C C C C C C C C	PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities. Impacts flow		HYDROLOGY	С			
The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which improves the low flow regime. GEOMORPHOLOGY C Stable C D AEC down: C/D Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. Fish C Stable B D NetROM C B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM C B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM C B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM C Negative B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM C Negative B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM C Negative B C/D Negative B C/D NetROM NetROM NetROM NetROM Negative B C/D NetROM	and non-flow related.		WATER QUALITY	B/C		В	C/D
improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds will become less dense and Matumi will disappear. HISH CC Stable B D MACRO INVERTEBARTES B/C Negative B C/D INVERTEBARTES C Negative B C/D EEXR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River) EIS: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts thow and non-flow related. REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increases in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in infles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.	The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which		GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Stable	С	D
Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. FISH C Stable B D Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reedbeds MACRO MacRO <t< td=""><td>improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D</td><td></td><td>Response Components</td><td>PES Category</td><td>Trend</td><td>AEC ↑</td><td>AEC↓</td></t<>	improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
Less moderate induct sin deals some implact on security induction and the first of the focused of the secure in rifles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. Mater of the secure induction and poor for the focus of the secure in rifles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.	Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth.		FISH	С	Stable	В	D
INSTREAM C B C/D RIPARIAN VEGETATION C Negative B D ECOSTATUS C B C/D ES: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C D D E D Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. M C B D REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. N Response Category Trend AEC 1 AEC I NetReoun: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in perfeture, the perfeture flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. Negative B D	will become less dense and Matumi will disappear.		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Negative	В	С
Image: Noderate			INSTREAM	С		В	C/D
ECOSTATUS C B C/D EERR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River) EIS: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. Diver Components Calgory Trend AEC 1 AEC 1 PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. Maren Quality C B D REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. Negative B D			RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
EWR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River) EIS: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.			ECOSTATUS	С		В	C/D
EIS: Moderate Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.	EWR 7 Tiulandziteka (Tiulandziteka	a R	iver)		!	<u> </u>	
Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. Driver PES & REC Trend AEC 1 AEC 1 PES: C Components Category A? D Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. Matter QUALITY C B D REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. AEC Up: B GEOMORPHOLOGY C/D Stable C D Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. MacRo Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. MacRo Investration Negative B D	EIS: Moderate		·····,				
PES: C Forestry, abstraction, flow modification and poor landuse management. Impacts flow and non-flow related. MYDROLOGY A? D REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. B D AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. REC: C D AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. MacRo Negative B D	Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes.		Driver Components	PES & REC Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. water quality C B D water quality C B D GEOMORPHOLOGY C/D Stable C D Macro Response PES & REC Trend AEC 1 AEC 1 AEC 1 Macro Stable B D Macro Instruction Macro B D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. Negative B D	PES: C		HYDROLOGY	Α?			D
REC: C Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES. Stable C D AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. Response PES & REC Trend AEC 1 AEC 1 AEC 1 Netroeased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. Negative B D	flow and non-flow related.		WATER QUALITY	С		В	D
AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. Fish C Stable B D AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. MacRo Negative B D	Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES.		GEOMORPHOLOGY	C/D	Stable	С	D
improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation, minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards.FISHCStableBDAEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.FISHCStableBDNutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in staffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.CNegativeBDEcostatusCBD	AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and		Response Components	PES &REC Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
AEC Down: D Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal. MACRO INVERTEBRATES B/C Negative B C/D RIPARIAN C Negative B D ECOSTATUS C B D	improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation,		FISH	С	Stable	В	D
Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change. Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.	AEC Down: D		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.	Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and forestry. Nutrients, temperature, oxygen, and turbidity levels will change.			С		В	D
removal.	Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds alien vegetation and more		VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
	removal.		ECOSTATUS	С		В	D

EIS: High Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. Situated in KNP	Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
and flow related water quality changes. Situated in KNP PES: B Abstraction, dams, weirs, poor landuse management. Impacts are flow and non- flow related. REC: B Although the EIS is High, the PES is already in a B therefore the REC = PES. Improve the macroinvertebrate EC by increasing low flows. AEC down: C More decreased low flows and longer periods of no flow.	HYDROLOGY	C?		С	D?
	WATER QUALITY	В		В	С
	GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	Lower C
	Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
	FISH	В	Stable	В	С
	MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	Negative	В	C/D
	INSTREAM	B/C		В	С
	RIPARIAN VEGETATION	В	Stable	В	B/C
	ECOSTATUS	В	Negative	В	С

EWR SCENARIOS

This task consists of determining the EWR for different ecological river states, i.e. different Ecological Categories. The Habitat Flow Stressor Response method (HFSR) (IWR S2S, 2004; O'Keeffe et al., 2002), a modification of the Building Block Methodology (BBM) (King and Louw, 1998) was used to determine the low (base) flow EWRs. The approach to set high flows is a combination of the Downstream Response to Imposed Flow Transformation (DRIFT; Brown and King, 2001) approach and BBM. These results generated will then form the basis against which the ecological consequences of operational flow scenarios will be tested during a further task in this study.

The results are summarised in the table below for the different EWR sites as a percentage of the natural Mean Annual Runoff (nMAR).

EWR scenario results as a percentage of the nMAR

EWR site	nMAR	PMAR	%PMAR of nMAR	EC	Main Iow	tenance / flows	Drought low flows High flows Long term		High flows		term mean				
	МСМ	МСМ	МСМ		МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(% nMAR)			
	Crocodile														
EW/D 1	WR 1 15.19 14.90	08%	A/B PES, REC	3.76	24.78	1.54	10.13	0.993	6.14	4.75	30.9				
		9070	B/C AEC	2.56	16.84	1.54	10.13	0.993	6.14	3.7	24.4				
	17 11	11 80	95%	B PES, REC	23.53	49.94	9.23	19.58	3.50	7.43	27	57			
LWAZ	47.11	44.00		C AEC	11.39	24.18	9.22	19.58	3.03	6.44	17.43	37			
				B/C PES	74.76	44	30.75	18.1	16.7	9.8	93.78	55.2			
EWR 3	169.9	1515.2	892%	B REC		A time ser improvem time series	ies of re ent of tl s (prese	equirements he PES req ent day), du	s could uired flo ring the	as e reference					
	7511	4.1 528.3	528.3	70%	B PES, REC	216.4	28.7	74.66	9.9	46.8	6.2 2	60.16	34.5		
	734.1			528.3	528.3	528.3	528.3	70%	C/D AEC	99.54	13.2	74.66	9.9	38.7	5.1 1
				C PES	214.3	21.3	121.8	12.1	53.3	5.3 3	01.87	30			
EWR 5	1006.2	637.9	63%	B REC	349.2	34.7	121.8	12.1	74.5	7.4 4	04.50	40.2			
				D AEC	121.8	12.1	121.8	12.1	29.2	2.9 2	14.33	21.3			

-												
				C PES	147.8	13.9	112.7	10.6	78.7	7.4	264.72	24.9
EWR 6	1063.1	525.2	49%	B REC	323.2	30.4	112.7	10.6	140.3	13.2	466.71	43.9
				D AEC	123	11.6	47.84	4.5	48.9	4.6	152.03	14.3
				C PES	25.2	14.9	11.16	6.6	10.82	6.4	38.87	23
EWR 7	169	86.6	51%	B REC	50	29.6	11.16	6.6	12.51	7.4	62.20	36.8
				D AEC	10.14	6	11.16	6.6	8.96	5.3	27.72	16.4
					Sa	bie Sand						
				B/C PES	46.54	33.2	17	12.1	7.43	5.3	52.99	37.8
EWR 1	140.18	109	78%	B REC	61.82	44.1	17	12.1	8.55	6.1	64.90	46.3
				C/D AEC	29.02	20.7	17	12.1	6.31	4.5	43.46	31
				B/C PES	51.90	19.8	29.1	11.1	11.5	4.4	73.39	28
EWR 2	262.1	199.5	76%	B REC	81.52	31.1	29.1	11.1	13.1	5	93.57	35.7
				C/D AEC	32.76	12.5	29.1	11.1	9.44	3.6	57.93	22.1
	495.86	322.1	65%	A/B PES/REC	155.2	31.3	48.1	9.7	31.7	6.4	183.5	37
EWRS				B/C AEC	101.2	20.4	48.1	9.7	26.8	5.4	134.4	27.1
	65.78	51.8	79%	A/B PES/REC	20.59	31.3	6.38	9.7	4.21	6.4	24.34	37
				B/C AEC	13.42	20.4	6.38	9.7	3.55	5.4	17.83	27.1
	157.09	89.7	57%	B/C PES	32.67	20.8	12.6	8	10.2	6.5	44.30	28.2
EWR 5				B REC	47.44	30.2	12.6	8	11.2	7.1	57.02	36.3
				C/D AEC	15.39	9.8	12.6	8	8.48	5.4	31.10	19.8
	44.99	29.9	66%	C PES	9.99	22.2	4.63	10.3	2.83	6.3	14.58	32.4
EWR 6				B AEC	14.49	32.2	6.03	13.4	2.83	6.3	17.37	38.6
				C/D AEC	6.21	13.8	4.63	10.3	2.56	5.7	11.56	25.7
	28.88	17.3	60%	C PES	5.11	17.7	2.05	7.1	3.18	11	9.15	31.7
EWR 7				B REC	7.65	26.5	3.23	11.2	3.81	13.2	11.38	39.4
				D AEC	2.71	9.4	2.05	7.1	2.95	10.2	7.77	26.9
	133.61	88.5	66%	B PES/REC	22.85	17.1	4.54	3.4	9.75	7.3	33.80	25.3
				C AEC	12.69	9.5	4.54	3.4	8.82	6.6	24.58	18.4

The confidence in the low and high flow Ecological Reserve requirements for each EWR site is provided in the table below. A score of 1 - 1.9 indicates a low confidence (red), 2 - 3.9 a moderate confidence (yellow) and 4-5, high confidence (green) in the results.

EWR sites	Low flow confidence	High flow confidence	Recommendations					
			Crocodile					
EWR 1	4	3.5	EWRM					
EWR 2	4	3	EWRM					
EWR 3	2	3	EWRM					
EWR 4	1	4	The hydraulics for EWR 4 should be updated with sufficient low flow calibrations to improve the low flow confidence. EWRM.					
EWR 5	3.5	3.3	This site did not provide sufficient cues for EWR assessment, neither for hydraulic analysis. As EWR 6 is the critical site, this site should be seen as supplementary. EWRM					
EWR 6	4	4	EWRM					

EWR sites	Low flow confidence	High flow confidence	Recommendations					
EWR 7	3	2.5	EWRM					
	Sabie Sand							
EWR 1	3.5	3	EWRM.					
EWR 2	3.5	3	EWRM.					
EWR 3	3.5	4	EWRM.					
EWR 4	4	2.3	EWRM.					
EWR 5	3.5	3	EWRM.					
EWR 6	3.5	3	Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.					
EWR 7	2.5	2.3	Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.					
EWR 8	2	3	Additional low flow hydraulic information for calibration purposes. Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.					

CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS AND SELECTION OF EWR TO BE SIGNED OFF

During this part of an Ecological Reserve study, aspects other than ecology are also considered for the evaluation of various operational flow scenarios and/or future development scenarios. The purpose of this is to provide the decision-maker with sufficient information to make informed decisions regarding the implications of the flow scenario and the Ecological Category which will be signed off as the Ecological Reserve. This will in future form part of the Classification System.

Operational scenarios are any flow scenarios other than the present which could be implemented in future.

For the Crocodile River, a combination of operating rules, restrictions, and/or curtailments were applied to agriculture. A range of plausible operational scenarios were modelled (Sc 2 to 6) and the scenario flow at each EWR site provided for the determination of ecological consequences. Additional scenarios, Sc C3.1 and C3.2 were evaluated. These scenarios were adjustments of Sc C3 and C6 as the increased yield in Kwena Dam, due to the restrictions and/or curtailments on agriculture, were used to supply the Reserve.

Operational scenarios on the Sabie River focussed on increased agriculture. The Sand scenarios were based on the assumption that the four abstraction weirs in the upper Sand River would be rehabilitated, thus improving the flow downstream

Socio-economic consequences

Crocodile: On the assumption that the assurance or supply of water will not change, and that neither will the crop types change, all the scenarios showed negative changes from the baseline as follows:



Figure: Economic consequences in terms of GDP and Total employment compared to the baseline (Sc 1)

.Ecological consequences

The purpose of this task is to predict the driver and biota responses to each operational scenario and derive the Ecological Category (EC) for the EWR site and Management Resource Unit (MRU).

The results provided are ranked and illustrated on a scale from good (REC) to 'bad' (an E EC) where in this case the PES has been placed in the middle (figure below). This provides an indication of the DEGREE to which the scenarios do not meet the REC and takes into consideration the more detailed assessment on which the summaries are based. The figure below provides the ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site as well as a summarised ranking for the Crocodile system as a whole in terms of a traffic diagram.



Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summary ranging for the Crocodile as a whole.

Within a system context none of the scenarios met the REC at any of the EWR sites. The PES was maintained under Sc C3 and C6. Scenario C4 met the PES EcoStatus; the fish component however deteriorated to an unacceptable level and therefore the overall PES requirement was not met and was ranked below the PES in the above figure.

The figure below provides the ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site as well as a summarised ranking for the Sabie system as a whole in terms of a traffic diagram.



Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summary ranging for the Sabie as a whole

Scenario 8 met the PES/REC at EWR 3 in KNP but not at EWR 5 (Marite). Therefore it was significantly better than the other scenarios which were lower than the PES at both sites. EWR 3 was the key site in the system.

The figure below provides the ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site as well as a summarised ranking for the Sabie system as a whole in terms of a traffic diagram.



Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summary ranging for the Sand as a whole

Scenario 1 was an improvement of the PES at EWR 6 and met the REC at EWR 7 and 8. It was a better scenario than Sc 9 which only met the PES at EWR 6 and did not improve it as was the case with Sc 1. Scenario 5 was the worst scenario as it did not meet the PES/REC at EWR 7.

Goods and Services consequences

From detailed work at the EWR sites the potential impacts of scenarios on the G&S were estimated by the specialists.

The Table below represents a summary of consequences of the operational scenarios on the G&S by economic zone. Those in green are positive and relates to the scenario providing increased resources for the utilization of goods and services; negative (shaded red) relates to a decrease in resources. Those scenarios shaded in yellow are neutral and indicates either (a) no change in resources and will be the same as present or (b) some G&S will be positively affected and some will be negatively affected but overall there is no driving indicator that would suggest either a positive or a negative overall outcome.

Economic Zone	EWR Site			5	Scenar	ios			
Crocodile sub-catchme	nt								
Upper Crocodile	EWR 1, 2	None							
Elands		None							
Lower Kwena	EWR 3	3	7	10	12				
Middle Crocodile	EWR 4	7	9	10	11	12			
Каар	EWR 7	8	9						
White River		None							
Lower Crocodile	EWR 5, 6	3	4	6	7	8	9	10	12
Sabie-Sand sub-catchm	ent								
Sabie	EWR 1, 2, 4	None							
Maritsane/Inyaka	EWR 3, 5	5							

Summary of predicted impact of scenarios on G&S in the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River catchment

Economic Zone	EWR Site		Scenarios			
Sand	EWR 6 - 8	1 5	9			
EWR 1A VAALWATER	EWR 1B TOBACCO	D EWR 2 KAIN	IGO L	JPSTRE	EAM MOKOL	ODAM
ScU4,	Sc U 4, U 7	Sc U 4, U	7	T	Sc U4	
ScU2,U3,U5,U6,U	7, U8, U9				SC C7	
	Sc U 2, U 3, U 5	5, U 8, U 9 Sc U 2, U	3, U5, U8, U9		Sc U2, U3	, U5,
G&S Base	G&S Base	G&S B	3Se		06, 08, 0 G&S Base	9 e
T	T				E EC	

Summary of the G&S consequences upstream of Mokolo Dam



Summary of the G&S consequences upstream of Mokolo Dam

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The consequences of all the scenarios on the ecological state, G&S and socio-economics are compared and a recommendation made; first by the direct project team, then by a wider internal DWA meeting and finally, if necessary by a presentation to DWA management and stakeholders.

The consequences are summarised using traffic diagrams with green implying good and red implying bad. A numberless scale is also provided to indicate how much better or worse certain scenarios are from the baseline.

The EWR Rule and EWR Tables that will be recommended as the final Ecological Reserve are provided in Appendix A.

Crocodile River: Reserve recommendation

The scenarios that were finally considered were only those that implied restrictions and curtailments of irrigation. (Sc C2 to C6). Sc C3.1 and C6.1 is a modification of Sc C3 and C6 as it uses the increased yield in Kwena Dam resulting from the agricultural restrictions and curtailments to supply the Reserve.

Figure 13-1 illustrates the ecological, Goods and Services and socio-economic consequences. All the EWR sites considered (EWR 3 to 7) was of High importance and the REC consisted of an improvement of the PES. The figure illustrates that there are no scenario that will meet the REC apart from Sc C6.1.

Sc C3.1 was the ecological recommendation as the prediction is that it will improve the PES, however not to the REC level. It is however possible that with non-flow related measurements and with monitoring to verify, the REC could be achieved. This scenario also improved the Goods and Services and but however had a negative socio-economic input (in terms of a los of GDP and job losses). The decision was made that at this stage, the present hydrology must be signed off which will maintain the PES.



Figure 0.1 Consequences of various operational scenarios in the Crocodile River
Sabie River: Reserve recommendation

Socio-economic scenarios were not evaluated for the Sabie River as all the scenarios were an improvement of the present agriculture. Goods and Services followed the ecological consequences trend and the decision regarding the Reserve recommendation was based on the ecological consequences.

The REC of all the EWR sites apart from EWR 5 (Marite River) can be achieved with the present day flows. Achieving the Marite River REC will require a different operation of Inyaka dam which would result in economic consequences and the REC in the lower EWR sites will not be achieved.

The recommendation was therefor made to sign off the REC at EWR 1, 2, 3, 4 and the PES at EWR 5.

Sand River: Reserve recommendation

Socio-economic scenarios were not evaluated for the Sand River as all the scenarios will result in an improvement of water supply to agriculture. Goods and Services followed the ecological consequences trend and the decision regarding the Reserve recommendation was based on the ecological consequences.

The scenarios were based on the assumption that the four abstraction weirs in the upper Sand River would be rehabilitated, thus improving the flow downstream. Of the various scenarios evaluated, only Sc 1 (the so-called Sellick-rule) will achieve the REC at the key site, EWR 8 in the lower Sabie. This scenario will improve the PES (and REC which was set to maintain the PES) at EWR 7 (upper Sand River). It will also improve the PES towards the REC at EWR 6 and hopefully, with some non-flow related measures (specifically removal of alien vegetation) combined with flow related improvements, the REC will be met.

The recommendation was therefore made that the Sellick Rule should be implemented as the advantages would be much wider than just to ensure the Ecological Reserve. The Ecological Categories that must be signed off is:

- EWR 6 REC. It must be acknowledged that without some crucial catchment management improvements, the increased flows on their own will not achieve the REC but could likely achieve an improvement of the PES.
- EWR 7 REC (=PES). Scenario 1 will achieve the AEC up, however the main motivation for applying Scenario 1 is to meet the REC at EWR 8.
- EWR 8 REC.

ESTIMATION AND EXTRAPOLATION OF EWRS AT VARIOUS HYDRONODES

A comprehensive Reserve study assesses EWRs at EWR sites that are usually situated on the main rivers and large tributaries. For the purpose of, amongst others, Compulsory Licensing and general licensing, Reserves have to be set at many points (hydronodes) in the catchment.

The objective of this task is to provide an estimate which will be of higher confidence than the Desktop Reserve Model at every hydronode in the study area.

Extrapolation consists of

 determining which sites are sufficiently similar to the comprehensive EWR sites in terms of biophysical similarity as well as indicator guilds used for setting EWRs; and

• Deriving the EWRs for these sites using the comprehensive EWR results at the EWR sites.

Estimation consists of a process to estimate the EWRs at each hydronode for the Recommended Ecological Category (REC) (using the information generated as part of the Desktop EcoClassification (Kleynhans & Louw, 2007)). This estimation will entail the prediction of indicator species at various hydronodes, and the determination of the EWRs at these hydronodes using a higher confidence method than the Desktop Ecological Reserve Model.

EWR estimates were supplied at approximately 76 hydronodes as .rul and .tab tables.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE	OF CON	ITENTSxx	xvii
LIST OF	TABLE	S	xI
LIST OF	FIGURI	ES	xliii
APPEN	DICES		xliv
1	INTROD	DUCTION	. 1-1
	1.1	STUDY AREA	. 1-1
		1.1.1 Description of Study area	. 1-1
		1.1.2 Economic Characteristics	. 1-1
	1.2	WATER REQUIREMENTS IN THE CATCHMENT	. 1-4
		1.2.1 Existing water related infastructure	. 1-4
		1.2.2 Water Quality	. 1-4
2	PROJE	CT PLAN AND APPROACH	. 2-1
	2.1	INTRODUCTION	. 2-1
	2.2	AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOMES OF THE STUDY	.2-1
	2.3	PROJECT PLAN	.2-2
	2.4	VARIATION ORDERS	.2-5
		2.4.1 Re-assessment of EWR 6	2-5
		2.4.2 Determination of a monitoring programme with emphasis	on
		EcoSpecs	.2-5
3	DESKT	OP ECOCLASSIFICATION	. 3-1
	3.1	APPROACH	. 3-1
	3.2	ECOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE AND SENSITIVITY	. 3-1
	3.3	SOCIO-CULTURAL IMPORTANCE	. 3-3
	3.4	PRESENT ECOLOGICAL STATE	. 3-6
	3.5	INTEGRATED IMPORTANCE CONSIDERING EIS, PES AND SCI	. 3-8
	3.6	PRIORITY AREAS FOR EWR ASSESSMENT	3-13
		3.6.1 Importance of Water Resource Use	3-13
		3.6.2 Determine level of EWR	3-14
4	BASIC I	HUMAN NEEDS RESERVE	. 4-1
	4.1	WHAT IS THE BASIC HUMAN NEEDS RESERVE?	. 4-1
	4.2	HOW MUCH WATER IS NEEDED FOR BASIC HUMAN NEEDS?	. 4-1
	4.3	THE BHNR FOR THE CROCODILE EAST, AND SABIE-SAND S	UB-
		CATCHMENTS	. 4-2
5	GROUN	ND WATER	. 5-1
	5.1	BACKGROUND	. 5-1
	5.2	THE GROUNDWATER COMPONENT OF THE RESERVE	. 5-1
		5.2.1 Groundwater sources and sinks in the GYMR model	5-2
		5.2.2 Groundwater contribution to the Reserve and managen	nent
		classifications of the scenarios	5-3
	5.3	GROUNDWATER BALANCE RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	5-3
	5.4	DOLOMITE RESOURCE UNIT	. 5-4
	5.5	RECOMMENDATIONS	. 5-5
6	WETLA	ND TYPING AND ECOCLASSIFICATION	6-1
	6.1	METHODS	. 6-1
	6.2	RESULTS	. 6-1
	6.3	WETLAND RESOURCE UNITS	. 6-8
	6.4	PRIORITY WETLANDS IN THE INKOMATI CATCHMENT	5-10
	6.5	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT	5-10
Rivers for	Africa	Main Report Report no 26/8/3/10/12	2/015

		6.5.1	Road crossings	6-11
		6.5.2	Forestry	6-11
		6.5.3	Agriculture	6-12
		6.5.4	Mining	6-12
	6.6	GENERAL	MANAGEMENT AND REHABILITATION ACTIONS	6-12
7	RESOU	RCE UNITS	5	7-1
	7.1	DELINEAT	TON APPROACH	7-1
	7.2	CROCODI	LE SUB-CATCHMENT	7-1
		7.2.1	Delineation results	7-1
		7.2.2	EWR sites	7-4
		7.2.3	Locality and description of sites	7-5
		7.2.4	Site suitability	7-9
	7.3	SABIE-SA	ND SUB-CATCHMENT	7-10
		7.3.1	Delineation results	7-10
		7.3.2	EWR sites	7-14
		7.3.3	Locality and description of sites	7-14
		7.3.4	Site suitability	7-18
8	ECOCL	ASSIFICAT	ION (LEVEL 4) OF EWR SITES	8-1
	8.1	ECOCLAS	SIFICATION	8-1
	8.2	CROCODI	LE SUB-CATCHMENT	8-1
		8.2.1	Results	8-1
		8.2.2	Conclusions	8-3
		8.2.3	Recommendations	8-4
	8.3	SABIE-SA	ND SUB-CATCHMENT	8-5
		8.3.1	Results	8-5
		8.3.2	Conclusions	8-7
		8.3.3	Recommendations	8-8
9	EWR S	CENARIO A	SSESSMENT	9-1
	9.1	APPROAC	CH	9-1
	9.2	CROCODI	LE SUB-CATCHMENT: EWR AND MOTIVATIONS	9-1
		9.2.1	EWR results for EWR 1: Valeyspruit	9-1
		9.2.2	EWR results for EWR 2: Goedehoop	9-2
		9.2.3	EWR results for EWR 3: Poplar Creek	9-4
		9.2.4	EWR results for EWR 4: Kanyamazane	9-5
		9.2.5	EWR results for EWR 5: Malelane	9-8
		9.2.6	EWR results for EWR 6: Nkongoma	9-10
		9.2.7	EWR results for EWR 7: Honeybird	9-12
	9.3	RESULTS		9-14
	9.4	CONCLUS	NONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	9-15
	9.5	SABIE-SA	ND SUB-CATCHMENT: EWR AND MOTIVATIONS	9-16
		9.5.1	EWR results for EWR 1: Upper Sabie	9-16
		9.5.2	EWR results for EWR 2: Aan de Vliet	9-18
		9.5.3	EWR results for EWR 3: Kidney	9-20
		9.5.4	EWR results for EWR 4: Mac Mac	9-22
		9.5.5	EWR results for EWR 5: Marite	9-24
		9.5.6	EWR results for EWR 6: Mutlumuvi	9-26
		9.5.7	EWR results for EWR 7: Tlulandziteka	9-27
		9.5.8	EWR results for EWR 8: Sand	9-30
	9.6	RESULTS		9-31
	9.7	CONCLUS	SIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	9-32

10	OPER.	OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS10-1			
	10.1	DESIGN	OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS: CROCODILE SUB-CATCHN	1ENT 10-	
		1			
	10.2	CROCOD	NLE SUB-CATCHMENT	10-2	
		10.2.1	Group 1: EWR demands excluded	10-2	
		10.2.2	Group 2 Scenarios: EWR demands included	10-3	
	10.3	SABIE-SA	AND SUB-CATCHMENT	10-5	
		10.3.1	Sabie River	10-5	
		10.3.2	Sand River	10-6	
		10.3.3	Sellick Rule	10-6	
	10.4	RESULTS	S	10-7	
		10.4.1	Crocodile sub-catchment	10-7	
		10.4.2	Sabie-Sand sub-catchment	10-8	
11	ECOL	OGICAL CO	INSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS	11-1	
	11.1	APPROA	СН	11-1	
	11.2	OPERATI	ONAL SCENARIOS	11-1	
		11.2.1	Crocodile sub-system	11-1	
		11.2.2	Sabie-Sand sub-system	11-2	
	11.3	RESULTS	S: CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT	11-2	
		11.3.1	Crocodile sub-system: Curtailment and restriction irrigation s	cenarios	
			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	11-4	
		11.3.2	Crocodile Sub-system: Development (new dam) scenarios	11-5	
		11.3.3	Crocodile River: Additional scenarios evaluated at EWR 6	11-7	
	11.4	RESULTS	S: SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT	11-7	
		11.4.1	Sabie River: Ecological consequences of operational scenar	ios (Sc 5	
			-9)	11-9	
		11.4.2	Sand River: Ecological consequences of operational scenario	os (Sc 1.	
			5 and 9)	11-10	
	11.5	GOODS A	AND SERVICES CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCE	NARIOS	
				11-11	
		11.5.1	Approach	11-11	
		11.5.2	Consequences	11-13	
		11.5.3	Summary and Conclusions	11-18	
	11.6	RECOMM	IENDATIONS	11-19	
	1110	11.6.1	Crocodile sub-system	11-19	
		1162	Sabie-Sand sub-system	11-19	
12	PRES	INT STATE	EVALUATION AND MACRO ECONOMIC CONSEQUENCES		
	12.1	PRESEN	T STATE EVALUATION	12-1	
		12 1 1	Fconomic Zones	12-1	
	12 2	ORIECTI	VES OF THE STUDY	12-1	
	12.3			12-2	
	12.0	ΔΡΡΡΟΔΙ	сн	12 2	
	12.4	ΔςςιιΜρ	TIONS FOR THE OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS	12 Z	
	12.0	ΙΙΜΙΤΔΤΙ		12-4 12-4	
	12.0		NI E RIVER CATCHMENT RESULTS	12-4 12-5	
	12.1 12 R	KAAD RIV	/FR CATCHMENT RESULTS	12-J 12-A	
12	PECO			12-0 12_1	
15	12 1			1 3-1 12_1	
	10.1 100		VED DESERVE RECOVINIENDATION	۱-دו ۱۵ ۵	
	10.2 100	SADIE KI SAND DI		<u>۲۵۰۲</u>	
	13.3	SAND RN	VER. REVERVE REVUIVIEINDATIUN	13-2	

14	IDENTIF	FICATION OF ECOSPECS
	14.1	APPROACH14-1
	14.2	RESULTS
	14.3	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
15	ESTIMA	TION AND EXTRAPOLATION OF EWRS AT SELECTED HYDRONODES 15-1
	15.1	INTRODUCTION
	15.2	APPROACH
	15.3	HYDRONODES AND DATABASE
	15.4	PREDICTION OF INDICATOR FISH GUILDS
	15.5	CALIBRATION SITES USED FOR EWR ESTIMATION
	15.6	EWR ESTIMATION METHOD
	15.7	APPLICATION OF ESTIMATION TO HYDRONODES
	15.8	ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS: DETERMINATION OF THE DEGREE TO
		WHICH THE RESERVE IS BEING MET UNDER CURRENT OPERATING
		RULES
		15.8.1 Crocodile River
		15.8.2 Sabie-Sand Rivers
	15.9	ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS: AVAILABLE YIELD IN CATCHMENTS WHERE
		THE RESERVE IS CURRENTLY BEING MET
		15.9.1 Crocodile River available yield
		15.9.2 Sabie River available yield
	15.10	GUIDANCE ON THE USE AND INTERPRETATION OF THE EWR
		AVAILABILITY AND AVIALABLE YIELD MAPS 15-15
16	WHERE	TO FROM HERE
	16.1	ECOLOGICAL WATER RESOURCES MONITORING PROGRAMME
17	CAPAC	ITY BUILDING 17-1
	17.1	OBJECTIVE
	17.2	AIMS
	17.3	OUTPUTS
	17.4	MENTOR-TRAINEE TEAMS
	17.5	TRAINING ACTIVITIES/APPROACH
	17.6	TRAINING FEEDBACK 17-3
	17.7	TRAINEE DATABASE
18	ELECTE	RONIC DATA
19	REFER	ENCES
APPEN	DIX A	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	List of tasks within th	ne Project Plan	2-3
Table 3.1	Integrated importance	e of the river reaches assessed	3-8
Table 3.2	Quaternary catchme	ents of high Integrated Important	ce and/or high Water Resource
	Use Importance		3-14
Table 4.1	Water required for t	he BHNR per quaternary expres	ssed in m^3 per day – Crocodile
	sub-catchment		4-3
Table 4.2	Water required for th	he BHNR per quaternary express	sed in m ³ per day – Sabie-Sand
	sub-catchment		4-3
Table 4.3	Cumulative BHNR p	er EWR site in the Incomati WMA	4-4
Table 6.1	Estimated EIS and F	PES (average) for the wetlands w	vithin the quaternary catchments
	of the Inkomati WMA	ł	6-6
Pivore for Afric	2	Main Papart	Papart no 26/0/2/10/12/015

Table 6.2	Summary of WRU and associated wetlands	6-9
Table 7.1	Description and rationale of the Crocodile River MRUs	7-2
Table 7.2	Description and rationale of the Kaap River MRUs	7-4
Table 7.3	Description of MRUs in the Crocodile sub-catchment	7-4
Table 7.4	Management Resource Units and EWR sites: Crocodile sub-catchment	7-5
Table 7.5	Locality and characteristics of the Crocodile sub-catchment EWR sites	7-5
Table 7.6	Summary of EWR sites in the Crocodile sub-catchment	7-7
Table 7.7	Biophysical Site suitability for the Crocodile River system	7-9
Table 7.8	Integrated site suitability for the Crocodile River system	7-10
Table 7.9	Description and rationale of the Sabie River MRUs	7-10
Table 7.10	Description and rationale of the Sand River MRUs	7-12
Table 7.11	Description of MRUs in the Crocodile sub-catchment	7-13
Table 7.12	Locality and characteristics of the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment EWR sites	7-14
Table 7.13	Summary of EWR sites in the Sabie-Sand catchment	7-16
Table 7.14	Biophysical Site suitability for the Sabie River system	7-18
Table 7.15	Integrated site suitability for the Sabie River system	7-18
Table 8.1	EcoClassification results – Crocodile sub-catchment	8-1
Table 8.2	Confidence in EcoClassification	8-3
Table 8.3	EcoClassification results – Crocodile sub-catchment	8-5
Table 8.4	Confidence in EcoClassification	8-7
Table 9.1	Low flow EWR results for EWR 1	9-1
Table 9.2	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 1	9-2
Table 9.3	EWR 1: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-2
Table 9.4	Low flow EWR results for EWR 2	9-2
Table 9.5	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 2	9-3
Table 9.6	EWR 2: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-3
Table 9.7	Low flow EWR results for EWR 3	9-4
Table 9.8	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 3	9-4
Table 9.9	EWR 3: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-5
Table 9.10	Low flow EWR results for EWR 4	9-5
Table 9.11	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 4	9-6
Table 9.12	EWR 4: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-7
Table 9.13	Low flow EWR results for EWR 5	9-8
Table 9.14	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 5	9-9
Table 9.15	EWR 5: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-9
Table 9.16	Low flow EWR results for EWR 6	9-10
Table 9.17	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 6	9-11
Table 9.18	EWR 6: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-12
Table 9.19	Low flow EWR results for EWR 7	9-12
Table 9.20	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 7	9-13
Table 9.21	EWR 7: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-14
Table 9.22	Crocodile sub-catchment: EWR scenario results as a percentage of the nMAR	9-14
Table 9.23	Overall Confidence in EFR Results	9-15
Table 9.24	Summary of recommendations required to improve confidences	9-16
Table 9.25	Low flow EWR results for EWR 1	9-16
Table 9.26	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 1	9-17
Table 9.27	EWR 1: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-17
Table 9.28	Low flow EWR results for EWR 2	9-18
Table 9.29	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 2	9-19
Table 9.30	EWR 2: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-19

Table 9.31	Low flow EWR results for EWR 3	9-20
Table 9.32	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 3	9-21
Table 9.33	EWR 3: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-21
Table 9.34	Low flow EWR results for EWR 4	9-22
Table 9.35	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 4	9-22
Table 9.36	EWR 4: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-23
Table 9.37	Low flow EWR results for EWR 5	9-24
Table 9.38	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 5	9-24
Table 9.39	EWR 5: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-25
Table 9.40	Low flow EWR results for EWR 6	9-26
Table 9.41	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 6	9-26
Table 9.42	EWR 6: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-27
Table 9.43	Low flow EWR results for EWR 7	9-28
Table 9.44	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 7	9-29
Table 9.45	EWR 7: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-29
Table 9.46	Low flow EWR results for EWR 8	9-30
Table 9.47	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 8	9-30
Table 9.48	EWR 8: The recommended number of high flow events required	9-31
Table 9.49	Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: EWR scenario results as a percentage of the n	MAR 9-31
Table 9.50	Overall Confidence in EFR Results	9-32
Table 9.51	Summary of recommendations required to improve confidences	9-33
Table 10.1	Base scenario (PD) restriction rule	10-1
Table 10.2	Description of Group 1 Scenarios	10-2
Table 10.3	Group 1: Scenario rule applied to the irrigation sector	10-2
Table 10.4	Group 2: Scenario restriction rules for the irrigation sector (typical)	10-4
Table 10.5	List of scenarios modelled for the Sabie River system	10-5
Table 10.6	Restriction rules applied in the Sabie River catchment	10-5
Table 10.7	Sand River operational scenarios: River levels and restrictions imposed	10-6
Table 10.8	List of scenarios modelled for the Sand River system	10-6
Table 10.9	Proportions of water released at certain river flows in the Sand River	10-7
Table 10.10	Results of all Crocodile Group 1 Scenarios (No EWR demand)	10-7
Table 10.11	Results of all Crocodile Group 2 Scenarios (EWRs met)	10-7
Table 10.12	Results of all Sabie Scenarios	10-8
Table 10.13	Results of all Sand Scenarios	10-8
Table 11.1	Scenarios evaluated at EWR 3 – EWR5 in the Crocodile sub-system	11-2
Table 11.2	The consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR site in the	Crocodile
	sub-catchment	11-3
Table 11.3	Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR	site in the
	Crocodile sub-system	11-5
Table 11.4	Summary of the consequences of the future development (new dam) sc	enarios at
	each EWR site	11-6
Table 11.5	Summary of ecological consequences of Sc C3.1 and Sc C6.1 at EWR 6	11-7
Table 11.6	The consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR site in the S	abie-Sand
	sub-catchment	11-8
Table 11.7	Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios (Sc 5 - 8) at E	WR 3 and
	5 in the Sabie River system	11-9
Table 11.8	Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios (Sc 1, 5 and	9) at each
	EWR site	11-10
Table 11.9	Good and services identified as relevant to the catchment	11-12
Table 11.10	Economic Zones and associated scenarios analysed	11-13

Table 11.12 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Middle Crocodile EZ11-14Table 11.13 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Kaap EZ11-15
Table 11.13 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Kaap EZ11-15
Table 11.14 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Lower Crocodile EZ 11-16
Table 11.15 Assessment of G&S under Scenario 5 for Maritsane/Inyaka EZ 11-17
Table 11.16 Assessment of G&S under scenarios for Sand River EZ11-17
Table 11.17 Summary of predicted impact of scenarios on G&S in the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand
River catchment 11-18
Table 12.1 Results of different scenarios applied to Zone 1: Crocodile River catchment 12-5
Table 12.2 Results of different scenarios applied to Zone 2: Kaap River catchment 12-6
Table 15.1Sites used for hydronode EWR estimation15-2

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Layout and location of the Inkomati WMA1-3
Figure 2.1	Diagram illustrating the process to be followed for the Inkomati WMA Reserve study
	(Adapted from DWAF, 2006)2-1
Figure 2.2	Project Plan for the Inkomati Reserve study2-3
Figure 3.1	Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River sub-catchments: EIS per quaternary and sub
	quaternary catchment with associated confidence
Figure 3.2	Crocodile sub-catchment: SCI map illustrating SCI rating and confidence
Figure 3.3	Sabie Sand sub-catchment: SCI map illustrating SCI rating and confidence
Figure 3.4	Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River sub-catchments: PES Map illustrating PES
	categories and confidence
Figure 3.5	Matrix used to determine an Integrated Importance value on a scale of $0 - 4$
	(modified from Louw and Huggins, 2007)
Figure 3.6	Crocodile sub-catchment: Map illustrating areas of high Integrated Importance 3-11
Figure 3.7	Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: Map illustrating areas of high Integrated Importance 3-12
Figure 3.8	Matrix indicating the level of EWR assessments required ((modified from Louw and
	Huggins, 2007)
Figure 3.9	Crocodile sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve
	assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water
	Resource Use)
Figure 3.10	Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve
	assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water
	Resource Use)
Figure 5.1	Groundwater status of the Inkomati WMA5-4
Figure 6.1	Summary of the PES and EIS attributes across the catchment
Figure 6.2	Wetland PES of quaternary catchments
Figure 6.3	Wetland EIS of quaternary catchments
Figure 6.4	Distribution of quaternary catchments in relation to the Wetland Resource Units 6-8
Figure 7.1	Crocodile (East) River Management Resource Units
Figure 7.2	Kaap River Management Resource Units7-3
Figure 7.3	MRUs and EWR sites of the Crocodile sub-catchment
Figure 7.4	Sabie River Management Resource Units
Figure 7.5	Sand River Management Resource Units
Figure 7.6	MRUs and EWR sites of the Crocodile sub-catchment
Figure 11.1	Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of
	a traffic diagram 11-5
Figure 11.2	Ranking of future (dam) development scenarios 11-6
Rivers for Africa	a Main Report Report no 26/8/3/10/12/015

Figure 11.3	Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of
	a traffic diagram
Figure 11.4	Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of
	a traffic diagram
Figure 12.1	Zone 1: Economic consequences in terms of GDP and Total employment compared
	to the baseline (Sc C1) 12-5
Figure 12.2	Kaap River Deviation from the Base Scenario: GDP and Employment
Figure 13.1	Consequences of various operational scenarios in the Crocodile River
Figure 15.1	Flow diagram showing when it is appropriate to extrapolate or when estimation is
	required
Figure 15.2	Crocodile River EWR availability map15-7
Figure 15.3	Sabie-Sand Rivers EWR availability map15-9
Figure 15.4	Crocodile available yield map
Figure 15.5	Sabie-Sand available yield map15-14
Figure 15.6	Guideline in the use of the Reserve and yield availability maps in planning and
	licensing

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A		A1 - 1
APPENDIX B	EcoSpecs and TPCs	B1 - 1

TERMINOLOGY AND ACRONYMS

AEC	Alternative Ecological Category
BBM	Building Block Methodology
BEC	Baseline Ecological Category
BHNR	Basic Human Needs Reserve
BTP	Bosbokrand Transfer Pipeline
CD: RDM	Chief Directorate: Resource Directed Measures
COMBUD	Computer Based Budgets
DAM	Desktop Adjustment Method
D:RQS	Directorate: Resource Quality Services
DRIFT	Downstream Response to Imposed Flow Transformation
DS	Down Stream
DSS	Decision Support System
DWA	Department of Water Affairs (Name change 2009)
DWAF	Department of Water Affairs and Forestry
EC	Ecological Category
EcoSpecs	Ecological Specifications
EIS	Ecological Importance and Sensitivity
ERM	Ecological Resource Monitoring
EWRM	Ecological Water Resource Monitoring
EWR	Ecological Water Requirements
EZ	Economic Zone
FDI	Flow dependent macroinvertebrate
FDCD	Flow Dependant Cobble Dwelling
FDT	Flow Duration Table
FFHA	Fish Flow Habitat Assessment
FRAI	Fish Response Assessment Index
FROC	Fish Frequency of Occurrence
FV	Future value
G&S	Goods and Services
GAI	Geomorphological Driver Assessment Index
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GGP	Gross Geographic Product
GIS	Geographic Information System
GRA	Groundwater Resource Assessment
GRDM	Groundwater resource directed measures
GW	Ground Water
GYMR	Groundwater vield model for the reserve
HFSR	Habitat Flow Stressor Response
HGM	Hvdro-Geomorphic Unit
IFR	Instream Flow Requirements
KNP	Kruger National Park
IB	l eft Bank
LR	Large rheophilic fish
ISR	Large semi-rheophilic fish
MAR	Mean Annual Runoff
PMAR	Present Mean Annual Runoff
VMAR	Virgin Mean Annual Runoff
MCM	Million Cubic Metres
MIRAI	Macroinvertebrate Assessment Index
MRU	Management Resource Unit

MVI	Marginal vegetation macroinvertebrate
NRU	Natural Resource Unit
NWA	National Water Act
PAI	Physico Chemical Driver Assessment Index
PD	Present Day
PES	Present Ecological State
PSP	Professional Service Provider
Quat	Quaternary catchment
RAU	Resource Assessment Unit
RB	Right Bank
REC	Recommended Ecological Category
RHP	River Health Programme
REC	Recommended Ecological Category
RQO	Resource Quality Objectives
RU	Resource Unit
SAM	Social Accounting Matrix
Sc	Scenario
SCI	Socio Cultural Importance
SR	Small rheophilic fish
ToR	Terms of Reference
TPC	Threshold of Potential Concern
US	Upstream
VBA	Visual Basic Applications
VEGRAI	Riparian Vegetation Response Assessment Index
WIM	Water Impact Model
WMA	Water Management Area
WSUQ	Water Quality Sub Unit
WRU	Wetland Resource Unit
WULA	Water User Licence Application

1 INTRODUCTION

The National Water Act (NWA, Act No. 36 of 1998, Section 3) requires that the Reserve be determined for water resources, i.e. the quantity, quality and reliability of water needed to sustain both human use and aquatic ecosystems, so as to meet the requirements for economic development without seriously impacting on the long-term integrity of ecosystems. It is therefore imperative that the Reserve be determined and requirements met before other economic activities can be satisfied. As the Department of Water Affairs (DWA) is the trustee of the nation's water resources, it is their responsibility to ensure the adequate protection and effective management of these resources. The Chief Directorate: Resources Directed Measures (CD:RDM) is the directorate within the DWA tasked with the responsibility of ensuring that Reserve assessments take place before licensing can proceed.

The CD:RDM identified the Inkomati Water Management Area (WMA) as requiring a comprehensive Reserve assessment in light of the initiation of the Compulsory Licensing Process in the WMA and the proposed construction of the Montrose and Mountain View Dams. These studies require higher levels of confidence in the Reserve determination results as is currently available in certain catchments, such as the Sabie-Sand and Crocodile River catchments. The results of a Comprehensive Reserve study in these catchments would thus assist DWA to make informed decisions regarding the authorisation of future water use and the magnitude of the impacts of the present and proposed developments.

1.1 STUDY AREA

1.1.1 Description of Study area

The Inkomati WMA is largely located within the Mpumulanga Province. It can be considered to consist of three largely independent catchments, the Komati, Crocodile (East) and Sabie–Sand River catchments. All these rivers drain the WMA and confluence to form the Incomati River in Mozambique which flows into the Indian Ocean.

The Reserve requirements for the Komati River system (the remaining major river system in WMA 5) was determined and approved in 2003, the results of which are at a high confidence and are still relevant for use and implementation by the DWA. As such it was deemed unnecessary to include this system in the study area. The focus of this study therefore is only on the Crocodile (X2) and Sabie-Sand (X3) catchments (Figure 1-1).

1.1.2 Economic Characteristics

The gross geographic product (GGP) of the Inkomati WMA was R6,7 billion in 1997. The most important magisterial districts in terms of contribution to GGP in this WMA are Barberton, White River, Nsikazi, Pilgrims Rest and others. The most important sectors in terms of contribution to the GGP are manufacturing, agriculture government, trade and other.

The largest part of the Inkomati WMA falls within the Lowveld, which has a warm sub-tropical climate which is suitable for growing many frost-sensitive crops and tropical fruit, such as bananas, avocados and mangoes. Sugarcane which is an irrigated crop is grown in the eastern parts mainly the lower Crocodile and Komati River valleys. The Malelane and Komati Sugar Mills are located here.

The higher mountainous areas are suitable for forestry and large plantations of pine and eucalyptus supply the wood, pulp and paper industries. SAPPI Ngodwana, one of the largest paper mills in the country is located in the Crocodile River catchment approximately 40 km west of Nelspruit. A large number of manufacturing activities are situated in and around Nelspruit and industrial development is expanding rapidly. Development opportunities have been identified especially in the steel, chemicals, food, wood products, paper and pulp. An international airport just outside of Nelspruit improves access to international markets and tourism

A very important feature of the Inkomati WMA is the Kruger National Park, which also extends into the Olifants and Levuvhu/Letaba WMAs. This forms a large part of the tourism industry. The scenic areas around Sabie, Graskop, Pilgrim's Rest and the Blyde River Canyon also draw large numbers of tourists throughout the year. Trout fishing is another well-supported tourist activity in the area, in places such as Dullstroom and areas around Belfast (which falls partly in the Olifants WMA), Waterval Boven and Machadodorp.



Figure 1.1 Layout and location of the Inkomati WMA

hica tal, Eng Consulta Nog	interiory (25 (Pty) No. 2005001	¥ [24 158307		
Maps Tet Fax: Emai	Produce	ed By		
isclaimer: GIS can not be uality and accu the maps	held respons	ible for the	đ	
	Maps		Maps Produced By Figure 10 (12) 91-968 Figure 10 (12) 91-968 Figu	<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header>

1.2 WATER REQUIREMENTS IN THE CATCHMENT

The Inkomati WMA mainly consists of urban and semi-urban populations. A large number of rural settlements exist in the Mhala, Mapulanneng, Nsikazi, Nkomati and Mswati regions. Major urban centres in the WMA are Nelspruit, White River, Komatipoort, Carolina, Badplaas, Barberton, Sabie, Bushbuckridge, Kanyamazane and Matsulu.

Future growth in population is expected to be moderate and to be concentrated in the urban areas, with a decline in some rural areas.

1.2.1 Existing water related infastructure

Several major dams exist in the Inkomati WMA. The Komati River system is highly regulated by dams with the Crocodile and Sabie River systems less so.

Crocodile River System

- The Kwena Dam in the Upper reaches of the Crocodile River which augments water supplies to users along the Crocodile River.
- Two new dams are proposed on the Crocodile River system, namely the Montrose Dam at the confluence of the Crocodile and Elands Rivers and the Mountain View Dam on the Kaap River (tributary of the Crocodile River).

Sabie River System

• Inyaka Dam on the Marite River a tributary of the Sabie River was constructed mainly to supply the domestic and ecological water requirements on the lower Sabie River and the domestic water requirements in the Sand River sub-catchment by means of the Bosbokrand Transfer Pipeline (BTP) which will transfer up to 25million m³/annum to the Sand River sub-catchment for this purpose.

There are a number of important canal systems that transfer water to irrigators in the Crocodile and Sabie River Catchments.

1.2.2 Water Quality

Crocodile sub-catchment

The water quality in the Crocodile sub-area is generally good although some deterioration of the quality in the lower Kaap River (often high levels of arsenic) and lower Crocodile River is observed. This is due to return flows from upstream users including irrigation, urban areas and old gold mining activities. Irrigation return seepage is noticeable during periods of low flow.

The potential water quality problems emanating from the SAPPI paper mill at Ngodwana is probably the most serious water quality problem in the catchment. Effluent has been disposed of through irrigation for a number of years but the soil has become saturated with salts (especially chlorine) and these leach out into the Elands River and then enter the Crocodile River.

Sabie-Sand sub-catchment

The surface water quality in the Sabie River sub-catchment is good with no immediate threats. Following completion of the Inyaka Dam there is considerable assimilative capacity available to maintain the water quality in the Sabie River in its current good state. Water entering the Kruger National Park is a major concern if appropriate sanitation upstream of the Park is not implemented.

The surface water quality in the Sand River sub-catchment is not as good as in the Sabie River sub-catchment due to over-abstraction which reduces the natural assimilative capacity of the river. Occasional elevated levels of nutrients in the Sand River are noted, with informal housing developments a suspected cause. The large number of rural settlements which rely on pit latrines is cause for concern as far as ground-water pollution goes but to date there have been no reported incidences of groundwater pollution.

2 PROJECT PLAN AND APPROACH

Author: MD Louw (Rivers for Africa)

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The approach to the Reserve study was within context of the eight-step Reserve procedure (Louw and Hughes, 2002). The eight step procedure is provided in Figure 2-1.



Figure 2.1 Diagram illustrating the process to be followed for the Inkomati WMA Reserve study (Adapted from DWAF, 2006)

2.2 AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOMES OF THE STUDY

The overall aim of the project as described in the Terms of Reference (ToR) was to provide EcoClassification results and Reserves for WMA 5 as well as a detailed capacity building programme. The detailed aims, objectives and proposed outcomes of the study were as follows:

- Provide technical and project management.
- Provide the typing, importance and habitat integrity for wetlands and make recommendations regarding Reserve assessments.
- Groundwater: Assess groundwater input to base flows at an intermediate level and make recommendations for Reserve assessments at a higher level of confidence if necessary.
- Provide Level 4 EcoStatus assessment for the Resource Units (RUs) represented by comprehensive EWR sites as part of the EcoClassification process.
- Identify a range of Ecological Categories (ECs) for which water requirements must be set.

- Determine EWRs for each of these ECs or, where relevant, test existing EWRs for adequacy and purposes of monitoring.
- Determine the impact of EWRs on the allocatable yield and, based on the impacts, devise additional scenarios to optimize the allocatable yield.
- Determine the ecological and resource-economic consequences of each of these additional scenarios.
- Provide the Ecological Specifications (EcoSpecs), as input to the Resource Quality Objectives (RQOs), associated with the Management Class provided to the PSP, if available.
- Provide extrapolated results for each hydrological node in the Sabie and Crocodile catchment.
- Provide an implementation strategy for the Reserve.
- Train selected specialist trainees in specific tasks relating to Reserve determinations.

The output of the study is Ecological Water Requirement (EWR) Rules for every site and for a range of Ecological Categories, as well as the EcoSpecs.

2.3 PROJECT PLAN

The project plan generally used by Rivers for Africa for Reserve studies was modified for the Inkomati Reserve Study and consisted of a range of tasks and sub-tasks listed in Table 2.1. These task numbers are linked to those in Figure 2-2.

The results of these tasks are described within this main report and the corresponding chapters are provided in the Table 2.1.



Figure 2.2 Project Plan for the Inkomati Reserve study

Table 2.1 List of tasks within the Project Plan

TASKS AND SUBTASKS	Corresponding chapters in main report
TASK 1 - PROJECT MANAGEMENT	
1.1 Project Management	
1.2 Technical management	
1.3 PMT Meetings	
1.4 Financial management	
PHASE I: STUDY INITIATION AND DESIGN	
TASK 2 - PROJECT PLANNING AND PROCESS INTEGRATION	Chapter 2
2.1 Design of project plan and available current data collection	

0.0 Makilian of a turk to an	
TASK 3 - DESKTOP ECOCLASSIFICATION Chap	oter 3
3.1 Socio-cultural importance at quaternary level	
3.2 Populating SCI model	
3.3 Include in DFID Recommendations	
TASK 4 - LIMITED PUBLIC AWARENESS ASSESSMENT	
	tor 4
TASK 6 – GROUNDWATER COMPONENT	ter 5
6.1 Study description	
6.2 Delineation of resource units	
6.3 Resource Classification	
6.4 Quantification of the groundwater contribution to the Ecological Reserve	
6.5 Setting of quality and quantity groundwater Resource Quality Objectives	
TASK 7 – RESOURCE UNITS Char	ter 7
7 1 Geomorphological zones	
7.2 EcoRegions	
7.2 Econogions	
7.4 Water quality subunits	
7.5 Land cover	
7.6 Groundwater sub-units	
7.7 Identification of Resource Units	
7.8 Sabie EWR site selection and dry season survey	
7.9 RU Report	
TASK 8 – EXTRAPOLATION/ESTIMATION Chap	ter 15
8.1 Predict the indicator species at each hydrological node	
8.2 Indicate the reach that each hydrological node and the EWR sites represent	
8.3 Predict flow requirements for each hydrological node	
8.4 Report	
TASK 9 – WETLAND TYPING AND ECOCLASSIFICATION Chap	ter 6
9 1 Identify and map the wetlands	
9.2 Classification of watland types (HGM classification system)	
0.2 Deference conditions	
9.3 Reference conditions	
9.4 General Current Ecological Condition	
9.5 Ecological Importance and Sensitivity	
9.6 Prioritization of possible sites for pilot testing of Rapid Reserve methods	
9.7 Report writing	
TASK 10 – RIVER ECOCLASSIFICATION Chap	ter 8
10.1 Crocodile River survey & hydraulic calibration	
10.2 Data and model preparation	
10.3 Diatom assessment	
10.4 EcoStatus assessment	
10.5 Specialist meeting	
10.6 Reporting	
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Chap	oter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Chap 11.1 Hydraulic calibration	ter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Chap 11.1 Hydraulic calibration 11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling	iter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Chap 11.1 Hydraulic calibration 11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling 11.3 Sediment Transport modelling 11.3 Sediment Transport modelling	iter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Chap 11.1 Hydraulic calibration 11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling 11.3 Sediment Transport modelling 11.4 EcoHydrology analysis 11.4 EcoHydrology analysis 11.5 Date Collation and Demonstrian	iter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT Char 11.1 Hydraulic calibration 11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling 11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling 11.3 Sediment Transport modelling 11.4 EcoHydrology analysis 11.5 Data Collation and Preparation 11.5 Data Collation and Preparation 11.6 EWR scenario determination	iter 9
TASK 11: EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENTChap11.1 Hydraulic calibration11.2 EcoHydraulic modelling11.3 Sediment Transport modelling11.3 Sediment Transport modelling11.4 EcoHydrology analysis11.5 Data Collation and Preparation11.6 EWR scenario determination11.7 Reporting	iter 9

Task 12.1 Identification of the sectors	
Task 12.2 Determination of economic zones and current water allocation	
Task 12.3 Determination of the valuation technique	
Task 12.4 Economic value of water	
TASK 13 – DETERMINING OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS AND CONSEQUENCES	Chapter 10-12
13.1 Yield modelling	
13.2 Concentration modelling	
13.3 Determining ecological consequences	
13.4 Socio economics & Ecosystem services consequences	
13.5 Reporting	
TASK 14 – IDENTIFICATION OF ECOSPECS AND MONITORING PROGRAMME	Chapter 14
14.1 Component appagamenta	
14.1 Component assessments	
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting	
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION	
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION TASK 15- STUDY TERMINATION	Chapter 13 & 16
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION TASK 15- STUDY TERMINATION 15.1 Preparation of final Reserve results	Chapter 13 & 16
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION TASK 15- STUDY TERMINATION 15.1 Preparation of final Reserve results 15.2 Capacity building analysis and audit	Chapter 13 & 16
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION TASK 15- STUDY TERMINATION 15.1 Preparation of final Reserve results 15.2 Capacity building analysis and audit 15.3 Compilation of main report	Chapter 13 & 16
14.1 Component assessments 14.2 Reporting PHASE III: STUDY TERMINATION TASK 15- STUDY TERMINATION 15.1 Preparation of final Reserve results 15.2 Capacity building analysis and audit 15.3 Compilation of main report 15.4 Preparation of Reserve templates	Chapter 13 & 16

2.4 VARIATION ORDERS

One variation order (VO) was approved during the course of the study. The VO is outlined below:

2.4.1 Re-assessment of EWR 6

EWR 6, the most downstream site in the Crocodile River and situated just upstream of the Komati River confluence, is the key site for EWR. Changes in the hydrology emanating from the Water Availability Assessment Study (WAAS) identified after the EWR scenario assessment task required that EWR 6 had to be re-assessed. The re-assessment of the site entailed the following:

- Obtaining a low flow calibration for EWR 6
- Refining the hydraulic information
- Re-assessing the site EWR 6 EWR requirements
- Determine the ecological consequences at EWR 6

2.4.2 Determination of a monitoring programme with emphasis on EcoSpecs

During the course of the study, Ecological Water Resource Monitoring (of which Ecological Reserve Monitoring forms part of) was further developed and refined. In order to include the newest developments, additional budget was required to include a habitat assessment. This habitat assessment required a baseline consisting of measuring numerous cross-sections at the EWR sites. This work was based on the newly developed Rapid Habitat Assessment Method (RHAM) and would be used to analyse the results from which Thresholds of Probable Concern could be derived and used within a Monitoring Decision Support System.

3 DESKTOP ECOCLASSIFICATION

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF), 2008. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Desktop EcoClassification report. Report produced by Water for Africa. Authored by Louw D & Huggins G P. Report no: 26/8/3/10/12/002.

3.1 APPROACH

The objective of the EWR study is to provide information at two levels of detail, i.e. at scoping or desktop level, as well as a more detailed assessment. This task presents the results of the Desktop assessment of the EcoClassification process for each quaternary and sub-quaternary catchment. The term used for Ecological Classification "EcoClassification" (Kleynhans et al., 2005) refers to the determination and categorisation of the Present Ecological State (PES) - or health or integrity - of various biophysical attributes of rivers, compared with the natural or close to natural reference condition. The purpose of EcoClassification is to gain insight into the causes and sources of the deviation of the PES from the reference condition. This provides the information needed to derive the desirable and attainable future ecological objectives for the river. The present state of the river is described in terms of Ecological Categories (A to F). The EcoClassification process also includes an assessment of Ecological Importance and Sensitivity (EIS), and Socio-Cultural Importance (SCI). These are described in terms of Low to Very High (EIS) and Minimal to Very High (SCI). All assessments include a confidence rating that may range from 1 (low confidence) to 5 (high confidence).

This PES and EIS assessment were undertaken during a previous study (Louw and Singh, 2006). During this study the SCI and analysis of hotspots were assessed using the 2006 results.

3.2 ECOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE AND SENSITIVITY

The ecological importance of a river is an expression of its contribution to the maintenance of biological diversity and ecological functioning on local and wider scales. Ecological sensitivity (or fragility) refers to the system's ability to resist disturbance and its capability to recover from disturbance once it has occurred (resilience) (Resh et al., 1988; Milner, 1994).

The EIS model is used, irrespective of the level of assessment. Only the intensity of data collection varies according to the level of assessment. Based on Louw and Singh (2006), of the 36 quaternary catchments assessed in the Crocodile River sub-catchment, two quaternary catchments had a very high EIS rating (Z21A and X24H, Crocodile River), while 21 quaternary catchments were rated as having a high EIS.

Twenty nine quaternary catchments were assessed in the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment of which six quaternaries had a very high EIS rating (X31C (Mac Mac River); X31K, X31M, X32H, X33A, B, D (Sabie River) and 11 quaternaries were rated as having a high EIS. The results are summarised in Table 3.1 and in Figure 3-1.



Figure 3.1 Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River sub-catchments: EIS per quaternary and sub quaternary catchment with associated confidence

	1:850000				
С	10	20	30	40	50 KM

3.3 SOCIO-CULTURAL IMPORTANCE

The SCI was determined from:

- A site visit that covered points along the river;
- Extrapolation to sites not visited by reference to available literature, as well as to existing mapping.

The SCI was generated by scoring each quaternary, based on the following features:

- Ritual Use (e.g., ceremonial purposes, spiritual/religious activities).
- Aesthetic Value.
- Resource Dependence (referring to the goods and services delivered by the river system and people's dependence on these components).
- Recreational Use.
- Historical/Cultural Value (e.g. Fugitives Drift on the Buffalo River or components of the Mzimvubu River that have played a central role in Xhosa cultural history).

Scores were then modified to reflect the adjudged importance of each component relative to the other.

The SCI examination of the Sabie and Crocodile systems revealed that there were certain quaternary catchments that scored in the "high" and "very high" importance category. To some extent this was a geographical accident in that quaternaries that covered both the Kruger Park area as well as some of the former homeland areas were included. As such, these areas score high in both the aesthetic recreation value (Kruger Park) and the ritual andresource use components(subsistence areas). Despite the geographical coincidence it was evident that many of the quaternary areas and associated resource components were highly important in terms of the SCI and as such arguments for improving or at least maintaining the PES were probably well founded.

A SCI map illustrating the SCI rating and confidence is provided in Figure 3-2 and 3-3 for the Crocodile sub-system and Sabie-Sand sub-system respectively.







Figure 3.3 Sabie Sand sub-catchment: SCI map illustrating SCI rating and confidence







Maps Produced By

3.4 PRESENT ECOLOGICAL STATE

The PES of the river is expressed in terms of various components, i.e., drivers (physico-chemical variables, geomorphology, hydrology) and biological responses (fish, riparian vegetation and macroinvertebrates), as well as an integrated state, the EcoStatus.

Based on Louw and Singh (2006) the PES of most of the rivers evaluated in the Crocodile River sub-catchment fell within categories B to C/D, with only four rivers falling within category D (XX22E-Sand River, X24A,B-Nsikaze River and X22J-Crocodile River).

During the 2006 study the PES of most of the rivers evaluated in the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment fell within categories B to C, with only one river falling within a C/D category (X31J-Noord Sand River).

The PES of the following rivers was within categories A - A/B and B:

- Crocodile River sub-catchment:
 - X21A Crocodile River (B)
 - X21B Crocodile River (B)
 - X21F-G,J-K Elands River (B)
 - X22A Houtbosloop (B)
 - X22D Nels River (B)
 - X24G Mbyaniti River (A/B)
- Sabie-Sand River sub-catchment:
 - X31A-B,D,G Sable River (B)
 - X31C Mac Mac River (A/B)
 - X31F Motitsi River (B)
 - X32B Klein Sand (B)
 - X32H,JSand River (B)
 - X33A-B,D Sabie River (A//B)
 - X33C Mlondolozi (A)
 - X40A Sweni (A)
 - X40B Nwanetsi (A)
 - X40C-D Nwasitsontso (A)

The reason for these rivers still being in a good condition is related to the low accessibility to most of them (which result in some protection), or they are situated in protected areas. The results are summarised in Table 3.1 and in Figure 3-4.





lle	1:850000				
5	10	20	30	40	50 km

3.5 INTEGRATED IMPORTANCE CONSIDERING EIS, PES AND SCI

A combination of EIS, SCI, and PES provide an indication of overall / integrated importance with the emphasis on the restoration potential. The restoration potential refers to the probability of achieving the rehabilitation of the river to an improved state. For example, if a river has very high overall importance, but is in bad condition, the restoration potential is often low.

However, rivers in good condition are scarce, and therefore important in their own right. A river that is in very good condition, but of low EIS, and/or SCI; might still be important from an ecological perspective, as it could be one of a limited number of that type of river that is still in good condition.

According to the matrix below (Figure 3-5), an Integrated Importance value is estimated from 1 (low importance to 4 high importance).



Figure 3.5 Matrix used to determine an Integrated Importance value on a scale of 0 - 4 (modified from Louw and Huggins, 2007)

The results of the evaluation are listed in Table 3.1 and illustrated in Figures 3-6 and 3-7. Note that the highest score between EIS and SCI is used to compare to the PES. The additional information provided in the figures are the rivers where a specific EIS have rated a 4. These are illustrated as lines on the rivers.

Table 3.1 Integrated importance of the river reaches assessed

(Orange rows indicate the quaternary catchments where the importance rating changed due to the SCI results being incorporated in the 2006 assessment results)

Quaternary Catchment	River	EIS	SCI	PES	Importance Rating (0 – 4)
	CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT				
X21A	Crocodile	VERY HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
X21B	Crocodile	HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
X21C	Alexanderspruit	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	4
X21D	Crocodile	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	3
X21E	Crocodile	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	3
X21F	Elands	MODERATE	MODERATE	В	3

X21GElandsHiGHMINIMALB4X21HElandsHiGHMINIMALB4X21XElandsHiGHMODERATEB4X21XElandsHIGHLOWB4X22AHoubsoloopHIGHLOWB4X22AFocodileMODERATELOWC2X2CCCrocodileMODERATEMINIMALBC3X22ESandLOWAARGINALMINIMALD1X22FNels RiverMODERATELOWC3X22FNels RiverMODERATELOWC3X22FNels RiverMODERATELOWC3X22FNels RiverMODERATELOWC1X22FNels RiverMODERATELOWC3X22KCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALC3X33CQueensMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CQueensMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMODERATEMINIMALBC3X33CSuid KaapMIGH	Quaternary Catchment	River	EIS	SCI	PES	Importance Rating (0 – 4)
X21HNgohveneHGHMINIMALB4X21.VElandsHIGHMODERATEB4X21.KElandsHIGHLOWB4X22.AHoutboshopHIGHLOWB4X22.AHoutboshopHIGHLOWB4X22.ACrocodileHIGHLOWB3X22.CCrocodileMODERATEMINMALB/C2X22.DNels RiverMODERATEMINMALD1X22.FSardC/W/MARGINALMINMALD1X22.FNels RiverLOW/MARGINALMINMALDC2X22.RNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22.RCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23.ANoord KaapMODERATEMINMALB/C3X23.ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23.AQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CSuid KaapLOW/ARGINALVERV HIGHD3X23.CSuid KaapLOW/ARGINALVERV HIGHC3X23.CSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23.CCo	X21G	Elands	HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
X21.1ElandsHiGHMODERATEB4X21.KElandsHIGHLOWB4X22.AHoubostoopHIGHLOWB4X22.AHoubostoopHIGHMINMALBCC3X22.CCrocodliaMODERATELOWC.C2X22.CNels RiverMODERATEMINIMALB3X22.CSandLOW/MARGINALMINIMALD1X22.FNels RiverHIGHLOWC.C3X22.ANels RiverLOW/MARGINALMINIMALC.C1X22.ACrocodliaHIGHMODERATED2X23.ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23.ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23.BNoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23.CQueensHIGHMINIMALBCC3X23.CQueensMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23.CSuid KaapMODERATEMODERATECD2X23.CSuid KaapMODERATEMODERATECD2X23.CSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23.CNakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24.CCrocodlieHIGHHIGHC3X24.CCrocodlieHIGHHIGHA4X24.CCrocodlieHIGHHIGHA4X24.C<	X21H	Ngodwana	HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
N21KElandsHIGHLOWB4X22AHoutbostopHIGHLOWB/C3X22BCrocodileMIDERATELOWC2X2CCCrocodileMODERATELOWCC2X2CDNels RiverMODERATELOWCC3X2ECSandLOW/MARGINALMINIMALB/C1X2FNels RiverHIGHLOWCC3X2CGWit RiverMODERATELOWCC2X2XACrocodileHIGHMODERATELOWC2X2XACrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23AQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALHIGHC3X24ANakaze<	X21J	Elands	HIGH	MODERATE	В	4
X22AHoubosloopHIGHLOWB4X22BCrocodileHIGHMININALBC3X22CCrocodileMODERATEMININALB3X22DNols RiverMODERATEMININALD1X22FSandLOW/MARGINALMININALD1X22FNels RiverHIGHLOWCC3X22GWit RiverMODERATELOWCC2X22ANos RiverMODERATELOWCC2X22ACrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23ANoord KaapHIGHMININALBCC3X33ANoord KaapHIGHMININALBCC3X23CQueensHIGHMININALBCC3X23GQueensHIGHMININALBCC3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMININALBCC3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GSuid KaapHIGHVERY HIGHD3X24ANskazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANskazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHKIGHAX24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHAAX24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHAAX24GSabieHIGHMININA	X21K	Elands	HIGH	LOW	В	4
X228CrocodileHIGHMINIMALB/C3X22CCrocodileMODERATELOWC2X22DNals RiverMODERATEMINIMALD1X22ESandLOWMARGINALMINIMALD1X22FNals RiverHIGHLOWC3X22GWit RiverLOWMARGINALMINIMALC1X22FNals RiverMODERATELOWC3X22ACrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23GQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23GQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23GSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X24MNakazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHG3X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHA/B4X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHA/B4X24GCrocodileHIGHMINIMALB/B4X24GCrocodileHIGHMINIMALB/B4X24GSableHIGHMINIM	X22A	Houtbosloop	HIGH	LOW	В	4
X22CCrocodileMODERATELOWC2X22DNols RiverMODERATEMINIMALB3X22ESandLOW/MARGINALMINIMALB3X22FNels RiverIGMLOWC3X22GWit RiverLOW/MARGINALMINIMALC1X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC3X22AKireorHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapHIGHMINIMALBCC2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALC2X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALC2X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23CSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALBCC3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC2X23ASuid KaapMODERATEMODERATEC2X23ASuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC2X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ANakazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHA4X24ASabieHIGHMEHA4X24ASa	X22B	Crocodile	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	3
X22DNels RiverMODERATEMINIMALB3X22ESandLOW/MARGINALMINIMALD1X22FNels RiverHIGHLOWC3X22GWi RiverMODERATELOWC2X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22LCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23ANoord KaapMIGHMODERATEC3X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GSuid KaapMIGHMODERATEC/D3X23GKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X23GKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X24ANiskazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileHIGHMICHA/B4X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODE	X22C	Crocodile	MODERATE	LOW	С	2
X22ESandLOW/MARGINALMINIMALD1X22FNels RiverHIGHLOWC3X22GWir RiverLOW/MARGINALMINIMALC1X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22JCrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23ANoord KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23COueensHIGHMINIMALC3X23COueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23GGueensMODERATEMODERATEC3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATEMODERATEMODERATEQX23HKaapHIGHVERY HIGHD3X24ANskazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24GCrocodileHIGHHIGHA4X24HSabieHIGHMIGHA4X24FCrocodileHIGHMIGHA4X24GMayanitLOWMARGINALHIGHA4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATE	X22D	Nels River	MODERATE	MINIMAL	В	3
X22FNels RiverHIGHLOWC3X22GWit RiverLOWMARGINALMNIMALC1X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22JCrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMNIMALB/C2X23ANoord KaapHIGHMNIMALC3X23AQueensHIGHMNIMALB/C2X23BQueensHIGHMNIMALE/C3X23DQueensHIGHMNIMALE/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC2X23FSuid KaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X23FSuid KaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X23AKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC/D3X24ANsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC3X24CCrocodileHIGHMIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODE	X22E	Sand	LOW/MARGINAL	MINIMAL	D	1
X22GWit RiverLOW/MARGINALMNIMALC1X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22JCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23KCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X23ANoord KaapMIGHMINIMALBCC2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALBCC3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALBCC3X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALBCC3X23GSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALBCC3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23FSuid KaapMIGHMODERATECO3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HIGHHIGHMICHAB4X24FCrocodile: Malelane to HIGHHIGHMICHAB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODER	X22F	Nels River	HIGH	LOW	С	3
X22HNels RiverMODERATELOWC2X22JCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X2XACrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23CQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23ESuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23FSuid KaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X23GKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X24ANskazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANskazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ACrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24GMiyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHAB4X24GMiyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHAB4X31ASableHIGHMIODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGH <td>X22G</td> <td>Wit River</td> <td>LOW/MARGINAL</td> <td>MINIMAL</td> <td>С</td> <td>1</td>	X22G	Wit River	LOW/MARGINAL	MINIMAL	С	1
X22JCrocodileHIGHMODERATED2X22KCrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALC3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23FSuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23AKaapMODERATELOWC2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HIGHHIGHHIGHC4X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEC3X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATE<	X22H	Nels River	MODERATE	LOW	С	2
X22KCrocodileHIGHMODERATEC3X33ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALC3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALC2X32ASuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATELOWC2X24ANskazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24BCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHA4X24FCrocodileHIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB <td< td=""><td>X22J</td><td>Crocodile</td><td>HIGH</td><td>MODERATE</td><td>D</td><td>2</td></td<>	X22J	Crocodile	HIGH	MODERATE	D	2
X23ANoord KaapMODERATEMINIMALB/C2X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALC3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALC2X23EStuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FStuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FStuid KaapMODERATELOWC2X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D3X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC3X24ACrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC3X24ACrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ACrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24ACrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALAB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATE<	X22K	Crocodile	HIGH	MODERATE	С	3
X23BNoord KaapHIGHMINIMALC3X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALB/C2X23ESuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATELOWCC2X23AKaapMODERATELOWCD2X24ANskazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHGC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHGC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEC3X31ASableHIGHMODERATEG3	X23A	Noord Kaap	MODERATE	MINIMAL	B/C	2
X23CQueensHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALC2X23ESuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATELOWC2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHA4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASableHIGHMODERATEB4X31A	X23B	Noord Kaap	HIGH	MINIMAL	С	3
X23DQueensMODERATEMINIMALC2X23ESuid KaapHIGHMINIMALB/C3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATELOWC2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC4X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHC4X24CCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24ACrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMoltisiHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMoltisiHIGHMODERATEC2X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMoltisiHIGHMODERATEC2X31FMoltisiHIGHMODERATEB	X23C	Queens	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	3
X23ESuid KaapHIGHMINIMALBAC3X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATECO2X24ANsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHABB4X24FCrocodileUERY HIGHHIGHABB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHABB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHABB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4	X23D	Queens	MODERATE	MINIMAL	С	2
X23FSuid KaapHIGHMODERATEC3X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X24ANsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOWMARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileUCWMARGINALHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileUERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHAB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGH <td< td=""><td>X23E</td><td>Suid Kaap</td><td>HIGH</td><td>MINIMAL</td><td>B/C</td><td>3</td></td<>	X23E	Suid Kaap	HIGH	MINIMAL	B/C	3
X23GKaapMODERATELOWC2X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHD3X24DCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEC3X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X	X23F	Suid Kaap	HIGH	MODERATE	С	3
X23HKaapMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHD3X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X24FCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotisiHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEC/D2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4	X23G	Каар	MODERATE	LOW	С	2
X24ANsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC3X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile:Malelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHUOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMariteHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMODERATEB4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC2X31HSabieHIGHVERY HIGHG22X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHG4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGH<	X23H	Каар	MODERATE	MODERATE	C/D	2
X24BNsikazeLOW/MARGINALVERY HIGHD3X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile:Malelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileUOW/MARGINALHIGHC3X24GMbyanitLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMariteHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALB4X31HWord SandMODERATEMODERATEB4X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMODERATEB4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31HSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGH <td< td=""><td>X24A</td><td>Nsikaze</td><td>LOW/MARGINAL</td><td>VERY HIGH</td><td>D</td><td>3</td></td<>	X24A	Nsikaze	LOW/MARGINAL	VERY HIGH	D	3
X24CCrocodileHIGHVERY HIGHC4X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodileMalelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24GCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC3X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31AMariteHIGHMODERATEB4X31AMariteHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMINIMALB4X31ASabieMODERATEMINIMALC2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC/D2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC/D2X31A	X24B	Nsikaze	LOW/MARGINAL	VERY HIGH	D	3
X24DCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHA/B4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotisiHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HVertewatersMODERATEMINIMALB4X31HMotisiMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC/D2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3 </td <td>X24C</td> <td>Crocodile</td> <td>HIGH</td> <td>VERY HIGH</td> <td>С</td> <td>4</td>	X24C	Crocodile	HIGH	VERY HIGH	С	4
X24ECrocodile: Malelane to HectorspruitHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotitsiHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMINIMALB4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC2X31FMotitsiMODERATEMODERATEB4X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3<	X24D	Crocodile	HIGH	HIGH	С	3
X24FCrocodileHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X24HSabieVERY HIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMoritsiHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMODERATEB4X31ASabieLOW/MARGINALMODERATEC/D2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHG3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY	X24E	Crocodile: Malelane to Hectorspruit	HIGH	HIGH	С	3
X24GMbyanitiLOW/MARGINALHIGHA/B4X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotisiHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotisiHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMODERATEB4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHHIGH	X24F	Crocodile	HIGH	HIGH	С	3
X24HCrocodileVERY HIGHHIGHC4SAMD SUB-CATCHENTX31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMariteHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMotitsiHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotitsiMODERATEMINIMALB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31ASabieKERY HIGHVERY HIGHC2X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB/G3	X24G	Mbyaniti	LOW/MARGINAL	HIGH	A/B	4
SUB-CATCHIENTX31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31EMariteHIGHMODERATEB4X31FMotitsiHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieMODERATEMODERATEB4X31ASabieMODERATEMODERATEC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31LSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31ASabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHHIGHB/C3X31ASabieVERY HIGHHIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DKlein SandHIGHHIGHG3X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENovarehleHIGHHIGHKIGHKIGH	X24H	Crocodile	VERY HIGH	HIGH	С	4
X31ASabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMariteHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31LSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHHIGHC3		SA	ABIE-SAND SUB-CATC	HMENT		
X31BSabieHIGHMINIMALB4X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31EMariteHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMotitsiHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31GSabieMODERATEMINIMALC2X31AVhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHB4X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHHIGHC3	X31A	Sabie	HIGH	MODERATE	В	4
X31CMac MacVERY HIGHMINIMALA/B4X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31EMariteHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMotitsiHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHHIGHC3	X31B	Sabie	HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
X31DSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31EMariteHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMotitsiHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHHIGHC3	X31C	Мас Мас	VERY HIGH	MINIMAL	A/B	4
X31EMariteHIGHMODERATEC3X31FMotitsiHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31D	Sabie	HIGH	MODERATE	В	4
X31FMotitsiHIGHMINIMALB4X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31E	Marite	HIGH	MODERATE	С	3
X31GSabieHIGHMODERATEB4X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHB4X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31F	Motitsi	HIGH	MINIMAL	В	4
X31HWhitewatersMODERATEMINIMALC2X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31G	Sabie	HIGH	MODERATE	В	4
X31JNoord SandMODERATEMODERATEC/D2X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31H	Whitewaters	MODERATE	MINIMAL	С	2
X31KSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHC4X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31J	Noord Sand	MODERATE	MODERATE	C/D	2
X31LSaringwaLOW/MARGINALMODERATEE1X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31K	Sabie	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	С	4
X31MSabieVERY HIGHVERY HIGHB/C3X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31L	Saringwa	LOW/MARGINAL	MODERATE	E	1
X32AGroot SandHIGHHIGHC3X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X31M	Sabie	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	B/C	3
X32BKlein SandHIGHHIGHB4X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X32A	Groot Sand	HIGH	HIGH	С	3
X32CSandMODERATEHIGHC3X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X32B	Klein Sand	HIGH	HIGH	В	4
X32DMutlumuviHIGHHIGHC3X32ENwarehleHIGHHIGHC3	X32C	Sand	MODERATE	HIGH	С	3
X32E Nwarehle HIGH C 3	X32D	Mutlumuvi	HIGH	HIGH	С	3
	X32E	Nwarehle	HIGH	HIGH	С	3

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

Quaternary Catchment	River	EIS	SCI	PES	Importance Rating (0 – 4)
X32F	Mutlumuvi	MODERATE	HIGH	С	3
X32G	Sand	MODERATE	VERY HIGH	С	4
Х32Н	Sand	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	В	4
X32J	Sand	HIGH	HIGH	В	4
X33A	Sabie	VERY HIGH	HIGH	A/B	4
Х33В	Sabie	VERY HIGH	HIGH	A/B	4
X33C	Mlondolozi	LOW/MARGINAL	HIGH	А	4
X33D	Sabie	VERY HIGH	HIGH	A/B	4
X40A	Sweni	MODERATE	HIGH	А	4
X40B	Nwanetsi	MODERATE	HIGH	А	4
X40C	Nwasitsontso	MODERATE	VERY HIGH	А	4
X40D	Nwasitsontso	MODERATE	HIGH	А	4

Orange cells indicated changes to 2006 study results due to the inclusion of SCI results.







Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: Map illustrating areas of high Integrated Importance Figure 3.7

Legend

Sabie & Sand Sub Catchments --- International Boundaries

Quaternary Catchments Kruger National Park

EWR Sites Sabie & Sand

\leq
0
N
Þ
3
ō
C
m

Map	s Produced By
	The Little
6	\oplus
	GIS
Tel	(012) 991-3624
Em	nail: info@tgis.co.za
We	b: www.tgis.co.za
Disclaimer	
TGIS can not b	be held responsible for the
quality and acc	curacy of the data presented

Nearly the whole Crocodile sub-catchment was rated as a high to very high integrated importance. The upper reaches of the Noord and Suid Kaap River as well as the Kaap River in quaternary catchment X23G and H was rated as moderate integrated importance along with quaternaries occurring in the areas of White River and Nelspruit.

In the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment areas of very high integrated importance dominate. Only three quaternary catchments were rated as moderate and includes X31H, J, and L.

3.6 PRIORITY AREAS FOR EWR ASSESSMENT

A matrix (Figure 3-8) is again used to assess the rating of priority areas. The X-axis is based on the Integrated Importance value derived from the first matrix (Figure 3-5, Table 3.1 and results illustrated in Figure 3.6 and 3-7). The Y-axis depicts an estimate of water resource use (DWAF, 2007), with a 0 being of no importance and 4 being of very high importance. This matrix was used to identify quaternary catchments which are so called 'hotspots'. A biodiversity/ecological hotspot is a biogeographic region which is a significant reservoir of biodiversity which is threatened with destruction (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Biodiversity hotspot). In the context used in the Desktop EcoClassification, the hotspot represents a quaternary catchment with a high Integrated Importance which could be under threat due to its importance for water resource use. These hotspots indicate areas where Reserve assessments should ideally result in high confidence recommendations. This then guides the initial estimate of the level of the assessments required, and indicates areas where detailed investigations would be required if development was being considered. It must be noted that a detailed Reserve assessment does not necessarily provide high confidence results. This is usually due to constraints such as lack of available data (hydrology, biota etc.).



Figure 3.8 Matrix indicating the level of EWR assessments required ((modified from Louw and Huggins, 2007)

3.6.1 Importance of Water Resource Use

The priority rating method consists of assigning a qualitative score to a river reach for four variables or factors that represent the status of the instream flow. The scores of the four variables are combined to determine (qualitatively) an overall score which represents the importance of the

river reach in terms of the water resource use and guides decision making with regard to what level of assessment is needed (DWAF, 2007).

3.6.2 Determine level of EWR

The matrix was used to compare the Integrated Importance with the Water Resource Use Importance (Louw and Huggins, 2007) and the results are provided in Table 3.2 and Figure 3-9 and 3-10.

Table 3.2Quaternary catchments of high Integrated Importance and/or high Water
Resource Use Importance

Quaternary Catchment	River	Integrated Importance Rating (0 – 4)	Water Resource Use Rating (WRU)	Recommendations PRIORITY RATING	Reasons for Evaluation
CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT					
X21A	Crocodile	4	1-2	3	Very High integrated importance
X21B	Crocodile	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance
X21C	Alexanderspruit	4	2-3	3	Very High integrated importance
X21D	Crocodile	3	3-4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X21E	Crocodile	3	3-4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X21F	Elands	3	1	2	High integrated importance but Low WRU
X21G	Elands	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance
X21H	Ngodwana	4	1	2	Very High integrated importance but Low WRU
X21J	Elands	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance
X21K	Elands	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance
X22A	Houtbosloop	4	1-2	3	Very High integrated importance but Low WRU
X22B	Crocodile	3	2-3	3	High integrated importance and High WRU
X22C	Crocodile	2	4	3	Very High WRU
X22D	Nels River	3	1-2	2	High integrated importance but Low WRU
X22E	Sand	1	1-2	1	Low integrated importance and WRU
X22F	Nels River	3	2	3	High integrated importance
X22G	Wit River	1	4	2	Very High WRU but Low integrated importance
X22H	Nels River	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X22J	Crocodile	2	4	3	Very High WRU and Moderate integrated importance
X22K	Crocodile	3	4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X23A	Noord Kaap	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X23B	Noord Kaap	3	1-2	3	High integrated importance and Low WRU
X23C	Queens	3	0-1	1	High integrated importance and Low WRU
X23D	Queens	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X23E	Suid Kaap	3	1-2	3	High integrated importance and WRU
X23F	Suid Kaap	3	3-4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X23G	Каар	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
Х23Н	Каар	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X24A	Nsikaze	3	1-2	3	High integration importance and Low to Moderate WRU
X24B	Nsikaze	3	1-2	3	High integration importance and Low to Moderate WRU
X24C	Crocodile	4	4	4	Very High integrated importance and Very High WRU
Quaternary Catchment	River	Integrated Importance Rating (0 – 4)	Water Resource Use Rating (WRU)	Recommendations PRIORITY RATING	Reasons for Evaluation
-------------------------	--	--	------------------------------------	------------------------------------	---
X24D	Crocodile	3	4	4	High integrated importance and Very High WRU
X24E	Crocodile: Malelane to Hectorspruit	3	4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X24F	Crocodile	3	4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X24G	Mbyaniti	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment
X24H	Crocodile	4	4	4	Very High integrated importance and Very High WRU
		-	SABIE-S	AND SUB	-CATCHMENT
X31A	Sabie	4	1	3	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31B	Sabie	4	1	3	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31C	Mac Mac	4	1	3	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31D	Sabie	4	1-2	3	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31E	Marite	3	1-2	3	High integration importance and Low to Moderate WRU
X31F	Motitsi	4	1	2	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31G	Sabie	4	1-2	3	Very High integrated importance and Low WRU
X31H	Whitewaters	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X31J	Noord Sand	2	1-2	2	Moderate integrated importance and WRU
X31K	Sabie	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance and Moderate to High WRU
X31L	Saringwa	1	1-2	1	Low Integrated importance and WRU
X31M	Sabie	3	3-4	4	High integrated importance and High WRU
X32A	Groot Sand	3	0-1	1	High integrated importance but Low WRU
X32B	Klein Sand	4	0-1	2	Very High integrated importance but Low WRU
X32C	Sand	3	1-2	3	High integration importance and Low to Moderate WRU
X32D	Mutlumuvi	3	1-2	3	High integrated importance but Low WRU
X32E	Nwarehle	3	1	1	High integrated importance but Low WRU
X32F	Mutlumuvi	3	3-4	3	High integrated importance and High WRU
X32G	Sand	4	2	3	Very high Integrated importance and Moderate WRU
Х32Н	Sand	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance but Moderate WRU
X32J	Sand	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance but Moderate WRU
X33A	Sabie	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance but Moderate WRU
X33B	Sabie	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance but Moderate WRU
X33C	Mlondolozi	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment
X33D	Sabie	4	2-3	4	Very High integrated importance but Moderate WRU
X40A	Sweni	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment
X40B	Nwanetsi	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment
X40C	Nwasitsontso	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment
X40D	Nwasitsontso	4	0	0	In the KNP so does not require priority rating for EWR assessment

These areas are illustrated spatially on a map (Figure 3-9 and 3-10). These dark and light red quaternaries represent the main river reaches where considerable care should be taken when considering development and which would require intermediate or comprehensive EWR assessment.

This assessment guided the selection of EWR sites (See Chapter 7). It will be attempted to place most of the EWR sites within the 'Very High' and 'High' areas. The selection of EWR sites is also dependent on other factors such as the suitability of potential sites for EWR assessments and areas with a high demand for licenses.

In the Crocodile sub-catchment (Figure 3-9) the 'hotspots' (red areas) are located in:

- The KNP due to the Very High EIS and SCI as well as the role the river plays to provide international requirements and other users.
- The area downstream of Kwena Dam and the Elands River due to the High and Very high EIS as well as its Water Resource Use importance.

In the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment (Figure 3-10) the hotspots (red areas) are located in:

- The KNP and conservation areas due to the Very High EIS and SCI.
- The Sabie River outside the KNP due to the high EIS.



Figure 3.9 Crocodile sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water Resource Use)



Figure 3.10 Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: Sections in rivers which are important for Reserve assessment (Hotspots) (derived from overlaying Integrated Importance and Water Resource Use)

	٦
Legend	
Legend	
& Sand Sub Catchments	
nary Catchments	
ational Boundaries	
Ssment	
High	
ium	
r National Park	
livers	
ites Sabie & Sand	
_	
3	
0	
N	
P	
5	
8	
Ø	ļ
C	ļ
m	ļ
	ļ
	ļ

4 BASIC HUMAN NEEDS RESERVE

Author: G Huggins (Nomad Consulting)

4.1 WHAT IS THE BASIC HUMAN NEEDS RESERVE?

The concept of a Basic Human Needs Reserve (BHNR) is deeply entrenched within the National Water Act (Act No 36 of 1998). In Chapter 1 (Interpretation and Fundamental Principles) the Act states that "Sustainability and equity are identified as central guiding principles in the protection, use, development, conservation, management and control of water resources. These guiding principles recognise the **basic human needs** of present and future generations, the need to protect water resources, the need to share some water resources with other countries, the need to promote social and economic development through the use of water and the need to establish suitable institutions in order to achieve the purpose of the Act."

Further, in defining the Reserve the National Water Act states that:

"Reserve" means the quantity and quality of water required -

(a) to satisfy basic human needs by securing a basic water supply, as prescribed under the Water Services Act, 1997 (Act No. 108 of 1997), for people who are now or who will, in the reasonably near future, be

- (i) relying upon;
- (ii) taking water from; or
- (iii) being supplied from, the relevant water resource; and

In Part 3 of the National Water Act, that dealing with the Reserve, the following definition occurs:

The basic human needs reserve provides for the essential needs of individuals served by the water resource in question and includes water for drinking, for food preparation and for personal hygiene.

4.2 HOW MUCH WATER IS NEEDED FOR BASIC HUMAN NEEDS?

Although the National Water Act gives the reader cues as to the importance of the BHNR and what it encompasses, there is no quantity of water set, which would be deemed to be adequate to satisfy these basic human needs. The Water Services Act (Act No. 108 of 1997) is no more insightful in determining the amount of water deemed to be satisfactory for basic human needs. Rather the Water Services Act sets out a definition not far removed from that of the National Water Act. The Water Services Act states that:

"basic water supply" means the prescribed minimum standard of water supply services necessary for the reliable supply of a sufficient quantity and quality of water to households, including informal households, to support life and personal hygiene.

The amount of water required for basic human needs is a question that encourages vigorous debate. Without repeating the debate it is probably sufficient to say that the minimum amount of water required to meet basic needs varies depending upon what is included as "basic needs". The figures generally vary from 20 to 50 litres per person per day.

In South Africa the RDP target of 25 litres per person per day has generally been accepted as the standard quantum for the purposes of the BHNR. This is slightly at odds with the "Free Basic

Water" recommended amount of 6 000 litres per household per month.¹ Given average household sizes in South Africa, the amount of 6 000 litres per month is closer to 40 litres per person per day than to 25.

4.3 THE BHNR FOR THE CROCODILE EAST, AND SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENTS

According to 2001 population figures for the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand sub-catchment area just 20% of the population is classified as urban, while 80% of the population is rural. The central band of this area, running from Cottondale/Acornhoek in the north, trough Hazyview, Whiteriver, and Nelspruit to Baberton in the south, is the most densely populated. Population density in the rural parts of the water management area is sparse. The population of the Sabie River catchment is expected to increase from about 338 000 in 1985 to about 691 000 in 2010. About 80 000 people outside the catchment boundaries were also dependent on water from the Sabie River catchment in 1985; this number is expected to increase to about 166 000 in 2010 (Chunnet, Fourie and Partners, 1990). The most notable urban settlements within the Croc East, Sabie and Sand subcatchments are Barberton, Nelspruit, Sabie and Waterval Boven.

The following steps were undertaken In order to calculate the BHNR:

- The population size of the communities/areas dependant on run of river was calculated at quaternary catchment level. The point of departure had been the 2001 National Census at "sub-place name level".
- Communities likely to be reliant on run of river were identified within the catchment. In order to do this, available mapping was consulted. Mapping was checked for its currency and the necessary interviews at a district or local municipal planning level were undertaken to verify the assumptions as to areas/communities dependent on run of river.
- Having calculated the qualifying population per quaternary catchment the next step in determining the BHNR was to project the population to a target date. For the purposes of this exercise the population was projected to a sensible target year. The population was projected using generic growth rates applicable to the kinds of municipalities in the resource area or analysis of all settlement types within the study area and the application of different rates based on settlement type, economic forecasts and from historic trends. For the purposes of the Crocodile East catchments a 0% growth rate was used. Virtually all of the population deemed to be reliant on run of river lives in the rural parts of the catchment. Trends indicate that the growth rate in rural area is negative. As a precautionary measure the population is deemed not to decline but to remain stable.
- Using the population figures a BHNR for the qualifying population can be estimated per quaternary catchment. The results calculated at 25 I per person per day are set out.
- Figures are expressed as m³ per day consumption.

The results are provided in Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 for the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River catchments respectively. The cumulative BHNR per EWR site in the Incomati WMA is provided in Table 4.3.

¹ For the provenance of the recommended 6 000 litres see http://www.dwaf.gov.za/Documents/ FBW/QAbrochureAug2002.pdf.

Table 4.1	Water required for the BHNR per quaternary expressed in m ³ per day -
	Crocodile sub-catchment

Quaternary Catchment	Total Population	Population Dependant on Run of River	Litres required per person per day	BHNR as total litres per day	BHNR as m ³ per day	BHNR as MCM
X21A	1723	279	25	6975	6.975	0.00255
X21B	1496	374	25	9350	9.35	0.00341
X21C	1020	321	25	8025	8.025	0.00293
X21D	1166	303	25	7575	7.575	0.00276
X21E	3734	676	25	16900	16.9	0.00617
X21F	6913	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X21G	6861	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X21H	2343	444	25	11100	11.1	0.00405
X21J	1386	243	25	6075	6.075	0.00222
X21K	4244	871	25	21775	21.775	0.00795
X22A	2228	499	25	12475	12.475	0.00455
X22B	2695	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X22C	10571	1281	25	32025	32.025	0.01169
X22D	3095	384	25	9600	9.6	0.00350
X22E	1584	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X22F	3238	724	25	18100	18.1	0.00661
X22G	1993	498	25	12450	12.45	0.00454
X22H	14616	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X22J	24576	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X22K	44410	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X23A	1421	353	25	8825	8.825	0.00322
X23B	2782	691	25	17275	17.275	0.00631
X23C	847	210	25	5250	5.25	0.00192
X23D	1790	443	25	11075	11.075	0.00404
X23E	1773	439	25	10975	10.975	0.00401
X23F	27129	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X23H	4034	1007	25	25175	25.175	0.00919
X24A	59058	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X24B	51921	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X24C	42186	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X24D	3500	559	25	13975	13.975	0.00510
X24E	2764	343	25	8575	8.575	0.00313
X24F	2664	579	25	14475	14.475	0.00528
X24G	7	2	25	50	0.05	0.00002
X24H	3488	610	25	15250	15.25	0.00557
Total	345256	12133		303325	303.325	0.11071

Table 4.2Water required for the BHNR per quaternary expressed in m³ per day – Sabie-
Sand sub-catchment

Quaternary Catchment	Total Population	Population Dependant on Run of River	Litres required per person per day	BHNR as total litres per day	BHNR as m ³ per day	BHNR as MCM
X31A	8983	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X31B	3044	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X31C	2018	201	25	5025	5.025	0.00183
X31D	3807	884	25	22100	22.1	0.00807
X31E	14442	3128	25	78200	78.2	0.02854
X31F	1590	119	25	2975	2.975	0.00109
X31G	32038	7954	25	198850	198.85	0.07258
X31H	940	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X31J	30937	3435	25	85875	85.875	0.03134
X31K	95730	19876	25	496900	496.9	0.18137

Quaternary Catchment	Total Population	Population Dependant on Run of River	Litres required per person per day	BHNR as total litres per day	BHNR as m ³ per day	BHNR as MCM
X31L	41607	8250	25	206250	206.25	0.07528
X31M	25014	6146	25	153650	153.65	0.05608
X32A	25375	6339	25	158475	158.475	0.05784
X32B	11334	2803	25	70075	70.075	0.02558
X32C	48890	8934	25	223350	223.35	0.08152
X32D	25042	6261	25	156525	156.525	0.05713
X32E	42088	1989	25	49725	49.725	0.01815
X32F	44078	12324	25	308100	308.1	0.11246
X32G	36430	4786	25	119650	119.65	0.04367
X32J	277	24	25	600	0.6	0.00022
X33A	6	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X33B	123	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X33C	2	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X33D	3	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X40A	207	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X40B	7	0	25	0	0	0.00000
X40C	7711	1917	25	47925	47.925	0.01749
X40D	5	0	25	0	0	0.00000
Total	501728	95370		2384250	2384.25	0.87025

Table 4.3 Cumulative BHNR per EWR site in the Incomati WMA

EWR site	Quaternary Catchment	BHNR as m ³ per day	BHNR as MCM	Cumulative BHNR per day m ³	Cumulative BHNR as MCM		
CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT							
EWR 1	X21A	6.98	0.00255	6.975	0.00255		
EWR 2	X21B	9.35	0.00341	16.325	0.00596		
EWR 3	X21E	16.90	0.00617	48.825	0.01782		
EWR4	X22K	0.00	0.00000	172.425	0.06294		
EWR 7	Х23Н	25.18	0.00919	78.575	0.02868		
EWR5	X24D	13.98	0.00510	264.975	0.09672		
EWR6	X24H	15.25	0.00557	303.325	0.11071		
SABIE-SA	ND SUB-CATC	HMENT					
EWR 1	X31B	0.00	0.00000	0	0.00000		
EWR 4	X31C	5.03	0.00183	5.025	0.00183		
EWR 2	X31D	22.10	0.00807				
EWR 5	X31G	198.85	0.07258	280.025	0.10221		
EWR 3	X31K	496.90	0.18137	889.925	0.32482		
EWR 7	X32C	223.35	0.08152	451.9	0.16494		
EWR 6	X32F	308.10	0.11246	514.35	0.18774		
EWR 8	X32J	0.60	0.00022	1086.5	0.39657		

5 GROUND WATER

Department of Water Affairs (DWA), 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Groundwater Report. Report produced by Rivers for Africa. Authored by JJP Vivier, C. J. De W. Raath & JR Bulasigobo. Report no: 26/8/3/10/12/005.

5.1 BACKGROUND

The main groundwater unit is the Inkomati WMA No 5. The primary drainage region X includes the following main river systems: Nwanedzi, Sabi, Crocodile (east) and Komati Rivers.

The input data was generated with Geographical Information Systems (GIS) from the National Groundwater Database (NGDB), WR90 datasets, GRA II, WARMS, GRDM and South African Groundwater Decision Tool (SAGDT) data.

From west to east the Inkomati WMA is underlain by the following geological lithologies:

- Ecca group shale and sandstone of the Karoo sequence with intruded dolerite dykes and sheets.
- Magaliesburg, Silverton, Daspoort and Timeball Hill formation quartzite, shale, diamictite and iron formation of the Pretoria group.
- Malmani dolomite of the Chuniespoort group, Transvaal sequence.
- Nelspruit Suite granite, granodiorite, tonalite, gneiss and migmatite of Swazian age.
- Moodies, Figtree and Onverwacht group sandstone, shale, conglomerate, lava and pyroclastic rocks of the Barberton sequence.
- Karoo formation sandstone, siltstone, mudstone and shale intruded by dolerite.
- Letaba formation basalt and north south trending dolerite dykes of the Lebombo Group.
- Jozini formation rhyolite, granophyre, syenite, tuff, breccia and minor sedimentary rocks of the Lebombo Group.

A comparison of the geology and the borehole distribution indicated that the boreholes were not concentrated along the dolomite as is normally expected. The dolomite had high yielding boreholes in the vicinity of the Sudwala caves and the Inkomati Cu-Ni mine. The dolomite aquifer in general is high yielding and because of its high recharge potential is also vulnerable to contamination (Ages 2007).

The high abstracting boreholes in the granite and granite gneiss in response to the demand from agriculture were most probably sited in fault and fracture zones with a high yielding potential. Boreholes drilled in the weathered granite would have lower yields than the boreholes in the fault and fracture zones.

As was evident that many of the boreholes were clustered around the rivers and those drilled in the river alluvium were expected to be abstracting some of the river water indirectly due to their proximity to the rivers. The sandstone aquifers were potentially high yielding aquifers and are vulnerable to over exploitation and pollution.

5.2 THE GROUNDWATER COMPONENT OF THE RESERVE

The determination of the groundwater component of the Reserve entails the calculation of the groundwater contribution to base flow and thus the Ecological Water Requirements (EWR) as well

as the portion of groundwater which must be allocated for Basic Human Need Reserve (BHNR). The latter is relatively simple to determine as population data is readily available. The determination of the EWR is the forte of surface water scientists and hydrologists. Estimates are determined on a quaternary catchment scale. The detailed EWR is determined for an EWR site which is representative of a river reach which is similar in terms of operation and physical characteristics.

The determination of the groundwater component of the Reserve for an aquifer unit or management unit is required before licensing of groundwater use can occur.

5.2.1 Groundwater sources and sinks in the GYMR model

Inflow to the aquifer occurs from recharge due to rainfall and dam seepages. Unnatural sinks excluding evapo-transpiration and the groundwater base flow (groundwater outflow components) are shown in the scenario summary tables. The total outflow before losses was calculated at 114.9 Mm³/a:

- The recharge totals 1326 Mm³/a at a 95% level of assurance as determined from the rainfall distribution. The highest recharge of 39.1 Mm³/a occurred in X31A and the lowest recharge of 1.3 Mm³/a in X33C. The total contribution from dam seepage across the WMA was 7.04 Mm³/a.
- Borehole abstraction of 8.9 Mm³/a, (representing 0.7 % of recharge). The average abstraction rate was 0.25 L/s/borehole. Most of the groundwater use is in X32D where 693792 m³/a was used.
- Livestock water use of 6.7 Mm³/a. It was assumed that a farm uses 0.25 L/s for 24 hours per day.
- BHN community water allocation of 18.94 Mm³/a (representing 1.4 % of recharge), for a total of 1984466 people in the regional catchment. The water was allocated at 60 L person/day in catchments with less than 10 000 people and 25 L/person/day if more than 10 000 people. X24B had the most people at 210100 with an allocation of 1.9 Mm³/a.
- A total of 70440 ha are under farm irrigation, which represents 2.4% of the catchment area. The model was very sensitive to this parameter and it was assumed that 10% was from groundwater resources, which amounted to 70.4 Mm³/a (5.3 % of recharge) allocated to farm irrigation.
- Forestry covers a total of 389200 ha, which is 13.5% of the catchment area. The potential forestry groundwater use was assumed to be relevant for 1% of the forestry surface area and amounted to 3.9 Mm³/a, which represents 0.3% of recharge.
- Riparian vegetation covers 9430 ha, which is 0.3 % of the total surface area with a potential water use of 94300 m³/a. The riparian vegetation water use was estimated at 1000 mm/a.
- The areas covered by wetlands were measured from the DWA GIS shape files and were not very accurate. The potential wetland water use was 3 975 m³/a. It was assumed that the wetland water use is 1000 mm/a.
- Spring flow was one of the lowest users of groundwater at 551 880 m³/a from 9 springs, which represented 0.04 % of recharge. Eight springs are mentioned in the NGDB and one is mentioned in the WARMS data. The spring in catchment X12D (Badplaas) flow at a volume of 9 l/s, the spring in X22C at 5 l/s and an assumption of 0.5 l /s was made for the rest of the springs since no data was available.

The biggest potential sink next to irrigation is groundwater flow losses (evapo-transpiration), which accounted for 2.7 % (35.58 Mm³/a) of the recharge. Borehole abstraction and basic human need allocation totalled almost 2.1% of the recharge.

5.2.2 Groundwater contribution to the Reserve and management classifications of the scenarios

Two scenarios were evaluated based on the GYMR approach:

- 1. Scenario 1: GYMR Present Day: GYMR quantification approach with recharge at 95% assurance level and accounting for GW losses and sinks (EWR was assumed to 40% of base flow).
- 2. Scenario 2: GYMR Pristine: GYMR quantification approach with recharge at 95% assurance level and accounting for GW losses pristine scenario (EWR was assumed to 40% of base flow).

The results and classifications for both scenarios are described below.

- 1. Scenario 1: GYMR Present Day
- The recharge for both the GYMR scenarios was the same at 133 Mm³/a determined for a 95% level of assurance.
- According to the current GRDM classification the overall status for the WMA was B (vulnerability status is low or slightly stressed). The highest classification E was for X13K and X13L (high vulnerability status or highly stressed) where the recharge were relatively low at 4% and where the highest potential water uses was due to irrigation. There were several low or A classifications as well as several B classifications which was mainly due to low irrigation volumes.
- 2. Scenario 2: GYMR Pristine
- The overall classification was low (A). This was due to the fact that during pristine conditions, it was assumed that there were no losses due to irrigation, borehole abstraction, alien vegetation and forestry.

5.3 GROUNDWATER BALANCE RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Based on the groundwater flow balance assessment, the quaternary catchments were classified based on the ratio of outflow/inflow, before groundwater evapo-transpiration losses or actual base flow takes place.

From the assessment, the groundwater component in the Inkomati River WMA is mostly status B.

There are 5 catchments with classification further development of groundwater resources should be approached with caution (Figure 5-1).

- Status D = 3 (3.23 %);
- Status E = 2 (2.15 %);

There are 88 quaternary catchments in which the groundwater resource status range from A to C. Additional development of groundwater resources is still possible in these catchments (Figure 5-1):

- Status A = 49 (52.7 %)
- Status B = 30 (32.3 %)

• Status C = 9 (9.68 %);

According to the Groundwater Yield Model and interpretations from the results obtained, the regional groundwater balance calculations of the Inkomati WMA indicate that overall there is a surplus of groundwater in the WMA due to inflow (1 333 319 818 m^3/a) exceeding outflow (114 934 413 m^3/a). The total volume of groundwater recharge is in the order of 1326 Mm³/a.

5.4 DOLOMITE RESOURCE UNIT

A separate groundwater component of the Reserve was calculated for the dolomite in the Inkomati WMA. The dolomite covers a north south strip from catchment X31C in the north to X12B in the south. All the catchments underlain by dolomite have an A status (Figure 5-1).

If the dolomite water balance is done as a separate unit on its own all the dolomite sub-catchments have an A status except for dolomite in X11J which have an B status due to a combination of potential mine usage, forestry, livestock, spring flow and evapo-transpiration on a much smaller surface area than the total catchment surface area.

The total inflow for the dolomite is 101 Mm^3/a at a 95% level of assurance as determined from the rainfall distribution, the total outflow before losses were calculated at 2.58 Mm^3/a .

If 40% of the groundwater component of base flow (39.01 Mm³/a) is allocated for the EWR the groundwater allocation left for exploitation is 58.52 Mm³/a. According to the current GRDM classification, the overall status for the dolomite is A (not vulnerable).



Figure 5.1 Groundwater status of the Inkomati WMA

5.5 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

The following recommendations are made:

- Groundwater contribution to the Reserve determinations should be done by qualified geohydrological specialists with modelling experience in conjunction with surface water hydrological modellers. The base flow values that are generated by surface water modellers should e.g. not be lower than the values determined by geohydrological modellers as the hydrologic cycle should be taken into account in a holistic system balance approach. The same assurance levels and scenario definitions should be used. This would require additional training in modelling for the purposes of the reserve determination.
- It is recommended that geohydrological modelling specialists be screened trained and certified to conduct reserve determinations as it should be based on modelling capabilities.
- Scenario 1 of the GYMR method should be used as the management option for the quaternary catchments.
- The development of groundwater in catchments X13K, X13L, X22F, X22K and X24H should not be done without prior investigation and authorization.
- Groundwater development in all the catchments not mentioned under point 4 is possible since these catchments are not vulnerable to future groundwater development.
- Additional field studies will have to be done to collect data regarding recharge values to be used to update existing model.
- Additional groundwater field studies should be done to verify the dependence of wetlands on groundwater. The surface water supported wetlands should be distinguished from the groundwater supported wetlands.
- Additional field studies will have to be done to map the actual areas covered by alien vegetation if such studies have not been undertaken in the past. The alien vegetation areas should be delineated and a programme be put in place to prevent the water loss.
- The irrigation and forestry areas supported by groundwater should be verified.
- A detailed groundwater component of the Reserve determination study must be undertaken for the Inkomati WMA where the all the surface water data (transient data) can be incorporated in the study and where detailed field verification regarding pumping tests, water quality, basic human need can be done.
- Information regarding mining and mine groundwater use must be updated.
- A proper groundwater surface water integration must be done.
- Base flow need to be qualified with surface water flows.
- A comprehensive reserve determination study must be done on catchments with a C, D and E status.

6 WETLAND TYPING AND ECOCLASSIFICATION

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Wetland Report. Authored by Fluvius Environmental Consultants for Water for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/008.

The purpose of this study was to identify the major wetland types within the catchment and conduct a primarily desktop assessment of wetlands within the Inkomati catchment. If any high priority wetlands (in terms of broad conservation importance, social importance and/or threats from proposed developments) were identified during the study, these were to be highlighted for further studies.

6.1 METHODS

The wetland classification system developed by Rountree and Batchelor (in prep) was used to classify the wetlands in this study. This system is a modification of a hierarchical system for the classification of South African wetlands (developed by Ewart-Smith et al, 2003) and uses the underlying contemporary hydrological processes and formative geomorphological setting as the basis of classification of hydrogeomorphic (HGM) wetland types. The common HGM wetland types were identified and described across the study area. The HGM wetland typology is based on the underlying hydrological processes that create and maintain the wetlands. The likely sensitivities to particular types of activities (such as abstraction or increased runoff), and thus recommendations for future management, were then determined from this information, albeit at low confidence,

Since there are too many wetlands to evaluate in detail on an individual basis, a desktop level quaternary-scale catchment assessment of the wetlands across the entire study area was undertaken. A desktop scoring system for quaternary catchment scale wetland PES and EIS determination was developed and refined during this study. This tool was used to determine the average PES and EIS categories (at a low confidence) of wetlands within each quaternary catchment.

The wetlands in the study area were also grouped into Wetland Resource Units. These are broad groupings of similar types of wetlands that tend to be correlated with underlying dominant geology, EcoRegions and vegetation distribution. The identification of these Wetland Resource Units, and the identification and description of the common wetland types and sensitivities are provided to aid management of the wetlands within the study area.

6.2 RESULTS

Results from the desktop Wetland PES and EIS assessments (at the quaternary catchment scale), and comparison with the available desktop river PES and EIS data are provided below. The PES and EIS scores reflect the expected AVERAGE scores of all wetlands within the quaternary catchment. PES is generally good to moderate whilst EIS scores range from Low to Moderate to High (Figure 6.2 and 6.3). The wetlands in the extreme west (headwaters) have the highest EIS scores (See circled area in the Figure 6-1). The results are provided in Table 6.1.



Figure 6.1 Summary of the PES and EIS attributes across the catchment







Figure 6.3 Sabie & Sand Sub catchment Wetland PES of quaternary catchments













Table 6.1Estimated EIS and PES (average) for the wetlands within the quaternary
catchments of the Inkomati WMA

Quat	Desktop EIS	Desktop PES
X21A	HIGH	С
X21B	HIGH	С
X21C	HIGH	С
X21D	MODERATE	B/C
X21E	MODERATE	С
X21F	HIGH	B/C
X21G	MODERATE	С
X21H	MODERATE	C/D
X21J	MODERATE	D
X21K	MODERATE	D
X22A	MODERATE	C/D
X22B	LOW	C/D
X22C	MODERATE	D
X22D	MODERATE	C/D
X22E	MODERATE	C/D
X22F	MODERATE	C
X22G	MODERATE	C/D
X22H	MODERATE	<u>с</u>
X22.1	IOW	
X22K	10W	C.
V22A	MODEDATE	0
X23A V22D	MODERATE	C
X23D	MODERATE	
X23C	MODERATE	C/D
X23D	MODERATE	
X23E	MODERATE	C/D
X23F	MODERATE	C
X23G	MODERATE	C
X23H	LOW	C
X24A	LOW	D
X24B	LOW	D
X24C	LOW	B/C
X24D	LOW	C
X24E	LOW	В
X24F	LOW	В
X24G	LOW	A
X31A	LOW	D
X31B	LOW	D
X31C	MODERATE	D
X31D	MODERATE	С
X31E	MODERATE	D
X31F	MODERATE	С
X31G	LOW	D
X31H	MODERATE	C/D
X31J	LOW	D
X31K	LOW	D
X31L	LOW	D
X31M	LOW	Α
X32A	MODERATE	D
X32B	MODERATE	D
X32C	LOW	D
X32D	MODERATE	D
X32E	MODERATE	D
X32F	LOW	 D
X32G	LOW	 D
X32H	IOW	<u>с</u>
X32.1	10W	Δ
X334	10W	Δ
7007		~

Quat	Desktop EIS	Desktop PES
X33B	LOW	Α
X33C	LOW	Α
X33D	LOW	Α
X40A	LOW	Α
X40B	LOW	A
X40C	LOW	С
X40D	LOW	A

6.3 WETLAND RESOURCE UNITS

In this catchment the Vegetation Types and Level I and II EcoRegion boundaries were primarily used to delineate the Wetland Resource Units. Six main Wetland Resource Units (WRUs) (Figure 6-2) were delineated, namely the:

- WRU 1: Highveld Grassland WRU.
- WRU 2: Escarpment Grasslands WRU.
- WRU 3: Bushveld WRU, which can be subdivided into the Sour and Mountain Bushveld zones.
- WRU 4: Granite Lowveld WRU.
- WRU 5: Basalt Lowveld WRU; and
- WRU 6: Lebombo WRU.



Figure 6.6 Distribution of quaternary catchments in relation to the Wetland Resource Units

A summary of the WRU within the Inkomati WMA and associated wetlands are provided in Table 6.2.

Table 6.2 Summary of WRU and associated wetlands

WRU	Quatenaries	Description	Impacts	PES, EIS
1	Portions of catchments X11 and X12.	High density of large wetlands. Very large pans (rare). The vegetation type is regarded as "Endangered". Assumed that the wetland - dependent species within this vegetation type are similarly threatened.	Widespread agriculture (water quality impacts; trampling/grazing, erosion; encroachment into & channelization). Water quality impacts from mining. Limited impacts from invasive alien plants and the effects of dams drowning some wetlands and reducing water availability.	Moderate - estimates range from a C to C/D EC. High EIS
2	Portions of catchments X11, X12, X21, X23 and X14.	High density of very large wetlands. Ddiversity of types moderate. Vegetation types are "Vulnerable" - assumed that the wetland-dependent species are therefore similarly not critically threatened.	Trout farming - dams drowning wetlands & reducing water availability, water quality impacts and canalisation. Agricultural areas - runoff; trampling/grazing & erosion; encroachment & channelization. Afforestation, invasive alien vegetation, mining.	Most Moderate EIS scores. X21A, X21B, X21C and X21F: High EIS scores. In these quats diversity of wetland types is higher (number of large pans - rare). Density of wetlands high. X21A adjacent to the RAMSAR-listed Verloren Vlei. PES relatively High - estimates range from a B/C to C EC.
3	X22 and portions of catchments X21, X31, X23 & X24.	Moderate (Mountain Bushveld) to low (Sour Bushveld) density. Wetlands moderate to small. Density & diversity is low, density slightly higher in the Sour Bushveld area. Veg type endangered . Veg types in the Mountain Bushveld unit - "Least Threatended" - accounts for the slight differences in average EIS scores.	Extensive afforestation - reduced interflow, reducing water availability for wetlands. Forestry has encroached. Edge effects of forestry & roads disturb wetlands. Result in degradation. Irrigation farming, peri-urban areas of the former homelands and invasive alien vegetation have also caused some wetland degradation.	PES of the wetlands is relatively low - Range from a C to D EC. Quaternary catchments within the Sour Bushveld WRU have Moderate EIS scores, whilst those in the Mountain Bushveld WRU tend to have Low EIS scores.
4	Portions of catchments X31, X32, X40, X33, X24, X14 and X13.	Wetlands small or cryptic. Density & diversity very low – few wetlands. Those that do occur are not rare or high diversity relative. The vegetation types are listed as "Vulnerable". Large areas of this section of the catchment are protected within significant conservation areas.	Afforestation, agriculture and peri-urban areas. Forestry and the extensive agricultural areas have reduced the area of wetlands and the water available. Both landuse activities have encroached in places on the wetlands; whilst per-urban areas have caused erosion (though increased runoff, grazing pressures and confinement of the drainage lines associated with infrastructure development).	Low EIS scores. A wide range of PES: D to A ECs - indicative of the diverse conditions. Entire catchments are impacted by urbanisation of former homeland areas, Lower quats within KNP and private conservation areas. Little change from reference conditions in these areas; albeit that very few wetlands are found here.
5	Portions of catchments X40, X33, X24 and X13.	Wetlands confined to valley bottom positions. Density and diversity is very low. Few that do occur are not rare types or occur in high diversity relative to one another. The vegetation types are listed as "Least Threatened".	Most of the quaternaries are located within the Kruger National Park, and no significant impacts at a regional (catchment) scale are likely to have occurred.	Low EIS scores. PES very high – in A & B ECs. Notable exceptions are the quaternaries X13J, X13K and X13L which have been heavily impacted by urban and peri- urban areas of the former homelands, as well as by extensive irrigation farming.
6	Portions of catchments X40, X33 and X24.	No wetlands of any regional rainfall and high evaporation Diversity would be very low,	importance are expected due to st demands. and density/occurrence extremely	eep slopes, shallow soils, low low.

6.4 PRIORITY WETLANDS IN THE INKOMATI CATCHMENT

Two areas of priority wetlands were identified in this study based on extremely high EIS scores (Table 6.1) derived from the desktop assessment:

- The wetlands around Dullstroom (quaternary catchments X21A, X21B, X21C and X21F) all have High EIS scores and relatively high PES scores. These catchments are part of the Escarpment WRU (Figure 4-3) and are located close to the RAMSAR Verloeren Vallei wetland complex. Quaternary catchment X21A has an EIS bordering on Very High (Table 6.1).
- Wetlands of the Highveld WRU (X11A, X11B, X11C, X12A, X12B and X12E) generally have High EIS and Moderate PES scores. Of particular importance are the wetlands near the Chrissiesmeer Lake system – a dense grouping of pans in the headwaters of the Inkomati, Vaal and Usutu Rivers provides unique wetland habitats for birds and other fauna, and has a strong recreational and conservation value. This quaternary catchment (X11A) has an EIS bordering on Very High (Table 6.1).

Early reviews of the state of wetland ecosystems in South Africa have highlighted these same areas for priority planning and research (Noble and Hemens, 1978).

It has recently been reported that prospecting rights for coal are again being applied for² in the area of pans surrounding Chrissiesmeer. A Comprehensive assessment of the high conservation priority Chrissiesmeer wetland complex should be undertaken to ensure that strategic, proactive management of these wetlands is enabled, and thus avoid the rather piecemeal approach to wetland management and impacts from coal mining as exists in the upper Olifants Catchment. Chrissiesmeer is unique in southern Africa in terms of the size and concentration of pans and associated wetlands, and has been proposed as a RAMSAR site. The hydrological characteristics of, and connectivity between, the pans should be thoroughly investigated in order than impacts of future developments can be more accurately predicted and mitigated if necessary. Some small mines already exist in the area, and given the global demand for coal and requirement for job creation and foreign exchange earnings through coal exports provided by mines, it is likely that future expanded mining will need to be evaluated in this region.

Thus whilst the wetlands around Dullstroom/Verloeren Vallei have both High EIS and High PES scores, the Highveld WRU wetlands are likely to be under greater threat and thus should be prioritised despite their generally lower PES scores.

Previous reviews of wetlands in this area of the country have also highlighted the temporary pans along the Sabie River; cited as providing important refuge for the Serranochromis meridianus fish (Noble and Hemens, 1978). Since these pans are maintained by large flood events that are beyond reasonable management intervention, it is not recommended that these areas are prioritised for research or studies to aid management of wetland resources in this WMA.

6.5 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT

The first step in the protection of wetlands and the regulation of their use is to determine if wetlands exist at proposed development sites, and if so, what the potential is that the proposed

² <u>http://www.fin24.com/articles/default/display_article.aspx?ArticleId=1518-25_2577498</u>, accessed 29th March 2010.

activity will impact upon the wetland/s and how it will do so. For this reason, wetlands should be identified and mapped according to the DWA (DWAF, 2005 and DWAF, 2008) guidelines on wetland delineation. If a wetland is located at the site, and the development footprint is within 500 m of the wetland, or the nature of the impact is such that a Water User Licence is required, then the developer should be advised to proceed with the WULA application in conjunction with the standard EIA study.

General management actions for the protection of wetlands within the Inkomati WMA are outlined below.

6.5.1 Road crossings

Road crossings through wetlands can cause erosion and drainage of wetlands. Where diffuse flows are concentrated into one or two culverts, an incised channel develops downstream of the road and this lowers the local water table, drying out the wetland and enhancing further erosion by the continued concentration of flows. If the headcuts from the erosion pass under the road crossing, the eroding channel can propagate upstream and further reduce wetland condition and integrity. Simple drop inlet structures as part of the bridge or road crossing design can prevent upstream erosion, whilst flow dissipaters; numerous culverts and sensitive sitting of road crossings can reduce downstream erosion.

Wetlands which are eroded - where flows are concentrated into channels and floodplains desiccate - have reduced functioning and cannot attenuate floods or ameliorate water quality problems as well as intact wetlands.

To minimise the impacts of road crossings, the following recommendations are provided:

- No road crossings through unchannelled valley bottom wetlands; since these are specifically sensitive to flow concentrations and erosion.
- Wherever possible, road crossings could coincide with the local key points across the wetland.
- Drop inlets should be built as part of the bridge design where culverts are proposed on small wetlands and streams;
- Numerous culverts and flow dissipators should be constructed where feasible and necessary to prevent risk of erosion on downstream wetlands.

6.5.2 Forestry

Adequate buffers between forestry areas, roads and/or infrastructure must be maintained, since this can allow the wetlands within them to persist with fair ecological integrity.

To minimise the impacts of afforestation, the following recommendations are provided:

- Delineate the temporary wet hydrological zone of wetlands (following the DWAF, 2005 guidelines) and move all afforestation and agricultural activity at least 20 meters from this edge.
- This buffer zone should be managed for indigenous vegetation to reduce edge effects and allow for some water table recovery.
- Roads cannot be included as part of the buffer since these enhance the disturbance/edge effects.
- Invasive exotic vegetation must be controlled within the wetland and buffer zones.

6.5.3 Agriculture

Agriculture impacts directly on wetlands through encroachment of fields into wetlands, canalisation/drainage of wetlands to increase useable land and through grazing and trampling effects of livestock. Runoff from fields can also create secondary water quality impacts on the receiving wetlands.

To mitigate these impacts:

- Appropriate buffers should be placed around wetlands, and the buffer vegetation managed correctly. Buffers of natural vegetation should also be left in place along the major rivers of the WMA.
- SusFarms, Farming for the Future and other lower input approaches to farming can create win-win situations for the farmer and water resources, since the former reduces costs through reduced inputs, and the receiving waters have lower doses of nutrients to process.

6.5.4 Mining

Coal mining is likely to expand within the WMA; specifically in the Highveld WRU. Each mining should be evaluated on its individual merits, but it is highly recommended that a strategic approach to wetland management be adopted if the footprint of mining is to expand within the catchment. This would enable trade-off and reasonable, effective mitigation options to be identified upfront and avoid the current piecemeal approach being applied in the now critically modified Upper Olifants River catchment.

In lieu of the prospecting rights for coal application in the area of pans surrounding Chrissiesmeer, and it is highly recommended that a Comprehensive assessment of the high conservation priority Chrissiesmeer wetland complex be undertaken to ensure that strategic, proactive management of these wetlands is enabled.

In general, some of the objectives which could be considered for mining might be:

- No net loss of wetlands, or no net loss of the functions of wetlands (incorporating aspects of off-site mitigation, wetland engineering and recognition of the ecosystem goods and services that need to be replaced or reinstated if wetlands are impacted).
- Maintenance or restoration of as much of the pre-mining hydrological (diffuse surface, channelled and soil interflow) flows as possible.
- Where river diversions are required, the same HGM wetland must be created i.e. diffuse lows across unchannelled valley bottoms should not be replaced with a canal.
- Clean water should be diverted and reinstated in the landscape in a similar way so that similar landscape hydrological processes can be achieved.

6.6 GENERAL MANAGEMENT AND REHABILITATION ACTIONS

- Eradicate all exotic invader vegetation species and, where feasible, rehabilitate important palustrine wetlands.
- Comply with the recommended grazing carrying capacity for that area, to prevent overgrazing in wetlands.
- Establish a fire management plan to benefit the integrity of wetlands.

7 RESOURCE UNITS

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, South Africa. 2008. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Resource Unit Delineation: Prepared by Water for Africa, authored by Louw, MD. Report no. 26/8/3/10/12/006.

7.1 DELINEATION APPROACH

Resource Units (RUs) are required as it would not be appropriate to set the same numerical Reserve for the headwaters of a river as for the lowland reaches. The breakdown of a catchment into RUs for the purpose of determining the Reserve for rivers is therefore done primarily on a biophysical basis within the catchment and called Natural Resource Units (NRUs). Management requirements (DWAF, 1999, volume 3) also play a role in the delineation. Furthermore, the type of disturbance/impact on river plays a role to select homogenous river reaches from a biophysical basis under present circumstances. These are called Management Resource Units (MRUs). MRUs can be further delineated in even smaller assessment units called Reserve Assessment Units (RAUs). It is preferred that a EWR site is selected within each MRU, and if a RAU occurs within the MRU, the EWR should, if possible, be selected within the RAU.

The following is considered for selection of MRUs:

- EcoRegions (Level II).
- Geomorphic zones.
- Land cover.
- Presence of dams and other operational aspects.
- Water quality.
- Groundwater.
- Local knowledge.

7.2 CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

7.2.1 Delineation results

The focus of this study was on the Crocodile (East) River and the Kaap River, a major tributary of the Crocodile River. The rivers were divided into Management Resource Units (MRUs) based on the criteria illustrated in Figure 7-1 and Figure 7-2. The description of the MRUs and the rationale for selection is provided in Table 7.1 and 7.2.



Figure 7.1 Crocodile (East) River Management Resource Units

Table 7.1 Description and rationale of the Crocodile River MRUs

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
MRU Croc A	9.02 (70%) 9.04 (30%)	Mountain Stream (1%) Transitional (6%) Upper Foothills (90%) Lower Foothills (3%)	Dominated by grassland	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 9.02 and Upper Foothills. Has similar land cover and land use and includes WQSU (1 and 2). Kwena Dam is the operational break in the MRU. The MRU = primary NRU A, B and C.	Origin of river to upper reaches of Kwena Dam. 30.1074;-25.3380. 30.3443;-25.3821	X21A X21B
MRU Croc B	10.02 (15%) 4.04 (5%) 3.07 (80%)	Lower foothills (20%) Upper foothills (80%)	Riparian zone dominated by bush clumps. Operation to Elands River dominated by releases (unseasonal) from Kwena Dam.	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 3.07, and Upper Foothills. The releases from Kwena Dam forms a change from the natural hydrology and an EWR site in this reach will represent the reach. Water quality is homogenous. The Elands River (largest tributary) forms a hydrological break as it introduces a more natural diversity of flow at times. The MRU = primary NRU C and E = WQSU3.	Kwena Dam Wall to the Elands River confluence. 30.3862; -25.3590. 30.7156; -25.4527	X21D X21E
MRU Croc C	4.04 (100%)	Upper Foothills (2%) Lower Foothills (98%)	Riparian indigenous bush with exotics and irrigation.	Consists of EcoRegion 4.04 and Lower Foothills. Land cover and use similar to Nelspruit and adjacent KaNyamazane. A logical break due to water quality impacts. (WQSU 4). The MRU = primary NRU F =	Elands River confluence to Blinkwater confluence. 30.7156;-25.4527 31.18018; -25.4996	X22B X22C X22J X22K

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
				WQSU 4.		
MRU Croc D	3.07 (100%)	Upper Foothills (47%) Lower Foothills (47%) Transitional (6%)	Riparian indigenous bush with exotics.	Breaks are indicated by change in land use and a distinctive gorge. The lower border indicates the change of sugarcane on the RB and Kruger Park on the LB.	Blinkwater confluence to border of KNP. 31.18018; -25.4996 31.3714; -5.5278	X22K X24C
RAU Croc D.1	3.06 (100%)	Upper Foothills (90%) Lower Foothills (9%) Transitional (1%)	Gorge with a railway and tar roads flanking it with indigenous riparian bush with exotics.	This section of river is protected by flanking mountains. Ecological indicators more intact. The steeper gradient makes this section more sensitive to decreased flows and an EWR site within this section was recommended.	Gorge 31.2026; -25.5090 31.3164; -25.5328	X22K X24C
MRU Croc E	3.06 (15%) 3.07 (70%) 12.01 (15%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	Natural bush (KNP) on LB and irrigation/lodges on RB.	RU consists of Lower Foothills and the same land cover and use and water quality. The logical breaks are therefore from the point where the KNP borders the Crocodile River to the Komati River confluence.	KNP border to Komati confluence. 31.3714; -25.5278 31.9359; -25.3390	X24D X24E X24F X24H

Shaded blocks indicate MRUs where EWR sites were recommended.



Figure 7.2 Kaap River Management Resource Units

Table 7.2Description and rationale of the Kaap River MRUs

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
MRU Kaap A	4.04 (98%) 3.07 (2%)	Upper Foothills (30%) Lower Foothills (70%)	Thickets, bush clumps, exotics bush.	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 4.04 and Lower Foothills. Has similar land cover and land use. The NRU = MRU A = WQSU 7	Confluence of the Noord and Suid Kaap to confluence with the Crocodile. 31.0838; -25.6659 31.3120; -25.5371	Х23G Х23Н
RAU Kaap A.1	4.04 (100%)	Upper Foothills (100%)	Gorge	This area forms an inaccessible gorge as indicated by the different geomorphic zone. This section could be a different (higher) PES than the rest of the unit and it would therefore be preferable to select an EWR site within this RAU (depending on access). An EWR set here will cater for the rest of the MRU.	Start and end of Upper Foothills. 31.2126;-25.6609 31.2920;-25.6003	X23H X23G

The results of the delineation of the Crocodile River and Kaap River are summarized in Table 7.3 and illustrated in Figure 7.3.

Table 7.3 Description of MRUs in the Crocodile sub-catchment

MRU	Delineation Quat								
	CROCODILE RIVER								
MRU Croc A	Origin of river to upper reaches of Kwena Dam.	X21A, X21B							
MRU Croc B	Kwena Dam Wall to the Elands River confluence. X21D, X21E								
MRU Croc C	Elands River confluence to Nelspruit. X22B, X22C, X22J, X2								
MRU Croc D	Nelspruit to border of KNP. X22J, X22K, X24C								
RUA Croc D.1	Gorge.	X22K, X24C							
MRU Croc E	KNP border to Komati confluence.	X24D, X24E, X24G, X24H							
	KAAP RIVER								
MRU Kaap A	Confluence of the Noord and Suid Kaap to confluence with the Crocodile.	X23G, X32H, X23B							
RAU Kaap A.1	Start and end of Upper Foothills.	X23H, X23G							

7.2.2 EWR sites

The selection of EWR sites was guided by a number of considerations. The key considerations were:

- The suitability of the sites for accurate hydraulic modelling throughout the range of possible flows, especially low flows.
- Accessibility of the sites.
- An area or site that could be critical for ecosystem functioning. These are often represented by riffle units, where low flow conditions or the cessation of flow constitutes a break in the functioning of the river, and consequently, the biota dependant on this habitat and/or perennial flow are adversely affected. Pools were not considered critical habitats in perennial systems since they are still able to function or at least maintain life during periods of no flow.

7.2.3 Locality and description of sites

Seven EWR sites were selected in the Crocodile sub-catchment (Figure 7.3, Table 7.3 and Table 7.4). Recommendations regarding the number and locality of EWR sites were made as part of the MRU delineation and are provided in Table 7.4.

Table 7.4	Management Resource Units and EWR sites: Crocodile sub-catchment

MRUs	Recommendation (see Table 7.1 and 7.2)	EWR site							
Crocodile River									
MRU A	One EWR site.	EWR1 - Valeyspruit EWR2 - Goedenhoop Two EWR sites originally selected. Both served a purpose as the one was upstream in the more Grassveld wetland type area whereas the downstream one was situated immediately upstream of the dam, i.e. it represented all upstream impacts.							
MRU B	One EWR site.	EWR3 – Poplar Creek The releases from Kwena Dam formed a change from the natural hydrology and one EWR site represented the reach.							
MRU C	One EWR site.	No EWR site was situated in this Resource Unit. During a 1999 study and the 2002 study (Godfrey, 2002), no site suitable for EWR assessment, especially from a hydraulic viewpoint, could be found.							
MRU D	The steeper gradient made the RAU more sensitive to decreased flows and an EWR site within this section was recommended.	EWR 4: KaNyamazane Site was situated at the start of RAU D1. No site further downstream in the RAU was available.							
MRU E	One EWR site.	EWR 5 – Malelane EWR 6 – Nkongoma Two sites were originally selected. Due to the increasing impacts between the sites, both sites plays an important role in the management of the system							
		Kaap River							
MRU A	One EWR site in the RAU as it could be a higher PES than the rest of the RU due to the presence of indicators for EWR assessment	EWR 7 – Kaap Site was situated at the entrance of the gorge in the RAU.							

Details regarding the sites selected are provided in the Table 7.5, summarized in Table 7.6 and illustrated in the Figure 7.3.

Table 7.5	Locality and characteristics	of the Crocodile	sub-catchment	EWR sites
-----------	------------------------------	------------------	---------------	------------------

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 1 Valeyspruit Crocodile EWR 1 X2Croc-Valys -25.49412, 30.14427 S25 29.647, E30 08.656 9.02 Upper Foothills 1852 MRU Croc A X21A Valeyspruit -	

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 2 Goedenhoop Crocodile EWR 2 X2CROC-UKWEN -25.40925, 30.31592 S25 24.555, E30 18.955 9.04 Upper Foothills 1207 MRU Croc A X21B Goedenhoop -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 3 Poplar Creek Crocodile EWR 3 X2CROC-DKWEN -25.45211, 30.68108 S25 27.127, E30 40.865 10.02 Lower Foothills 834 MRU Croc B X21E Mooifontein X2H013	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 4 KaNyamazane Crocodile EWR 4 X2CROC-DNELS -25.50243, 31.18198 S25 30.146, E31 10.919 4.04 Lower Foothills 472 MRU Croc D X22K State ground X2H032	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 5 Malelane Crocodile EWR 5 X2CROC-MALEL -25.48287, 31.50773 S25 28.972, E31 30.464 3.07 Lower Foothills 286 MRU Croc E X24D KNP S2H046	

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 6 Nkongoma Crocodile EWR 6 X2CROC-NKONG -25.39050, 31.97444 S25 23.430, E31 58.467 12.01 Lower Foothills 135 MRU Croc E X24H KNP X2H016	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 7 Honeybird Kaap EWR 7 X2Kaap-Honey -25.64947, 31.24286 S25 38.968, E31 14.572 4.04 Upper Foothills 470 MRU Kaap A X23H Lovedale -	

Table 7.6 Summary of EWR sites in the Crocodile sub-catchment

EWR site number	EWR site name	River	Decimal Min S	Decimal Min E	EcoRegion (Level II)	Geomorphic Zone	Altitude (m)	RU	Quat	Gauge
EWR 1	Valeyspruit	Crocodile	S25 29.647	E30 08.656	9.02	Upper Foothills	1852	MRU Croc A	X21A	
EWR 2	Goedenhoop	Crocodile	S25 24.555	E30 18.955	9.04	Upper Foothills	1207	MRU Croc A	X21B	
EWR 3	Poplar Creek	Crocodile	S25 27.127	E30 40.865	10.02	Lower Foothills	834	MRU Croc B	X21E	X2H013
EWR 4	KaNyamazane	Crocodile	S25 30.146	E31 10.919	4.04	Lower Foothills	472	MRU Croc D RUA Croc D.1	X22K	X2H032
EWR 5	Malelane	Crocodile	S25 28.972	E31 30.464	3.07	Lower Foothills	286	MRU Croc E	X24D	S2H046
EWR 6	Nkongoma	Crocodile	S25 23.430	E31 58.467	12.01	Lower Foothills	135	MRU Croc E	X24H	X2H016
EWR 7	Honeybird	Kaap	S25 38.968	E31 14.572	4.04	Upper Foothills	470	MRU Kaap A	X23H	





7.2.4 Site suitability

The site suitability of each site was assessed and is provided in Table 7.6 and 7.7. The following scoring system was used to determine relative site suitability (Colour coding as used in Table 7.6 and 7.7):

0:	Not suitable
0.1-1	Very low suitability
1.1-2.0:	Low suitability
2.1-3.0:	Moderate suitability
3.1-4.0:	High suitability
4.1-5.0:	Very high suitability

Table 7.6 illustrates the site suitability from a biophysical point of view. Any comments regarding outliers are also provided. From a biophysical point of view, the sites were mostly highly suitable for EWR determination. EWR 1 (Valeyspruit) was of moderate suitability due to the limited fish guilds present while EWR 7 was bedrock dominated and impacted.

EWR sites	Geomorph	Riparian veg	Fish	Inverts	Average	Median	Max	Min	Comments
EWR 1	3.8	3.9	2.5	3.4	3.4	3.4	3.9	2.5	Fish is lower suitability as only semi rheophilics are naturally present. This provides difficulties for setting flow requirements for fish during the dry season. This does not mean that there are better sites available.
EWR 2	3.5	4.1	4.0	3.8	3.9	3.9	4.1	3.5	Not easy to relate geomorphological cues to cross-section.
EWR 3	3.8	4.2	4.5	3.6	4.0	4.0	4.5	3.6	Lack of diverse hydraulic habitat for invertebrates.
EWR 4	3.6	4.2	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.2	3.6	Disturbed banks problematic for geomorphological assessment.
EWR 5	3.4	4.2	3.5	4.1	3.8	3.8	4.3	3.4	No clear terraces present - problematic for geomorph assessment.
EWR 6	3.3	4.0	4.0	3.7	3.8	3.8	4.0	3.3	No clear terraces present - problematic for geomorph assessment.
EWR 7	3.0	3.6	4.5	4.3	3.9	3.9	4.5	3	Impacts worse at site than rest of RU, bridge has impact, presence of bedrock - problematic for geomorph assessment.

Table 7.7 Biophysical Site suitability for the Crocodile River system

Hydraulic suitability is however crucial as this converts the biophysical requirements to flow. For the purposes of determining flow requirements, the low flows and high flows are evaluated separately. Geomorphology and vegetation usually are the most crucial components for high flows and fish and invertebrate for low flows (Table 7.6). The suitability of the sites are therefore evaluated for both low and high flows and compared to the corresponding suitability for low and high flow hydraulics.

The rationale is that the lowest rating of either the biophysical or hydraulic components represents the overall suitability for either low or high flows. The reasoning is that even if a site has all the indicators for ecological flow assessment the overall suitability cannot be high if the hydraulic suitability is low as that will affect the final confidence in the flow assessment. And vice versa, if the suitability is high for hydraulics but low for the biophysical component, then the overall confidence will still be low as high suitability in hydraulics does not guarantee a high confidence answer if the indicators at the sites (indicating the biophysical suitability) is not present to interpret flow requirements. The low flow suitability was high apart from at EWR 4, 6 and 7 (due to lack of hydraulic suitability). The suitability for high flow determination was high at all sites apart from EWR 7 (due to lack of hydraulic suitability; Table 7.7). It must be noted that the hydraulic suitability

is much higher than normal. This is because the sites were selected previously, and good calibrations have already been obtained (Table 7.7).

	Bioph	ysical	Hydra	aulics	Suita	bility	
EWR SITES	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Comment
EWR 1	4	3	4	5	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective.
EWR 2	4	4	4	4	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective.
EWR 3	4	4	3	4	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective.
EWR 4	4	4	3	3	3	4	Highly suitable for high flows, slightly less suitable for low flows due to the complicated hydraulics. A low flow cross-section might have to be added to address the complications associated with the very steep rapid selected during the previous studies.
EWR 5	4	4	4	5	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective.
EWR 6	4	4	2	4	3	4	Highly suitable for high flows, slightly less suitable for low flows due to the complicated hydraulics.
EWR 7	3	4	2	2	3	3	Moderate suitability for both low and high flows. Low suitability for hydraulics due to rapidly varied flow conditions and large scale roughness due to bedrock influence in this gorge.
0: Not sui	table				0.1 -	- 1: Ve	ry low suitability 1.1 - 2.0: Low suitability
<mark>2.1 - 3.0:</mark>	Modera	te suital	bility		3.1 -	4.0: H	igh suitability 4.1 - 5.0: Very high suitability

 Table 7.8
 Integrated site suitability for the Crocodile River system

7.3 SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT

7.3.1 Delineation results

The focus was on the Sabie River (including the Mac Mac and Marite River tributaries) and the Sand River (including the Mutlumuvi tributary and Tlulandziteka River). The Sabie and Sand rivers were divided into MRUs based on the criteria illustrated in Figure 7-4 and Figure 7-5. The description of the MRUs and the rationale for selection is provided in Table 7.9 and 7.10.

Table 7.9	Description and rationale of the Sabie River MRUs
-----------	---

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
MRU Sabie A	10.01 (15%) 4.04 (75%)	Mountain Headwater Stream and Mountain Stream (15%) Transitional (10%) Lower foothills (5%) Upper foothills (70%)	Dominated by forestry.	Dominated by Upper foothills with a small section of mountain headwater mixed with Mountain stream. Approximately 75% of the unit falls into EcoRegion 4.04. Land cover is mostly forestry with some natural areas in the upper catchment. Sabie town is situated in the upper reaches.	Origin of the river to the Marite confluence. 30.6224; -25.1420 31.1456; -25.1521 NRU A is combined with NRU as NRU A is too short to warrant its own RU.	X31A X31B X31D
RAU Sabie A.1	10.01 (100%)	Mountain Headwater Stream (50%) and Mountain Stream (50%)	Land cover dominated by natural fynbos.	This area is likely in excellent condition as minimal impacts apart from forestry. This section therefore in a different EcoStatus than the RU and, as it is a small river in this section, will require a different EWR. Recommendation: As there is unlikely to be any demand on this section, no EWR site and EcoClassification	Source of river to end of the Mountain Stream. 30.6224; -25.1420 30.6535; -25.1521 RAU Sabie A.1 = NRU Sabie A	X31A

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
				recommended.		
RAU Sabie A.2	4.04 (100%)	Upper Foothills (20%) Lower Foothills (80%)	Land cover dominated by forestry.	Critical area DS of Mac-Mac due to dilution effect to ameliorate Sabie impacts. EcoStatus could be in a higher category than the river DS of Sabie Town. EWR site will cater for the rest of the RU. Recommendation: If a site meeting to EWR site criteria can be found, it is recommended that it be situated between the Mac Mac and the Marite. The EcoClassification must be undertaken for this section.	Mac-Mac confluence to Marite confluence. 31.0258; -25.0295 31.1456; -25.0230 RAU Sabie A.2 = NRU Sabie B.2	X31D
MRU Sabie B	3.07 (100%)	Lower Foothills (95%) Upper Foothills (5%)	Dominated by irrigation. About 70% includes the KNP on the right bank.	RU represents a smaller section than the 3.07 EcoRegion and the Lower Foothills zone due to the change of land use at the KNP entrance. From this point the Sabie falls wholly within the KNP.	Marite confluence (start of 3.07 EcoRegion) to KNP entrance. 31.1456; -25.1521 31.4860;-24.9817	X31K X31M
RAU Sabie B.1	3.07 (100%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	The KNP on the RB with irrigation and recreational areas on LB.	Better condition than rest of the MRU as the river borders the KNP and is mostly enclosed in the KNP. Recommendation: EWR site in this MRU be situated within the RAU.	Point where river forms border of KNP to Kruger gate. 31.24485; -25.0187 31.4860;-24.9817	X31K X31M
MRU Sabie C	3.07 (60%) 3.06 (20%) 12.01 (20%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	All relatively natural as in the KNP.	Logical RU due to homogeneity of landuse and similar geomorphic zone.	Kruger Gate to border of KNP with Mozambique. 31,250; -25.0178 32,0307; 25,1815	X33A X33B X33D X31M
RAU Sabie C.1	3.07 (100%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	All relatively natural as in the KNP.	The inflow from the Sand brings about subtle changes as more alluvial than the Sabie. Prior to the 2000 floods, the Sabie upstream of the confluence was much rockier and therefore provided more critical habitat. Recommendation: The critical habitat is still present, and, the EWR site should be situated in the RAU.	Kruger Gate to Sand confluence. 31,250; -25.0178 31,7136; -24,9552 RAU Sabie C.1 = NRUC.2	X31M

Shaded blocks indicate MRUs where EWR sites were recommended.


Figure 7.4 Sabie River Management Resource Units



Figure 7.5 Sand River Management Resource Units

Table 7.10 Description and rationale of the Sand River MRUs

MRU	EcoRegion Level 2	Geomorphic zone	Land cover 500 m both banks	Rationale	Delineation	Quat
MRU Sand A	10.02 (15%) 4.04 (5%) 3.07 (80%)	Mountain Headwater Stream (5%) Mountain Stream (5%) Transitional (10%) Lower foothills (40%) Upper foothills (40%)	Indigenous forest and degraded bush.	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 3.07, has similar land cover and land use. The upper river will be different, but this will not warrant a separate RAU as too small. The confluence of the Mutlumuvi river forms a logical end of the MRU due to the change in hydrology. The MRU = primary NRU = WQSU 2.	Origin of river to confluence with Mutlumuvi. 30.8900; -24.7333 31.2338; -24.7221	X32A X32C
MRU Mutlumuvi A.	10.02 (15%) 4.04 (5%) 3.07 (80%)	Mountain Headwater Stream (2.5%) Mountain Stream (2.5%) Transitional (2%) Lower foothills (8%) Upper foothills (85%)	Degraded bush.	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 3.07, Upper Foothills and degraded bush. The upper river will be different, but this will not warrant a separate RAU as too small. The confluence with the Sand River forms a logical end of the MRU due to the change in hydrology. The MRU = primary NRU = WQSU1.	Origin of river to confluence with Sand. 30.9243; -24.7921 31.2338; -24.7221	X32D X32F
MRU Sand B	3.07 (100%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	Mostly within the conservation areas with the upper areas of the MRU covered with the degraded bush.	The river is dominated by EcoRegion 3.07, and conservation areas. Includes both WQSU 3 and 4.	Confluence with the Mutlumuvi to the confluence with the Sabie. 31.2338; -24.7221 31.7120; -24.9559	X32G X32H X32J
RAU Sand B.1	3.07 (100%)	Lower Foothills (100%)	Within the conservation areas.	A RUA was selected due to the change in the landuse. The RAU will be a different (higher) PES than the rest of the MRU due to its protected status. It would be preferable to have a EWR situated in this section as the indicators for EWR assessment will be intact and catering for this RAU will also cater for the rest of the MRU. RAU B.1 = WQSU4	Border of Sabie Sand to confluence with the Sabie. 31.3576-24.7539 31.7120; -24.9559	X32G X32H X32J

The results of the delineation of the Sabie River and Sand River are summarized in Table 7.11 and illustrated in Figure 7.6

Table 7.11 Description of MRUs in the Crocodile sub-catchment

MRU	Delineation	Quat								
SABIE RIVER										
MRU Sabie A	Origin of the river to the Marite confluence.	X31A, X31B, X31D								
RAU Sabie A.1	Source of river to end of the Mountain Stream.	X31A								
RAU Sabie A.2	Mac-Mac confluence to Marite confluence.	X31D								
MRU Sabie B	Marite confluence (start of EcoRegion 3.07) to KNP entrance.	X31M, X31K								
MRU Sabie B.1	Point where river forms the border of the KNP to the Kruger Gate.	X31M, X31K								
MRU Sabie C	Kruger Gate to border of KNP with Mozambique.	X31M, X33A, X33B, X33D								
RAU Sabie C.1	Kruger Gate to Sand confluence.	X31M								
	SAND & MUTLUMUVI	-								
MRU Sand A	Origin of river to confluence with Mutlumuvi.	X32A, X32C								
MRU Mutlumuvi A	Origin of river to confluence with Sand.	X32D, X32F								
MRU Sand B	Confluence with the Mutlumuvi to the confluence with the Sabie.	X32G, X32H, X32J								
RAU Sand B.1	Border of the Sabie Sand to the confluence with the Sabie.	X32G, X32H, X32J								

7.3.2 EWR sites

The selection of EWR sites was guided by the same key considerations as outlined in Section 7.2.2.

7.3.3 Locality and description of sites

Eight EWR sites were selected in the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment (Figure 7.6, Table 7.11, Table 7.12 and Table 7.13). Details regarding the sites selected are provided in the Table 7.13, summarized in Table 7.12 and the locality is illustrated in the Figure 7.6.

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 1 Upper Sabie Sabie - -25.0737, 30.84874 S25 04.424, E30 50.924 4.04 Upper Foothills 862 MRU Sabie A X31B -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) MRU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 2 Aan de Vliet Sabie - X3Sabie-Brand -25.0279, 31.05166 S25 01.675, E31 03.099 4.04 Lower Foothills 463 MRU Sabie A, RAU A.2 X31D Evert 5 X3H023	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 3 Kidney Sabie IFR 3 X3Sabie-Sekur -24.9876, 31.29287 S24 59.256,E31 17.572 3.07 Lower Foothills 369 MRU Sabie B.1 X31K KNP X3H021	

 Table 7.12
 Locality and characteristics of the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment EWR sites

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 4 Mac Mac Mac Mac - - -25.0133, 31.00405 S25 00.800, E31 00.243 4.04 Upper Foothills 582 MRU Mac A X31C Richmond 573 -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 5, Marite Marite IFR 1 X3Mari-Sandf -25.018, 31.13328 S25 01.077, E31 07.997 4.04 Upper Foothills 457 MRU Mar A X31G 291/33 -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 6 Mutlumuvi Mutlumuvi IFR 6 -24.7559, 31.13205 S24 45.352, E31 07.923 3.05 Upper Foothills 503 MRU Mut A X32F New Forest 234 -	
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 7 Tlulandziteka Tlulandziteka (Sand) - -24.6805, 31.08647 S24 40.829, E31 05.188 3.07 Lower Foothills 543 MRU Sand A X32C -	

Site information	EWR sites	Illustration
EWR nr & name River Previous IFR site National RHP site Decimal Degrees Decimal Minutes EcoRegion (Level II) Geomorphic Zone Altitude (m) RU Quaternary Farm name Hydrological gauge	EWR 8 Lower Sand Sand IFR 8 X3Sand-Skuku -24.9674, 31.62734 S24 58.045, E31 37.641 3.07 Lower Foothills 250 MRU Sand B, RAU B.1 X32J KNP -	

Table 7.13 Summary of EWR sites in the Sabie-Sand catchment

EWR site number	EWR site name	River	Decimal Min S	Decimal Min E	EcoRegion (Level II)	Geomorphic Zone	Altitude (m)	RU	Quat	Gauge
EWR1	Upper Sabie	Sabie	S25 04.424	E30 50.924	4.04	Upper Foothills	862	MRU Sabie A	X31B	-
EWR2	Aan deVliet	Sabie	S25 01.675	E31 03.099	4.04	Lower Foothills	463	MRU Sabie A RAU Sabie A.2	X31D	X3H023
EWR3	Kidney	Sabie	S24 59.256	E31 17.572	3.07	Lower Foothills	369	MRU Sabie B	X31K	X3H021
EWR4	Мас Мас	Мас Мас	S25 00.800	E31 00.243	4.04	Upper Foothills	582	MRU Mac A	X31C	-
EWR5	Marite	Marite	S25 01.077	E31 07.997	4.04	Upper Foothills	457	MRU Mar A	X31G	-
EWR6	Mutlumuvi	Mutlumuvi	S24 45.352	E31 07.923	3.05	Upper Foothills	503	MRU Mut A	X32F	-
EWR7	Tlulandziteka	Tlulandziteka (Sand)	S24 40.829	E31 05.188	3.07	Lower Foothills	543	MRU Sand A	X32C	-
EWR8	Lower Sand	Sand	S24 58.045	E31 37.641	3.07	Lower Foothills	250	MRU Sand B RAU Sand B.1	X32J	-



Figure 7.6 MRUs and EWR sites of the Sabie and Sand sub-catchment



7.3.4 Site suitability

The site suitability of each site was assessed and is provided in Table 7.14 and 7.15. The scoring system is the same as discussed under Section 7.2.4 and are applicable to both tables.

Table 7.14 illustrates the site suitability from a biophysical point of view. Any comments regarding outliers are also provided. From a biophysical point of view, the sites were mostly highly suitable for EWR determination.

EWR sites	Geomorph	Riparian veg	Fish	Inverts	Average	Median	Max	Min	Comments
EWR 1	2.7	3.8	4.5	3.7	3.6	3.7	4.5	2.7	This is a bedload system and required sediment transport modelling to evaluate the geomorphology. As this was not be undertaken at this site, the geomorph suitability was low.
EWR 2	2.6	4.2	4.5	4.6	3.9	4.2	4.6	2.6	See above.
EWR 3	3.4	4.2	4.5	4.2	4.2	4.2	4.5	3.4	No true morphological cues.
EWR 4	2.6	4.4	4.5	4.0	3.9	4.0	4.5	2.6	No true morphological cues. This is a bedload system and required sediment transport modelling to evaluate the geomorphology. As this was not undertaken at this site, the geomorph suitability was low.
EWR 5	3.3	4.3	4.0	4.5	4.0	4.0	4.5	3.3	No true morphological cues and sediment transport modelling had to be undertaken.
EWR 6	3.1	4.6	3.0	3.2	3.5	3.2	4.6	3.1	
EWR 7	3.2	3.8	3.0	4.1	3.5	3.5	4.1	3.0	
EWR 8	3.8	4.6	2.5	3.5	3.6	3.6	4.6	2.5	

Table 7.14Biophysical Site suitability for the Sabie River system

Hydraulic suitability is however crucial as this converts the biophysical requirements to flow. For the purposes of determining flow requirements, the low flows and high flows are evaluated separately. Geomorphology and vegetation usually are the most crucial components for high flows and fish and invertebrate for low flows (Table 7.15). The suitability of the sites are therefore evaluated for both low and high flows and compared to the corresponding suitability for low and high flow hydraulics.

The low flow suitability was moderate at most sites due to lack of hydraulic suitability. The suitability for high flow determination was high at all sites apart from EWR 1 and 2 (due to lack of hydraulic suitability) (Table 7.15).

Table 7.15	Integrated site	suitability for the	e Sabie River system
------------	-----------------	---------------------	----------------------

	Bioph	ysical	Hydra	aulics	Suita	bility	
EWR SITES	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Comment
EWR 1	4	3	3	4	3	4	Highly suitable for high flows, less suitable for low flows due to the complicated hydraulics.
EWR 2	5	3	4	2	4	3	Highly suitable for low flows, less suitable for high flows due to the complicated hydraulics.
EWR 3	4	4	2	3	3	3	Moderate suitability for both low and high flows due to complicated hydraulics
EWR 4	4	4	3	2	4	3	Highly suitable for low flows, less suitable for high flows due to the complicated hydraulics.
Rivers fo Novemb	or Africa er 2010	a)					Main Report Report no 26/8/3/10/12/015 WP – 9133 Page 7-18

	Bioph	ysical	Hydra	aulics	Suita	bility	
EWR SITES	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Low flows	High flows	Comment
EWR 5	4	4	3	4	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective
EWR 6	3	4	2	3	3	3	Moderate suitability for both low and high flows
EWR 7	4	4	4	4	4	4	Highly suitable from both low and high flow perspective and both biophysical and hydraulic perspective
EWR 8	3	4	3	4	3	4	Highly suitable for high flows, less suitable for low flows due to the complicated hydraulics.
0: Not suitable0.1 - 1: Very2.1 - 3.0: Moderate suitability3.1 - 4.0: High						- 1: Vei 4.0: H	ry low suitability 1.1 - 2.0: Low suitability igh suitability 4.1 - 5.0: Very high suitability

8 ECOCLASSIFICATION (LEVEL 4) OF EWR SITES

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2009. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: EcoClassification Report - Volume 1. Prepared by Water for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/009.

8.1 ECOCLASSIFICATION

The procedure for the EcoClassification of the rivers and Physico-chemical input was according to the revised methods for rivers as outlined in Louw and Hughes (2002), and the EcoClassification manual version 2 (Kleynhans and Louw, 2007) for the EWR sites in the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand sub-catchments. The approach consisted broadly of the following steps:

- Determine reference conditions for each component.
- Determine PES for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine the trend for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine reasons for PES and whether these are flow or non-flow related.
- Determine the Ecological Importance and Sensitivity (EIS) for the biota and habitat.
- Considering the PES and the EIS, suggest a realistic Recommended Ecological Category (REC) for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.
- Determine alternative Ecological Categories (ECs) for each component as well as for the EcoStatus.

8.2 CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

8.2.1 Results

The EcoClassification results for the Crocodile system are summarised in Table 8.1.

Table 8.1 EcoClassification results – Crocodile sub-catchment

EWR 1 Valeyspruit (Crocodile River)									
EWR 1 Valeyspruit (Crocodile River) EIS: Moderate Highest scoring metric were diversity of sensitive habitat types present e.g. wetlands (including floodplains containing various oxbows). PES: A/B Minor impacts, mainly due to farming, exotic vegetation species and trout. Impacts are mostly non-flow related REC: A/B Maintain the PES as only moderate EIS. AEC down: B/C Scenario includes decreased low flows due to e.g. increased golf estates, trout farms and increased abstractions for Dullstroom. Growth of Dullstroom will also result in increased sewage. Increased grazing causing trampling and destabilisation of banks.	Drive Compon HYDROLOGY WATER QUAI GEOMORPHO Respon Compon FISH MACRO INVERTEBRA INSTREAM RIPARIAN VEGETATION ECOSTATU	rents PES & REC Category r A/B LITY A LITY A US PES & REC Category A ATES B A/B A/B A/B	Trend Stable Stable Stable Stable Stable Stable	AEC, B C C AEC, B/C B/C B/C B/C					
	ECOSTATO			D/C					

EWR 2 Goedehoop (Crocodile River) EIS: High Drive PES & REC Rare and endangered fish spp. which are sensitive to flow and quality changes. High AEC↓ Trend species diversity. R С HYDROLOGY PES: B Impacts as for EWR 1 with increased agricultural activities and decreased flows. В WATER QUALITY С However, impacts mostly still non-flow related. REC: B В B/C GEOMORPHOLOGY Stable Although the EIS is high, the PES is already a B and as the impacts are mostly non-PES & REC Category flow related, it would not be realistic to improve the PES through flow related AEC Trend Co interventions. Stable С FISH B AEC down: C MACRO INVERTEBRATES See EWR 1. Possible zero flow situations and additional impacts on moderate events. В Negative С STREAM В С RIPARIAN В A/B Negative VEGETATION В С ECOSTATUS EWR 3 Poplar Creek (Crocodile River) EIS: High Drive PES AEC↓ Rare and endangered fish, vegetation and bird spp, some of which are sensitive to Trend REC Category flow and quality changes. IYDROLOG С В D PES: B/C Major problems related to upstream Kwena Dam and its operation, e.g. migration, WATER QUALITY B/C C/D С sedimentation, changed flow regime. The changed flow regime consists of higher than GEOMORPHOLOGY С Negative С С natural flows in the dry season and much lower low flows in the wet season. REC: B PES AEC↓ Trend REC The EIS is high; therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. This can be achieved by improving the flow regime (low flows) and removal of exotic vegetation FISH В Stable В С species. MACRO INVERTEBRATES С Negative В C/D AEC down: C/D Lower flows than natural in both the dry and wet season. Associated increase in NSTREAM В B/C С temperature and oxygen. RIPARIAN VEGETATION С Negative В B/C В ECOSTATUS C/D EWR 4 KaNyamazane (Crocodile River) EIS: High Driver PES Category Trend REC AEC↓ Rare and endangered species that are sensitive to flow and quality changes are present. There is also a high species taxon richness and a diversity of habitat types IYDROLOG С PES: C Combination of flow and non-flow related impacts. Changes mostly related to changes WATER QUALITY С В С in flow regime due to upstream Kwena Dam and the operation of upstream system. SEOMORPHOLOG B/C Stabl В С Abstractions, return flows, landuse mismanagement, water quality issues, and sedimentation. PES AEC Trend REC REC: B C The EIS is HIGH, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Improvements to FISH R Stable R С flow regime will be required. Only successful if combined with removal of exotic MACRO INVERTEBRATES В D С Stable vegetation and if there are some improvement in grazing and browsing. AEC down: C/D NSTREAM B/C В С Montrose Dam with decreased floods. Pools will fill in, bars will appear, riffles will be RIPARIAN VEGETATION В D С Negative clogged and covered with sediment, reed growth will increase, the marginal zone will expand and vegetation will encroach. ECOSTATUS В C/D С EWR 5 Malelane (Crocodile River) EIS: Very High PES Driver REC AEC↓ Rare and endangered spp. sensitive to flow and quality changes. High species taxon Trend Component richness and diversity of habitat types, KNP on LB. HYDROLOGY В D С PES: C Change in low flows, specifically in the dry season. Change in flooding regime. All WATER QUALITY С В D impacts associated with sugarcane activities. D GEOMORPHOLOGY C/D С Negative REC: B The EIS is VERY HIGH, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Changes PES Response Components Trend REC AEC mostly focussing on improving the low flow regime and some land use management. B D FISH С AEC down: D Stable Decreased low flows and periods of zero flows in some stretches of the river which will MACRO INVERTEBRATES С Stable в D result in increased algal growth, temperature and nutrient problems, loss of deeper NSTREAM С В D channel sections, increased reed and vegetation growth. RIPARIAN VEGETATION С Negative В D В D ECOSTATUS С



8.2.2 Conclusions

A summary of confidences for all the sites are given in Table 8.2. Red cells indicate low confidence, yellow cells indicate medium confidence and green cells indicate high confidence.

 Table 8.2
 Confidence in EcoClassification

EWR site	EW	EWR 1		EWR 2 EWR 3		EW	'R 4	EWR 5		EWR 6		EWR 7		
Confidence	Data availability	EcoClassification												
Hydrology	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Geomorphology	3	3	3	2.5	3	4	3	3	3	3.5	3	3	3	2.5
Physico-chemical	2	2	2	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
IHI (instream & riparian	4	3.75	4	3.75	4	3.75	4	3.3	4	3.25	4	3.3	4	2.9
Fish	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3.5
Macroinvertebrates	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	3	4	3
Vegetation	4	4.1	3.5	3.7	4	3.7	4	3.6	3	3.4	4.5	3.6	3.5	3.1
Median	4	4	4	3.75	4	4	4	3.3	4	3.5	4	3.3	4	3

The results indicated that there was a lot of data available and therefore the confidence in data availability was rated as HIGH. This was due to the recent and historical information collected during national and provincial River Health Programme (RHP) surveys, research in the Kruger

national Park (KNP), previous EWR studies and the detailed updated hydrological study recently undertaken. Historical information from surveys undertaken by the Transvaal Provincial Administration's Nature Conservation Department (Mpumalanga Department of Nature Conservation) also contributed to the data that used to undertake the EcoClassification assessments at each site.

Whereas a HIGH level of confidence in the EcoClassification results was obtained for EWR 1 and 3, a MEDIUM to HIGH level of confidence was obtained for EWR 2, 4, 5 and 6 and a MEDIUM level of confidence was obtained for EWR 7.

Medium levels of confidence in the EcoClassification results were attributed to the following:

- EWR 2: Lack of measured water quality data.
- EWR 4: Unsuitability of previously selected cross-section which makes interpretation difficult.
- EWR 5: Interpretation of vegetation is problematic and not necessarily representative of the rest of the reach.
- EWR 6: Problems with biological surveys (difficult habitats) and lack of critical habitats (e.g. riffles).
- EWR 7: Same problem as at EWR 6 as well as the presence of extensive alien vegetation which is increasing continuously, thus resulting in the lack of indigenous vegetation that can be used as indicators for flow requirements along the cross sections.

8.2.3 Recommendations

The amount and accuracy of the data available at each site was high and therefore no more detailed work was needed to improve data availability.

To improve the confidence in the EcoClassification results at EWR 2, 4, 6 and 7 the following was recommended as part of monitoring:

- Due to the lack of a nearby water quality monitoring station at EWR 2 diatom assessments as part of future monitoring was recommended. This would provide a good indication of the trend of the physico-chemical variables and if problems were indicated, a more detailed physico-chemical analysis could be undertaken. This was also relevant for EWR 1 as data availability was low for the physico-chemical component.
- A new cross section was selected in the riffle immediately downstream of EWR 4 and future monitoring has to focus on this area.
- An alien eradication programme was required at EWR 7.

More work has been undertaken at these sites than for most if not any river in South Africa and it is unlikely that further work will increase confidences. A Water Resources Monitoring Programme was recommended where some of the issues listed above could possibly be addressed. Some of the uncertainties were due to the natural nature of the site (which results in difficulties in surveying and interpretation) as well as a lack of measured water quality.

8.3 SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT

8.3.1 Results

The EcoClassification results for the Crocodile system are summarised in Table 8.3.

Table 8.3 EcoClassification results – Crocodile sub-catchment

EWR 1: Upper Sabie (Sabie River)											
EIS: High Rare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Fish species present that are intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes PES: B/C	Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓						
Impacts due to forestry, exotic vegetation species, and abstraction. Impacts		HYDROLOGY	A/B		A/B	B/C					
REC: B		WATER QUALITY	A/B		A/B	B/C					
The EIS is high, therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. Inactivity of picnic site and removal of aliens is required. Improved fish EC dependent on		GEOMORPHOLOGY	В	Stable	В	С					
improved vegetation cover.		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓					
Decreased low flows resulting in increased sediment with increased nutrients,	FISH	B/C	Stable	В	C/D						
on bars.		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	В	Stable	A/B	С					
		INSTREAM	B/C		В	С					
		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	B/C	Negative	B	C/D					
		ECOSTATUS	B/C		В	C/D					
EWR 2: Aan de Vliet (Sabie Riv	er)										
EIS: High	Ĺ	,									
Rare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Species present intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓					
PES: C		HYDROLOGY	С		B/C	D					
REC: B		WATER QUALITY	В		A/B	С					
Remove exotic vegetation and cease mowing in the riparian zone. Reduce		GEOMORPHOLOGY	В	Negative	В	С					
recreational disturbances. The nutrient status must also be improved. AEC down: C/D		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓					
Increased abstraction could lead to increased return flows that will cause		FISH	B/C	Stable	В	C/D					
terms of forestry and agriculture		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Stable	В	С					
		INSTREAM	B/C		В	С					
		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D					
		ECOSTATUS	С		В	C/D					
EWR 3 Kidney (Sabie River)											
EIS: Very High											
flow related water quality changes. Refuge area for biota and an important		Driver Components	PES & Categ	REC Jory	Trend	AEC↓					
migration corridor for birds and fish. Within KNP. PES: A/B		HYDROLOGY	C	;		C/D					
Forestry, abstraction, Inyaka Dam and landuse activities. (Flow and non-flow related)		WATER QUALITY	E			С					
REC: A/B As the PES is already an A/B, the REC = the PES		GEOMORPHOLOGY	E	M	Negative	С					
AEC Down: B/C		Response	PES &	REC	Trend	AEC↓					
nucleased abstractions, no Reserve implementation, ress noods. Increased nutrients, changes in temperature, oxygen etc. Riffles lost due to sedimentation, changed shallower and sandier. Vegetation everies will increase		FISH			Stable	С					
More reeds will be present in sandier areas.			E		Stable	С					
		INSTREAM	Е			С					
	RIPARIAN VEGETATION		A/B		Stable	B/C					
		ECOSTATUS	A/	B		B/C					

EWR 4 Mac Mac (Mac Mac Rive	er)					
EIS: High						
Rare and endangered fish and vegetation species. Species present intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
PES: B		HYDROLOGY	С		С	С
Porestry, exotic vegetation and wastewater input. Impacts are flow and non-flow related.	WATER QUALITY	A/B		Α	B/C	
REC: A/B		GEOMORPHOLOGY	Α	Stable	Α	В
improving the fish. Improved water quality required.		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
Decreased low flows due to e.g. a weir or small dam in the upper catchment.		FISH	B/C	Stable	В	C/D
This will result in embedded cobbles. Nutrients and temperature will increase. Increased exotic vegetation in the riparian zone.		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	A/B	Stable	A/B	B/C
5 1		INSTREAM	В		В	С
		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	A/B	Negative	A/B	B/C
		ECOSTATUS	В		A/B	С
EWR 5 Marite (Marite River)						
EIS: High.	<u> </u>					
Rare, endangered and unique biota. Species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
PES: B/C		HYDROLOGY	С			D
REC: B		WATER QUALITY	В		В	С
The EIS is high; therefore the REC is an improvement of the PES. More natural distribution of flows required. Reduce grazing and trampling, remove exotic		GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	D
vegetation.		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
No flow releases for the EWR, less dilution and less floods due to e.g. direct		FISH	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
abstraction from the dam. More nutrients and toxics present. Sandier river, some riffles and bedrock areas in the reach will be lost, vegetation encroachment on		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Stable	В	С
bars and banks and embedded cobbles. Increased aliens, removal, grazing, and trampling.		INSTREAM	B/C		В	C/D
i uniping.		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
		ECOSTATUS	B/C		В	C/D
EWR 6 Mutlumuvi (Mutlumuvi Ri	ive	r)				
EIS: High		,				
Rare, endangered and unique biota. Taxon species richness high and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes present.		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
PES: C Abstraction, forestry, informal settlements and landuse activities Impacts flow		HYDROLOGY	С			
and non-flow related.		WATER QUALITY	B/C		В	C/D
The EIS is high and improvement requires improved system operation which		GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Stable	С	D
Improves the low flow regime. AEC down: C/D		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
Decreased low flows and longer periods of zero flows. Increased algal growth. Less moderate floods will cause some impact on sedimentation. The reacheds		FISH	С	Stable	В	D
will become less dense and Matumi will disappear.		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Negative	В	С
		INSTREAM	С		В	C/D
		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
		ECOSTATUS	С		В	C/D
	1					

EWR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka	a R	iver)				
EIS: Moderate						
Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness, species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes.		Driver Components	PES & REC Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
PES: C		HYDROLOGY	Α?			D
flow and non-flow related.		WATER QUALITY	С		В	D
Due to the moderate EIS, the REC = the PES.		GEOMORPHOLOGY	C/D	Stable	С	D
AEC Up: B Improved flows through fixing of canals, rehabilitation of forestry areas and		Response Components	PES &REC Category	Trend	AEC ↑	AEC↓
improved management of canal system and landuse. Remove exotic vegetation,		FISH	С	Stable	В	D
minimise agricultural disturbance and remove unused orchards. AEC Down: D		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	B/C	Negative	В	C/D
Increased use of the dam with less spills, i.e. less floods. More abstraction and	INSTREAM	С		В	D	
Increase in bed height, more subsurface flows and sediment with resulting		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	Negative	В	D
decrease in riffles and shallower pools. More reeds, alien vegetation and more removal.		ECOSTATUS	С		В	D
EWR 8 Lower Sand (Sand Rive	er)					
EIS: High						
Rare and endangered species, high taxon richness and species intolerant to flow and flow related water quality changes. Situated in KNP		Driver Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
PES: B		HYDROLOGY	C?		С	D?
flow related.		WATER QUALITY	В		В	С
REC: B Although the EIS is High, the PES is already in a B therefore the REC = PES.		GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	Negative	С	Lower C
AEC down: C		Response Components	PES Category	Trend	REC	AEC↓
More decreased low flows and longer periods of no flow.		FISH	В	Stable	В	С
		MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	Negative	В	C/D
		INSTREAM	B/C		В	С
		RIPARIAN VEGETATION	В	Stable	В	B/C
		ECOSTATUS	В	Negative	В	С

8.3.2 Conclusions

A summary of confidences for all the sites are given in Table 8.4. Red cells indicate low confidence, yellow cells indicate medium confidence and green cells indicate high confidence.

 Table 8.4
 Confidence in EcoClassification

EWR site	EWR 1 EV		EWR 2 EWR 3		EV	VR 4	EW	/R 5	EW	/R 6	EW	'R 7	EV	VR 8		
Confidence	Data availability	EcoClassification														
Hydrology	3	3	4	4	3	3	3	3	4	4	2	2	2.5	2.5	4	4
Geomorphology	3	3.5	3	3.5	5	4	3	3	3.5	3.5	3	3	2	2	3.5	3
Physico-chemical	3	3	3	3	2.5	2.5	3	3	3	3	2	2	2	2	3	2
IHI (instream & riparian	4	3.2	4	3.1	4	3.1	4	3.4	4	3.2	4	2.9	4	2.9	4	2.9
Fish	3	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	3	4	3	3	3	4
Macroinvertebrates	3	4	4	4	4	4	3	3	3	2.5	3	3.5	2.5	2	3	3.5
Vegetation	4	3.4	4	3.2	5	4	4	3.9	4	4	4	3.8	2	3.7	4.5	3.7
Median	3	3.4	4	3.5	4	4	3	3	4	3.5	3	3	2.5	2.5	3.5	3.5

The results indicated MEDIUM to HIGH confidence for data availability at all the sites except for EWR 7. The confidence at EWR 7 was LOW to MEDIUM as this site was only surveyed at a Rapid

Level. There was also no hydrological gauge or water quality measuring station nearby. Although good biological response information was available for EWR 1, 4 and 6, information on the ecological drivers was not sufficient and therefore the confidence was MEDIUM. The MEDIUM-HIGH (EWR 8) and HIGH (EWR 2, 3 and 5) confidence was due to data collated during national and provincial RHP surveys, research that was conducted in the KNP as well as the 1996 and 1997 Reserve studies (previously referred to as 'IFR studies'). An updated hydrology study was also undertaken for the Sabie and Sand Rivers. However, confidence in the hydrology data for the Sand River will always be low due to the fact that there is only one gauge that represents the whole catchment.

MEDIUM to LOW levels of confidence in the EcoClassification results in the Sabie-Sand River catchments were attributed to the following:

- EWR 1: Apart from the instream biological surveys and one geomorphology survey, no other work has been undertaken at this site.
- EWR 2: This site is a complex site from a vegetation point of view which resulted in the site not having a HIGH EcoClassification confidence.
- EWR 4 and 7: EWR 7 was an additional site, and as such the EcoClassification assessment was only conducted at a Rapid level III. There was also no nearby hydrological or water quality measuring gauge for both EWR sites.
- EWR 5: There was a lack of macroinvertebrate information (probably due to the bedrock nature of the system), as well as lack of hydrological and water quality measuring data.
- EWR 8: The lack of confidence was a result of a lack of physico-chemical information, especially as this site dries up which means that temperature and oxygen information becomes crucial.

8.3.3 Recommendations

EWR 1, 4 and 7 should be included as RHP sites. More work has been undertaken on the Sabie River within the KNP and it is unlikely that further work will increase confidences on these sites. A Water Resources Monitoring Programme was recommended where most of the problems listed above could be addressed. Some of the uncertainties were due to the natural nature of the site (bedrock and alluvial), which resulted in problems with the interpretation of the results, especially in terms of the macroinvertebrate assessments. The lack of measured water quality and hydrology data should be addressed as it is crucial for monitoring as well as for improving confidences in the long term. More specifically, the following was recommended in terms of future monitoring requirements:

- Due to the lack of a nearby water quality monitoring stations, diatom assessments as part of future monitoring was recommended especially at EWR 3 and 8. This would provide a good indication of the trend of the physico-chemical variables and if problems were indicated, more detailed physico-chemical analysis could be undertaken; however only based on available data.
- Instream and riparian vegetation monitoring should take place at EWR 1, 2, 4 and 7 as this would bring the level of confidences for these sites to the same level as the other sites.
- Macroinvertebrates should be monitored at EWR 5 and 7 as part of the RHP. This would provide additional information and add further detail to the Ecological Category, and therefore the EcoSpecs.

In general it was recommended that the EWR sites become the RHP sites where in close proximity to one another. The other EWR sites should be included as RHP sites. Most of the problems

above can be addressed within a monitoring programme, and it was not recommended that any specific additional work was undertaken to address the confidences.

9 EWR SCENARIO ASSESSMENT

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. EWR Scenario Assessment for the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand Systems: Volume 1: Sabie-Sand System Prepared by Rivers for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/010.

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie-Sand and Crocodile Systems: EWR Scenario Assessment for the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand Systems: Volume 2: Crocodile System. Prepared by Rivers for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/010.

This task consisted of determining the EWR for different ecological river states, i.e. different Ecological Categories.

9.1 APPROACH

The Habitat Flow Stressor Response method (HFSR) (IWR S2S, 2004; O'Keeffe et al., 2002), a modification of the Building Block Methodology (BBM) (King and Louw, 1998) was used to determine the low (base) flow EWRs. The approach to set high flows is a combination of the Downstream Response to Imposed Flow Transformation (DRIFT; Brown and King, 2001) approach and BBM. These results formed the basis against which the ecological consequences of operational flow scenarios were tested.

9.2 CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT: EWR AND MOTIVATIONS

The low flow and high flow requirements and motivations are summarised per EWR site as follows:

9.2.1 EWR results for EWR 1: Valeyspruit

Table 9.1 Low flow EWR results for EWR 1

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
PES an	d REC: A/B EcoSta	itus	FISH	: A	MACROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: A
Oct	5% drought	8 FDI	8	0.019	The maximum velocity of 0.32 m/s will ensure that FDI survive during drought periods.
001	35% maintenance	6 FDI	6	0.06	Indicator taxa can overwinter without significant detrimental impacts on the overall population.
Tab	5% drought	4 FDI	4	0.09	Ensures a healthy population is present during summer.
гер	35% maintenance	1.9 Juncus	1.9	0.20	Juncus population will be healthy and abundant.
AEC: B	/C EcoStatus	FISH	: B/C	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B/C RIP VEG: B
	5% drought	8 FDI	8	0.019	See PES.
Oct	35% maintenance	7 FDI	7	0.039	Indicator taxa can overwinter without significant detrimental impacts on the overall population.
Eab	5% drought	4 FDI	4	0.09	See PES.
гер	35% maintenance	3 FDI	3	0.15	Ensures a healthy population is present during summer.

Table 9.2High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 1

				Fish	flood	func	tions		Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
1	0.6 – 2	Vegetation: Annual inundation of Cliffortia/Juncus/Setaria.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~				~
11	3-5	Geomorphology: Activate the seasonal channels on the floodplain; scour active channel; recharge the pans. Vegetation: Inundation / activation of Leucosidea.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
<i>III</i>	> 10	Geomorphology: Inundate the floodplain; deposit sediment; scour the active channel; create cut / undercut banks. Vegetation: Inundation of the floodplain, maintain the Miscanthus.	~	~	~	~	~						

Table 9.3 EWR 1: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL ¹ (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES and	REC SCENA	RIO: A/B			
1	0.6 – 2	3	3	2 per annum		3	Nov, Dec, Mar	1	3
11	3-5	1		1	1:2 ²	1	Jan	3	3
	> 10		1:3	1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S
				AEC	SCENARIO	: B/C			
1	0.6 - 2	2	2	2 per annum		2	Nov, Dec, Mar	1	3
11	3-5	1		1	1:2	1	Jan	3	3
	> 10			1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S

1 Final refers to the agreed on number of events considering the individual requirements for each component 2 Refers to frequency of occurrence, i.e. the flood will occur once in two years.

N/S – none specified

9.2.2 EWR results for EWR 2: Goedehoop

Table 9.4Low flow EWR results for EWR 2

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment							
PES an	d REC: B EcoStatu	s FIS	SH: B	MA	ACROINVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: A/B						
	5% drought	6 SR	6	0.21	Limited FS and FI habitat, cru guild will be present.	icial for the survival of the SR						
	35% maintenance	4.75 SR	4.75	0.27	Reduced presence of FS hal	bitat and therefore a reduced						

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
					abundance of the SR guild.
	5% drought	3 SR	3	0.52	FD habitats will be lost but adequate FI and FS habitat will be maintained which will ensure spawning.
	35% maintenance	1.5 SR	1.5	1.27	Adequate fats habitats with substrate, the optimally preferred habitats for the SR species should be maintained to ensure optimal or acceptable conditions.
AEC: C	EcoStatus	FIS	SH: C	MA	ACROINVERTEBRATES: C RIP VEG: B
	5% drought	6 SR	6	0.21	See PES.
Oct	35% maintenance	5.5 SR	5.5	0.25	FD habitat will be lost and FI and FS will be greatly reduced. Decreased Frequency of Occurrence (FROC) of SR guild.
	5% drought	3 SR	3	0.52	See PES.
Feb	35% maintenance	2.5 SR	2.5	0.695	Reduced FD habitat although adequate for the requirements of all life stages of SR guild, although the guild will occur at a decreased FROC.

Table 9.5High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 2

			I	Fish f	flood	func	tions	6	Macroinvertebrate flood functions					
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
1	2 - 5	Vegetation: Activates and inundates leafy Juncus on the marginal and lower zone.										~	~	
11	6 - 9	Geomorphology: The effective discharge for sands and gravels. Scour channel, remove fines, and turn the cobbles. Annual flood. Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone and facilitates new Combretum recruitment and survival.	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	$\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{$		~	~	>	$\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{$	
<i>III</i>	13 – 25	Vegetation: Inundate and activate the Combretum population to provide recruitment opportunities.	~	~	~	~	~	~						
IV	30 - 35	Geomorphology: Overtop the levees and inundates the floodplain. Scour active channel; turn cobbles. Vegetation: Inundates and maintains Miscanthus on the floodplain.	~	~	~	~	~	~						

Table 9.6 EWR 2: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
	-	-	-	PES	and REC SC	ENARIO: B	-	-	
1	2 - 5	4	4	4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar, Apr	3	3
11	6 - 9	1		1	1	1	Feb	9	4
	13 – 25			1:2			Late summer	N/S	N/S

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
IV	30 - 35			1:4	1:2		Dec - Feb	N/S	N/S
					AEC SCENA	RIO: C			
1	2 - 5			3		3	Nov, Jan, Mar, Apr	3	3
11	6 - 9			1:2	1	1	Feb	9	4
	13 – 25			1:3				N/S	N/S
IV	30 - 35			1:4+	1:4+			N/S	N/S

9.2.3 EWR results for EWR 3: Poplar Creek

Table 9.7 Low flow EWR results for EWR 3

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment	
PES: B	/C EcoStatus	F	ISH: B	N	ACROINVERTEBRATES: C	RIP VEG: C
Oct	5% drought	5 FDI	6	1.13	This flow will ensure that a core of se drought conditions.	elected taxa will survive
001	35% maintenance	2 FDI	3.5	2.42	All the selected taxa can overwir detrimental impacts on the overall popu	ter without significant Iation.
Tab	5% drought	4 FDI	5	1.58	Ensures that a healthy population occu	rs during the summer.
гер	35% maintenance	2 FDI	3.5	2.42	Ensures that a healthy population occu	rs during the summer.
REC: B	EcoStatus	F	ISH: B	N	ACROINVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: B
Oct	5% drought	5 FDI	6	1.13	See PES.	
001	35% maintenance	3 FDI	4.2	2.004	See PES.	
Eab	5% drought	4 FDI	5	1.58	See PES.	
гер	35% maintenance	1 FDI	1.5	4.125	See PES.	

Table 9.8 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 3

					Fish flood functions							Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality			
I	8	Geomorphology: An important flow class for fines - responsible for about 20% of the PBMT (scours and removes fines), inundates and activates the lower bench. Vegetation: Activation of the S. mucronata.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~			
11	15	Geomorphology: An important flow class for fines - responsible for about 20% of the PBMT (scours and removes fines), activates the small cobbles. Vegetation: Inundate and activate Cliffortia.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	*	~	~			

			Fish flood functions						N	Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
<i>III</i>	30	Geomorphology: The geomorphologically effective flow class; responsible for about 30% of the transport of sands and gravels at the site; activates the cobbles. Vegetation: Annual wetting of the lower zone limit facilitates Combretum juvenile survival.	~	$\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{$	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	~						
IV	> 90	Vegetation: Initiates Combretum recruitment inundates and activates lower and upper zone Combretum respectively.	~	~	~	~	~	~						

Table 9.9 EWR 3: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	FLOOD CLASS	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PE	ES SCENARIO	D: B/C			
1	8	4	4	4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Apr	8	3
11	15	2	2	2	2	2	Nov, Mar	15	4
	30		1	1	1	1	Feb	30	5
IV	> 90			1:2 to 1:3			Late summer	N/S	N/S

9.2.4 EWR results for EWR 4: Kanyamazane

Table 9.10 Low flow EWR results for EWR 4

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m ³ /s	Comment						
PES: C I	EcoStatus FIS	SH: B		MA	CROINVERTEBRATES: C	RIP VEG: C					
Son	5% drought	6 SR	6.8	1.31	Maintenance of fast habitat to sup and allow for recovery after drought	pport viable populations period.					
Sep	35% maintenance	tenance 4.5 SR 4.5 4.1 Fast habitats will be maintained to ensure pres									
Feb	5% drought	4.5 LSR	4.5	4.1	Adequate flows to maintain enough viable populations to recover after d cover will be greatly reduced but viable population.	fast habitats to support rought. Abundance and adequate to maintain a					
	35% maintenance	2 LSR	2.6	7.94	Good habitats for spawning and su stages of this indicator guild.	itable habitats for all life					
REC: B	EcoStatus FIS	SH: B		MA	CROINVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: B					
Son	5% drought	6 SR	6.8	1.31	See PES.						
Sep	35% maintenance	4.5 SR	4.5	4.1	See PES.						

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment						
Eab	5% drought	4.5 LSR	4.5	4.1	See PES.						
reb	35% maintenance	2 LSR	2.6	7.94	See PES.						
AEC: C/I	D EcoStatus FIS	SH: C		MA	CROINVERTEBRATES: D	RIP VEG: D					
	5% drought	6.8 SR	6.8	1.31	See PES.						
Sep	35% maintenance	5 SR	5.3	2.975	Most aspects will deteriorate (a connectivity) resulting in reduced FH	abundance, cover, and ROC of species.					
	5% drought	4.5 LSR	4.5	4.1	See PES.						
Feb	35% maintenance	4 LSR	4	4.7	Some spawning habitat will be c cover and abundance will result FROC.	reated but the reduced in an overall reduced					

Table 9.11	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 4
	•

				Fis	h flo	od fi	uncti	ons		Ma f	acroi Iood	inver fund	tebraction	ate s
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Spawning substrate	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
1	25 - 40	Geomorphology: This flow is responsible for about 15% of the PBMT. This flow class scours the fines from the bed. Vegetation: Activates and overtops levee on the main channel and inundates the marginal zone. Inundates marginal zone sedges (Cyperus dives) and Persecaria. Lower portions of Phragmites mauritianus and Ludwigia octovalvis become inundated. Will also provide marginal vegetation cover for instream biota. Fewer events for AEC down will allow more sediment to settle, and with less flood disturbance marginal zone vegetation will migrate/expand towards the instream.	*	~	*	*	*	*	¥	>	*	~	*	*
11	(40)	Geomorphology: This flow is responsible for about 15% of the PBMT. This flow class scours the fines from the bed and activate some of the cobble areas, as well as inundate the lower terrace.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		✓	~	*	~
<i>III</i>	60 - 110	Geomorphology: This flow class represents the effective discharge, and is responsible for about 30% of the PBMT. This flow class would scour the bed, activate gravels and cobbles and inundate and activate middle terraces. Vegetation: Required to inundate the lower zone. Inundates reed beds (P. mauritianus), L. octovalvis and lower portions of Breonadia salicina. Sustains vigour and reproduction in the height of the growing season. Less frequent event for AEC (down) will result in reduced recruitment opportunities for lower zone woody species (C. erythrophyllum and B. salicina).	~	~	~	~	~	~	×		~	~	~	~
IV	170 - 220	Geomorphology: This flow is responsible for about 15% of the PBMT. This flow class scours the bed and activates the cobbles. Vegetation: Required for inundation of upper zone terrace. This will activate and inundate C. erythrophyllum and Nuxia oppositifolia populations, and afford recruitment opportunities.	~	~	~	✓	~	~	~					

			Fish flood functions							Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Spawning substrate	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
V	330 +	Geomorphology: This was historically the range of the 1:3 year flood, and historically accounted for about 20% of the PBMT. This flow will inundate the upper terrace and activate the back flood channel. Vegetation: Maintains Trichilia emetica and Ficus sur populations on upper portions of the upper zone. Would perform the function of reducing terrestrial species in the riparian zone.	~	V	~	~	V	~	~					

Table 9.12 EWR 4: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	FLOOD CLASS	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PE	S SCENARIO	D: C			
1	25 - 40	3		4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Apr	25	4
	(40)	1			2	2	Feb, Mar	40	4
	60 - 110	1		1	1	1	Feb	70	5
IV	170 - 220			1:2 - 1:3	1:3	1:2	Late summer	N/S	N/S
V	330 +			1:3 - 1:5	>1:5	>1:5	Wet season	N/S	N/S
		-	-	RE	C SCENARIO): B	-		
1	25 - 40	4		4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Apr	25	4
	(40)	2			2	2	Feb, Mar	40	7
	60 - 110	1		1	1	1	Jan	70	5
IV	170 - 220			1:2 - 1:3	1:2	1:2	Late summer	N/S	N/S
V	330 +			1:3 - 1:5	1:3 - 1:5	1:3 - 1:5	Wet season	N/S	N/S
				AEC	SCENARIO	: C/D			
1	25 - 40	2		1	2	2	Mar, Dec	25	4
	(40)	1			2	2	Feb, Mar	40	4
	60 - 110			1:2 - 1:3	1:2	1:2	Jan	70	5
IV	170 - 220			1:2 - 1:3	1:3	1:3	Late summer	N/S	N/S
V	330 +				>1:5	>1:5	Wet season	N/S	N/S

9.2.5 EWR results for EWR 5: Malelane

Table 9.13 Low flow EWR results for EWR 5

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment							
PES: C E	EcoStatus FIS	SH: C		MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: C RIP VEG: C							
Sen	5% drought	6.5 LSR	7.4	4.22	This is the maximum stress level allowable where this fish guild will survive through dry drought periods without undue stress on their populations and to allow their recovery afterwards.							
Сор	35% maintenance	5 LSR	6.8	5.36	This fish stress level will maintain adequate FD, FI and abundant FS for maintenance of viable populations of this indicator guild during the dry season to maintain within a category C.							
Fab	5% drought	5 LSR	6.8	5.36	Adequate fast habitats will still be available to allow some spawning of these species and although highly decreased abundance can be expected, they should be able to maintain adequate populations to recover after the drought period.							
reb	35% maintenance	5.5 MVI	5.5	12	Enough inundated vegetation is required to ensure that the Atyidae and Coenagrionidae can thrive. At this stress fringing vegetation is inundated and aquatic vegetation will be available to provide adequate habitat for the selected taxa.							
REC: B	EcoStatus FIS	SH: B	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: B							
	5% drought	6.5 LSR	7.4	4.22	See PES.							
Sep	35% maintenance	4 LSR	6.4	6.68	These stress levels will result in improvement of preferred habitats for this indicator group during the dry season which should be reflected by increased abundance and overall improved FROC that will result in an improved EC.							
	5% drought	5 LSR	6.8	5.36	See PES.							
Feb	35% maintenance	4.5 MVI	4.5	19	Enough inundated vegetation is required to ensure that the Atyidae and Coenagrionidae can thrive. At these flows 5% fringing vegetation is inundated and aquatic vegetation will be available to provide adequate habitat for the selected taxa.							
AEC: D I	EcoStatus FIS	SH: D	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: D RIP VEG: D							
	5% drought	6.7 LSR	7.4	4.22	See PES.							
Sep	35% maintenance	6 LSR	7	4.7	At this stress level the preferred habitats as refuge during the dry period will be greatly reduced and only adequate to sustain this indicator group in the reach. Decreased abundance and cover will be reflected by an overall decrease in FROC of these species within this river reach with a resultant deterioration in EC.							
	5% drought	5 LSR	6.8	5.36	See PES.							
Feb	35% maintenance	6.5 MVI	6.5	 Enough inundated vegetation is required to ensure th Atyidae and Coenagrionidae can thrive. At these flov 6.35 fringing vegetation is inundated and aquatic vegetation be available to provide adequate habitat for the selec taxa. 								

Table 9.14	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 5
------------	---

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	nctio	ons		Ma fl	icroi lood	nver func	tebra tion:	ate s
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Spawning substrate	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
I	15 - 20	Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone, Cyperus, Juncus, and Persecaria and activates lower level reed beds (P. mauritianus). More frequent smaller floods will reduce reed expansion and promote more open sediment. Reduced small floods for AEC down will reduce flooding disturbance and facilitate reed encroachment/expansion towards the channel.	~	~	~	*	~	*	*	~			~	
11	22 - 50	Geomorphology: Activates benches and responsible for more than 10% of the PBMT. These flows would scour fines from the bed. Vegetation: Inundates about 50% of the lower zone, LHB terraces/bars. Inundates reeds on the lower zone. Similar effect as above for REC and AEC down.	>	~	>	>	$\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{$	>	~	$\mathbf{\mathbf{Y}}$	>		~	~
<i>III</i>	(60)	Geomorphology: Activates benches and responsible for more than 10% of the PBMT. These flows would scour fines from the bed.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	<
IV	70 - 100	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for about 25% of the PBMT. This flow class would scour the bed, activate gravels and cobbles and inundate and activate islands. Vegetation: Inundates lower zone and reeds as above. Similar effect as above for REC and AEC down.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
V	370 +	Geomorphology: This flow class represents the effective discharge for this site, accounting for more than 30% of the PBMT. This flow class would scour the bed, activating cobbles and gravels and inundating the islands and deposition sediment in the vegetation. Vegetation: Inundates a portion of the upper zone and upper zone reeds.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					

Table 9.15	EWR 5: The recommended number of high flow events	required
------------	---	----------

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES	S SCENARIC): C			
- 1	15 - 20	4	4	4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	8	4
	22 - 50	2	2	2	2	2	Dec, Mar	30	4
	(60)				2	2	Feb, Mar	50	4
IV	70 - 100			1	1	1	Feb	90	5
V	370 +			1:3+	1:3	1:3	Summer to late summer	N/S	N/S
				RE	C SCENARIO	D: B			
1	15 - 20	6	6	6		6	Nov, Dec, Jan, Feb, Mar	8	4
	22 - 50	3	3	3	3	3	Dec, Jan, Mar	30	4

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
	(60)				3	3	Jan, Feb, Mar	50	4
IV	70 - 100			1	1	1	Feb	90	5
V	370 +			1:3+	1:2 - 1:3	1:3	Summer to late summer	N/S	N/S
				AEG	C SCENARIO	D: D			
1	15 - 20	2	2	2		2	Nov and Mar	12	4
	22 - 50	1	1	1	2	2	Dec, Jan	35	4
	(60)				1	1	Feb	60	5
IV	70 - 100			1:2	1:2	1:2	Summer to late summer	N/S	N/S
V	370 +			1:3+	1:5	1:5	Summer to late summer	N/S	N/S

9.2.6 EWR results for EWR 6: Nkongoma

Table 9.16Low flow EWR results for EWR 6

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment					
PES: C	EcoStatus	F	SH: C	-	MACROINVERTEBRATES: C	RIP VEG: C				
Son	5% drought	9.2 SR	9.2	1.36	This is the maximum allowable fish stress le guild will be able to sustain viable population drought to enable recovery when conditions	vel where this indicator as during a dry period improve.				
Sep	30% maintenance	8.9 SR	8.9	1.91	This recommended fish stress level will main abundant FS for maintenance of viable popu guild during the dry season.	ntain some FD, FI and Ilations of this indicator				
	5% drought	6 LSR	6	7.25	This is the maximum stress level allowable survive through dry drought periods without populations and to allow their recovery after	vhere this fish guild will undue stress on their wards.				
Feb 35% maintenance 3.6 LSR 3.6 10.76 water durin this s				10.76	his flow and stress level will allow moderate conditions for all equirements (spawning, nursery habitat, cover and abundance, vater quality and connectivity). These favourable conditions luring the wet season will ensure that the PES is maintained at his site.					
REC: B	EcoStatus	F	SH: B		MACROINVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: B				
	5% drought	9.2 SR	9.2	1.36	See PES.					
Sep	35% maintenance	7.5 LSR	7.5	4.58	These stress levels will result in improvement for this indicator group during the dry season reflected by increased abundance and over will result in an improved ecological category	nt of preferred habitats n which should be all improved FROC that /.				
	5% drought	6 LSR	6	7.25	See PES.					
Feb	Feb 35% maintenance 1.9 LSR 1.9 15.		15.84	Increased availability and abundance of criti during the wet season (especially spawning be reflected by improved reproduction poter improvement in the composition of this indic reach, with an expected improvement towar	cal habitats required and nursery) should tial and an overall ator group in this river ds a category B.					
AEC: D	EcoStatus	F	SH: D	=	MACROINVERTEBRATES: C	RIP VEG: D				
Sep	5% drought	9.6 SR	9.6	0681	At this stress level the habitat suitability to m provide cover, connectivity and adequate wa poor to critical and extreme stress on this fis critical deterioration in the PES. It can be ex guild may not be able to survive at this stress	aintain abundance, ater quality will be very h guild will result in xpected that this fish s level and may				

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m ³ /s	Comment
					require recolinisation from other reaches or the downstream Komati River after conditions recover.
	35% maintenance	9.3 LSR	9.3	1.19	At this stress level the preferred habitats as refuge during the dry period will be greatly reduced and only adequate to sustain this indicator group in the reach. Decreased abundance and cover will be reflected by an overall decrease in FROC of these species within this river reach with a resultant deterioration in EC.
	5% drought	6 LSR	6	7.25	See PES.
Feb	35% maintenance	5.5 LSR	5.5	7.86	Very limited habitats will be available for the critical life stages during the wet season, namely spawning, egg development and nursery areas, which will be reflected in overall decreased abundance and FROC of all these species within this guild.

Table 9.17	High flow FWR functions and motivations for FWR 6

				Fish	floo	od fu	unct	ions	6	Ma f	acroi Iood	nver func	tebra tion	ate .s
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Spawning substrate	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
I	20 – 30	Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone and marginal zone sedges (C. marginatus). Lower portions of P. mauritianus and L. octovalvis also inundated. Fewer events for AEC down will allow more sediment to settle, and with less flood disturbance marginal zone vegetation will migrate / expand towards the instream.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~	~
11	60 - 100	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for more than 10% of the PBMT. These flows would scour fines from the bed. Vegetation: Required to inundate about 50% of the lower zone. Inundates reed beds (P. mauritianus), Ludwigia and lower portions of B. salicina. Sustains vigour and reproduction in the height of the growing season. Less frequent event for AEC (down) will result in reduced recruitment opportunities for lower zone woody species (C. erythrophyllum, B. salicina).	~	~	~	~	~	~	v	~	~	~	~	
111	130 - 160	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for more than 25% of the PBMT. This flow class would scour the bed, activate gravels. Vegetation: Required for inundation of the lower zone. This will inundate B. salicina and afford recruitment opportunities, as well as upper limit of lower zone reeds.	√	~	~	~	~	~	~					
IV	200 - 350	Geomorphology: This flow class represents the effective discharge for this site, accounting for more than 35% of the PBMT. This flow class would scour the bed, activating cobbles and gravels. Vegetation: Activates and inundates portions of the upper zone bars/benches. Maintains N. oppositifolia and Flugea virosa populations and activates upper zone reeds (low density). Would perform the function of reducing terrestrial species in the riparian zone.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					

Table 9.18 EWR 6: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES	SCENARIO	: C			
1	20 - 30			4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	12	4
11	60 - 100			2	2	2	Dec, Mar	60	4
	130 - 160			1	1	1	Feb	120	6
IV	200 - 350			1:2 - 3	1:3			N/S	N/S
				REC	SCENARIO	: B			
1	20 – 30			6		6	Nov, Dec, Jan (2), Feb, Mar	10	4
11	60 - 100			3		3	Dec, Jan, Mar	50	4
	130 - 160			2	3	2	Jan, Feb, Mar	100	5
IV	200 - 350			1:2 - 3	1		Feb	180	6
				AEC	SCENARIO	: D			
1	20-30			2		2	Nov, Mar	15	4
	60 - 100			1		1	Jan	70	5
	130 - 160			1:2	1	1:2	Feb	130	6
IV	200 - 350			1:2 - 3	1:2			N/S	N/S

9.2.7 EWR results for EWR 7: Honeybird

Table 9.19Low flow EWR results for EWR 7

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment					
PES: C I	EcoStatus FIS	SH: C		MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: C/D					
Oct	5% drought	9 SR	9	0.086	Some FS and very limited FI will be maintained and FD will be lost. FI and FS habitats will support small population that should be able to recover after drought.					
Uct	35% maintenance	6.5 SR	6.5	0.374	Adequate FS and some FI and FD to support refuge habitats for the small rheophilic species at the site during dry period.					
	5% drought	4.5 LSR	4.5	0.708	Some FS will be maintained to ensure maintenance of acceptable water quality (enough oxygen and limited temperature fluctuations) and allow adequate recovery after the stressed period.					
Feb	35% maintenance	3 SR	3	1.370	Adequate FD, FI and FS to allow successful breeding and habitats for all life stages. Due to the high stress conditions during dry period it is eminent to maintain adequate conditions during the wet season to ensure the survival of this indicator guild at this site.					
REC: B	EcoStatus FIS	SH: B		MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: B/C					
	5% drought	9 SR	9	0.086	See PES.					
Oct	35% maintenance	4 SR	4	0.8	FD habitats decrease visibly from those observed under reference dry period conditions but FROC of indicator species will still be better than PES.					
5% drought 4.5 LSR 4.5 0.708 See PES.				See PES.						
reb	35% maintenance	1.5 SR	1.5	2.23	High abundance of FD, FI and FS will be available at this					

Month	H % Stress duration Comment Stress as stress					
					fish stress level to provide excellent habitat for this fish guild to complete all their life stages successfully.	
AEC: D	EcoStatus FIS	SH: D	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: C RIP VEG: D	
	5% drought	9 SR	9	0.086	See PES.	
Oct	35% maintenance	8.2 SR	8.2	0.178	This fish stress level will maintain some FS while FI and FD may be lost which may be reflected by a critical decrease in abundance, resulting in decreased FROC.	
	5% drought	4.5 LSR	4.5	0.708	See PES.	
Feb	35% maintenance	4	0.8	FS habitats will be reduced, with some FD and FI still available. It can be expected that this change in habitats (from present conditions) will result in decreased FROC.		

Table 0.20	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 7
1 able 9.20	HIGH HOW EVER FUNCTIONS and motivations for EVER 7

				Fisł	n flo	od fi	unct	ions	;	Ma fl	croi ood	nver fund	tebr	ate Is
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m3/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning habitat	Spawning substrate	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
1	5 - 8	Vegetation: Required to inundate the marginal zone; activates and inundates portions of P. mauritianus and S. mucronata.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~	~
11	8 – 12	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for about 20% of the PBMT. These flows would inundate the active low bench on the right bank and scour fines from the bed; activating the gravels and some smaller cobbles. Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone reed beds and about 50% of the lower zone. Inundates the upper limit of S. mucronata, and activates the lower limit of F. sycomorus.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~	~
	17	Geomorphology: This flow class represents the effective discharge for this site under present day flow conditions. It is responsible for approximately 35% of the PBMT at the site. These flows would inundate and active the benches on both the left and right banks, and scour fines and activate the gravels and small cobbles.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					
IV	25 - 80	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for about 20% of the PBMT. These flows would scour inundate the active low bench on the right bank, as well as scour the bed; activate the cobbles and allow for deposition within the dense vegetation of the benches. Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone and portions of the upper zone; activates and maintains S. cordatum and F. sycomorus populations.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					
V	> 130	Vegetation: Activates the lower limit of Acacia robusta on the upper zone.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	СЕОМОКРНОLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES	SCENARIO	: C			
1	5 - 8	4		4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	5	3
11	8 – 12	2		1	2	2	Jan, Feb	8	3
	(17)				1	1	Feb	20	4
IV	25 – 80			1:2	1:3	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	> 130			1:3 +		1:3		N/S	N/S
	-		-	REC	SCENARIO	: B		-	-
1	5 - 8	4		4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	5	3
11	8 – 12	2		2	3	3	Dec, Jan, Feb	8	3
	(17)				1	1	Jan	15	4
IV	25 – 80			1	1:3	1	Feb	25	4
V	> 130			1:3		1:3		N/S	N/S
	-		-	AEC	SCENARIO	: D	-	-	-
1	5 - 8	2		2		2	Dec, Mar	6	3
11	8 – 12	2		1	2	2	Jan, Feb	12	4
	(17)				1:2	1:2	Feb	15	4
IV	25 – 80			1:2	1:5	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	> 130			1:3		1:3		N/S	N/S

Table 9.21 EWR 7: The recommended number of high flow events required

9.3 RESULTS

The results are summarised in Table 9.22 for the different EWR sites as a percentage of the natural Mean Annual Runoff (nMAR).

Table 9.22 Cro	codile sub-catchment: EWR	scenario results as	a percentage of the nMAR
----------------	---------------------------	---------------------	--------------------------

EWR site	nMAR	PMAR	%PMAR of nMAR	EC	Main Iow	tenance / flows	Drou f	ught Iow Iows	High	n flows	Loi	ng term nean	
	МСМ	МСМ	МСМ		МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(% nMAR)	
	15 10	14.00	0.99/	A/B PES, REC	3.76	24.78	1.54	10.13	0.993	6.14	4.75	30.9	
EVVRI	15.19	14.90	90%	B/C AEC	2.56	16.84	1.54	10.13	0.993	6.14	3.7	24.4	
	17 11	11 20	05%	B PES, REC	23.53	49.94	9.23	19.58	3.50	7.43	27	57	
EVVRZ	47.11	44.00	95%	C AEC	11.39	24.18	9.22	19.58	3.03	6.44	17.43	37	
				B/C PES	74.76	44	30.75	18.1	16.7	9.8	<u>93.78</u>	55.2	
EWR 3	169.9	1515.2	892%	B REC		A time series of requirements could not be generated as improvement of the PES required flows higher than the reference time series (present day), during the wet season.							
	754 1	528.2	70%	B PES, REC	216.4	28.7	74.66	9.9	46.8	6.2	260.1	6 34.5	
	734.1	020.3	70%	C/D AEC	99.54	13.2	74.66	9.9	38.7	5.1	160.6	2 21.3	

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

	EW/B 5 1006 2		620/	C PES	214.3	21.3	121.8	12.1	53.3	5.3	301.87	30
EWR 5	1006.2	637.9	63%	B REC	349.2	34.7	121.8	12.1	74.5	7.4	404.50	40.2
				D AEC	121.8	12.1	121.8	12.1	29.2	2.9	214.33	21.3
				C PES	147.8	13.9	112.7	10.6	78.7	7.4	264.72	24.9
EWR 6	1063.1	525.2	49%	B REC	323.2	30.4	112.7	10.6	140.3	13.2	466.71	43.9
				D AEC	123	11.6	47.84	4.5	48.9	4.6	152.03	14.3
				C PES	25.2	14.9	11.16	6.6	10.82	6.4	38.87	23
EWR 7	169	86.6	51%	B REC	50	29.6	11.16	6.6	12.51	7.4	62.20	36.8
				D AEC	10.14	6	11.16	6.6	8.96	5.3	27.72	16.4

9.4 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The confidence in the low and high flow Ecological Reserve requirements for each EWR site is provided in the table below. A score of 1 - 1.9 indicates a low confidence (red), 2 - 3.9 a moderate confidence (yellow) and 4-5, high confidence (green) in the results.

Table 9.23 Overall Confidence in EFR Results

					LOW FLOWS				HIGH FLOWS
EWR SITE	нүркогосү	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS
EWR 1	2	4	4	4	Biological responses high as well as hydraulics. The hydraulic requirements for low flows largely within the range of measured flows.	3.5	3.5	3.5	All the smaller floods fall within the range of measured flows.
EWR 2	2	4	4	4	Biological responses high as well as hydraulics. The hydraulic requirements for low flows largely within the range of measured flows.	3.8	3	3	Some of the floods fall outside the range of measured flows which results in hydraulic being of a lower confidence than the biophysical responses.
EWR 3	3	2	5	2	Various calibrations available for this site since 1999. This resulted in high confidence in the hydraulics. However, due to the lack of understanding around the invertebrates, the confidence is low.	4	3	3	Some of the floods fall outside the range of measured flows which results in hydraulic being of a lower confidence than the biophysical responses.
EWR 4	1.5	4	1	1	This cross-section was very badly selected during previous EWR studies and do not provide any low flow cues nor any useful hydraulics at low flows. Another section was selection downstream of the old section. As only one hydraulic calibration could be obtained, the confidence was very low.	3.8	4	4	All the small and moderate floods fall within the range measured.
EWR 5	2.5	4	3.5	3.5	Biological responses high as well as hydraulics. The hydraulic requirements for low flows largely within the range of measured flows. The site does not provide good habitat, however site selection is problematic in this area with safety and access playing an overriding role.	3.3	4	3.3	Riparian vegetation is the factor that results in a lower biophysical confidence. This is due to the absence of cues at the site and therefore uncertainty in the flooding requirements.
EWR 6	3	4	4	4	Biological responses high as well as hydraulics. The hydraulic requirements for low flows largely within the range of measured flows. There is some uncertainty in flow class modelling as the site is bedrock dominated.	3.8	4	4	Limited range of measured flows but the small and moderate floods should maintain sediment transport at this site.
EWR 7	2	4	3	3	Complex site. Low flows set are below measurements. There is uncertainty in flow class modelling. The hydraulics therefore is the overriding factor with regards to confidence.	2.3	3	2.5	Both riparian and geomorphology cues are lacking and confusing, resulting in a low confidence in the high flows.

Recommendations were determined based on the possibility and necessity of improving the confidence of the individual assessments (biological response and hydraulics) by implementing an Ecological Water Resource Monitoring Programme (EWRM), hydrological monitoring and hydraulic assessments. This will provide the additional information to improve confidence in the EWRs. These recommendations are summarised in Table 9.24.

EWR sites	Low flow confidence	High flow confidence	Recommendations
EWR 1	4	3.5	EWRM
EWR 2	4	3	EWRM
EWR 3	2	3	EWRM
EWR 4	1	4	The hydraulics for EWR 4 should be updated with sufficient low flow calibrations to improve the low flow confidence. EWRM.
EWR 5	3.5	3.3	This site did not provide sufficient cues for EWR assessment, neither for hydraulic analysis. As EWR 6 is the critical site, this site should be seen as supplementary. EWRM
EWR 6	4	4	EWRM
EWR 7	3	2.5	EWRM

Table 9.24 Summary of recommendations required to improve confidences

9.5 SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT: EWR AND MOTIVATIONS

The low flow and high flow requirements and motivations are summarised per EWR site as follows:

9.5.1 EWR results for EWR 1: Upper Sabie

Table 9.25 Low flow EWR results for EWR 1

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment	
PES: B/	C EcoStatus FIS	SH: B/C		MACRO	INVERTEBRATES: B RIP VE	G: B/C
	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.5	Critical habitats will be maintained to ensul of LR guild.	re survival
Oct	35% maintenance	4 Phragmites	5.75	1	Leaf wilting/stress commences but is slight flower/fruit abortion commences.	t, and
Fak	5% drought	6 LR	6	0.8	Critical habitats greatly reduced but will ca spawning and maintenance of life stages.	ter for
Feb	35% maintenance	3 LR	3	1.9	Adequate critical habitat to maintain life sta biological processes.	ages and
REC: B	EcoStatus FIS	SH: B M	IACRO	INVERT	EBRATES: A/B RIP VE	G: B
	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.5	See PES.	
Oct	35% maintenance	3.5 Phragmites	5.5	1.1	Similar to PES conditions. Less stress ass with more flows.	sociated
[ab	5% drought	6 LR	6	0.8	See PES.	
reb	50% maintenance	2 LR	2	2.5	Improved FI and FD habitat will improve th	e Fish EC.
AEC: C	/D EcoStatus FIS	SH: C/D		MACRO	INVERTEBRATES: C RIP VE	G: C/D
	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.5	See PES.	
Oct	35% maintenance	7.5 LR	7.5	0.67	Adequate fast habitat for survival however occur at reduced abundance.	species
Feb	5% drought	6 LR	6	0.8	See PES.	
1 60	35% maintenance	4.5 LR	4.5	1.55	Less critical habitat available than under P	PES

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
					conditions. Life stages will be maintained, but species abundances and FROC will decrease resulting in lower EC.

Table 9.26 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 1

				Fis	sh flo	od fi	uncti	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions					
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
I	5 - 7 (6 ave)	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the fines (sands) at the site preventing infilling of interstitial spaces. Vegetation: 30 – 45 cm inundation of P. mauritianus maintains reedbeds. Also inundates large-leaved aquatic macrophytes. REC has the same flood requirements as the PES since this scenario is due to non-flow related issues (exotic vegetation and recreation activities). Only small floods and base flow reduction occur to result in the AEC (down) with an associated increase in reeds.	¥	¥	~	~	¥	¥	¥	¥	~	~	~	~	
11	10 – 20 (15 ave)	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the gravels (10 mm) at the site maintaining clean bed conditions. Vegetation: Wets but does not inundate the fern line; inundates the marginal zone and a high proportion of the reed-beds. Inundates lower portion of the tree-line (Ficus sur).	>	~	~	~	~	~	*	>	~	V	~	~	
<i>III</i>	35 – 55 (30 ave)	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the small cobbles at the site; maintaining bed mobility and interstitial spaces. Vegetation: Inundates 50 - 100% of the lower zone; maintains Syzigium cordatum population.	>	~	~	~	~	~	~						
IV	70 +	Vegetation: Inundates lower portion of the upper zone, wets ephemeral terrace, maintains Combretum erythrophyllum population and provides recruitment opportunities.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~						

Table 9.27 EWR 1: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	O FINAL* (No of events) B(C	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)	
1	5-7	4		4	4	4	Oct, Dec, Feb, Mar	6	4	
	10 - 20	1		1	1	1	Jan	15	5	
	35 - 55			1:2	1:3	1:2**		N/S	N/S	
IV	< 70			1:3 to 1:5		1:3		N/S	N/S	
	REC SCENARIO: B									
1	5 - 7	4		4	5	5	Oct, Nov, Dec, Feb, Apr	6	4	
Diversió	r Africa				Main	Danart	Dan	nt no 26	10/2/10/12/	

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL* (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
	10 - 20	1		1	1	1	Jan	15	5
	35 - 55			1:2	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	< 70			1:3 to 1:5		1:3		N/S	N/S
					AEC SCEN	NARIO: C/D			
1	5 - 7	3		2	3	3	Oct, Dec, Mar	6	<3
11	10 - 20	1		1	1:2	1	Jan	15	3
	35 - 55			1:2	1:4	1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	< 70			1:3 to 1:5				N/S	N/S

9.5.2 EWR results for EWR 2: Aan de Vliet

Table 9.28 Low flow EWR results for EWR 2

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment				
PES: B/C	EcoStatus FISI	H: B/C	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: B/C				
Oct	5% drought	8 LR	8	0.845	No FD habitats available, but should be adequate for species survival.				
	35% maintenance	6 LR	6	1.49	Critical habitats will be maintained to ensure survival of LR guild.				
Tab	5% drought	6 LR	6	1.49	Critical habitats are limited, but adequate to allow spawning and maintenance of other life changes.				
reb	35% maintenance	3.5 LR	3.5	2.3	Adequate critical habitat to maintain life stages and biological processes.				
REC: B E	EcoStatus FISI	Н: В	MAC	ROINVE	RTEBRATES: A/B RIP VEG: B				
0(5% drought	8 LR	8	0.845	See PES.				
001	35% maintenance	5.5 LR	5.5	1.6	Good availability of preferred habitat.				
	5% drought	6 LR	6	1.49	See PES.				
reb	50% maintenance	2 LR	2	2.93	Improved FI and FD habitat will improve the Fish EC.				
AEC: C/D	D EcoStatus FISI	H: C/D		MAC	CROINVERTEBRATES: C RIP VEG: C/D				
	5% drought	8 LR	8	0.845	See PES.				
Oct	35% maintenance	6.5 LR	6.5	1.26	Limited FD habitats and adequate FI habitat will cause reduced abundance and FROC of guild.				
Feb	5% drought	6 LR	6	1.49	See PES.				
	35% maintenance	5 LR	5	1.73	Less critical habitat available than under PES conditions. Life stages will be maintained, but species abundances and FROC will decrease resulting in lower EC.				

Table 9.29 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 2

			Fish flood functions						Macroinvertebrate flood functions					
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
I	9 – 12	Geomorphology: The lower flow classes (high base flows and intra-annual floods) play a crucial role in maintaining the movement of fine sands through the site. Vegetation: Maintains reeds and other grasses at the site (50% inundation); likely to activate back channel which supports marginal zone obligates. Inundates the lower portion of the marginal zone and the lower portion of the B. salicina population. Maintains soil moisture in alluvial bars which supports riparian closed-canopy forests (Syzigium and Breonadia mainly).	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	>	~	>	~
11	15 - 25	Geomorphology: This annual flood is responsible for a large proportion of both sands and small gravel (10 mm) transport; preventing sedimentation and embeddedness of the riffle. This flow class is also responsible for the activation and scouring of the seasonal back channel. Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone, the majority of reeds and grasses and all leafy aquatic marginal zone macrophytes. Activates and inundates B. salicina and S. cordatum populations and provides recruitment opportunities. Also facilitates existing juvenile survival. Activates back channel which supports marginal zone obligates.									>	>	>	~
<i>III</i>	35 - 55	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the gravels (10 mm sediments); maintaining the condition of the riffles and other gravel areas. This flow class also inundates the lower floodplain area. Vegetation: Floods most of the S. cordatum population and facilitates recruitment of vegetation growing on alluvial lateral/point bar.												
IV	70 +	Geomorphology: This infrequent flood inundates most of the floodplain, and is the effective discharge class for the larger sediments (cobbles) for the site - this would activate the larger cobbles in the riffle areas. Vegetation: Activate lateral alluvial deposits. Maintains MCB species (C. erythrophyllum, F. sycomorus and Anthocleista mainly). Inundates the lower zone and activates lowest portion of upper zone.												

Table 9.30 EWR 2: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)			
PES SCENARIO: C												
1	9 - 12	4		4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	10	4			
	15 - 25	1		1	1	1	Feb	20	5			
	35 -55	1:2		1:2	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S			
IV	70 +	1:3		1:3+	1:5	1:3		N/S	N/S			
	REC SCENARIO: B											
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)			
-------------	------------------------------------	---------------	------	------------	----------------------	----------------------	-------------------------	--------------------------------------	-----------------			
1	9 - 12	5		4*	5#	5	Nov, Dec, Jan, Feb, Mar	10	4			
11	15 - 25	1		1	1	1	Feb	20	5			
<i>III</i>	35 -55	1:2		1:2	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S			
IV	70 +	1:3		1:3+	1:5	1:3		N/S	N/S			
				AEC	SCENARIO	: C/D						
1	9 - 12	3		3*	3#	3	Nov, Jan, Mar	10	4			
11	15 - 25	1		1	1:2	1	Feb	20	3			
	35 -55	1:2		1:2	1:3	1:2		N/S	N/S			
IV	70 +	1:3+		1:3+	1:5	1:3+		N/S	N/S			

9.5.3 EWR results for EWR 3: Kidney

Table 9.31 Low flow EWR results for EWR 3

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
PES an	d REC: A/B EcoSt	atus FIS	SH: B	M	ACROINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: A/B
Oct	5% drought	8 SR	8	1.46	Critical fast habitat is maintained to ensure survival of the SR guild.
001	35% maintenance	6 SR	6	2.25	Highly stressed condition and maintenance of EC depends on the maintenance of wet season drought conditions.
Fab	5% drought	5 Phragmites	5.75	2.8	Obvious leaf wilting or vegetative parts begin unseasonal discolouration; flower/fruit abortion is widespread.
гер	35% maintenance	3 SR	3.8	7.1	Adequate critical habitat to maintain life stages and biological processes.
AEC: B	/C EcoStatus	FISH: C	MA	CROIN	VERTEBRATES: C RIP VEG: B/C
Oct	5% drought	8.9 SR	8.9	0.95	Critical fast habitat at reduced abundance than PES. Guild will occur at decreased FROC and abundance.
UCT	35% maintenance	7.8 SR	7.8	0.67	Reduced occurrence of fast habitats, therefore fish occur in reduced abundance and FROC.
_ <i>i</i>	5% drought	5 Phragmites	5.75	2.8	See PES.
Feb	35% maintenance	3 Phragmites	4.75	5.2	Leaf wilting/stress commences but is slight, and the population remains reproductively active.

Table 9.32	High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 3
------------	---

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	nctio	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions					
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
1	10 - 15	Macroinvertebrates. See Appendix D, Table D11.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
11	15 - 30	Geomorphology: This flow class is responsible for the transport of a large proportion of the fines (sands) component through the site, and would activate the gravels on the bed. Vegetation: Inundates half of reeds, but not to depths greater than about 50 cm. Inundates lower limit of B. salicina population, ensuring survival and recruitment opportunities. Inundates aquatic macrophytes (Persecaria, Ludwigia, and Cyperus).	V	V	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<i>III</i>	45 - 55	Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone, marginal zone riparian obligates and high density reedbeds. Activates the lower limit of S. cordatum. Also inundates a major portion of the B. salicina population.	\checkmark	V	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						
IV	75 - 100	Geomorphology: This important flow class is responsible for about 30% of both sand and gravel transport. Maintaining this flow category will scour the active channels of the reach. Vegetation: Maintains lower zone woody species (N. oppositifolia and C. erythrophyllum). Inundates lower portion of the lower zone and the majority of the reeds.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						
v	150 +	Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone to the full extent and activates the upper zone.	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark						
VI	250	Geomorphology: This large flood is responsible for the bulk of channel maintenance (specifically within these anastomosing reaches) - widening and deepening the channels and removing vegetation.		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark						

Table 9.33 EWR 3: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	FLOOD CLASS	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES and	REC SCENA	ARIO: A/B			
- 1	10 - 15	4				4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Feb	8	3
	15 - 30			4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	20	4
	45 -55			1		1	Mar	40	5
IV	75 - 100			1:2	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	150 +			1:3+		1:3		N/S	N/S
VI	250				1:5	1:5		N/S	N/S
				AEC	SCENARIO	: B/C			
1	10 - 15	3				3	Dec, Jan, Feb	8	3
	15 - 30			3	3	3	Nov, Jan, Mar	20	4
	45 -55			1		1	Feb	40	5
IV	75 - 100			1:2	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	150 +			1:3+		1:3		N/S	N/S

FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	FLOOD CLASS	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
VI	250			1:5	1:5	1:5		N/S	N/S

9.5.4 EWR results for EWR 4: Mac Mac

Table 9.34 Low flow EWR results for EWR 4

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
PES an	d REC: B EcoStatus	FIS	H: B/C	M	ACROINVERTEBRATES: A/B RIP VEG: A/B
	5% - drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.2	Limited FS and FI to maintain fish.
Oct	35% maintenance	6.5 LR	6.5	0.45	Most critical habitat will be maintained and adequate for fi survival.
F ab	5% - drought	6 LR	6	0.5	Reduced spawning habitat, but sufficient to maintain all I stages and survival of fish.
reb	35% maintenance	3 SR	3	1.09	Adequate critical habitat to maintain life stages and biologic processes.
AEC↓: 0	C EcoStatus	FIS	H: C/D	M	ACROINVERTEBRATES: B/C RIP VEG: B/C
	5% - drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.2	See PES.
Oct	35% maintenance	7.5 LR	7.5	0.35	Reduced occurrence of fast habitats, therefore fish occur reduced abundance and FROC.
	5% - drought	6 LR	6	0.5	See PES.
Feb	35% maintenance	5 LR	5	0.59	Fast habitats are reduced but adequate to maintain life stag at a reduced abundance and FROC.

Table 9.35 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 4

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	Inctic	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions						
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	Migration cues	
I	3 - 5	Geomorphology: This flow class initiates movement of the smaller (50 mm) gravels at the site, and would scour any accumulated fines. Vegetation: Maintains marginal zone riparian obligates, activates the lower limit of B. salicina, and inundates marginal zone S. cordatum.	~	~	~	~	~	*	*	~	~	~	~	~	~	
11	6 - 12	Geomorphology: This flow class initiates movement of the larger gravels (100 mm) and maintains bed mobility. Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone and lower portion of the lower zone. Inundates B. salicina, S. cordatum (Hydrochorous species) and Anthocleista grandiflora (medium to low lying forest species) populations.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	✓	~	

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	Inctio	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions						
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	Migration cues	
<i>III</i>	25 - 35	Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone and activates the lower portion of the upper zone. Inundates facultative riparian species (often also moist forest species) in the upper portions of the lower zone (F. sur).	~	~	~	~	~	~	~							
IV	70 +	Geomorphology: Inundates the lateral terrace and activates the ephemeral flood channel. Scours the bed and moves the cobbles within the active channel. Vegetation: Inundates the upper zone woody species (kloof and forest species with some facultative riparian species; also historic B. salicina population). Inundates the lower zone and the lower portion of the upper zone.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~							

Table 9.36 EWR 4: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	FLOOD CLASS	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES and	REC SCEN	ARIO: B			
1	3 - 5	4		4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	4	3
	6 – 12	1		1		1	Feb	15	4
	25 - 35			1:2		1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	70 +			1:3+	1:10	1:3		N/S	N/S
				AEC	SCENARIO	: C			
1	3 - 5	3		4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	4	3
	6 – 12			1		1	Feb	15	4
	25 - 35			1:2		1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	70 +			1:3+	1:10	1:3		N/S	N/S

9.5.5 EWR results for EWR 5: Marite

Table 9.37 Low flow EWR results for EWR 5

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment							
PES: B	C EcoStatus F	ISH: B/C	Μ	ACRO	INVERTEBRATES: B/C	RIP VEG: B/C						
	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.32	Limited critical habitat present to ensure su	ırvival of LR guild.						
Oct	35% maintenance	4.5 Breonadia	6.5	0.6	Leaf wilting/stress commences but is slight abortion commences although unlikely to c	, and flower/fruit occur in dry season).						
	5% drought	6.5 LR	6	0.6	Critical habitat greatly reduced but adequa	te for spawning.						
Feb	35% maintenance	3 LR	3	1.78	Maintenance of critical habitat required for biological processes.	most life stages and						
REC: B	EcoStatus F	ISH: B	Μ	ACRO	INVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: B						
Oct	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.32	See PES.							
001	35% maintenance	5.5 SR	5.8	0.75	Improved habitat and therefore improved a	bundance and FROC.						
Feb	5% drought	6.5 LR	6	0.6	See PES.							
1 60	35% maintenance	2 LR	2.8	1.9	Improved spawning and nursery habitat for	^r guild.						
AEC: C	/D EcoStatus F	ISH: C/D			MACROINVERTEBRATES: C	RIP VEG: C/D						
	5% drought	8.5 LR	8.5	0.32	See PES.							
Oct	35% maintenance	8 LR	8	0.35	Limited critical habitat available and therefor abundance and FROC of guild.	ore reduced						
	5% drought	6.5 LR	6	0.6	See PES.							
Feb	35% maintenance	4.5 LR	4.5	1.2	.2 Some critical habitat available to maintain life stages at reduce abundance and FROC.							

Table 9.38 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 5

				Fis	h flo	od fu	nctic	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
I	4 - 6	Geomorphology: This flow class represents an important component of fines (sand) transport for this site. Maintenance of the transport of sands through the site will prevent excessive bed aggradation and smothering of bedrock/boulders on the bed. It also inundates and activates the lower beach areas on the island. Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone, marginal zone obligates and 30 - 50% of B. salicina and P. mauritianus populations. Activates Ishaemum and Setaria grasses and ensures lower level Syzigium sp recruit survival.	¥	¥	¥	¥	*	¥	*	~	*		*	~
11	8 - 18	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the fines (sands) at the site; maintaining these flows will, as above, enable the bedrock influence to be maintained in the reach. These flows also inundate most of the island, as well as the seasonal channel. Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone and lower portion of the lower zone, Ludwigia, Persecaria, C. dives, and about 50% of P. mauritianus, B. salicina and riparian grasses	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~	~

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	Inctio	ons		Ma fl	icroi lood	nver func	tebra tion	ate s
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc.)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
		(Ishaemum and Setaria). Ensures survival of lower level S. cordatum recruits and ensures additional recruitment opportunities. Activates the lower zone terraces and backwaters (channel/pools).												
	28 - 42	Geomorphology: This flow class is the effective discharge for the larger gravels (60 mm) within the reach; maintaining clean bed conditions (and clean gravels within the fast flowing sections). The flow will also scour the seasonal channel and activate the upper ephemeral channel. Vegetation: Inundates the majority of the lower zone and floods back channels/pools. Inundates B. salicina population and facilitates Syzigium sp recruitment in the lower zone. Floods lower zone riparian grasses (Setaria and Ishaemum).	*	v	v	¥	~	~	~					
IV	80 +	Geomorphology: This flow class is important for gravels activation and transport, as well as for scouring the upper ephemeral channel and inundating terrace areas at the site. Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone and the lower portion of the upper zone. Activates the upper limit of S. cordatum and maintains N. oppositifolia and C. erythrophyllum populations.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					
V	250 +	Vegetation: Activates upper zone terraces. Activates and inundates C. erythrophyllum and T. sericea.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					

Table 9.39 EWR 5: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	СЕОМО КРНОLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
					PES SCENA	RIO: B/C			
1	4 - 6			4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Feb, Mar	4	3
	8 - 18			1	2	2	Dec, Jan	8	4
	28 - 42			1:2	1:2	1:2	Feb	25	5
IV	80 +			1:3	1:5	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	250 +			1:5+		1:5		N/S	N/S
					REC SCEN	ARIO: B			
1	4 - 6			4	5	5	Nov, Dec, Jan, Feb, Mar	4	3
	8 - 18			1	2	2	Dec, Jan	8	4
	28 - 42			1:2	1:2	1:2	Feb	25	5
IV	80 +			1:3	1:5	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	250 +			1:5+		1:5		N/S	N/S
					AEC SCENA	RIO: C/D			
1	4 - 6			3	3	3	Nov, Dec, Mar	4	3
	8 - 18			1	1	1	Jan	8	4
	28 - 42			1:2	1:2	1:2	Feb	25	5
IV	80 +			1:3	1:5	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	250 +			1:5+		1:5		N/S	N/S

9.5.6 EWR results for EWR 6: Mutlumuvi

Table 9.40	Low flow EWR results for EWR 6
------------	--------------------------------

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
PES: C	EcoStatus F	ISH: C		MACRO	OINVERTEBRATES: B/C RIP VEG: C
Oct	5% - drought	10 SR	10	0	Prolonged periods of zero flows. Guild however still survives and seeks refuge upstream where perennial flow is present. PES will be maintained if connectivity and wet season flows are ensured.
	60% maintenance	9 SR	9	0.163	Adequate habitats available for the survival of the guild although fast habitats are absent.
F ab	5% - drought	8 SR	8	0.38	Critical habitat greatly reduced but adequate for spawning. Refuge in tributaries if spawning not possible.
гер	60% maintenance	3 SR	5.5	0.685	Maintenance of critical habitat required for most life stages and biological processes.
REC: B	EcoStatus F	ISH: B		MACRO	OINVERTEBRATES: B RIP VEG: B
Oct	5% - drought	9.5 SR	9.5	0.082	Guild survives and seeks refuge upstream where perennial flow is present.
	60% - maintenance	8.5 SR	8.5	0.27	Improved habitat and therefore improved abundance and FROC.
Fab	5% - drought	8 SR	8	0.38	See PES.
reb	60% maintenance	3 SR	3	0.83	Improved spawning and nursery habitat for guild.
AEC: C	D EcoStatus	ISH: D		MACRO	OINVERTEBRATES: C/D RIP VEG: D
	5% - drought	10 SR	10	0	See PES.
Oct	60% - maintenance	9.5 SR	9.5	0.082	Limited habitat available for guild. However, the guild will be highly stressed and may be eradicated from reach.
	5% - drought	8 SR	8	0.38	See PES.
Feb	60% maintenance	5 SR	6.2	0.622	Some fast habitat available but more reduced than PES. Abundance and FROC will reduce.

Table 9.41 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 6

			Fish flood functions								Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
I	1.6 - 2.5	Geomorphology: This flow class will scour fines (sand) from the beds of the two main active channels, as well as activate the seasonal channel. Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone. Inundates B. salicina and facilitates their recruitment. Inundates 50 - 60% reedbeds, Setaria, Cyperus species and about half the population of S. mucronata. Activates seasonal channels.	v	v	v	¥	~	¥	~	V	~		~	~	

				Fis	h flo	od fu	nctio	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions					
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality	
11	10 - 12	Geomorphology: This flow class will inundate the island and lateral bar areas; as well as scour the active and seasonal channels. These flows would also initiate gravel and small cobble movement, preventing embeddedness. Vegetation: Inundates marginal zone and lower half of lower zone and seasonal channels. Inundates large proportion of P. mauritianus and all marginal zone riparian obligates.	V	V	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~	~	
111	16 - 30	Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone and floods seasonal channels and backwaters. Inundates S. cordatum, B. salicina, S. mucronata, C. dives and P. mauritianus.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~						
IV	50 +	Geomorphology: These floods would transport most of the gravels and small cobbles through the reach. Vegetation: Activates upper zone terrace and inundates lower portion of the upper zone. Maintains C. erythrophyllum and D. mespiliformis populations.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~						
V	190 +	Vegetation: Inundates major portion of upper zone and D. mespiliformis.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~						

Table 9.42 EWR 6: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				F	PES SCENA	RIO: C			
1	1.6 - 2.5			4	3	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	1.6	3
	10 - 12			1	1	1	Feb	10	4
	16 - 30			1:2		1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	50 +			1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	190 +			1:5+		1:5			
				F	REC SCENA	RIO: B			
- 1	1.6 - 2.5			4	4	4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	1.6	3
	10 - 12			1	1	1		10	4
	16 - 30			1:2		1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	50 +			1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	190 +			1:5+		1:5		N/S	N/S
				A	EC SCENAR	IO: C/D			
1	1.6 - 2.5			3	2	3	Nov, Dec, Mar	1.6	3
	10 - 12			1	1	1	Feb	10	4
	16 - 30			1:2		1:2		N/S	N/S
IV	50 +			1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S
V	190 +			1:5+		1:5		N/S	N/S

9.5.7 EWR results for EWR 7: Tlulandziteka

Table 9.43 Low flow EWR results for EWR 7

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment	
PES: C	EcoStatus F	FISH: C	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B/C	RIP VEG: C
Oct	5% drought	10 SR	10	0	Prolonged periods of zero flows. Guild ho seeks refuge upstream where perennial flo maintained if connectivity and wet season	wever still survives and ow is present. PES will be flows are ensured.
	60% maintenance	8.5 SR	8.5	0.09	Some FS habitat available but FI and FD I habitat should just be adequate to maintai	nabitat absent. Available n the PES.
Feb	5% drought	6 LSR	6	0.19	This fish guild will have much reduced spa should be adequate to maintain some hab of all life stages to ensure survival of these recovery after drought period.	wning habitats, but it itats to meet requirements species and allow
	60% maintenance	4 LSR	4	0.36	Critical spawning habitats will be maintain rest of life stages.	ed and adequate habitat for
REC: B	EcoStatus F	ISH: B	-	MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: B	RIP VEG: B
	5% drought	8.5 LSR	9.3	0.05	Adequate critical refuge areas are available	e for survival.
Oct	60% maintenance	4 FDI	7	0.19	Suitable habitat that will allow for overwint detrimental impacts.	ering without significant
	5% drought	6 LSR	6	0.19	See PES.	
Feb	60% maintenance	3 LSR	3	0.395	Fast habitats available with improvement i and nursery habitat.	n abundance of spawning
AEC: C	/D EcoStatus F	ISH: D		MAC	ROINVERTEBRATES: C/D	RIP VEG: D
	5% drought	10 SR	10	0	See PES.	
Oct	60% maintenance	9.2 SR	9.2	0.056	Limited fast habitat available leading to rea	duced abundance and
	5% drought	6 LSR	6	0.19	See PES.	
Feb	60% maintenance	5 LSR	5	0.24	Limited fast habitat available to maintain li abundance and FROC.	fe stages at reduced

Table 9.44High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 7

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	nctio	ons		Ma fl	icroi lood	nver func	tebra tion	ate s
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
1	1.6 - 2.5	Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone, Salix mucronata and about 50% of the reedbeds.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
11	4 - 9	Geomorphology: This flow transports some of the sand through the reach, and may allow the currently incised; narrowed active channel to widen. Vegetation: Inundates the marginal zone and lower portion of the lower zone. Activates lower zone low lying areas and backwaters and maintains Cyperus species in these depressions. Reduces terrestrialization on the lower zone: inundates current Acacia sieberiana population. Also inundates P. mauritianus.	~	V	v	v	~	~	~		*	*	*	~
	15 Ave	Geomorphology: This flow will activate and turn over the gravels along the riffle sections of the bed.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~			~		
IV	28 Ave	Geomorphology: This flow class will activate and scour the ephemeral channel at the back of the macro-channel, and the peak of this flow should inundate sections of the large terrace area.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					
V	68 +	Geomorphology: This large, infrequent flood will inundate and activate the terrace; scour the active and ephemeral channel. Vegetation: Activates the upper zone terrace and fills the lower zone backwater channel. Inundates the lower zone. Activates and inundates the C. erythrophyllum population on the upper zone.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~					

Table 9.45 EWR 7: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
		-		PES	SCENARIO	: C			
- 1	1.6 - 2.5			4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	1.5	3
	4 - 9			1	3	1	Jan	4	3
	15 Ave				1	1	Feb	9	4
IV	28 Ave				1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	68 +			1:3+	1:10	1:3	Wet	N/S	N/S
				REC	SCENARIC): B			
1	1.6 - 2.5					4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	1.5	3
	4 - 9				4	2	Dec, Jan	4	3
	15 Ave				1	1	Feb	9	4
IV	28 Ave				1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
V	68 +				1:10	1:10		N/S	N/S
				AEC	SCENARIC): D			
1	1.6 - 2.5			3		3	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	1.5	3
	4 - 9			1	2	1	Jan	4	3
	15 Ave				1	1	Feb	9	4
IV	28 Ave				1:3	1:03		N/S	N/S
V	68 +			1:3+	1:10	1:10	Wet	N/S	N/S

9.5.8 EWR results for EWR 8: Sand

Table 9.46 Low flow EWR results for EWR 8

Month	% Stress duration	Component stress	Integrated stress	Flow m³/s	Comment
PES an	d REC: C EcoStatu	s F	ISH: C	;	MACROINVERTEBRATES: B/C RIP VEG: C
	5% drought	10 MVI	10	0	Pools will persist in the channel, and these will be fringed with MV. Atyidae will persist in this habitat, in very low abundances.
Oct	60% maintenance	8.5 SR	8.5	0.36	Some FS and very limited FI will be present while no FD habitats will be available. This habitat composition should be adequate to provide the most critical habitats for the survival of species within this fish guild during the dry season.
Feb	5% drought	7 MVI	10	0	Adequate depth is present in channel and vegetation to ensure survival of taxa.
	60% maintenance	2 FDI	3	0.36	FDI taxa are abundant as critical habitats are present.
AEC: C	EcoStatus F	ISH: C	-	MAC	CROINVERTEBRATES: C/D RIP VEG: B/C
Oct	5% drought	10 MVI	10	0	See PES.
UCI	60% maintenance	6 FDI	9.4	0.36	FDI persist in low numbers but will survive.
Fob	5% drought	7 MVI	10	0	See PES.
reb	60% maintenance	5 SR	5	1.34	Limited fast habitat available. Reduced abundance and FROC.

Table 9.47 High flow EWR functions and motivations for EWR 8

				Fis	sh flo	od fu	nctio	ons		Macroinvertebrate flood functions				
FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m ³ /s)	GEOMORPHOLOGY AND RIPARIAN VEGETATION MOTIVATION	Migration cues	Migration habitat (depth etc)	Clean spawning substrate	Create spawning habitat	Create nursery areas	Resetting water quality	Inundate vegetation for spawning	Breeding and hatching cues	Clear fines	Scour substrate	Reach or inundate specific areas	Reset water quality
1	4 - 7	Vegetation: Activates seasonal channels. Inundates Persecaria, Cyperus and about half of the reeds. Maintains reedbeds and macro channel floor shrubs.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~
11	30 - 65	Vegetation: Inundates the lower zone and bars on the lower upper zone. Maintains lower-level reeds and shrubs, and lower-level C. erythrophyllum and N. oppositifolia.	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~	<	~
v	150 +	Geomorphology: This flow class is the geomorphologically effective discharge - it is responsible for nearly half of all the transport of sands (1 and 2 mm) at this site. These results are confirmed by the morphological cues - this discharge will inundate and maintain the large, extensive lateral bar which runs through the reach (on the right bank at this site). Vegetation: Activates and inundates the upper zone terrace with P. mauritianus, C. erythrophyllum, N. oppositifolia, G. sennegalensis, and D. mespiliformis. Activates ephemeral channels.	~	~	~	*	~	~	~					

Table 9.48 EWR 8: The recommended number of high flow events required

FLOOD CLASS	FLOOD RANGE (m³/s)	INVERTEBRATES	FISH	VEGETATION	GEOMORPHOLOGY	FINAL (No of events)	MONTHS	DAILY AVERAGE (m ³ /s)	DURATION (Days)
				PES and	d REC SCEN	ARIO: B			
1	1.6 - 2.5			4		4	Nov, Dec, Jan, Mar	5	4
	4 - 9			1		1	Feb	30	5
	15 Ave							N/S	N/S
IV	28 Ave							N/S	N/S
V	68 +			1:3	1:2	1:2		N/S	N/S
				AE	C SCENARIO	D: C			
1	1.6 - 2.5			3		3	Dec, Jan, Mar	5	4
	4 - 9			1		1	Feb	30	5
	15 Ave							N/S	N/S
ĪV	28 Ave							N/S	N/S
V	68 +			1:3	1:3	1:3		N/S	N/S

9.6 RESULTS

The results are summarised in Table 9.49 for each EWR sites as a percentage of the nMAR.

Table 9.49 Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: EWR scenario results as a percentage of the nMAR

EWR site	nMAR	PMAR	%PMAR of nMAR	EC	Mair Iov	ntenance v flows	Drou f	ight low Iows	Hig	h flows	Loi	ng term nean
	МСМ	МСМ	МСМ		МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	мсм	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(% nMAR)
				B/C PES	46.54	33.2	16.96	12.1	7.43	5.3	52.99	37.8
EWR 1	140.18	109	78%	B REC	61.82	44.1	16.96	12.1	8.55	6.1	64.90	46.3
				C/D AEC	29.02	20.7	16.96	12.1	6.31	4.5	43.46	31
				B/C PES	51.90	19.8	29.09	11.1	11.5	4.4	73.39	28
EWR 2	262.1	199.5	76%	B REC	81.52	31.1	29.09	11.1	13.1	5	93.57	35.7
				C/D AEC	32.76	12.5	29.09	11.1	9.44	3.6	57.93	22.1
	495.86	322.1	65%	A/B PES/REC	155.2	31.3	48.10	9.7	31.7	6.4	183.5	37
LWING				B/C AEC	101.2	20.4	48.10	9.7	26.8	5.4	134.4	27.1
	65.78	51.8	79%	A/B PES/REC	20.59	31.3	6.38	9.7	4.21	6.4	24.34	37
				B/C AEC	13.42	20.4	6.38	9.7	3.55	5.4	17.83	27.1
	157.09	89.7	57%	B/C PES	32.67	20.8	12.57	8	10.2	6.5	44.30	28.2
EWR 5				B REC	47.44	30.2	12.57	8	11.2	7.1	57.02	36.3
				C/D AEC	15.39	9.8	12.57	8	8.48	5.4	31.10	19.8
	44.99	29.9	66%	C PES	9.99	22.2	4.63	10.3	2.83	6.3	14.58	32.4
EWR 6				B AEC	14.49	32.2	6.03	13.4	2.83	6.3	17.37	38.6
				C/D AEC	6.21	13.8	4.63	10.3	2.56	5.7	11.56	25.7
	28.88	17.3	60%	C PES	5.11	17.7	2.05	7.1	3.18	11	9.15	31.7
EWR 7				B REC	7.65	26.5	3.23	11.2	3.81	13.2	11.38	39.4
				D AEC	2.71	9.4	2.05	7.1	2.95	10.2	7.77	26.9
EWR 8	133.61	88.5	66%	B PES ² /REC	22.85	17.1	4.54	3.4	9.75	7.3	33.80	25.3

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

EWR site	nMAR	PMAR	%PMAR of nMAR	EC	Mair Iov	aintenance Drought low low flows flows		Maintenance low flowsDrought low flowsHigh flows		h flows	Long term mean	
	МСМ	МСМ	МСМ		МСМ	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(%nMAR)	мсм	(%nMAR)	МСМ	(% nMAR)
				C AEC	12.69	9.5	4.54	3.4	8.82	6.6	24.58	18.4

1 The attainable and realistic objective was to maintain the PES, but improve the macroinvertebrate EC by improving low flows.

9.7 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The confidence in the low and high flow Ecological Reserve requirements for each EWR site is provided in the table below. A score of 1 - 1.9 indicates a low confidence (red), 2 - 3.9 a moderate confidence (yellow) and 4-5, high confidence (green) in the results.

Table 9.50 Overall Confidence in EFR Results

			LOW FLOWS						HIGH FLOWS
EWR SITE	нүркогосу	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	CONFIDENCE	Comment	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	CONFIDENCE	Comment
EWR 1	2.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	Moderate - High confidence for both biophysical and hydraulic aspects. Hydraulics is not of higher confidence due to EWR being below the measured minimum discharge and the presence of non-uniform flow conditions.	3.3	3	3	Moderate confidence due to hydraulics where flood requirements is above the measured maximum discharge and the presence of non- uniform conditions.
EWR 2	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	Moderate - High confidence for both biophysical and hydraulic aspects. Hydraulics is not of higher confidence due to some of the EWR recommendations being below the measured minimum.	3	3	3	Moderate confidence. The hydraulics is complex as during flood conditions various channels form in a floodplain on a bend.
EWR 3	3	4	3.5	3.5	Moderate - High confidence for hydraulics due to uncertainty with low flow 2-D modelling.	4	4	4	The site is complex with multi- distributary channels, however the flood recommendations are below the highest measured flow.
EWR 4	0.5	4	4	4	High confidence for both hydraulics and biophysical aspects.	2.3	3	2.3	Moderate confidence for hydraulics due to downstream bridge that can cause back-up during flooding conditions. Biophysical confidence lower due to the lack of geomorphological cues and a nearby gauge with reliable data.
EWR 5	2.5	4	3.5	3.5	Two channels at different stages and some flows recommended lower than measured discharge.	2.8	3	3	Confidence related to lack of hydrological data and geomorphological cues at the site and moderate hydraulic confidence as flood recommendations are mostly above measured maximum.
EWR 6	1	3.5	4	3.5	Lower confidence in the fish than the other components, mostly due to the position of the cross-section which does not represent the most critical habitats for fish.	2.8	3	3	Complex hydraulic site. Bedrock nature of site - lack of geomorphological cues and hydrological information.
EWR 7	0.5	2.5	3.5	2.5	The site was approached at a rapid level and only one biological survey was undertaken. Confidence therefore relates to lack of surveyed and any historical information. Only one low flow hydraulic point was available.	2.3	3	2.3	Geomorphological confidence low due to lack of a gauge, no hydrology, paired terraces, bedrock and lack of cues. Only one hydraulic measurement at the bottom of the high flow range was available.

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

					LOW FLOWS				HIGH FLOWS
EWR SITE	нүркогосү	BIOLOGICAL RESPONSES	HYDRAULICS	CONFIDENCE	Comment		HYDRAULICS	CONFIDENCE	Comment
EWR 8	1.5	3	2	2	Although this is an old EWR site, the cross-section had to be moved as the previous one was overgrown with reeds. Previous hydraulic data could not be used. Minimal measurements at low flows were available and the bed and channel is mobile. There is backup from bedrock and uncertainty with the flow class modelling.	4	3	3	Confidence due to the hydraulics is moderate as recommended floods are above the measured maximum and vegetation resistance in the channel is problematic.

Recommendations were determined based on the possibility and necessity of improving the confidence of the individual assessments (biological response and hydraulics) by implementing an Ecological Water Resource Monitoring Programme (EWRM), hydrological monitoring and hydraulic assessments. This will provide the additional information to improve confidence in the EWRs. These recommendations are summarised in Table 9.51.

EWR sites	Low flow confidence	High flow confidence	Recommendations
EWR 1	3.5	3	EWRM.
EWR 2	3.5	3	EWRM.
EWR 3	3.5	4	EWRM.
EWR 4	4	2.3	EWRM.
EWR 5	3.5	3	EWRM.
EWR 6	3.5	3	Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.
EWR 7	2.5	2.3	Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.
EWR 8	2	3	Additional low flow hydraulic information for calibration purposes. Hydrological monitoring. EWRM.

Table 9.51 Summary of recommendations required to improve confidences

10 OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Crocodile River and Sabie-sand system: Operation Scenarios and Consequences Report. Volume 1: Description of Operational Scenarios. Authored by Mallory, SJL for Rivers for Africa. Edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/011.

During this part of an Ecological Reserve study, aspects other than ecology are also considered for the evaluation of various operational flow scenarios and/or future development scenarios. The purpose of this is to provide the decision-maker with sufficient information to make informed decisions regarding the implications of the flow scenario and the Ecological Category which will be signed off as the Ecological Reserve. This will in future form part of the Classification System.

Operational scenarios are any flow scenarios other than the present which could be implemented in future.

10.1 DESIGN OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS: CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

The scenarios were subdivided into those scenarios in which the Ecological Reserve were not met, referred to below as Group 1, and those in which it was met, referred to as Group 2. The final scenarios are described in detail below. The comparison of one scenario versus another was carried out by comparing water availability under Present Day (PD) (Table 10.1) conditions versus that of the scenario in question, where water availability was expressed as the average annual volume of water supplied to each sector, as well as the assurance of supply to each sector. Assurance of supply in this context was defined as the percentage of time that a user obtained his full demand.

Storage in Kwena Dam	Restriction (% of demand)					
(% of full supply capacity)	Industrial	Urban	Irrigation			
> 55		0	0			
55 to 20		5				
55 to 10			25			
20 to 10		10				
< 10	10	20	65			

Table 10.1 Base scenario (PD) restriction rule

During scenario modelling it was found that while one set of rules satisfied the EWR on the main stem of the Crocodile River, a second set of rules was required for the Kaap River in order to meet the EWR at site 7. Hence the system was divided in two zones, referred to further in this chapter as Zone 1 and Zone 2 where:

- Zone 1: The majority of water users within the Crocodile River catchment abstract water directly from the river, and this is supplemented when required by releases from the Kwena Dam. Restrictions are imposed on users in this zone based on the water level in the Kwena Dam. The restriction rule that was assumed for in the Base Scenario was that being used at the time that the PD scenario was modelled and is given in Table 10.1. Note that this rule has recently changed since Mallory et al. (2008).
- Zone 2: Water users in the Kaap River catchment do not benefit from releases from the Kwena Dam and only have access to run-of-river flow in the Kaap River, with the exception of irrigators in the Louws Creek Irrigation Board, who are supplied from the

Shiyalongobu Dam, located on a tributary of the Lomati River, and the town of Barbeton which received most of its water from the Lomati Dam. The restriction rules developed for this zone were based on the natural flow at the EWR 7.

10.2 CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

10.2.1 Group 1: EWR demands excluded

Scenarios C1 to C6: A combination of operating rules, restrictions, and/or curtailments applied.

A range of plausible operational scenarios were modelled and the scenario flow at each EWR site provided for the determination of ecological consequences. The scenarios related mainly to the option to either introduce curtailments to water users (by means of compulsory licensing) or to introduce harsher restrictions than assumed in the Base scenario. While a wide range of possible options were modelled, the river flow was very similar for many of the scenarios. For economic purposes, therefore, the range of combinations was thus narrowed to only six, namely three levels of curtailment and two levels of restrictions (Table 10.2). The two restriction rules used are given in Table 10.3. Note that the '35 Rule' is the same as the Base scenario rule (Table 10.1).

Table 10.2 Description of Group 1 Scenarios

Scenario	Restriction Rule (refer to Table 2.1)	Curtailment
C1	35% Rule	Zero
C2	35% Rule	15%
C3	35% Rule	30%
C4	Zero Rule	15%
C5	Zero Rule	30%
C6	Zero Rule	45%

Table 10.3	Group 1: Scenario	rule applied to th	e irrigation sector

Storage in Kwena Dam	Percentage of full demand supplied				
(% of full supply capacity	35% Rule	Zero Rule			
> 70	100%	100%			
70 to 55	100%	65%			
55 to 10	75%	40%			
< 10	35%	0%			

Two additional scenarios were evaluated at a later stage for ecological consequences evaluation. These are referred to as Sc 3.1 and Sc 6.1. Sc C3 and Sc C6 resulted in increased yield of Kwena Dam. Effectively, the water saved by the restrictions of irrigation results in increased yield of Kwena Dam. For Sc 3.1 and 6.1, the increased yield was released down the river to determine how much that would supply in terms of EWRs. This resulted in an improved assurance of supply to users and increased flow at all EWR sites 3, 4, 5 and 6.

Scenario C7: New dam at Montrose

In this scenario it was assumed that a new dam will be constructed at the Montrose site which is to be located just downstream of the confluence of the Crocodile and Elands Rivers. The assumed physical characteristics of the dam are as follows:

- Full supply capacity: 254 MCM
- Full supply area: 10.3 km²

- Dead storage: 5 MCM
- Area/capacity relationship: Area = 0.49 x Storage 0.55

The additional yield that could be made available from the dam depends on a large number of factors, probably the most important being where in the system the intended new users of this dam were to be located. In order to keep this analysis uncomplicated, the following assumptions were made:

- The Montrose Dam would replace the Kwena Dam as being the main regulator of flow in the Crocodile River. Kwena Dam would supplement the Montrose Dam by making releases when the storage in Montrose Dam dropped to below 10% of its full supply capacity.
- Montrose Dam would not contribute to the ecological flow requirements of the Crocodile River (in this scenario).
- The water abstracted from the Montrose Dam (i.e. yield) was supplied directly from the dam and not released into the Crocodile River to supplement downstream users. No restriction was imposed on the yield i.e. it is the historic firm yield of the dam.
- The Base Scenario restriction rules were applied to existing users in the catchment.

Scenario C8: New dam at Mountain View

It was assumed when modelling this scenario that a new dam was to be constructed at the Mountain View site which was located a few kilometres upstream of the confluence of the Kaap and Crocodile Rivers. The assumed physical characteristics of the dam were as follows:

- Full supply capacity: 187 MCM
- Full supply area: 7.3 km²
- Dead storage: 5 MCM
- Area/capacity relationship: Area = 0.41 x Storage 0.77

As in the case of the Montrose Dam, the additional yield made available from the dam depended on a large number of factors and the same assumptions made for the Montrose Dam were applied to the Mountain View Dam.

Scenario C9: New dams at Montrose and Mountain View

In this scenario it was assumed that new dams would be constructed at the Mountain View and Montrose site. Details of these dams and the assumptions made regarding their operation and additional yield are discussed under Scenario C7 and C8.

Scenario C11: No cross-border flows

One of the main drivers of the low flow under current operating conditions was the cross-border flows. As the lower Crocodile River had in the past flowed at very low flows, it was requested that the scenario of not supplying these minimum flows be modelled.

10.2.2 Group 2 Scenarios: EWR demands included

The scenarios presented in this section pertain specifically to implementing the EWR for the REC and the Present Ecological State (PES) (basically EWR scenarios). The operating rules that were developed to meet the EWR scenarios entailed a combination of restrictions and curtailments. In order to limit the number of operational scenarios to be evaluated from an economic point of view, the latest restriction rule that was being used to operate the system (see Table 10.4) was applied to irrigators in Zone 1, while a separate restriction rule was developed for Zone 2.

Note however that small adjustments were required to the level in the Kwena Dam at which this first restriction was applied in order to maintain the assurance of supply at 70%, which was assumed to be the target assurance for the irrigation sector. If the restriction rule alone did not result in the EWR scenarios being met (which is always the case), a curtailment was applied by reducing irrigated areas across the whole catchment. These scenarios were therefore similar to scenarios 1, 2 and 3 with the difference that the EWR scenarios were supplied as a first priority user and that the latest restriction rule had been used which differed to the present day restriction rule applied in the Group 1 scenarios (Table 11.2). Note that this latest restriction rule was only tabled very recently at the Crocodile River Operation forum and therefore represented the most likely restriction rule to be applied in the future.

Table 10.4 Group 2: Scenario restriction rules for the irrigation sector (typical)

Storage in Kwena Dam (% of full supply capacity)	Restriction (% of demand)
> 65	100%
55 to 30	35%
30 to 10	60%
< 10	0%

Scenario C10 and C12: Reduced releases from Kwena Dam to meet the PES (Sc C10) and REC (Sc C12) EWR at EWR 3

Under the current operation of the Crocodile system water is released out of the Kwena Dam into the Crocodile River to supplement the water supply to irrigators riparian to the river. Due to the large irrigation water demands throughout winter, the flow in the Crocodile River at EWR 3 is often **higher than natural during the winter**. As summer releases are often not made due to sufficient inflow from tributaries to supply irrigation requirements, the **low flows in summer is abnormally low**, resulting in a seasonal reversal. In order to assess the economic impact of avoiding this unseasonal flow, this scenario modelled releases into the Crocodile River only to meet the EWR 3 requirements. Although the total supply to the irrigation sector remained relatively high, the irrigators located near the end of the Crocodile River would experience very low assurance of supply. Also, the international requirements would not be met.

Scenario C13: Meet the Present Ecological Status at EWR 6

The PES would be maintained with PRESENT DAY HYDROLOGY, i.e. the Base Scenario. A PES EWR scenario was also generated which resulted in a higher requirement than the present day hydrology. This was due to the following:

- The PES biotic stress requirements were very close to and lower than present day hydrology in the key months required.
- However, in some of the other months, it was slightly higher. Slightly higher in terms of stress, was significantly different in terms of flow volumes.
- Additionally, the present day hydrology had minimal variability within months (i.e., a flat line in terms of a flow duration graph). The EWR would be generated for the months following the natural variability, thereby exceeding the present day flows.

THEREFORE, the PES EWR had to be seen as a range of flows that would meet the PES but would result in a higher PES than the present hydrology. The PES EWR was therefore a scenario of a flow regime that would also maintain the PES. This flow scenario would imply a decreased risk of the river degrading from the PES, whereas the risk of degradation associated with the present day flows was higher.

In order to meet the PES EWR, irrigators would need to be curtailed by 25%. Given this curtailment, a restriction rule was developed to meet the PES at EWR 7 located on the Kaap River. Note that the restriction rule applied to irrigators in Zone 2 (Kaap River) was a function of the natural flow at EWR 7 and not the state of storage in the Kwena Dam as assumed in the Group 1 scenarios. This restriction rule was more complex than the one applied to releases out of Kwena Dam since it consisted of a different rule for every month.

Scenario C14: Meet the REC of EWR 6

In order to meet the EWR for the REC, irrigators would needed to be curtailed by 50%. The restriction rule to meet EWR 7 was more complicated that applied in Zone 1 since the restriction applied varied from month to month.

10.3 SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT

10.3.1 Sabie River

Eight hypothetical scenarios were modelled in the Sabie River catchment. These scenarios entailed increasing the current irrigation requirements in steps up to 30 million m^3 /annum. In addition, varying levels of water restriction were imposed on users. Table 10.5 below presents the range of additional water requirement and the restriction levels applied during the modelling of the scenarios.

Table 10.5 List of scenarios modelled for the Sabie Rive	er system
--	-----------

Scenario	Additional User Requirements (MCM/a)	Restriction Rule
1	0	None
2	10	None
3	10	Rule 1
4	10	Rule 2
5	25	None
6	30	None
7	30	Rule 1
8	30	Rule 2

The ecological consequences of the shaded scenarios were assessed (See Chapter 12).

Restriction Rule 1 and 2 are described in Table 10.6.

Table 10.6 Restriction rules applied in the Sabie River catchment

	Rule 1	Rule 2	
Natural flow at EWR 3	Demand restricted by (% of full demand)	Demand restricted by (% of full demand)	
10	60%	30%	
55	60%	30%	
70	50%	20%	
100	50%	20%	

10.3.2 Sand River

The scenarios were based on the assumption that the four abstraction weirs in the upper Sand River would be rehabilitated, thus improving the flow downstream. Scenario modelling included:

- The amount of water that each abstraction weir diverted was reduced to 50% and 25% (i.e. an improvement of 50% and 75% of downstream flow).
- Curtailments of 20% were imposed on the irrigators in the Sand River system.
- Restriction levels (R5) were imposed upon the irrigators in the Sand River system. The restrictions were based upon the natural river flow i.e. when the level of the river drops to a certain point, a restriction is imposed upon the users. The levels of the river and the respective restrictions are tabulated in Table 10.7.

 Table 10.7
 Sand River operational scenarios: River levels and restrictions imposed

	Restriction: R5
Natural River Flow Level (%)	Assurance (%) [Restriction (%)]
0	40 [60]
10	40 [60]
55	50 [50]
70	50 [50]
100	100 [0]

Scenarios consisting of combinations of weir improvement, curtailment and restrictions were simulated and listed in Table 10.8.

Table 10.8	List of scenarios modelled for the Sand River system	

Scenario	Improvement to downstream flow at abstraction weirs	Improvement to downstream flow at abstraction weirs		
Sc 1(Sellick Rule)	See	description below		
Sc 2	0	0	None	
Sc 3	50	0	None	
Sc 4	50	0	R5	
Sc 5	50	20	None	
Sc 6	75	0	None	
Sc 7	75	20	None	
Sc 8	75	0	R5	
Sc 9	75	20	R5	

The ecological consequences of the shaded scenarios were assessed (See Chapter 12).

The scenarios were compared to the EWR requirements for a range of Ecological Categories (EC) and those requirements sufficiently different from the range of ECs requirements were selected to determine the ecological consequences. The scenarios selected are those highlighted in the above table.

10.3.3 Sellick Rule

In accordance with the Sabie River Catchment Operating Rules (DWAF, 2003), a proportion of the flow in the river is supposed to be allowed to flow past the abstraction points down the river in order to meet the EWR. This proportion varies from one abstraction site to the next depending on

its location within the catchment (See Table 10.9). This rule, referred to here as the Sellick rule (after Charles Sellick) only comes into effect when the river flow drops to the level indicated under "River Flow" and the capacity of these canals is based on the percentage of off-take at this flow threshold.

Canal	Capacity (m ³ /s)	% Releases	River Flow (m³/s)
Champagne	0.127	35%	0.1954
Dingleydale	0.962	35%	1.48
New Forest	0.283	50%	0.566
Edinburgh	1.150	65%	3.28

Table 10.9 Proportions of water released at certain river flows in the Sand River

10.4 RESULTS

The results of the various scenarios modelled are summarised in terms of demand, supply and assurance of supply in the tables below.

10.4.1 Crocodile sub-catchment

Table 10.10 Results of all Crocodile Group 1 Scenarios (No EWR demand)

Crocodilo			Zone 1		-	Additional		
Scenarios	Description	Demand*	Supplied*	Assurance of supply (%)	Demand*	Supplied*	Assurance of supply (%)	Yield* [#]
C1	C^1 : Zero; $R^2 = 35\%$	400	344	72	77	67	65	
C2	C: 15%; R = 35%	340	315	90	66	62	87	
СЗ	C: 30%; R = 35%	280	265	97	54	53	96	
C4	C: 15%; R = 0%	340	322	97	66	62	87	
C5	C: 15%; R = 0%	280	266	98	54	53	95	
C6	C: 15%; R = 0%	220	211	98	42	42	98	
C7	Montrose Dam	400	357	76	77	67	65	88
C8	Mountain View Dam	400	338	62	77	67	68	55
C9	Both dams	400	356	86	77	67	65	129
C11	Cross-border = 0;	400	344	74	77	73	84	

* Demand, supply and additional yield units are in million m³/annum.

Additional yield is expressed as historic firm yield supplied directly out of the proposed dams. 2 Restriction

1 Curtailment

Results of all Crocodile Group 2 Scenarios (EWRs met) Table 10.11

			Zone 1		Zone 2		
Crocodile Scenarios	Description	Demand*	Supplied*	Assurance of supply (%)	Demand	Supplied	Assurance of supply (%)
C10	Reduce releases from Kwena to meet PES at EWR 3	400	344	74%	77	72	84%
C12	Reduce releases from Kwena to meet REC at EWR 3	400	365	88%	77	72	84%
C13	Meet PES	300	251	70%	58	52	77%
C14	Meet REC	200	173	70%	39	34	75%

*Demand and supply units are in million m³/annum

10.4.2 Sabie-Sand sub-catchment

Table 10.12 Results of all Sabie Scenarios

Sabie Scenarios	Description	Description Demand*		Assurance of supply (%)	
Sabie1	Base	80.3	70.7	62	
Sabie5	+25 - No Restriction	105.3	95.7	71	
Sabie6	+30 - No Restriction	110.3	100.7	72	
Sabie7	+30 - R2 Restriction	110.3	79.8	80	
Sabie8	+30 - R5 Restriction	110.3	53.1	89	

* Demand and supply units are in MCM/a

Table 10.13 Results of all Sand Scenarios

Sand Scenarios	Description	Demand*	Supplied*	Assurance of supply (%)
Sellick	Sellick proportional flow rule	23.6	19.0	78
Sand2	+50 improvement, 20% Curt, R2 Restriction	27.4	21.3	71
Sand3	+75 improvement, 20% Curt, R5 Restriction	17.9	8.1	77

* Demand and supply units are in MCM/a

11 ECOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Crocodile River and Sabie-sand system: Operation Scenarios and Consequences Report. Volume 2: Ecological and Goods and Services Consequences. Edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S for Rivers for Africa. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/011.

11.1 APPROACH

The purpose of this task was to predict the driver and biota responses to each operational scenario and derive the Ecological Category (EC) for the EWR site and Management Resource Unit (MRU).

All information used during the EcoClassification step (the suite of EcoClassification models set up for different ECs) (Chapter 8) and the Ecological Water Requirement (EWR) scenario step (Chapter 9) was used as baseline for this assessment.

The following steps were required to determine the ecological consequences of the flow scenarios.

- The operational scenarios (Chapter 10; Volume 1) were modelled and a time series was provided for each scenario at each EWR site.
- The time series was converted to a flow duration table and both was provided to the physico chemical and geomorphology specialist.
- These specialists had to provide a conclusion and resulting EC of the operational scenario assessed at the EWR to the biological responses team.
- These specialists completed the Physico-chemical Assessment Index (PAI) and Geomorphology Assessment Index (GAI) models to predict the driver EC.
- The riparian vegetation specialist then assessed the response on the marginal and other riparian zones and supplied this information to the instream biota specialists. This was done prior to the instream biota assessment as riparian vegetation is a driver in terms of important habitat for the instream biota.
- Where required, the riparian vegetation specialist ran the Vegetation Response Assessment Index (VEGRAI) model to predict the EC for the operational scenario.

Assessment of the economic impacts of the various scenarios essentially identified the direction of change (either positive or negative), and estimated the magnitude of the change in benefits and costs that could be experienced within the River System. The process adopted was the analysis of potential economic changes based on a valuation of the status quo, that was, the value of the Goods and Services (G&S) currently provided by the water in River systems, identifying the potential change that each of the key G&S may have undergone in each of the scenario clusters. And where required the current value of G&S was then multiplied by these factors for each scenario, to provide an indication of the potential future value of the Goods and Services. The change in value was thus measured.

11.2 OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

11.2.1 Crocodile sub-system

The results of the preliminary screening of scenarios are provided in Table 11.1. Red shading indicates that the scenario did not impact on the site compared to present operation. Green indicates that the scenario was assessed and grey indicates that the scenario was assessed and is represented by the corresponding 'green' scenario.

Site	Sc C3	Sc C4	Sc C6	Sc C7	Sc C8	Sc C9	Sc C10	Sc C11	Sc C12
EWR 3									
EWR 4				7 = 9		7 = 9	10 = 12		10 = 12
EWR 5	3 = 6 = 11		3 = 6 = 11	7 = 9		7 = 9	10 = 12	3 = 6 = 11	10 = 12
EWR 6				7 = 9		7 = 9	10 = 11 = 12	10 = 11 = 12	10 = 11 = 12
EWR 7					8 = 9	8 = 9			

Table 11.1 Scenarios evaluated at EWR 3 – EWR5 in the Crocodile sub-system

11.2.2 Sabie-Sand sub-system

Eight hypothetical scenarios were modelled in the Sabie River catchment. The flows generated for each of the eight scenarios were compared to the EWR requirements for a range of Ecological Categories (EC) and those sufficiently different from the range of ECs were selected to determine ecological consequences. These scenarios are Scenarios 5 - 8.

Four abstraction weirs (viz. Champagne, Dingleydale, New Forest, and Edinburgh) in the Upper Sand River exist but are not operating correctly. All the water (i.e. 100%) is diverted and only the high flow spills continue downstream. Scenario simulation was based on the assumption that the four abstraction weirs in the upper Sand River would be rehabilitated, thus improving the flow downstream and consisted of combinations of weir improvement, curtailment and restrictions. The scenarios were compared to the EWR requirements for a range of Ecological Categories (EC) and those sufficiently different from the range of ECs were selected to determine ecological consequences and included Sc 1 (Sellick rule), Sc 5 and Sc 9.

11.3 RESULTS: CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

Results are summarised according to whether the scenarios meet the REC or not, and if not, to what degree. Colour coding and symbols should be interpreted as follows:

X REC EcoStat	us or REC instream is NOT met.
Light green with black ✓:	Meets REC EcoStatus including all components.
Light green with red ✓:	Meets REC instream, but not riparian vegetation (this is usually because the vegetation REC cannot be met due to non-flow related problems).
Dark Green with black ✓ :	Meets the REC EcoStatus, but not all the components.
Turquoise with X:	The scenario is an improvement of the PES but does not meet any of the REC versions as in green above.
Orange with X:	The scenario does not meet REC requirements but meets the PES.
Purple with X:	The scenario results in an EC below the PES, but still above a D EC.
Red with X:	The results are below an E EC.

Table 11.2 provides the consequences at each of the EWR sites on the Ecological Category and the changes from the PES are shown. This is followed by a summary comparison of the consequences.

Table 11.2The consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR site in the
Crocodile sub-catchment

Ecological consequences of the operational flow scenarios							Degree t	o which	each sce	nario mee	ets the REC
EWR 3 Poplar Creek (Crocodile River)											
Driver Components	PES	REC	Sc C7	Sc C10	Sc C12						REC Sc C12
WATER QUALITY	С	B/C	С	С	С						
GEOMORPHOLOGY	С	С	C/D	С	С						
Response Components	PES	REC	Sc C7	Sc C10	Sc C12		EWR SITE	Sc C7	Sc C10	Sc C12	Sc C7, C10
FISH	В	В	A/B	A/B	A/B		EWR 3	Х	X	\checkmark	PES
MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	В	С	С	В						
INSTREAM	B/C	В	В	В	A/B						
RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	В	B/C	B/C	B/C						E EC
ECOSTATUS	B/C	В	B/C	B/C	В						

Scenario C7 and C10 resulted in a B/C EcoStatus which is an improvement of the PES for the fish and instream component. Although Sc C10 and C12 were very similar the improvement in dry season flows under Sc C12 resulted in the REC requirements being met.



*EcoStatus is representative of the instream EC. The EC in brackets refer to what the calculated EcoStatus would be if riparian vegetation was considered. However non-flow related impacts such as the presence of aliens prevent the riparian vegetation to respond in the same manner as the biota and the instream EC represents a more realistic EcoStatus. All the scenarios meet the REC requirements.

EWR 5 Malelane (Crocodile River)									
Driver Components	PES	REC	Sc C3, C6, C11	Sc C4, C8	Sc C7, C9	Sc C10, C12			
HYDROLOGY	С	В						REC	
WATER QUALITY	С	В	С	С	С	D			
GEOMORPHOLOGY	C/D	С	С	С	D	D			
Response Components	PES	REC	Sc C3, C6, C11	Sc C4, C8	Sc C7, C9	Sc C10, C12	CROCODILE RIVER SYSTEM EWR SITE Sc 3 Sc 4 Sc 6 Sc 7 Sc 8 Sc 9 Sc 10 Sc 11 Sc 12	Sc C7, C9 Sc C3, C4, C6, C PES	
FISH	С	В	С	С	B/C	D	EWR5 X X X X X X X X X X	0	
MACRO INVERTEBRATES	С	в	с	С	с	D/E			
INSTREAM	С	В	с	С	B/C	D		Sc C10 C12	
RIPARIAN VEGETATION	С	В	B/C	B/C	С	D		LE EC	
ECOSTATUS	С	В	С	С	С	D			

Scenario C10 and C12 impacts severely on EWR 5 and results in the deterioration of all the components notably macroinvertebrates with a D EcoStatus. The other scenarios do not meet the REC requirements but is a slight improvement in the PES. Sc C7 and C9 are marginally better than the other scenarios as the fish and the instream both improve.



It is evident that Sc C8 and C9 have devastating impacts on the site due to the long duration of zero flows. The deterioration in water quality and overall loss of habitat results in an EcoStatus of an E/F.

11.3.1 Crocodile sub-system: Curtailment and restriction irrigation scenarios

An overall assessment was undertaken for the various sub-systems for scenarios of the same type. The table below provides a summary of the results at each EWR site. The overall evaluation usually reflects the results at the site which is least likely to meet the REC. The reasoning is that even if you meet the REC at other EWR sites, the scenario fails within a system context if it does not meet the REC at one of the sites.

Figure 11-1 provides the ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site as well as a summarised ranking for the Crocodile River system as a whole in terms of a traffic diagram.

Within a system context none of the scenarios met the REC at any of the EWR sites. The PES was maintained under Sc C3 and C6. Scenario C4 met the PES EcoStatus; the fish component however deteriorated to an unacceptable level and therefore the overall PES requirement was not met and was ranked below the PES in the Figure 11-1 below. Scenario C10 – C12 resulted in a deterioration of the PES EcoStatus. The overall assessment is provided as the traffic diagram on the right.

Table 11.3Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR site
in the Crocodile sub-system

EWR SITE	SC 3	SC 4	SC 6	SC 10	SC 11	SC 12
EWR 5	X	X	X	X	X	X
EWR 6	Х	X	X	X	X	X
EWR 4				\checkmark	√	\checkmark
EWR 3				Х		\checkmark
OVERALL	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	X



Figure 11.1 Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of a traffic diagram

11.3.2 Crocodile Sub-system: Development (new dam) scenarios

These scenarios were not evaluated in detail as each dam and combination would require a whole range of different operating rules for useful comparison. The results are provided below in Table 11.4.

Table 11.4Summary of the consequences of the future development (new dam)scenarios at each EWR site

EWR SITE	Sc C7	Sc C8	Sc C9
EWR 5	X	X	X
EWR 6	X	X	X
EWR 4	~		~
EWR 3	Χ		Χ
OVERALL	X	X	X
EWR 7		X	X

Scenario C7 – C9 did not maintain the PES at EWR 6. Scenario C8 maintained the PES EcoStatus but did not maintain the riparian vegetation and geomorphology PES. Scenario C8 was therefore ranked lower than the PES (Figure 11-2) at EWR 6. Looking at EWR 7 in isolation, the scenarios with Mountain View Dam and the no releases downstream of the dam resulted in an unacceptable condition. The overall assessment is provided as the traffic diagram on the right.



Figure 11.2 Ranking of future (dam) development scenarios

11.3.3 Crocodile River: Additional scenarios evaluated at EWR 6

Two optimised scenarios were developed as a modification of Sc 3 and Sc 6. For both of them the additional yield stored through the restrictions on agriculture was used to supply the Reserve. These scenarios are referred to as Sc C3.1 and Sc C6.1. Both were evaluated at EWR 6 as the key site. Sc C6.1 achieved the REC and Sc C3.1 improved the PES. The comparison is provided in Table 11.5 below.

Dri Compo	ver onents	PES	REC	Sc C3	Sc C4	Sc C6	Sc C10-C12	Sc 2 C3.1	Sc C6.1	REC Sc C6.1
HYDROLO	θGY	D	В						В	
WATER Q	UALITY	С	В	С	D	С	D/E	С	В	Sc C3.1
GEOMORI	PHOLOGY	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	
Resp Compo	onse onents	PES	REC	Sc C3	Sc C4	Sc C6	Sc C10-C12	Sc 2 C3.1	Sc C6.1	PES
FISH		С	В	D	D/E	D	D	B/C	В	
MACRO INVERTEE	BRATES	С	В	С	С	С	D/E	С	В	30.04
INSTREAM	A	С	В	С	D	С	D	B/C	В	
RIPARIAN VEGETAT	ION	С	В	B/C	B/C	В	D	B/C	В	
ECOSTAT	US	С	В	С	С	С	D	B/C	В	Sc C10, C11, C12 E EC
EWR SITE	Sc C3	Sc C4	Sc C	C6 Sc	C10	Sc C11	Sc C12	Sc C3.1	Sc C6.1	
EWR 6	Χ	X	Х		X	X	X	Χ	\checkmark	

Table 11.3 Summary of ecological consequences of 50 05.1 and 50 00.1 at LWIN	Table 11.5	Summary of ecological consequences of Sc C3.1 and Sc C6.1 at EWR 6
--	------------	--

11.4 RESULTS: SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT

Results are summarised according to whether the scenarios meet the REC or not, and if not, to what degree. Colour coding and symbols used in the interpretation of results are provided in Section 11.3.

Table 11.6 provides the consequences at each of the EWR sites on the Ecological Category and the changes from the PES are shown. This is followed by a summary comparison of the consequences.

Table 11.6The consequences of the operational scenarios at each EWR site in the Sabie-
Sand sub-catchment

Ecolog	Ecological consequences of the operational flow scenarios Degree to which each scenario meets the REC								
	EWR 3 Kidney (Sabie River)								
Driv Compo	er nents	PES&REC	Sc 5	Sc 6	Sc 7	Sc 8			
WATER QU	ALITY	в	в	с	в	в	PES and REC Sc 8		
GEOMORPH	IOLOGY	в	B/C	B/C	в	в			
Respo Compo	onse nents	PES&REC	Sc 5	Sc 6	Sc 7	Sc 8	EWP SITE S. S. S. S. S. T. S. 8		
FISH		В	в	B/C	В	в	EWR 3 X X X ✓ Sc 5, 6, 7		
MACRO INVERTEBR	ATES	В	с	с	с	в			
INSTREAM		В	B/C	B/C	B/C	в			
RIPARIAN VEGETATIO	ON	A/B	в	В	A/B	A/B			
ECOSTAT	rus	A/B	В	В	В	A/B			
Only Sc 8	achieve	es the ecol	logical rec	uirements	of the si	ite with an	A/B EcoStatus. The rest of the scenarios all result in a B		
Looolalas	Which is	lower than			EWR 5	Marite (Mar	arite River)		
	Dri	ver	PES	REC	Sc 5-8				
	Compo		B	B	B	r.			
	CEOMORI				D		REC		
	Resp	onse							
	Compo	onents	PES	REC	SC 5-8		EWR SITE Sc 5 Sc 6 Sc 7 Sc 8		
	FISH		B/C	В	С		EWR 5 X X X X		
	INVERTEB	BRATES	B/C	В	С		Sc 5, 6, 7, 8		
	INSTREAM	vi	B/C	В	С		FEC		
	RIPARIAN VEGETAT	ION	B/C	В	C/D				
	ECOSTA	TUS	B/C	В	С				
Scenario 5	5 – 8 resu	ults in a C I	EcoStatus	which is lo	ower than	the PES an	nd REC requirements of EWR 5.		
				EW	R 6 Mutl	umuvi (Mut	ıtlumuvi River)		
Dri	ver	PES	REC	Sc 1	Sc 5	Sc 9			
WATER Q		B/C	в	B/C	C	B/C			
GEOMORE	PHOLOGY	C C	c c	C	C C	C C	REC		
Resp	onse	DES	BEC	So 1	So F	500	Sc 1		
Compo	onents	FEG	REC	301	30.5	309	EWR SITE Sc 1 Sc 5 Sc 9		
FISH		С	В	B/C	С	С	EWR6 X X X		
INVERTEB	RATES	B/C	В	В	С	B/C			
INSTREAM	Λ	С	В	B/C	С	С	EEC		
RIPARIAN VEGETAT	ION	С	В	С	С	С			
ECOSTA	TUS	С	В	B/C	С	С			
No scenar Scenario s improving impacted u	No scenario achieved the ecological requirements of the REC at this site. Sc 1 is an improvement of the PES (B/C EcoStatus). Scenario 9 is similar to the PES with all the components in the same EC as under the PES and fish and macroinvertebrates improving slightly within the respective PES ECs. Scenario 5 also results in a C EcoStatus, however macroinvertebrates are impacted under this scenario and water quality deteriorates. The fish deteriorate slightly within the PES EC.								
	EWR 7 Tlulandziteka (Tlulandziteka River)								





Scenarios 1, 5 and 9 all improve the macroinvertebrates to a B REC and the REC EcoStatus has therefore been achieved. Scenario 5 is ranked slightly below the other scenarios due to higher stress values. The risk of the B REC failing is therefore higher than Sc 1 en 9.

11.4.1 Sabie River: Ecological consequences of operational scenarios (Sc 5 - 9)

Table 11.7 provides a summary of the ecological consequences at each EWR site in the Sabie River system. An overall assessment was undertaken to compare the scenarios that consist of different levels of irrigation restrictions to meet increasing current irrigation requirements that represent increased flows at EWR 5 and decreased flows at EWR 3.

Table 11.7Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios (Sc 5 - 8) at EWR
3 and 5 in the Sabie River system

SABIE RIVER SYSTEM								
EWR SITE	Sc 5	Sc 6	Sc 7	Sc 8				
EWR 3	X	Х	Х	\checkmark				
EWR 5	Х	Х	Х	Х				
OVERALL	Х	Х	X	Х				

Scenario 8 met the PES/REC at EWR 3 in KNP but not at EWR 5 (Marite). Therefore it was significantly better than the other scenarios which were lower than the PES at both sites. The results provided in Table 11.7 for the Sabie River were ranked and illustrated in Figure 11-4 in terms of a traffic diagram. EWR 3 was the key site in the system.



Figure 11.3 Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of a traffic diagram

11.4.2 Sand River: Ecological consequences of operational scenarios (Sc 1, 5 and 9)

Table 11.8 provides a summary of the ecological consequences at each EWR site in the Sand River system.

Table 11.8Summary of the consequences of the operational scenarios (Sc 1, 5 and 9) at
each EWR site

SAND RIVER SYSTEM						
Sc 1 Sc 5 Sc 9						
EWR 6	X	X	X			
EWR 7	\checkmark	X	\checkmark			
EWR 8	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			
OVERALL	X	X	Х			

Scenario 1 was an improvement of the PES at EWR 6 and met the REC at EWR 7 and 8. It was a better scenario than Sc 9 which only met the PES at EWR 6 and did not improve it as was the case with Sc 1. Scenario 5 was the worst scenario as it did not meet the PES/REC at EWR 7.

Figure 11-5 provides the ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site as well as a summarised ranking for the Sand River system as a whole in terms of a traffic diagram.



Figure 11.4 Ranking of operational scenarios per EWR site and a summarised ranking in terms of a traffic diagram

11.5 GOODS AND SERVICES CONSEQUENCES OF OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

Author G Huggins (Nomad Consulting)

11.5.1 Approach

The method that was employed was essentially scenario-based. Assessment of the economic impacts of the various scenarios identified the direction of change (either positive or negative), and estimated the magnitude of the change in benefits and costs that may be experienced within the River systems. The process adopted was as follows:

- The analysis of potential economic changes was based on a valuation of the status quo, that is, the value of the Goods and Services (G&S) currently provided by the water in the Inkomati River system.
- The biophysical specialists then identified the potential change that each of the key G&S may undergo in each of the scenario clusters. The potential change was noted as a factor and used in later calculations. For example, no change = 1, a 50% increase = 1.5, and a 20% decrease = 0.8.
- Where required the current value of G&S was then multiplied by these factors for each scenario, to provide an indication of the potential future value of the Goods and Services.

The change in value was thus measured. The following calculation, as an example, would then be used:

- Future value (FV) of fishing = Change Factor x The Current Value of Fishing.
- \circ FV = 0.9 x rate.
- \circ FV = rate per annum.
- This equates to a reduction or increase a specified rate annum.

From detailed work at the EWR sites the potential impacts of scenarios on the G&S were estimated by the specialists. Only scenarios relevant to sites were evaluated and only G&S deemed to be relevant were considered. The G&S that were deemed to be important in at least parts of the catchment are set out in Table 11.9.

Table 11.9 Good and services identified as relevant to the catchment

Category	Species	Common Name
Subsistence fishing - seine/scoop/cast/shade netting and fish traps		Barbs, minnows, juveniles, small tilapias
Subsistence fishing - gill netting		Yellowfish, labeos, catfish, tilapias
Subsistence fishing - angling		Yellowfish, labeos, catfish, tilapias
Sedges	Cyperus spp.	Sedges
Reeds	Phragmites mauritianus	Reeds
Crozing	Panicum maximum/duestum	Guinea grass/Broad-leaved Panicum
Grazing	Cynodon dactylon	Couch grass
	Eucalyptus camaldulensis	Blue Gum (firewood)
Troop other flore	Rhus lancea	Karee (firewood)
Trees-other nora	Rhus pyroides	(firewood)
	Ziziphus mucronata	(fruits and firewood)
Waste assimilation		
Waste dilution		
Wetland Cultivation		
Recreational Fishing'		Bass, Kurper
Ritual Use		
Flood Attenuation		
Bank Protection		
Groundwater recharge		
Ecotourism - Aesthetic		
Ecotourism - Game Watering		
Hunting/poaching		
Sand Winning		
Disservices as costs		
Pathogens treatments		
Pathogens productivity loss		
Toxin		
Water consumption by exotic plants		

For analytical purposes, the Crocodile sub-catchment was divided into seven economic zones (EZ) and the Sabie-Sand area was sub-divided into three economic zones (refer to Chapter 12) for more detail. A summary of scenarios considered by economic zone is set out in Table 11.10 below.

Economic Zone	Scenarios	Applicable EWR Site						
Crocodile-East sub-catchment								
Upper Croc	None	EWR 1, 2						
Elands	None							
Lower Kwena	3, 7, 10, 12	EWR 3						
Middle Croc	7, 9, 10, 11, 12	EWR 4						
Каар	8,9	EWR 7						
White River	None							
Lower Croc	3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10,12	EWR 5, 6						
Sabie-Sand sub-catchment								
Sabie	None	EWR 1, 2, 4						
Maritsane/Inyaka	5	EWR 3, 5						
Sand	1, 5, 9	EWR 6 - 8						

Table 11.10 Economic Zones and associated scenarios analysed

11.5.2 Consequences

Lower Kwena Economic Zone

The utilisation of G&S was ranked as low. There were few communities that were dependent on the basket of G&S that were available as the formal market dominated this portion of the catchment. All scenarios had a positive impact on the availability of G&S. Scenario 3 while still beneficial was deemed to be least positive. The remaining scenarios (7, 10 and 12) were more beneficial but not significantly so. Results are provided in Table 11.11³ below.

³ Scores are based on a 0 - 2 scale where 0 = complete collapse of the system and 2 = doubling of the availability of the goods or delivery of the service. The potential change was noted as a factor and used in later calculations. For example, no change = 1, a 50% increase = 1.5, and a 20% decrease = 0.8.

G&S as benefits									
Resources	Common name	Scientific	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 3	Sc 7	Sc 10	Sc 12	
Fish	Tilapias and barbs		Moderate	Low	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Sedges	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Important	Low	1	1.2	1.1	1.1	
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Important	Low	1	1.2	1.1	1.1	
Grazing		P. maximum/duestum	Moderate	Low	1	1.1	1.2	1.2	
		Cynodon dactylon	Moderate	Low	1	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Trees	Blue Gum	E. camaldulensis	Important	Low	1	1.1	1.2	1.2	
	Indigenous trees		Important	Low	1	1.1	1.2	1.2	
	Wattle		Important	Low	1	1.1	1.2	1.2	
Hunting/poaching			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1	
Sand Winning			Moderate	Low	1	1.1	0.9	0.9	
Waste assimilation			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1	
Waste dilution			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1	
Cultivated floodplains			Moderate	Low	1	1.1	0.9	0.9	
Wetland cultivation			Moderate	Low	1	1.1	0.9	0.9	
Recreational fishing'			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1	
Recreational river use			Moderate	Low	1	1	1	1	
Flood attenuation			Moderate	Low	1	1	1.1	1.1	
Bank protection			Important	Low	1	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Stream flow regulation			Moderate	Low	1	1.1	1.1	1.1	
Groundwater recharge			Moderate	Low	1	1	1	1	
Disservices as costs	-	-		-	-		-	_	
Pathogens treatments			Very Low	Low	1	1	1	1	
Pathogens productivity loss			Very Low	Low	1	1	1	1	

Table 11.11 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Lower Kwena EZ

Middle Crocodile Economic Zone

The utilisation of G&S was ranked as high to medium high. A number of communities were dependent on the basket of G&S that were available. Overall all scenarios had a positive impact on the availability of G&S. Scenario 10 was deemed to be overall most positive followed by Sc 11 and Sc 12. Scenario 7 and 9 were deemed to bring about somewhat less positive results on availability of G&S. Results are provided in Table 11.12 below.

Table 11.12 Assessment of G&S cha	ge under scenarios for Middle Crocodile Ez
-----------------------------------	--

G&S as benefits											
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 7	Sc 9	Sc 10	Sc 11	Sc 12		
Fish	Barbs and labeos		Important	High					1.1		
	Mozambique tilapia	Oreochromis mossambicus	Important	High					1		
	Large scale yellowfish	Labeobarbus marequensis	Very Important	High					1		
	Catfish	Clarias gariepinus	Important	High					1		
Sedges	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Marginal	High	1.2	1.2	1	1.2	1.2		
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Moderate	High	1.2	1.2	1	1.2	1		
Grazing	Grasses	P. maximum/ duestum	Moderate	High	1	1	1.2	1.2	1.2		
		C. dactylon	Moderate	High	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.3	1.3		
Trees	Syringa		Marginal	Medium	0.8	0.8	1.1	1.1	1.1		
G&S as benefits											
-----------------------------	------------------------	------------------	------------	-----------------	------	------	-------	-------	-------	--	--
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 7	Sc 9	Sc 10	Sc 11	Sc 12		
	Blue Gum	E. camaldulensis	Marginal	Low	0.8	0.8	1.1	1.1	1.1		
	Indigenous trees		Important	High	0.8	0.8	1.1	1.1	1.1		
	Wattle		Marginal	Medium	0.8	0.8	1.2	1.2	1.2		
Sand winning			Moderate	Medium- High	1	1	1	1	1		
Waste assimilation			Important	High	0.9	0.9	1	0.8	0.8		
Waste dilution			Important	High	0.9	0.9	1	0.8	0.8		
Cultivated floodplains			Marginal	Low	1.2	1.2	0.9	0.95	0.9		
Wetland cultivation	Wetland destruction		Moderate	Medium	1	1	0.9	1	0.9		
Recreational fishing'	Yellowfish		Marginal	Medium					1		
Flood attenuation			Moderate	Low	1	1	1	1	1		
Bank protection			Moderate	Low	1	1	1	1.1	1		
Stream flow regulation			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1	1		
Groundwater recharge			Marginal	Low	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.1	0.9		
Disservices as costs	-	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	÷	-		-	-	-		
Bilharzia productivity loss			Marginal	Medium	1	1	1	1.2	1.2		
Pathogens treatments			Marginal	Low	1	1	1	1.2	1.2		

Kaap Economic Zone

The utilisation of G&S was ranked as low although there were pockets of G&S dependence. The only scenarios evaluated were 8 and 9. These had a dramatic negative impact on the G&S with collapses in fish stocks and riparian vegetation. The ability of the river to regulate itself with regard to flood protection and erosion and protect water quality was regarded as declining to crisis point. Results are provided in Table 11.13 below.

Table 11.13	Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for	Kaap EZ
-------------	--	---------

		G&S as Benefits			
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 8, 9
	Large scale yellowfish	L. marequensis	Moderate	Medium	0
Fish	Tilapia		Moderate	Medium	0.1
F1511	Barbs		Moderate	Medium	0.1
	Bass		Very Low	Low	0
Sadaas	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Marginal	Low	0.1
Seuges	Reeds	Arundo donax	Very Low	Low	1.5
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Marginal	Low	0.4
Grazina	Grasses	P. maximum/duestum	Very Low	Low	1
Grazing	0/03003	C. dactylon	Very Low	Low	0.6
	Pine		Moderate	Top part of area only	1
	Blue Gum	E. camaldulensis	Marginal	Top part of area only	0.8
Trees	Wattle		Marginal	Top part of area only	1
	Indigenous	B. salicina, S. guineense, F. sycomorus	Very Low		0.6
Hunting/poaching			Very Low	Low	
Sand winning			Very Low	Low	1.3
Waste assimilation			Moderate	Medium	0.1
Waste dilution			Moderate	Medium	0.2
Cultivated floodplains			Very Low	Low	1.2
Wetland cultivation	Wetland destruction		Marginal	Low	1.2
Flood attenuation			Very Low		0.8
Bank protection			Moderate		0.4
Stream flow regulation			Very Low		0.2
Disservices as costs					
Bilharzia productivity loss			Very low	Low	1

Lower Crocodile Economic Zone

This was largely the land associated with the Kruger National Park (KNP) although parts of the KaNyamazane community were also present. As such, G&S as they related to the aesthetic aspects of the park and impact on tourism were important. Direct utilisation by certain members of the greater KaNyamazane community was also important. Scenarios 3, 6, 7 and 9 were considered as a single scenario as they had very similar impact. Scenarios 10 and 12 were also combined. Scenarios 4 and 8 were considered on their own. The only scenario that had a neutral to marginally positive result on the availability of G&S was Sc 8. For the rest the impact was negative. Of these the most negative appeared to be Sc 10 and 12 followed by Sc 4. Scenarios 3, 6, 7 and 9 while still negative performed slightly better. Overall the best scenario appeared to be Sc 8. Results are provided in Table 11.14 below.

G&S As Benefits												
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 3,6, 7,9	Sc 10, 12	Sc 8	Sc 4				
	Small tilapias and barbs		Very Low	KNP no utilisation	0.7	0.7	1	0.6				
	Mozambique tilapia	O. mossambicus	Very Low	Outside KNP only	1	1	1	0.9				
Fish	Large scale yellowfish	L. marequensis	Very Low	Outside KNP only	0.6	0.6	1	0.5				
	Catfish	C. gariepinus	Very Low	Outside KNP only	1	1	1	1				
	Tigerfish	Hydrocynus vittatus	Very Low	Outside KNP only	0.6	0.6	1	0.5				
Sedges	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Marginal	Outside KNP only	1	0.6	1	1				
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Moderate	Outside KNP only	1.3	0.6	1.3	1.3				
Grazing	Grasses	P. maximum/ duestum		Outside KNP only	1.1	0.8	1.1	1.1				
Trees	Indigenous		Moderate	Outside KNP only	1.1	0.8	1.1	1.1				
Hippos			Very Important	Outside KNP only	0.9	0.9	1	0.8				
Crocodiles			Very Important	Aesthetic in KNP	0.9	0.9	1	0.8				
Riverine birdlife			Very Important	Aesthetic in KNP	0.9	0.9	1	0.8				
Sand winning			Very Low	Aesthetic in KNP	1.1	1.3	1.1	0.9				
Waste assimilation			Moderate	High	1	0.5	1	0.8				
Waste dilution			Moderate	High	1	0.5	1	0.8				
Cultivated floodplains			Moderate	Medium	0.9	1.1	1.1	0.9				
Wetland cultivation			Marginal	Low	0.9	1.1	1.1	0.9				
Recreational river use			5	High	0.9	0.9	1	0.8				
Flood attenuation			Marginal	Medium	1.1	0.8	0.8	1.1				
Bank protection			Marginal	Medium	1.1	0.7	0.7	1.1				
Stream flow regulation			Very Low	Medium	1.1	0.5	0.5	1.1				
Groundwater			Marginal	Medium	1.1	0.5	0.5	1.1				
recharge			Morginal	Modium								
Pathogens												
treatments			Marginal	Low	1	1.3	1	1.1				
Pathogens productivity loss			Marginal	Low	1	1.5	1	1.1				
Malaria			Important	Medium	1.2		1	1.3				

Table 11.14 Assessment of G&S change under scenarios for Lower Crocodile EZ

Maritsane/Inyaka Economic Zone

The utilisation of G&S was ranked as medium. Only Sc 5 was considered and overall the scenario was neutral to marginally negative for the basket of G&S. Results are provided in Table 11.15 below.

G&S As Benefits											
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 5						
	Tilapia		Very Important	High	1						
	Mozambique tilapia	O. mossambicus	Very Important	High	1						
Fish	Large scale yellowfish	L. marequensis	Very Important	High	1						
	Catfish	C. gariepinus	Very Important	High	1						
	Barbs, labeos		Very Important	High	1						
Sedges	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Moderate	High	1						
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Moderate	High	1.2						
Grazing	Grasses	P. maximum/ duestum	Moderate	High	0.8						
Cruzing		C. dactylon	Moderate	High	1						
	Syringa		Marginal	High	0.8						
Trees	Blue Gum	E. camaldulensis	Very Low	High	0.8						
	Indigenous		Important	High	0.6						
	Wattle		Marginal	High	0.8						
Sand winning			Important	High	1.3						
Waste assimilation			Marginal	Medium	1.1						
Waste dilution			Marginal	Medium	0.9						
Cultivated floodplains			Moderate	Medium	1.2						
Wetland cultivation	Wetland destruction		Marginal	Medium	1.2						
Flood attenuation			Marginal	Medium	1.3						
Bank protection			Very Low	Medium	1.3						
Stream flow regulation			Very Low	Medium	0.8						
Groundwater recharge			Marginal	Medium	0.8						
Disservices as costs											
Pathogens treatments			Very Low	Low	0.8						
Pathogens productivity loss			Very Low	Low	0.8						

Table 11.15 Assessment of G&S under Scenario 5 for Maritsane/Inyaka EZ

Sand Economic Zone

The utilisation of G&S was ranked as high to medium high. Scenarios considered were Sc 1 and 9 (combined) and Sc 5. Scenarios 1 and 9 have largely positive results on the abundance of fish and Phragmites. They were also deemed to be positive for water quality services as well as for groundwater recharge, stream flow regulation and flood attenuation. Scenario 5 had largely negative results on the abundance of fish and but marginally positive impacts on riparian vegetation. Impacts were deemed to be largely negative for water quality services as well as for groundwater recharge, stream flow regulation and flood attenuation. Results are provided in Table 11.16 below.

Table 11.16 Assessment of G&S under scenarios for Sand River EZ

	G&S as Benefits											
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 5	Sc 1, 9						
	Mozambique and redbreasted tilapia	O. mossambicus, Tilapia rendalli	Important	High	1	1.4						
Fish	Yellowfish, labeos L. marequensis		Important	High	0.7	1.4						
1 1011	Catfish	C. gariepinus	Important	High	1	1						
	Barbs		Important	High	0.9	1.4						
Sedges	Sedge	Cyprus spp.	Important	High	1.1	1.1						
Reeds	Reeds	Phragmites	Moderate	High	1.3	1.3						

G&S as Benefits											
Resources	Common name	Scientific name	Importance	Utilisation	Sc 5	Sc 1, 9					
Crazing	Cross	P. maximum/duestum	Very Important	High	1	1					
Grazing	Grass	Cynodon dactylon	Very Important	High	1.1	1.1					
	Blue Gum	E. camaldulensis	Very Low	High	1	1					
Trees	Indigenous		Marginal	High	1	1					
	Wattle		Very Low	High	1	1					
Sand Winning			Important	High	0.9	0.9					
Waste assimilation			Moderate	High	0.8	1.3					
Waste dilution			Moderate	High	0.7	1.1					
Cultivated floodplains			Moderate	Medium	0.95	0.95					
Wetland cultivation			Very Important	High	0.95	0.95					
Recreational fishing'			Very Low	Low	0.9	1					
Flood attenuation			Marginal	Medium	1.2	1.2					
Bank protection			Very Low	Medium	1.1	1.1					
Stream flow regulation			Very Low	Medium	1.2	1.2					
Groundwater recharge			Marginal	Medium	1.2	1.2					
Pathogens treatments			Marginal	Low	1.2	0.8					
Pathogens productivity loss			Marginal	Low	1.2	0.8					
Malaria			Moderate	Medium	1.1	0.9					

11.5.3 Summary and Conclusions

Table 11.17 represents a summary of consequences of the operational scenarios on the G&S by economic zone. Those in green are positive and relates to the scenario providing increased resources for the utilization of goods and services; negative (shaded red) relates to a decrease in resources. Those scenarios shaded in yellow are neutral and indicates either (a) no change in resources and will be the same as present or (b) some G&S will be positively affected and some will be negatively affected but overall there is no driving indicator that would suggest either a positive or a negative overall outcome.

Table 11.17 Summary of predicted impact of scenarios on G&S in the Crocodile and Sabie-Sand River catchment

Economic Zone	EWR Site				Scenari	ios			
Crocodile sub-catchment	t								
Upper Crocodile	EWR 1, 2	None							
Elands		None							
Lower Kwena	EWR 3	3	7	10	12				
Middle Crocodile	EWR 4	7	9	10	11	12			
Каар	EWR 7	8	9						
White River		None							
Lower Crocodile	EWR 5, 6	3	4	6	7	8	9	10	12
Sabie-Sand sub-catchme	ent								
Sabie	EWR 1, 2, 4	None							
Maritsane/Inyaka	EWR 3, 5	5							
Sand	EWR 6 - 8	1	5	9					

11.6 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

11.6.1 Crocodile sub-system

Of all the scenarios evaluated in the Crocodile River system the optimization scenarios (Sc C3.1 and 6.1) were the best scenarios from an ecological and G&S viewpoint. Scenario C6.1 met the REC requirement at EWR 6 (critical site in the Crocodile River system) while Sc C3.1 resulted in an improvement of the PES at this site.

Due to the socio economic impact of Sc C6.1 it was acknowledged that it was unlikely to be considered. Therefore Sc C3.1 was therefore a better option, although the potential socioeconomic consideration could be significant. However; considering the position of the Kruger National Park in the system, and the general High to Very High EIS of the system, it would be irresponsible not to make some attempt to meet Sc C3.1, or investigate further optimization options to determine other scenario options. As Sc C3.1 resulted in the improvement of the PES, the risk associated with the PES not degrading further would be minimised and, more important, considering the resolution which one is dealing with in terms of ecological and hydrological results, it is even possible that one could reach the B REC (for EWR 6 in the lower Crocodile River). From an ecological and G&S point of view, this would be the recommended scenario.

There are also options to investigate the daily operation of the system which, due to the abstraction regime, results in extreme localised changes in hydrology and impacts negatively on the ecological health of the system. There might be options to recommend a change in the manner of abstraction which could improve the system.

11.6.2 Sabie-Sand sub-system

No operational scenarios were required for evaluation in the Sabie System. Theoretical scenarios that consisted of different levels of irrigation restrictions to meet increasing irrigation requirements were investigation. These represented increased flows to various degrees at EWR 5 (Marite) and decreased flows at EWR 3 (Kidney). Scenario 8 was the only scenario that still met the PES and REC at EWR 3 in the KNP. The Marite REC was not achieved. The present flow regime resulted in the same situation and it was therefore recommended that the status quo is maintained. If increased flow for irrigation is ever required, Sc 8 would be the recommended option.

The scenarios in the Sand system were all based on improving the irrigation supply structures (small dams, canals, weirs) in the system. Scenario 1, the original Sellick Rule set up to operate the system would be the best scenario as this scenario improved the PES at EWR 6 and met the REC requirements at EWR 7 and 8. Scenario 1 was therefore recommended from the ecological and G&S viewpoint.

12 PRESENT STATE EVALUATION AND MACRO ECONOMIC CONSEQUENCES

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Socio Economic Present State Evaluation Report. Prepared by Conningarth Economists for Water for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/013.

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Crocodile River and Sabie-sand system: Operation Scenarios and Consequences Report. Volume 3: Macro Economic Consequences. Authored by Conningarth Economists for Water for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/011.

12.1 PRESENT STATE EVALUATION

This task provided the economic baseline of the current water allocation status in the Crocodile East and the Sabie-Sand sub-catchments and was intended to provide the basis to evaluate the implication, so as to contribute to the national debate on those issues. The report addressed the identification and quantification of the economic and commodity benefits derived from the water use in the two sub-catchments. The primary sectors that were identified were irrigation agriculture, forestry and mining. The secondary industries that were analysed were the raw water user industries and major municipal based water users.

12.1.1 Economic Zones

The two sub-catchments were divided into economic zones (EZs), i.e. the Crocodile East was divided into seven EZs and the Sabie-Sand into three EZs.

For analysis purposes, the Crocodile East sub-catchment was divided into seven economic zones:

- Upper Crocodile EZ.
- Lower Kwena EZ.
- Elands EZ.
- White EZ.
- Middle Crocodile EZ.
- Kaap River EZ, and the
- Lower Crocodile EZ.

Regarding economic activities, the Sabie-Sand sub-catchment were sub-divided into three economic zones, namely the Sabie River, Maritsane/Inyaka and Sand River. The economic activities within these EZs included irrigation agriculture, commercial forestry, manufacturing and electricity supply. The area's mining activities were limited to minor sand quarrying.

12.2 OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY

The specific objectives of this study as outlined in the terms of reference were to:

- Identify the sectors directly and indirectly using water from the Crocodile River and the Sabie-Sand River systems.
- Determine economic zones (EZs) in the Crocodile River and Sabie-Sand River systems and current water allocation to each category of use.
- Determine an appropriate valuation technique for each use category.
- Analyse economic value of water use by each category.

12.3 INTRODUCTION

The economic baseline of irrigation agriculture water use was established per allocation zone and the value of water was expressed in terms of the contribution to Gross Domestic Production (GDP), Employment and Low Income Households. The aim of this task was to measure the incremental deviation from the baseline as described in the present State Evaluation report (DWA, 2010).

The Crocodile River catchment was delineated into Water Allocation Zones. Zone 1 consisted of the whole Crocodile East sub-catchment excluding the Kaap River catchment. The Kaap River, was analysed separately and was named Zone 2.

The Sabie scenarios were not further evaluated as all scenarios related to an improved assurance and supply to agriculture.

The Sand system was not further evaluated as all scenarios included the improvement of the current irrigation system and structures which would maintain or improve the current irrigation activities, as well as improve the runoff in the river system.

12.4 APPROACH

The approach for the economic modelling, was in the form of a dynamic computerised water entitlement model which can be used to identify and quantify the following indicators:

- Economic benefits.
- Maximum possible water reduction.
- Proposed water reduction.
- Capitalised impact.

As a first step the macro-economy of the basin was established and then sub-divided into the subcatchments. Production and employment data were used for the Basin and its sub-catchments where after a macro economic Impact model was constructed for the Basin and the identified subcatchments. The model is water driven and gives the direct and indirect/induced results for the following activities:

- Agriculture.
- Forestry.
- Industry.
- Households.

Regarding agriculture, the model can accommodate up to ten individual products and for forestry it makes provision for pine, wattle and gum sub-species.

The following direct impacts are estimated by the Water Impact Model:

- Gross Domestic Product (GDP).
- Low Income Households and Total Households.
- Employment Creation.

A group of economic multipliers was then developed to compare different water use activities in terms of Gross Domestic Product (GDP/m³), employment creation (number/Mm³) and the low-income households.

The Water impact Model (WIM) comprises various sub-models which were used in determining the values of the above economic variables. The primary impetus drivers of the WIM are:

- The volume of water allocated to the various water users in each sub-catchment.
- The level of water assurance given to each water user in each sub-catchment.
- Hectares under irrigation.
- Production.
- Economic data in the form of a Social Accounting Matrix (SAM), and
- Economic multipliers.

By using a Social Accounting Matrix⁴ (SAM) applicable to the study area, multipliers were calculated. The multipliers used in this study to determine the economic impacts for the WIM were:

- Economic growth (i.e. the impact on GDP).
- Job creation (i.e. the impact on labour requirements).
- Income distribution (i.e. the impact on low income households).

An example of the agriculture sector multipliers used in this study was:

- **Direct effect**: Refers to effects occurring directly in the agriculture sector.
- Indirect effects: Refers to those effects occurring in the different economic sectors that link backward to agriculture due to the supply of intermediate inputs, i.e. fertilisers, seed, etc.
- **Induced effects**: Refers to the chain reaction triggered by the salaries and profits (less retained earnings) that are ploughed back into the economy in the form of private consumption expenditure.

The inputs towards the irrigation sector consist of COMBUD-budgets that were applied to a farm model. The Computer Based Budgets (COMBUD) compiled by the Department of Agriculture was used as base documents to develop the 2007/2008 production budgets. They were updated and adapted for the different production areas in terms of yield, production prices and input costs. The COMBUD budget provided data up to Gross Margin on a hectare basis, after which the fixed costs were subtracted to get Net Farm Income per hectare and in the end the Net Income or Profits per hectare.

For the use of the macro-economic impacts determination, these costs in the budget were allocated to structures in such a way that it was allocated to the different sectors of the economy. These were applied to determine the direct, and indirect and induced effects. Production costs included:

- Total costs (Intermediate inputs and labour requirements).
- Agriculture.
- Mining.
- Manufacturing (fuel, fertilizer, pharmaceuticals and other).
- Water.
- Construction.
- Trade and accommodation.
- Transport and communication.
- Financial and business services.

⁴ A Social Accounting Matrix (SAM) represents flows of all economic transactions that take place within an economy (regional or national). It is at the core, a matrix representation of the National Accounts for a given country, but can be extended to include non-national accounting flows, and created for whole regions or area. SAMs refer to a single year providing a static picture of the economy (www.wikipedia.org).

- Community services.
- Salaries and wages (skilled, semi-skilled and unskilled).

The path followed by the industries; namely mining and power generation, consist of the inputs of turnover and direct employment. The turnover was converted into production. The following step was to determine the costs and divide those with the structure of the economy. Their multipliers, calculated from the SAM, were then used to determine the impact.

12.5 ASSUMPTIONS FOR THE OPERATIONAL SCENARIOS

For purposes of the economic impact analyses the following general assumptions were formulated:

- The impact analysis was only done for irrigation agriculture as no other water user would be affected by the restrictions of water availability.
- It was accepted that the management levels of the irrigators and equipment use was already at very high efficiency levels and no provision was made for improvement in management efficiency or equipment.
- It was assumed that a volume curtailment leaded to a reduction in an irrigation area.
- It was further assumed that an improvement in assurance of supply resulted in increased yields over a period of time.

In applying the above assumptions the following practical applications were used in the WIM:

- The cultivation of annual crops such as vegetables, wheat and pastures were reduced in accordance with the curtailments applied.
- As sugar cane was more resistant to drought and cost less to replant, the water supply was reduced as curtailments increased.
- Orchards were maintained in all scenarios, only to be affected by area curtailments as a last resort.
- Changes in assurance of supply not only resulted in a loss of production but also in the quality of produce.
- As the Crocodile River in the present state report consisted of 7 Zones and for the purposes of the scenarios combined into one Zone, weighted economic multipliers were applied.

12.6 LIMITATIONS

The application of the above assumptions put in place the following limitations in calculating the impacts of the different scenarios.

- Changes in irrigation management practices were not taken into account.
- Irrigation efficiency levels were maintained at the current levels.
- No sensitivity analysis or cost effective analysis was conducted on input production costs. Sensitivity and cost effective analysis could be used to measure the effectiveness of present production practices.
- Changes in market prices were not taken into account.
- Fiscal impacts of changes in economic activity were not evaluated because the WIM model is a static model and makes no provision for measurement of the fiscal impact.
- The impact of removing old orchard trees and replanting young trees was not evaluated.
- Provincial economic multipliers were used because Mpumalanga provincial Social Accounting Matrix was used.
- Impact on different farming size units was not evaluated.

12.7 CROCODILE RIVER CATCHMENT RESULTS

The macro economic impacts of the scenarios C1 to C14 (excluding Scenario C11) on Zone 1 are provided in Table 12.1.

Scenarios	Total GDP (R Million)	Total GDP (R Million) Total (Numbers)		Estimated jobs lost
Sc C1 (baseline)	1 411.97	22 689	391.73	0
Sc C2	1 198.76	19 287	332.58	3 403
Sc C3	987.22	15 883	273.89	6 806
Sc C4	1 198.76	19 287	332.58	3 403
Sc C5	987.22	15 883	273.89	6 806
Sc C6	775.67	12 480	215.20	10 2 1 0
Sc C7*	1 995.02	25 435	515.55	
Sc C8	1 547.51	20 543	444.13	
Sc C9	2 181.10	27 558	541.65	
Sc C10	1 551.80	21 164	412.32	
GR	OUP 2 (EWR ir	ncluded)	-	
Sc C13 (PES)	1 069.19	13 492	298.71	
Sc C14 (REC)	918.17	11 096	253.76	

Table 12.1 Results of different scenarios applied to Zone 1: Crocodile River catchment

* Yellow refers to scenarios that include the new dam developments.

The socio-economic implications for the key scenarios (Scenario 2 - 6) are illustrated in Figure 12.1.



Figure 12.1 Zone 1: Economic consequences in terms of GDP and Total employment compared to the baseline (Sc C1)

The above table as well as the graph indicate that Scenarios 2 and 4 are, in terms of economic parameters, the preferable scenarios. In Table 2 we observe that each of the scenarios have the potential to cause a major number of job losses. Scenario 6 can lead to 10 210 jobs lost while Scenarios 2 and 4 lead to 3 403 jobs lost.

12.8 . KAAP RIVER CATCHMENT RESULTS

The macro economic impacts of the scenarios on Zone 2 are provided in Table 12.2.

Scenarios	Total GDP (R Million)	Total Employment (Numbers)	Low Income Households (R Million)
Sc C1	305.46	3 836	82.38
Sc C2	378.91	4 449	88.53
Sc C3	391.79	4 649	87.31
Sc C4	378.91	4 408	88.53
Sc C5	387.77	4 641	86.73
Sc C6	368.42	4 378	80.92
Sc C7*	343.45	4 142	87.79
Sc C9	397.71	4 734	95.53
Sc C13	277.98	2 916	68.76
Sc C14	267.36	2 792	65.33

Table 12.2 Results of different scenarios applied to Zone 2: Kaap River catchment

* Yellow refers to scenarios that include the new dam developments.

The macro economic impacts of the scenarios on Zone 2 are provided in the figure below. The results reflected that Sc C9 was the best economic impact performer. These economic impacts were expressed in total GDP, total number of employment opportunities as well as the distribution towards Low Income Households. If the development scenarios were excluded, Sc C3 was the most recommended scenario in terms of GDP and employment. This is graphically illustrated in the Figure 12-2 with respect to GDP and employment for all the scenarios assessed. Low income households followed mostly the trend of GDP and were therefore not included in the graph.



Figure 12.2 Kaap River Deviation from the Base Scenario: GDP and Employment

Based on the results presented in Figure 12-2 all the scenarios had a positive deviation from the GDP, except for Sc C13. Scenario C3 was the best scenario if the development scenarios (Sc C7 – C9) were excluded.

13 RECOMMENDATION OF FINAL SCENARIO TO BE SIGNED OFF

Author: MD Louw (Rivers for Africa)

The consequences of all the scenarios on the ecological state, G&S and socio-economics are compared and a recommendation made; first by the direct project team, then by a wider internal DWA meeting and finally, if necessary by a presentation to DWA management and stakeholders.

The consequences are summarised using traffic diagrams with green implying good and red implying bad. A numberless scale is also provided to indicate how much better or worse certain scenarios are from the baseline.

The EWR Rule and EWR Tables that will be recommended as the final Ecological Reserve are provided in Appendix A.

13.1 CROCODILE RIVER: RESERVE RECOMMENDATION

The scenarios that were finally considered were only those that implied restrictions and curtailments of irrigation. (Sc C2 to C6). Sc C7, C8 and C9, future dam scenarios, were not further considered as a detailed evaluation would require various operational dam rules including different sized dams. This information is not presently available. Sc C11 was undertaken for demonstration purposes only (to determine what would happen if cross-border flows were not supplied). Sc 10 and 12 were also only evaluated for background information. These two scenarios included decreased releases from Kwena Dam during certain times of the year, and increased releases during other times with the purpose of meeting the REC at EWR 3 downstream of the dam. This, as predicted, will have a severe negative impact on both irrigation and the ecological requirements at the downstream sites.

Sc C3.1 and C6.1 is a modification of Sc C3 and C6 as it uses the increased yield in Kwena Dam resulting from the agricultural restrictions and curtailments to supply the Reserve.

Figure 13-1 illustrates the ecological, Goods and Services and socio-economic consequences. All the EWR sites considered (EWR 3 to 7) was of High importance and the REC consisted of an improvement of the PES. The figure illustrates that there are no scenario that will meet the REC apart from Sc C6.1. The socio-economic cost to this scenario is however not acceptable according to DWA.

Sc C3.1 was the ecological recommendation as the prediction is that it will improve the PES, however not to the REC level. It is however possible that with non-flow related measurements and with monitoring to verify, the REC could be achieved. This scenario also improved the Goods and Services and but however had a negative socio-economic input (in terms of a los of GDP and job losses). The decision was made that at this stage, the present hydrology must be signed off which will maintain the PES. A phased approach associated with potential future development and compulsory licensing will be followed to achive Sc C3.1. It should also be investigated whether there are any localised operational improvements that can be made to improve the REC. For example, one of the major problems in the lower Crocodile River in the vicinity of EWR 5 and 6 is the fluctuating flow and localised zero flow conditions. This happens due to the localised abstraction via large pumps which decrease flow in place to zero. Flows then also increase during weekends when the pumps are not functioning.



Figure 13.1 Consequences of various operational scenarios in the Crocodile River

13.2 SABIE RIVER: RESERVE RECOMMENDATION

Socio-economic scenarios were not evaluated for the Sabie River as all the scenarios were an improvement of the present agriculture. Goods and Services followed the ecological consequences trend and the decision regarding the Reserve recommendation was based on the ecological consequences.

The REC of all the EWR sites apart from EWR 5 (Marite River) can be achieved with the present day flows. Achieving the Marite River REC will require a different operation of Inyaka dam which would result in economic consequences and the REC in the lower EWR sites will not be achieved.

The recommendation was therefor made to sign off the REC at EWR 1, 2, 3, 4 and the PES at EWR 5.

13.3 SAND RIVER: RESERVE RECOMMENDATION

Socio-economic scenarios were not evaluated for the Sand River as all the scenarios will result in an improvement of water supply to agriculture. Goods and Services followed the ecological consequences trend and the decision regarding the Reserve recommendation was based on the ecological consequences. The scenarios were based on the assumption that the four abstraction weirs in the upper Sand River would be rehabilitated, thus improving the flow downstream. Of the various scenarios evaluated, only Sc 1 (the so-called Sellick-rule) will achieve the REC at the key site, EWR 8 in the lower Sabie. This scenario will improve the PES (and REC which was set to maintain the PES) at EWR 7 (upper Sand River). It will also improve the PES towards the REC at EWR 6 and hopefully, with some non-flow related measures (specifically removal of alien vegetation) combined with flow related improvements, the REC will be met.

The recommendation was therefore made that the Sellick Rule should be implemented as the advantages would be much wider than just to ensure the Ecological Reserve. The Ecological Categories that must be signed off is:

- EWR 6 REC. It must be acknowledged that without some crucial catchment management improvements, the increased flows on their own will not achieve the REC but could likely achieve an improvement of the PES.
- EWR 7 REC (=PES). Scenario 1 will achieve the AEC up, however the main motivation for applying Scenario 1 is to meet the REC at EWR 8.
- *EWR* 8 *REC.*

14 IDENTIFICATION OF ECOSPECS

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: EcoSpecs Report. Prepared by Water for Africa, edited by Louw, MD and Koekemoer, S. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/011.

The purpose of this task was to set EcoSpecs and TPCs that could be used for future Ecological Water Resource Monitoring (EWRM). Further information on Ecological Water Resources Monitoring can be obtained from DWA (2009), and Kleynhans et al. (2009).

14.1 APPROACH

The NWA requires the establishment of a national monitoring system that must provide for the collection of appropriate data and information necessary to assess water resources. Such a system must collect relevant information that contributes to the management of the resource in a desirable ecological condition

Initially the aim was to develop monitoring guidelines and a Decision Support System (DSS) for Ecological Water Requirements (EWR) as required for the Ecological Reserve determination. River Health Programme (RHP) monitoring as such was not included. However, the implications of simultaneously operating two separate ecological monitoring programmes (Ecological Resource monitoring (ERM) and RHP) have serious resource implications. To mitigate this and still maintain an operational ecological monitoring programme that provides useful management information, integration of the ERM and RHP within an adaptive management approach is proposed (Kleynhans et al., 2009). This forms the basis of the integrated Ecological Water Resource Monitoring (EWRM) approach.

During EWR studies, EcoSpecs are developed and specified in terms of the Resource Quality Objectives (RQOs) as per the Resource Directed Measures and the EcoClassification process (Kleynhans and Louw 2007). This encompasses biological specifications or biocriteria that are numerical values or narrative statements that define a desired biological condition for a waterbody (Burton and Gerritsen, 2003). EcoSpecs then indicates the ecological detail that characterizes the EC.

TPCs indicate the values around the EcoSpecs that, if being approached would initiate more detailed investigation or even management action. TPCs are based on the acceptance that there is uncertainty as to accuracy or validity of EcoSpecs i.e. is deviation from EcoSpecs due to natural variation, sampling error, etc. In the context of EWRM, TPCs are regarded as early warning indicators of potential change from a particular Ecological Category (EC) to another (lower) EC.

EWRM operates within the following concepts (based on Elzinga et al., 1998):

- The reference condition is the natural or unimpaired condition of the system.
- The monitoring baseline is a series of measurements taken before the initiation of the impact or management activity and is used for comparison with the series of measurements taken after the management activity. If the PES of the resource is unimpaired (natural), the reference will also be the baseline.
- It is important to assess whether there is a trend in the baseline, i.e. is it stationary or changing in a particular direction at the time when it is determined.
- This is the standard ("benchmark") against which future deviations can be compared.

Therefore the Present Ecological State (PES) of the system must be determined prior to management interventions i.e.:

PES = BASELINE = BASELINE ECOLOGICAL CATEGORY (BEC)

Management actions are designed to maintain, or attain (if different from the PES) the REC. These management actions relate to the management objectives which are described in terms of the flow and quality (physico-chemical) EcoSpecs. Additional land use objectives may also be described if these non-flow related aspects are contributing to the PES of the system.

Therefore one must clearly distinguish between setting management objectives in terms of the drivers to achieve/maintain certain Ecological Categories, and defining EcoSpecs for the biophysical response, that describes, in different level of detail, the Ecological Categories.

In essence, during an EWR study, flow requirements (main driver) are defined that could result in a certain ecological state defined through an ecological category. These flow requirements inform the management objectives supported by the other drivers. Note that the word 'could' is used as the biological responses to driver conditions are all predicted and must be tested through monitoring. Determining the Ecological Response through monitoring, examines the predictions made during an EWR study, and/or whether adjustments to the EcoSpecs and TPCs are required. and of course, whether the overall management objective in terms of the REC (or class) is being achieved. It is therefore crucial that monitoring be driven by objectives as it forms the foundation of a monitoring project (cf. Elzinga et al., 1998):

The condition and response of the resource is therefore monitored to determine if the REC has been attained or maintained.

What is required at this stage is to provide detailed EcoSpecs and TPCs for the baseline, i.e. the BEC for the biological responses, physico-chemical variables and geomorphology.

The focus on this study is to provide the detailed EcoSpecs and to define the TPC for the BEC, i.e. the current or initial PES. Note that TPCs are set within the PES to indicate the probability or relative risk of the BEC changing to a lower EC. The purpose of this is to implement management actions to prevent this degradation, unless the Classification system has resulted in a state worse than the PES (BASELINE EC) being selected as the CLASS.

The same level (qualitative/narrative to quantitative) of EcoSpecs is not set for the REC or any other EC as the focus is on the BEC. The level of EcoSpecs defined during the EcoClassification process will be sufficient during the initiation of monitoring. The EcoSpecs for ECs other than the PES are predictions and dependent on many driver variables and in essence, represents only one combination of driver conditions out of many that could result in this EC

14.2 RESULTS

EcoSpecs and TPCs are listed in detail for each EWR site for:

- Physico-chemical variables
- Geomorphology
- Riparian vegetation
- Fish

Macroinvertebrates

These are highly detailed and quantified data that must be refined during an Adaptive Management process within EWRM. A summary of the EcoSpecs and TPCs are provided as Appendix B.

14.3 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

To date formal implementation of the monitoring step of the Reserve has not taken place (CJ Kleynhans, C Thirion, pers. comm). Furthermore, there has been minimal (only informally on the Palmiet River and on a private dam in the Western Cape) implementation (with reference to the supply of the flows and management of other drivers to achieve the required EC) of the Ecological Reserve. This is of major concern as all EWRs, EcoSpecs; TPCs etc. are hypotheses until tested. With increased development and pressure on the water resources in this country there are no structures in place to monitor the further deterioration of our rivers. All methods related to monitoring and the identification of EcoSpecs and TPCs therefore require testing and refinement.

The Crocodile River system has high demands imposed on it by the irrigation sector, international requirements (IncoMaputo Water Use Agreement) as well as industrial and domestic sectors. The Sabie-Sand River system supplies the bulk of the irrigation requirements in this sub-catchment as well as international water requirements. These river systems are also of national importance with respect to the Kruger National Park (KNP) and monitoring is of vital importance.

No specific Ecological Reserve Monitoring has been initiated in the Crocodile and Sabie Sand River systems. Limited monitoring has taken place outside the KNP as part of provincial initiatives to report on the 'State of the Rivers'. More detailed biomonitoring has taken place in the KNP; however the focus was not on Ecological Reserve Monitoring.

Immediate monitoring is necessary as the surveys undertaken during the Reserve study represent the baseline against which change is measured. These surveys were undertaken during 2007 and it can already (pending changes in the catchments), not be applicable. The longer monitoring is delayed, the bigger the chance is that the baseline surveys will have to be repeated because of outdated data.

The Rapid Habitat Assessment Method (RHAM) was developed during 2007 – 2009. A RHAM survey was undertaken during 2009 and this data is available as part of the electronic information and data of this study (RDM Report 26/8/3/10/14/016) (DWA, 2010) and from D:RQS (Dr CJ Kleynhans). The D:RQS is currently analysing the data to further streamline the monitoring techniques and process to determine EcoSpecs and TPCs. As a low intensity method aimed to minimise the dependence on specialist resources, it is important that the methods are included in the monitoring.

15 ESTIMATION AND EXTRAPOLATION OF EWRS AT SELECTED HYDRONODES

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2010. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie-Sand and Crocodile Systems: Estimation and extrapolation of Ecological Water Requirements (EWRs) at selected hydronodes. Prepared by Rivers for Africa, Authored by Louw, MD and Birkhead, AL. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/007.

15.1 INTRODUCTION

A comprehensive Reserve study assesses EWRs at EWR sites that are usually situated on the main rivers and large tributaries. For the purpose of, amongst others, Compulsory Licensing and general licensing, Reserves have to be set at many points (hydronodes) in the catchment. Additional EWR sites to provide EWRs at each of these nodes will become time consuming and therefore costly.

The objective of this task was to provide an estimate which would be of higher confidence than the Desktop Reserve Model at every hydronode in the Sabie, Crocodile and Mokolo River systems (the Komati information was already supplied through a WRC/DWA research project).

The Desktop Reserve Model is being refined as part of the current WRC project K5/1856. This should give higher confidence answers than the current Desktop Reserve Model but will highly likely only be finalised in 2011. A prototype approach is however available that can be used in the interim.

15.2 APPROACH

Extrapolation consists of

- Determining which sites are sufficiently similar to the comprehensive EWR sites in terms of biophysical similarity as well as indicator guilds used for setting EWRs; and
- Deriving the EWRs for these sites using the comprehensive EWR results at the EWR sites.

Estimation consists of a process to estimate the EWRs at each hydronode for the Recommended Ecological Category (REC) (using the information generated as part of the Desktop EcoClassification (Kleynhans & Louw, 2007)). This estimation will entail the prediction of indicator species at various hydronodes, and the determination of the EWRs at these hydronodes using a higher confidence method than the Desktop Ecological Reserve Model.

The decision-making process to determine whether to estimate or extrapolate is summarised in the flow diagram (Figure 14-1).

15.3 HYDRONODES AND DATABASE

Hydronodes are points on a map which represents a catchment, usually at the quinary scale. These points were provided and were included in an Excel database. Additional points were also provided in the database, the so-called known fish sites. This inclusion was required as the database was finally used to compare the known fish sites with hydronodes to derive the indicator fish guild for which the EWR must be set. For each point in the database, a range of biophysical information was provided to characterise the nodes and fish sites.



Figure 15.1 Flow diagram showing when it is appropriate to extrapolate or when estimation is required

15.4 PREDICTION OF INDICATOR FISH GUILDS

Conceptually the prediction approach is based on the physical similarity between sites were fish information is available and hydronodes without fish information. If sites are physically similar to a high degree, then the assumption can be made that the same indicator fish guild would be present at both sites.

The results of the Mokolo, Crocodile and Sabie River systems are provided in excel format as part of the electronic information (RDM Report no (26/8/3/10/14/016)). This work was undertaken by CJ Kleynhans (DWA, RQS).

15.5 CALIBRATION SITES USED FOR EWR ESTIMATION

Various EWR sites (Rapid Level III, Intermediate and Comprehensive) were used to develop an EWR estimation method for hydronodes where no hydraulic data existed. The locality of these sites and other pertinent information are provided in the Table 14.1.

Quat Site pr	Cito na		Alt	Co-ordinates		MAR	Discharge	Ind fish guild ²		Ind invert taxa ³		% pt FDT⁴	
Quat		River	(m)	Latitude	Longitude	(Mm³)	(m³/s) [↑]	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Maint⁵	Dry
	NKOMATI RIVER CATCHMENT												
	Calibration sites												
X12K	X12K1	Phalangampepe	731	-26.0453	31.0503	4.2	0.050	SR	SR	FDCD ⁶	FDCD	70	95
X12G	X12G2	Bergstroom	1200	-25.9678	30.8333	4.8	0.026	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X11F	X11F1	Bankspruit	1545	-25.8469	30.3506	6.7	0.075	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X12G	X12G1	Mawelawala	1144	-25.9652	30.8216	9.9	0.037	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95

Table 15.1 Sites used for hydronode EWR estimation

Quet	Cito na	Piver	Alt	Co-orc	linates MAR		Discharge	Ind fisl	n guild ²	Ind invert taxa ³		% pt FDT ⁴	
Quat	Site nr	River	(m)	Latitude	Longitude	(Mm³)	(m³/s) ¹	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Maint⁵	Dry
X12H	X12H2	Sandspruit	800	-26.0497	30.8972	10.5	0.037	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X11A	X11A1	Vaalrivierspruit	1531	-26.0069	30.02664	10.6	0.019	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X11D	X11D1	Klein Komati	1640	-25.8881	30.1203	10.7	0.050	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X12K	X12K2	Mlondozi	1098	-26.0472	31.0442	14.2	0.17	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X11E	X11E1	Swartspruit	1444	-25.93695	30.235	15.4	0.045	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X12B	X12B1	Buffelspruit	1562	-26.0628	30.3939	27.9	0.086	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X11G	X11G3	Komati	935	-25.9531	30.7249	370	1.5	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
	SABIE and CROCODILE RIVER CATCHMENTS												
	Calibration sites												
X32A	E8Sek	Sekgamarago	886	-24.69327	30.92953	1.0	0.02	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X21D	E2aBKS	Buffelskloofspruit	1184	-25.43842	30.44713	10.8	0.10	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X21D	E2bBKS	Buffelskloofspruit				10.8	0.10	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31G	E9Lon	Lonely Creek	1146	-25.10324	30.71097	11.2	0.34	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31D	E6Saban (a)	Sabane	533	-25.03414	31.01989	16.4	0.031	SSR	SSR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31D	EcSaban (b)	Sabane						SSR	SSR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X22A	E3Bly	Blystaanspruit	1032	-25.28752	30.59633	19.3	0.51	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31A	E10Sab	Sabie	1099	-25.12100	30.71700	26.5	0.41	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X22D	E5Nels	Nels	1065	-25.28945	30.76464	30.4	1.2	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X32B	E1Kaap	Kaap(North)	678	-25.60761	30.97650	43.5	0.27	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X22A	E4Hout	Houtbosloop	865	-25.35516	30.66591	56.8	0.78	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
	-	<u>.</u>			E	WR sites		<u> </u>	<u></u>				
X31B	EWR 1	Sabie	862	-25 04.424	30 50.924	140.2		SR/LR	SR/LR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31D	EWR 2	Sabie	463	-25 01.675	31 03.099	262.1		SR/ R	SR/LR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31K	EWR 3	Sabie	369	-24 59.256	31 17.572	495.9		SR/SR	SR/SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31C	EWR 4	Mac Mac	582	-25 00.800	31 00.243	65.8		SR/ R	SR/LR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X31G	EWR 5	Marite	457	-25 01.077	31 07.997	157.1		SR/ R	SR/LR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X32C	EWR 7	Tlulandziteka	543	-24 40.829	31 05.188	28.9		SR/LSR	SR/LSR	FDCD	FDCD	40	95
X21A	EWR 1	Crocodile	1852	-25 29.647	30 08.656	15.2				FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X21B	EWR 2	Crocodile	1207	-25 24.555	30 18.955	47.1		SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	70	95
X24H	EWR 6	Crocodile	470	-25 38.968	31 14.572	1063		SR/LSR	SR/LSR		FDCD	70	95
					MOKOLO R	IVER CATC	HMENT	-	-	_			
					Calil	pration sites	;						
A42F	8	Taaibos	1011	-24 11.128	27 51.673	1.8	0.49	SSR	MSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42B	2XSA	Renosterbos- spruit	1284	-24.50804	27.86574	1.9	0.081	SSR	MSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42B	2XSB	Renosterbos- spruit						SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42A	1	Sand	1356	-24.65283	28.231	2.1	0.14	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42E	11	Klein Vaalrivierspruit	1098	-24.21941	28.05363	2.7	0.42	SSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42E	6	Jim se Loop	1209	-24.27184	28.20002	2.8	0.19	SSR	MSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42H	7XSB	Tambotie	983	-23.81291	27.94885	2.8	0.52	MSR	MSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A24D	9	Frikkie se Loop	1221	-24.31397	27.95724	3.9	0.66	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42E	4	Upper Dwars	1188	-24.26661	28.21718	10.3	0.46	SSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42E	5XSA	Lower Dwars	1212	-24.26736	28.21873	14.1	0.66	SSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A42E	5XSB	Lower Dwars						SSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
A24D	10	Sterk	1191	-24.30554	27.89699	26.1	2.2	SR	SR	FDCD	FDCD	50	95
				ı	JPPER VAAL	RIVER CAT	CHMENT						
C13C	8 (UVKlip)	Klip	1757	-27.82105	29.64983	5.75	0.14	SSR	SSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C82F	3B(UV36)	Grootspruit	1643	-27.49946	28.95117	6.24		LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95

Quat	Site nr	River	Alt (m)	Co-ordinates		MAR	Discharge	Ind fish guild ²		Ind invert taxa ³		% pt FDT⁴	
				Latitude	Longitude	(Mm³)	(m³/s) ¹	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Maint⁵	Dry
C82A	7(UVCor)	Cornelius	1852	-27.83821	29.35921	7.93	0.006	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C11E	9(UV9)	Skulpspruit	1635	-27.02988	29.88956	12.11	0.004	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C23B	1(UV53)	Kromelmboog- spruit	1416	-26.79594	27.56550	14.36	0.006	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C83K	2(UV45)	Kromspruit	1492	-27.25842	28.40691	25.72	0.006	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C81L	6B(UV25)	Meul	1691	-27.97461	29.31991	26.50	0.35	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C82G	5(UV31)	Holspruit	1558	-27.67999	28.79244	32.93	0.049	SR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C81M	6A(UV28)	Meul	1588	-27.96968	28.89911	103.85	0.94	LSR	LSR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
C12G	4(UVWV)	Waterval	1499	-26.96028	28.74577	176.80	0.48	LR	LR	FDCD	FDCD	60	95
1 Single measured discharge for Rapid III level assessment 2 Indicator fish quild													

1 Single measured discharge for Rapid III level assessment

3 Indicator invertebrate guild

4 Percentage point (time equalled or exceeded) on the flow duration table

6 Flow Dependant Cobble Dwelling invertebrates

5 Maintenance

15.6 EWR ESTIMATION METHOD

The EWR data for the sites in the above table were provided (for the comprehensive level sites) from the Reserve studies. These results are for specific Ecological Categories (ECs) (may include the Present Ecological State (PES), Recommended Ecological Category (REC) and/or the Alternative Ecological Category (AEC)), specified separately for fish and macroinvertebrates. For the Rapid Level III sites (Komati, Sabie, Crocodile, Mokolo and upper Vaal River catchments), the Fish Flow Habitat Assessment (FFHA) model (developed by Dr C.J. Kleynhans) was used for estimating the EWRs (the model was modified for application to macroinvertebrates). The FFHA model provides a consistent procedure for estimating EWRs (at the Rapid Level III and higher) and gives requirements for the A to D range of Ecological Categories (ECs).

The EWR data were entered into an Excel data base for processing, together with the tabulated (modelled) hydraulic information (or lookup tables) for the site cross-sections. Code was written in Visual Basic Applications (VBA) to compile EWR and hydraulic data as a function of ecological and hydrological parameters. The ecological information included the indicator fish guild and macroinvertebrate taxa, and the hydrological information included the season and percentage (time) exceedence of maintenance and drought conditions on the flow duration table (FDT).

For each of the four fish guilds (Small Semi-Rheophilic (SSR), Large Semi-Rheophilic (LSR), Small Rheophilic (SR) and Large Rheophilic (LR), and a single macro-invertebrate taxa (flow dependant cobble dwelling (FDCD)), there were three variables to consider. These included hydrological season (wet or dry), percentage point on the FDT (the points denoting maintenance and drought conditions) and EC (B, C or D - the FFHA model considered an A to be natural). Thirty-six data sets for fish and 12 for macroinvertebrates were used.

For each of these 48 data sets, the EWR requirement (from the Comprehensive and Rapid Level III (FFHA model) studies), hydrological (natural flow) and relevant hydraulic information (wetted channel width, maximum depth, average depth and average velocity) were compiled. Following from the findings of a previous EWR estimation study (Birkhead, 2008), the data was analysed to assess whether the EWR could be expressed as a constant unit-width value (i.e. a constant discharge per unit (wetted) width of channel).

A regression procedure was coded (using VBA) to automate the curve-fitting for the 48 data sets, and allowed the regressions to be easily re-determined with changes to the data sets.

15.7 APPLICATION OF ESTIMATION TO HYDRONODES

A procedure for applying the EWR estimation method as a Desktop Adjustment Method (DAM - refer to Birkhead, 2008) was developed using MS-Excel and VBA. The procedure consists of the various steps which were used to provide EWR estimates for 66 and 85 hydronodes in the Sabie and Crocodile catchments, respectively. The above spreadsheet and data are provided in the electronic data (RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/016 and 26/8/3/10/14/016) as well as the .rul and .tab tables.

15.8 ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS: DETERMINATION OF THE DEGREE TO WHICH THE RESERVE IS BEING MET UNDER CURRENT OPERATING RULES

An analysis was undertaken to determine whether the Ecological Reserve is being met under current operating rules and, if not, to what degree it was not being met. The results were rated (0 - 5) and these results were used to accordingly shade the different quaternary catchments. The shadings are described below and the maps and conclusions are provided below. Tables with the results are provided in the report, Chapter 9.

RED (5): Insufficient water is available to meet the Ecological Reserve under present conditions.

No licenses that will decrease flow should be considered as the Reserve is currently not being met. This means that there will be no yield available for additional users. Even if the Reserve is a low confidence Reserve based on an estimate, it is unlikely that revision will change the situation sufficiently that the Reserve will be met, AND that there will be yield available. It must be considered however that these are broad estimates and that there is uncertainty in the hydrology as well as the EWR estimates. Therefore, as a first check to confirm the red evaluation, the confidence in the hydrology and the reasons why the Reserve is not being met should be checked. EG, it is often the case that the hydrological modelling results in an underestimate of hydrology in areas high up in the catchment such as first order stream. In those cases, the estimated EWR is often higher than the modelled hydrology and shows an Ecological Reserve deficit when that is not really the case. All results must therefore be treated with caution and prior to decisions being made on these ratings, the specific situation should be evaluated and the results unpacked.

It must also be noted that the application of the Desktop Level EcoClassification to derive at the REC is only done for a specific river within the catchment under consideration. A future development may be applicable for a tributary of the river that was assessed and the EC and specific EWR may well be very different.

ORANGE (4): There is a high likelihood that there is not enough water to meet the REC under present conditions.

This means that there is a high likelihood that there will be no yield available for additional users. See section in red above.

PALE ORANGE (3): There is a moderate likelihood that there is not enough water to meet the REC.

Assess the most cost-effective steps to take to investigate the situation. Confirmation of the REC as part of a Rapid III should be sufficient as a first step. If the REC has changed, the appropriate level of Reserve determination for the new EC (if lower than previous estimate) must be undertaken. An assessment must then be undertaken to determine whether the revised EWR still result in the EWR not being met. If not, then the available yield for future development must be calculated.

CREAM (2): There is a low likelihood that there is not enough water to meet the REC.

Assess the most cost-effective steps to take to investigate the situation. Confirmation of the REC through scoping should be sufficient as a first step. A Desktop assessment of the flows if the EC

changes should be sufficient for a revision of the water balance. Even if the Reserve is infrequently not met, this still means that there could be yield available in this system. Refer to 9.2 to determine whether yield will be available and the scale of the available yield.

WHITE (1): There is a high likelihood that there is sufficient water in the system to meet the REC.

This does not necessarily mean that there is yield available for additional users. Refer to 9.2 to determine whether yield is available and the scale of available yield.

15.8.1 Crocodile River

The results supplied were only for catchments with hydronodes. To determine the results, the EWRs for the EWR sites had to be provided as first option. As the decision was made that the current hydrology will be signed off as the Ecological Reserve, all the catchments which includes the Crocodile and the lower Kaap Rivers are evaluated as a zero, i.e. the Ecological Reserve is currently being met.

The Crocodile catchment does not show many areas where the Reserve is currently not being met. However, it MUST be remembered that the REC cannot be met in the main Crocodile River. This is not illustrated in the map as the main Crocodile has been modelled on the basis that present operation and hydrology will be signed off.



Figure 15.2Crocodile River EWR availability map

15.8.2 Sabie-Sand Rivers

To determine the results, the EWRs for the EWR sites had to be provided as first option. The following was undertaken for this catchment:

- Sabie Catchment: REC
- Sand Catchment: The Sellick-Rule was recommended and modelled. This will result in the RECs being met at the three EWR sites. As the REC is available in the Sabie River, the Sabie from EWR 1 is evaluated as a zero, i.e. the Ecological Reserve is currently being met. The Sellick rule situation is similar.

There are very few stressed areas in this catchment. The red areas in the upper Sand are probably an artifact of the modelled hydrology inaccurately reflecting very low to zero flows. It must be noted that there is low confidence in the Sand hydrology and this should be considered when decisions must be made. It must furthermore be noted that the Sellick-rule is currently NOT in place and the evaluation of the Sand River would show mostly a red rating if this rule is not applied.



Figure 15.3 Sabie-Sand Rivers EWR availability map

15.9 ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS: AVAILABLE YIELD IN CATCHMENTS WHERE THE RESERVE IS CURRENTLY BEING MET

The analysis undertaken and presented in Section 14.8 does not indicate whether there is spare yield available for future development in the areas where the Reserve is being met (white shaded and light cream shaded areas rated zero or one). An analysis was undertaken to determine the available yield in the system and these results are provided in tables (Chapter 9) and as maps (Figure 14-3). The colour grading used on the map is provided below.

Grey: No yield available and EWR cannot be met under current operation.

The grey catchments reflect all the catchments that were rated in section 17.8 from a 1.1 to 5. I.E., the Ecological Reserve cannot be met under current circumstances which automatically indicate that there is no yield available. If licenses and further developments are considered in these areas, appropriate work (such as described below) should be undertaken to confirm the degree to which the Reserve is not being met as well as to whether the proposed development will have an impact.

No yield available (5)

No licenses that will decrease flow should be considered. If however, further confirmation is required, more detailed studies are required to confirm these results. The first step should be to confirm the REC in the catchments where the REC has been derived from the Desktop EcoClassification. This is necessary as this is usually a low confidence estimate, and if the EC is found (after more detailed investigation) to be lower than the EC used in this modelling, then the EWR will be lower. The water balance will then have to be recalculated.

Very low yield (4)

As the likelihood of no water being available is high, licences should be considered only for special cases. If further confirmation is required, follow the same process as above.

Low yield (3)

Assess the most cost-effective steps to investigate the situation if development or licences are required. It is likely that a Level 3 EcoClassification and a Rapid III Reserve assessment might be sufficient. Then check water balance to see whether yield increases if the Reserve is less than estimated.

Moderate yield (2)

Assess the most cost-effective steps to investigate the situation if development or licences are required. It is likely that a Level 3 EcoClassification and a Rapid III Reserve assessment might be sufficient. Then check water balance to see whether yield increases if the Reserve is less than estimated.

High yield (1)

Assess the most cost-effective steps to take to investigate the situation. Confirmation of the REC through scoping should be sufficient as a first step. A Desktop assessment of the flows if the EC changes should be sufficient for a revision of the water balance.

Very high yield (5)

See steps described in Figure 15-3.

15.9.1 Crocodile River available yield

The relatively high yields available in the X24B and X24C catchments are due to return flows from the Nzikazi North urban area.

As the EWR at the main river has been signed off as the present flows, it is obvious that there will be no available yield in the system. As is well known, this is a very stressed catchment and this is supported by these results. Further licensing and development should therefore not be allowed in most areas. Any further development in the catchment could have a cumulative effect and further influence the lower Komati River.



Figure 15.4 Crocodile available yield map

15.9.2 Sabie River available yield

Approximately 30% of the catchment includes rivers that more or less lie completely within the Kruger National Park. These rivers were not evaluated and were shaded gray as available yield is not applicable within these areas (see grey areas north of the Sand and Sabie Rivers within the KNP)

The REC is available in the Sabie River under current operation. However, limited to no spare yield is available in the Sabie River downstream from EWR 2. Therefore, even if the map illustrates that there is yield available upstream of EWR 2, any development in that area could result in the REC not being met in the lower Sabie River.

The Sand River is problematic as the hydrology is inaccurate due to the lack of gauging stations in the system. Local use and mismanagement of the current infrastructure has resulted in heavy river losses and problems in the lower Sand River. The signed off Reserve will be on the basis that Scenario 1 (Sellick-Rule) (26/8/3/10/12/011) will be implemented. This will result in the Ecological Reserve being available. The available yield calculations are based on this scenario being implemented. Therefore, apart from the additional yield which will be available once this rule is implemented, no further additional yield will be available.



Figure 15.5 Sabie-Sand available yield map

SABIE & SAND SUB CATCHMENTS

Available Yield (Historical)

MOZAMBIQUE

15.10 GUIDANCE ON THE USE AND INTERPRETATION OF THE EWR AVAILABILITY AND AVIALABLE YIELD MAPS

Both maps contain much information at various levels of confidence and must therefore be used with care when further development is considered. This information can be an extremely useful aid when considering further development in the catchment. However, all the other information available within these Reserve study results should also be considered prior to decision-making.

A process summarised in a flow diagram (Figure 14-4) that can be used as a guideline for decision-making is provided.



Figure 15.6 Guideline in the use of the Reserve and yield availability maps in planning and licensing

16 WHERE TO FROM HERE

Author: MD Louw (Rivers for Africa)

16.1 ECOLOGICAL WATER RESOURCES MONITORING PROGRAMME

A detailed monitoring programme as part of the Ecological Water Resources Monitoring (EWRM) programme must be designed by the PSP appointed to undertake the monitoring according to the guidelines set out by DWA. It was not part of the TOR of this Reserve study to undertake this. However, the design of the technical Ecological Specifications (EcoSpecs) to be used when interpreting the EWRM results was part of this study and is provided in Appendix B. It must be noted that the specifications are technical specifications which is used to interpret monitoring results by specialists and not for use for providing specifications for licensing.

During the comprehensive Reserve study, the PES was set based on biophysical surveys. This PES acts as the Baseline Ecological Category (BEC) and all EcoSpecs and TPCs were identified for the BEC. Unless monitoring is implemented within a short time frame, the baseline could/will have changed and the information generated during this study will not be valid anymore. This is not a cost-effective approach and it is recommended that monitoring should be implemented as soon as possible.

The section below provides ONLY broad details and certain key aspects of the Ecological Water Resources Monitoring (EWRM) programme. Technical detail of the EWRM is still in development by CD:RQS, DWA and the latest methods and models must be incorporated into the EWRM.

- The EWRM must be followed according to the specifications provided broadly in: Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2009. Operationalise the Reserve: Main Report. Prepared by Water for Africa. Compiled by D Louw and S Louw. Report no. RDM/NAT/05/CON/0907.
- The further refinements of EWRM and exact specifications as currently being developed by RQS, DWA should be used as baseline.
- EcoSpecs and Threshold of Concern provided in Appendix B should be applied during the EWRM.
- EWRM should be implemented at all the EWR sites as the minimum.
- The EWRM should be implemented immediately so that the information gained during the EWR study can form part of the baseline.
- The EWRM monitoring must be undertaken within a structured DSS.

17 CAPACITY BUILDING

Author: PA Scherman

One of the tasks of the Comprehensive Reserve studies co-ordinated by the CD:RDM of the DWA from 2007 to 2010, was the development of an Integrated Technical Training Programme (ITTP) for the studies. An integrated Training Report will be produced as output of this task, i.e. Report number RDM/TR-S/CRITR/01/2010, entitled Comprehensive Reserve Integrated Training Report - Training for Reserve specialists as part of the Vaal, Outeniqua, Mokolo and Crocodile east Comprehensive Reserves (2007 – 2010). The information provided in this chapter of the Main Report is therefore an outline of activities, with all analyses and detailed feedback for all specialist trainees appearing in the Integrated Training Report.

17.1 OBJECTIVE

The objective of the training task undertaken during the Comprehensive Reserve studies was to build capacity and conduct effective training on Reserve principles and methods. Training was focussed at the level of specialist trainees, i.e. persons who would act in the role of specialists in future Reserve studies. Note that the training programme presumed that trainees have an understanding of the Reserve concept and process. Training was primarily conducted in the form of specialist workshops, fieldwork and one-on-one training.

17.2 AIMS

The main aims of the training were to ensure that specialist trainees have developed or enhanced a range of Reserve-related skills:

- Developed an understanding of Ecological Water Requirements (EWR) and the process to be followed during the steps of a Reserve study.
- Developed an understanding of the role of each specialist within the broader Reserve process.
- Worked within a team to achieve EcoClassification, define EcoStatus and set flow requirements (where relevant).
- Understand the links between physical driver processes and biotic responses.
- Understand data formats (e.g. hydrological data), and the link between data collection in the field and how the data are presented.
- The ability to use the tools or software required by a specific discipline, and to understand the use of these tools.
- The ability to interpret information related to a specific discipline within the Reserve process.
- Developed an understanding of how flow requirements are set per indicator (where relevant).
- Developed an understanding of how to operate as a specialist within a particular field or component.
- Developed some knowledge regarding various components of a Reserve study, including setting Reserve requirements for different water resources (e.g. rivers, estuaries, groundwater, and wetlands).

17.3 OUTPUTS

The outputs of the training process were as follows:

- Training for specialists with limited Reserve experience, e.g. learning to set flow requirements for biological indicators and using EcoClassification models. These trainees were referred to as specialist trainees, and their training was considered an extension of their specialist skills. Note that specialist trainees were paired with mentors (i.e. study specialists) in their relevant field.
- Introducing trainees to the use of their specialist tools within a Reserve context. This category refers to less experienced trainees.
- Broadening the pool of specialists in fields where expertise is severely limited, i.e. hydrology, hydraulics and water quality specialists for Reserve assessment studies (Weston, CD: RDM, pers. comm.). Another specialist field that can be added to this list is geomorphology.
- Exposing staff from DWA's scientific services, e.g. Directorate: Resource Quality Services (D: RQS) and CD: RDM, to Reserve process and methods.

The Training Report being produced for this task, which will be finalized upon completion of the Vaal Reserve study, outlines activities, shortcomings and list recommendations for future training. The Training Report will contain the following information:

- An audit and evaluation of the training process.
- An assessment of each trainee's ability to operate within a Reserve team.
- A critical assessment of the training programme, within the confines of its scope and objectives.
- Additional training needs and recommendations.
- An evaluation of the success of training amongst previously disadvantaged groups, and specialist fields earmarked for capacity building (e.g. hydraulics).
- A database of specialists available for Reserve studies, and a comment on each person's level of expertise and experience within the Reserve field.

Mentor	Trainee	Component					
Delana Louw	Shileen Louw	Financial administration and coordination					
Donio Hughoo	Ryan Gray	SDATSIM and hydrology					
Denis nugries	Simon Johnson	SFATSINI and Hydrology					
Potov Sobormon	Chris Dickens	- Water quality					
Palsy Schenhan	Victor Wepener						
Drew Birkhead	Ahmed Desai	Hydraulics					
Neels Kleynhans	Piet Kotzé	Fish					
Mark Pountroo	Lindo Hlongwane	Geomorphology and wetlands (until mid-2009)					
Mark Nountiee	Nonkanyiso Maphumlo	Wetlands (until mid-2009)					
Mandy Llve	Ntaki Senoge	Macroinvortobratos					
wanuy Uys	Petro Jordaan	ואומטו טוווע בו נבטו מנכא					
James Mackenzie	Tony de Castro	Riparian vegetation					
Adhiahri Sinah	Byron Grant	Administrative management					
Auriisiin Siriyn	Petro Jordaan	Financial management/training coordination					
Koos Vivier	Stephanie Zimmerman	Groundwater					

17.4 MENTOR-TRAINEE TEAMS

17.5 TRAINING ACTIVITIES/APPROACH

Training activities need to be divided into project-specific activities vs. those related to the Integrated Technical Training Programme. Project-specific activities included trainee attendance at project workshops or training workshops, while activities of the ITTP included the following workshops:

• Workshop 1, 22-23 January 2008: Multi-disciplinary roles in defining EcoStatus and setting flow requirements during an Ecological Reserve study.
Aim: The training workshop focused on the links between flows and biotic responses. The principles of Ecological Water Requirements (EWR) were discussed per discipline, as well as the principle of integrating the various metrics to achieve EcoClassification and define EcoStatus. The workshop also covered the general process followed to set flow requirements per metric, i.e. for both driver and response indicators.

• Workshop 2, 26-27 March 2008: Habitat Flow Stressor-Response workshop. The agenda is shown in Appendix 2. A course evaluation questionnaire was not distributed as this workshop formed the basis of the one-to-one specialist training, which was covered in a questionnaire of November 2009.

Aim: This training workshop focussed on the application of the Habitat Flow-Stressor Response (HFSR) process during a specialist river workshop. The workshop was aimed at specialist trainees who worked within the following specialist teams:

- Invertebrate team led by Christa Thirion
- Fish team led by Neels Kleynhans
- Riparian vegetation team led by James Mackenzie
- Geomorphology team led by Mark Rountree
- Hydrological support provided by Delana Louw (with prior assistance by Denis Hughes)
- Hydraulic input provided by Drew Birkhead
- Yield modelling information provided by Stephen Mallory on day 2 of the workshop

17.6 TRAINING FEEDBACK

The success of training was evaluated with the use of the following:

- Questionnaire to gather training evaluation information from trainees. Questionnaires were completed following workshops, as well as for the training programme.
- Short reports from mentors.

17.7 TRAINEE DATABASE

One of the outcomes of this task is an evaluation of the training process and assessment of each trainee's ability and knowledge regarding EWRs. This information should be captured on a trainee database housed at CD:RDM, so that the following type of information can be available per trainee:

- Specialist field and mentor details per Reserve study
- Project exposure and dates, e.g. worked as a specialist trainee on the Thukela and Croc East Reserve studies.
- Level of expertise, e.g. specialist trainee level 1 (no previous exposure to Reserve studies). This information will enable CD: RDM to identify appropriately trained specialist for future studies, as well as build further capacity in fields where skills are lacking.
- Outcomes of performance evaluations on Reserves studies.
- It must be noted that the training provided by this study may be one step in the training process and that additional exposure to Reserve studies may be required for certain trainees before they are sufficiently capacitated to operate as specialists.

18 ELECTRONIC DATA

Electronic data supplied as part of this study are summarised in a Read Me file in Excel according to the structure of the electronic data. The Read Me file is provided below to indicate the information available electronically.

WILL BE INCLUDED WHEN COMPLETED

19 REFERENCES

Brown, C. and King, J. 2001 Environmental flow assessment for rivers. A summary of the DRIFT process. Southern Waters information Report No 01/00.

Burton, J. and Gerritsen, J. 2003. A Stream Condition Index for Virginia Non-Coastal Streams USEPA Office of Science and Technology, Office of Water, Washington, DC. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (1999). Resource Directed Measures for Protection of Water Resources. Volume 3: River Ecosystems Version 1.0, Pretoria

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, South Africa (DWAF). 2005. A practical field procedure for identification and delineation of wetland and riparian areas. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, Pretoria.

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, South Africa (DWAF). 2007. Resource Directed Measures: Comprehensive Reserve determination study of the Integrated Vaal River System. Water Resource Planning: Water Resource Use Priority Rating of the River Reaches in the Vaal River System. Report produced by WRP Consulting. Authored by Van Rooyen, P and Swart, S. Report no. RDM/C000/00/CON/0607.

Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, South Africa (DWAF). (2008) Updated Manual for the Identification and Delineation of Wetlands and Riparian Areas. Prepared by M. Rountree, A. L. Batchelor, J. MacKenzie and D. Hoare. Draft report submitted for Directorate: Stream Flow Reduction Activities, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, Pretoria, South Africa.

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa. 2009. Operationalise the Reserve: Main Report. Prepared by Water for Africa. Compiled by D Louw and S Louw. Report no. RDM/NAT/05/CON/0907.

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa (DWA). 2010. Intermediate Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Limpopo Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Mokolo River System: Electronic information and data. Prepared by Rivers for Africa and Clean Stream Biological Services. RDM Report no. 26/8/3/10/14/016.

Department of Water Affairs, South Africa (DWA). 2010b. Comprehensive Reserve Determination Study for Selected Water Resources (Rivers, Groundwater and Wetlands) in the Inkomati Water Management Area, Mpumalanga. Sabie and Crocodile Systems: Electronic information and data. RDM Report no 26/8/3/10/12/016.

Elzinga, C.L., Salzer, D.W., and Willoughby, J.W. 1998. "Measuring and monitoring plant populations". BLM Technical Reference 1730-1, BLM/RS/ST-98/005+1730.

Ewart-Smith, J.L., Ollis, D.J., Day, J.A., Malan, H.L. 2006. National Wetland Inventory: development of a wetland classification system for South Africa. WRC Report No. KV 174/06.

IWR Source-to-Sea (eds). 2004. A Comprehensive Ecoclassification and Habitat Flow Stressor Response Manual. Prepared for IWQS: DWAF, Project no: 2002-148.

King, J. M. and Louw, D. 1998. Instream flow assessments for regulated rivers in South Africa using the Building Block Methodology. Aquatic Ecosystem Health and Management 1: 109-124.

Kleynhans, C.J., Louw, M.D., Thirion, C., Rossouw, N.J., and Rowntree, K. 2005. River EcoClassification: Manual for EcoStatus determination (Version 1). Joint Water Research Commission and Department of Water Affairs and Forestry report. WRC Report No. KV 168/05.

Kleynhans C.J. and Louw M.D. 2007. Module A: EcoClassification and EcoStatus determination in River EcoClassification: Manual for EcoStatus Determination (version 2). Joint Water Research Commission and Department of Water Affairs and Forestry report. WRC Report No. TT329-08.

Kleynhans, C.J., Louw, M.D., Birkhead, A.L., Thirion, C., Deacon, A., Angliss, M., Maseti, P., Rodgers, S and Weston, B. 2009. On the way to implementation: Ecological reserve Monitoring. International Conference on Implementing Environmental Water Allocations (IEWA), Port Elizabeth – South Africa 23-26 February 2009.

Louw, MD and Hughes, DA. 2002. Resource Directed Measures for Protection of Water Resources: River Ecosystems - Revision of the quantity component. Unpublished report. Prepared for the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, South Africa by IWR Source to Sea.

Louw & Singh, April 2006. State of the aquatic ecosystems in the Inkomati WMA. Produced for Contract no WFSP/WRM/CON2006: Undertake an assessment of the current water allocation status and potential for establishing viable water-using enterprises in the Olifants and InKomati WMAs.

Mallory, S. 2007. Description of study area. Pers comms.

Mallory SJL, Odendaal P, Desai A. 2008. The Water Resources Modelling Platform User's Guide. Version 3. <u>www.waterresources.co.za</u>

Milner, A.M. 1994. System recovery. In, P.Calow & G.E. Petts (eds.): The rivers handbook. Vol. 2. Blackwell Scientific Publications. London.

NATIONAL WATER ACT (NWA) (1998). Act No 36 of 1998. Republic of South Africa Government Gazette, Vol 398, No 19182, Government Printer, Pretoria, South Africa. pp. 200.

Noble, RG, Hemens, J. (1978). Inland water ecosystems in South Africa - a review of research needs. South African National Scientific Programmes Report No. 34: 150 pp.

Omernik, JM. (1987). Ecoregions of the conterminous United Sites. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 77:118 – 125.

O'Keeffe, J.H., Hughes, D.A. and Tharme, R. 2002. Linking ecological responses to altered flows, for use in environmental flow assessments: the Flow Stress-Response method. Proceedings of the International Association of Theoretical and Applied Limnology, 28, 84-92.

Resh, V.H., A.V. Brown, A.P. Covich, M.E. Gurtz, H.W. Li, G.W. Minshall, S.R. Reice, A.L. Sheldon, J.B. Wallace & R.C. Wissmar. 1988. The role of disturbance theory in stream ecology. Journal of the North American Benthological Society. 7: 433-455.

Rountree, M.W. and Batchelor, A.L. (in prep). A proposed wetland classification system for Southern Africa.

SANBI, draft. South African National Biodiversity Institute's Wetland Probability Map (SANBI, draft) (shapefile of wetland distribution across South Africa). Used in this project with the kind permission of SANBI.

APPENDIX A

Table A. 1:EWR Table and Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 1 in Quaternary
Catchment X21A

EWR Table

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (MCM)	15.191
BFI index	0.5	Distrib	ution type		Eastern escarpment
	LOW F	LOWS		HIGH	FLOWS
MONTH	Maintenance (m ³ /s)	Drought (m ³ /s)	Daily average (r on top of base	n³/s) flow	Duration (days)
OCTOBER	0.065	0.020			
NOVEMBER	0.093	0.035	1		3
DECEMBER	0.111	0.045	1		3
JANUARY	0.157	0.069	3		3
FEBRUARY	0.200	0.090			
MARCH	0.173	0.077	1		3
APRIL	0.166	0.073			
ΜΑΥ	0.138	0.059			
JUNE	0.114	0.046			
JULY	0.091	0.034			
AUGUST	0.071	0.023			
SEPTEMBER	0.060	0.018			
TOTAL MCM	3.765	1.539	0.933		
% OF VIRGIN	24.78	10.13	6.14		

EWR Rule

Total Ecol	ogical Rese	rve flows								
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%
Oct	0.078	0.077	0.077	0.075	0.073	0.068	0.059	0.047	0.033	0.021
Nov	0.177	0.176	0.174	0.171	0.164	0.152	0.132	0.104	0.07	0.044
Dec	0.196	0.195	0.193	0.19	0.182	0.169	0.148	0.117	0.081	0.054
Jan	0.526	0.48	0.44	0.404	0.367	0.307	0.266	0.209	0.142	0.093
Feb	0.239	0.238	0.236	0.232	0.225	0.211	0.189	0.158	0.121	0.094
Mar	0.32	0.304	0.29	0.276	0.259	0.232	0.205	0.167	0.121	0.087
Apr	0.198	0.198	0.197	0.194	0.188	0.177	0.159	0.132	0.1	0.076
May	0.165	0.165	0.164	0.161	0.157	0.148	0.133	0.11	0.083	0.062
Jun	0.136	0.136	0.135	0.133	0.13	0.122	0.11	0.09	0.066	0.048
Jul	0.109	0.109	0.108	0.107	0.104	0.098	0.088	0.072	0.051	0.036
Aug	0.085	0.085	0.084	0.083	0.08	0.075	0.067	0.053	0.037	0.025
Sep	0.072	0.072	0.071	0.07	0.067	0.063	0.055	0.044	0.03	0.019
Reserve fl	ows without	High Flow	ıs							-
Oct	0.078	0.077	0.077	0.075	0.073	0.068	0.059	0.047	0.033	0.021
Nov	0.111	0.111	0.11	0.108	0.104	0.097	0.086	0.07	0.051	0.037
Dec	0.133	0.132	0.131	0.129	0.124	0.116	0.103	0.085	0.063	0.047
Jan	0.188	0.187	0.185	0.182	0.175	0.164	0.147	0.122	0.093	0.072

Feb 0.239 0.238 0.236 0.232 0.225 0.211 0.189 0.158 0.158 Mar 0.207 0.206 0.205 0.201 0.195 0.183 0.164 0.137 0.166 Apr 0.198 0.198 0.197 0.194 0.188 0.177 0.159 0.132 0.196 May 0.165 0.165 0.164 0.161 0.157 0.148 0.133 0.11 0.006 Jun 0.136 0.136 0.135 0.133 0.13 0.122 0.11 0.09 0.006	1 0.094 4 0.08 1 0.076 3 0.062 5 0.048
Mar 0.207 0.206 0.205 0.201 0.195 0.183 0.164 0.137 0.164 Apr 0.198 0.198 0.197 0.194 0.188 0.177 0.159 0.132 0 May 0.165 0.165 0.164 0.161 0.157 0.148 0.133 0.11 0.00 Jun 0.136 0.136 0.135 0.133 0.13 0.122 0.11 0.09 0.00	4 0.08 1 0.076 3 0.062 6 0.048
Apr 0.198 0.198 0.197 0.194 0.188 0.177 0.159 0.132 0 May 0.165 0.165 0.164 0.161 0.157 0.148 0.133 0.11 0.00 Jun 0.136 0.136 0.135 0.133 0.13 0.122 0.11 0.09 0.00	1 0.076 3 0.062 6 0.048
May 0.165 0.165 0.164 0.161 0.157 0.148 0.133 0.11 0.04 Jun 0.136 0.136 0.135 0.133 0.13 0.122 0.11 0.09 0.00	3 0.062 6 0.048
Jun 0.136 0.136 0.135 0.133 0.13 0.122 0.11 0.09 0.0	6 0.048
	4 0.000
Jul 0.109 0.109 0.108 0.107 0.104 0.098 0.088 0.072 0.08	0.036
Aug 0.085 0.085 0.084 0.083 0.08 0.075 0.067 0.053 0.04	7 0.025
Sep 0.072 0.072 0.071 0.07 0.067 0.063 0.055 0.044 0.0	3 0.019
Natural Duration curves	
Oct 0.314 0.261 0.224 0.179 0.161 0.149 0.138 0.119 0.10	5 0.09
Nov 0.683 0.536 0.436 0.367 0.328 0.305 0.255 0.239 0.2	2 0.147
Dec 1.292 0.743 0.638 0.556 0.485 0.452 0.407 0.362 0.2	6 0.175
Jan 2.838 1.915 0.795 0.68 0.597 0.553 0.508 0.459 0.	7 0.276
Feb 2.414 1.736 1.062 0.885 0.74 0.69 0.599 0.525 0.4	5 0.38
Mar 1.307 0.87 0.765 0.724 0.635 0.594 0.519 0.47 0.4	4 0.287
Apr 0.729 0.656 0.586 0.513 0.482 0.444 0.428 0.363 0.3	3 0.224
May 0.47 0.377 0.362 0.329 0.295 0.276 0.246 0.217 0.1	9 0.157
Jun 0.336 0.255 0.239 0.224 0.212 0.197 0.181 0.162 0.1	9 0.116
Jul 0.254 0.231 0.187 0.175 0.164 0.157 0.149 0.134 0.1	9 0.105
Aug 0.198 0.175 0.157 0.146 0.134 0.131 0.119 0.112 0.10	1 0.09
Sep 0.224 0.174 0.147 0.135 0.123 0.112 0.108 0.096 0.00	5 0.073

Table A. 2: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 2 in X21B

EWR Table

Desktop v	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (I	MCM)	47.111
BFI index	0.5	Distrib	ution type		Eastern escarpment
	LOW F	LOWS		HIG	GH FLOWS
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average (n	n ³ /s)	Duration (days)
	(m [*] /s)	(m [*] /s)	on top of base f	IOW	
OCTOBER	0.384	0.187			
NOVEMBER	0.568	0.242	3		3
DECEMBER	0.692	0.275	3		3
JANUARY	0.987	0.360	3		3
FEBRUARY	1.270	0.450	9		4
MARCH	1.104	0.394	3		3
APRIL	1.057	0.383	3		3
MAY	0.874	0.328			
JUNE	0.716	0.285			
JULY	0.567	0.240			
AUGUST	0.425	0.199			
SEPTEMBER	0.350	0.180			
TOTAL MCM 23.528		9.225	3.499		
% OF VIRGIN	49.94	19.58	7.43		

EWR Rule

Total Ecol	logical Res	erve flows								
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%
Oct	0.459	0.458	0.455	0.449	0.436	0.413	0.373	0.316	0.246	0.194

Comprehensive	Reserve D	etermination	study for th	he Inkomati	River Syste	m (WMA5)
Comprenensive	Neserve D	elemmation	siddy ioi ii		Niver Syste	

Total Eco	ogical Rese	erve flows								
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%
Nov	0.876	0.873	0.865	0.849	0.819	0.764	0.674	0.544	0.39	0.275
Dec	1.017	1.013	1.004	0.984	0.947	0.882	0.776	0.623	0.444	0.31
Jan	1.518	1.467	1.416	1.36	1.286	1.16	1.016	0.812	0.576	0.401
Feb	2.828	2.649	2.488	2.333	2.164	1.876	1.632	1.28	0.867	0.559
Mar	1.657	1.608	1.559	1.502	1.427	1.296	1.139	0.911	0.64	0.438
Apr	1.263	1.26	1.25	1.229	1.188	1.112	0.986	0.799	0.574	0.405
May	1.044	1.043	1.036	1.02	0.988	0.929	0.828	0.675	0.488	0.346
Jun	0.856	0.855	0.837	0.806	0.752	0.706	0.652	0.565	0.414	0.3
Jul	0.678	0.678	0.674	0.635	0.597	0.564	0.538	0.46	0.342	0.252
Aug	0.508	0.508	0.505	0.498	0.485	0.46	0.417	0.351	0.269	0.207
Sep	0.418	0.418	0.416	0.41	0.4	0.38	0.346	0.296	0.233	0.186
Reserve fl	ows withou	it High Flo	ws							
Oct	0.459	0.458	0.455	0.449	0.436	0.413	0.373	0.316	0.246	0.194
Nov	0.679	0.677	0.671	0.66	0.638	0.6	0.536	0.444	0.335	0.253
Dec	0.827	0.824	0.816	0.802	0.774	0.724	0.643	0.527	0.39	0.289
Jan	1.179	1.173	1.161	1.138	1.094	1.018	0.896	0.725	0.527	0.38
Feb	1.517	1.511	1.497	1.468	1.414	1.318	1.162	0.937	0.673	0.476
Mar	1.319	1.315	1.303	1.279	1.233	1.151	1.016	0.821	0.59	0.417
Apr	1.263	1.26	1.25	1.229	1.188	1.112	0.986	0.799	0.574	0.405
May	1.044	1.043	1.036	1.02	0.988	0.929	0.828	0.675	0.488	0.346
Jun	0.856	0.855	0.837	0.806	0.752	0.706	0.652	0.565	0.414	0.3
Jul	0.678	0.678	0.674	0.635	0.597	0.564	0.538	0.46	0.342	0.252
Aug	0.508	0.508	0.505	0.498	0.485	0.46	0.417	0.351	0.269	0.207
Sep	0.418	0.418	0.416	0.41	0.4	0.38	0.346	0.296	0.233	0.186
NaturalDu	rationcurve	es.								
Oct	1.09	0.922	0.795	0.65	0,586	0.541	0.5	0.444	0.381	0.336
Nov	2.114	1.782	1.47	1.235	1.092	1.042	0.876	0.822	0.725	0.509
Dec	3.252	2.319	2.012	1.773	1.553	1.441	1.281	1.154	0.885	0.571
Jan	6.941	4.529	2.509	2.121	1.859	1.71	1.542	1.422	1.15	0.851
Feb	6.01	4.543	3.237	2.708	2.278	2.125	1.844	1.62	1.463	1.195
Mar	4.208	2.856	2.427	2.36	2.012	1.897	1.65	1.478	1.288	0.9
Apr	2.423	2.184	1.914	1.717	1.566	1.431	1.373	1.192	1.007	0.741
May	1.617	1.296	1.21	1.098	1.019	0.956	0.829	0.743	0.62	0.53
Jun	1.204	0.91	0.837	0.806	0.752	0.706	0.652	0.579	0.513	0.417
Jul	0.922	0.825	0.687	0.635	0.597	0.564	0.538	0.485	0.437	0.373
Aug	0.713	0.646	0.579	0.534	0.5	0.474	0.437	0.418	0.381	0.336
Sep	0.802	0.633	0.536	0.494	0.451	0.421	0.397	0.367	0.324	0.274

Table A. 3: EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 3 in X21E

Determination based on modelled present day hydrology in m3/s Regional Type: E. Escarpment **PES = B/C Present day hydrology as the EWR**

Months	0.1%	1%	5%	10%	15%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	85%	90%	95%	99%	99.9%
Jan	45.53	36.91	27.73	21.13	17.26	11.88	7.85	6.66	5.59	4.41	3.21	2.63	2.06	1.63	1.34	0.98	0.89
Feb	75.57	69.38	36.07	22.12	19.20	15.95	12.58	9.54	7.58	6.46	5.25	4.29	3.39	2.43	1.73	1.49	1.19
Mar	34.74	32.83	24.85	17.43	14.92	12.82	10.40	9.00	7.38	6.39	5.53	4.31	4.11	3.47	2.52	1.93	1.48
Apr	22.47	17.96	13.13	11.11	9.49	8.83	7.69	6.54	5.95	5.07	4.62	4.29	3.78	3.10	2.35	1.44	1.40
Мау	9.42	8.82	7.73	6.73	5.86	5.44	4.82	4.42	4.15	3.79	3.48	3.02	2.79	2.64	2.36	1.77	1.65
Jun	7.35	7.34	6.92	5.84	5.44	5.15	4.80	4.25	3.98	3.67	3.17	2.93	2.69	2.55	2.29	1.71	1.69
Jul	6.51	6.33	5.96	5.32	4.86	4.55	3.82	3.58	3.16	3.02	2.82	2.56	2.46	2.11	1.89	1.64	1.12
Aug	6.03	5.98	5.61	5.05	4.81	4.36	4.10	3.72	3.48	3.19	2.81	2.29	2.09	1.97	1.65	1.30	1.21
Sep	4.42	4.31	4.02	3.52	3.30	3.17	2.54	2.22	1.92	1.73	1.44	1.28	1.14	1.01	0.68	0.57	0.53

					-			-									
Oct	6.56	5.71	4.53	4.23	3.95	3.70	2.99	2.78	2.41	2.02	1.43	1.12	1.06	0.91	0.78	0.72	0.70
Nov	28.80	25.03	8.52	6.62	5.63	5.17	3.77	3.08	2.55	1.91	1.57	1.09	1.02	0.96	0.86	0.72	0.70
Dec	26.75	20.78	14.77	9.92	8.56	7.28	5.81	4.25	3.45	2.66	1.87	1.56	1.53	1.35	1.14	0.96	0.87

Table A. 4:EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 4 in X22K

Determination based on modelled present day hydrology in m3/s Regional Type: E. Escarpment **PES = C Present day hydrology as the EWR**

Months	0.1%	1%	5%	10%	15%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	85%	90%	95%	99%	99.9%
Jan	120.96	110.14	82.85	71.69	54.06	42.06	35.29	25.52	20.65	18.02	13.70	11.70	10.56	9.80	8.02	7.55	7.21
Feb	264.03	256.99	146.77	96.66	91.59	68.97	44.51	29.45	25.28	21.95	18.48	15.09	14.56	13.38	10.94	9.74	8.04
Mar	217.56	188.53	100.62	75.06	65.04	46.69	33.05	27.72	21.80	18.63	16.67	14.82	13.48	11.82	10.42	7.72	6.85
Apr	135.26	66.45	40.27	32.31	29.44	26.90	22.47	19.51	16.93	14.63	13.29	12.00	10.69	9.84	7.93	6.76	6.69
Мау	23.89	23.14	20.10	17.05	14.66	13.12	11.22	10.34	9.17	7.58	6.56	6.43	6.37	6.18	5.83	4.85	4.82
Jun	15.08	14.72	12.32	11.44	9.67	8.31	7.01	6.51	6.40	6.35	6.29	6.11	5.97	5.90	5.60	5.05	4.41
Jul	11.02	10.81	10.07	8.98	7.87	7.34	5.98	5.91	5.87	5.76	5.66	5.47	5.32	5.24	5.07	4.85	4.56
Aug	14.01	10.36	8.89	7.21	6.38	5.93	5.81	5.78	5.72	5.63	5.59	5.50	5.45	5.30	5.22	4.95	4.93
Sep	14.62	12.44	10.85	9.15	8.14	6.73	6.00	5.92	5.72	5.65	5.54	5.44	5.37	5.26	5.18	4.93	4.88
Oct	16.61	16.24	12.72	11.43	10.55	8.88	6.72	6.16	6.04	5.94	5.91	5.82	5.71	5.59	5.46	5.14	4.88
Nov	59.07	45.79	30.05	20.68	18.38	17.08	14.63	12.07	9.83	7.92	7.21	7.11	7.01	7.00	6.47	6.20	5.96
Dec	91.78	61.45	52.21	43.67	29.39	25.22	21.39	17.59	14.26	11.86	10.04	8.71	8.24	7.41	7.16	6.76	6.59

Table A. 5: EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 5 in X24D

Determination based on modelled present day hydrology in m3/s Regional Type: E. Escarpment **PES = C Present day hydrology as the EWR**

Month																	
s	0.1%	1%	5%	10%	15%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	85%	90%	95%	99%	99.9%
Jan	140.42	134.23	111.35	87.74	75.19	52.02	38.51	29.73	23.78	20.31	14.44	10.23	9.41	7.40	7.30	6.57	5.82
Feb	349.02	292.11	165.23	124.83	112.88	81.55	48.90	33.75	25.32	22.75	18.68	15.07	14.02	10.57	8.39	6.19	6.11
Mar	270.17	236.43	133.02	90.90	68.18	47.91	37.88	31.01	22.99	17.24	14.71	10.95	9.45	7.56	5.57	5.36	5.32
Apr	192.44	99.24	54.63	36.77	31.07	30.11	26.64	19.09	15.74	12.38	8.84	7.68	6.79	5.89	5.53	5.29	5.26
Мау	41.35	30.13	20.15	17.67	13.74	11.71	8.50	7.40	6.62	5.81	5.63	5.54	5.44	5.33	5.22	5.01	4.96
Jun	19.21	15.55	10.58	8.29	7.89	7.06	5.83	5.75	5.69	5.59	5.54	5.46	5.37	5.28	5.03	4.68	4.62
Jul	9.69	8.88	7.88	7.21	6.91	5.84	5.54	5.46	5.37	5.30	5.27	5.20	5.04	4.99	4.79	2.69	1.96
Aug	11.70	8.15	6.78	6.49	6.20	5.98	5.48	5.39	5.35	5.32	5.22	5.09	5.02	4.89	3.58	3.08	2.05
Sep	13.56	12.33	9.69	6.48	6.38	6.35	6.17	5.71	5.57	5.50	5.34	5.30	5.16	5.09	3.24	2.19	2.03
Oct	17.37	16.26	11.83	10.24	7.86	6.63	6.32	6.16	6.04	5.48	5.40	5.28	5.06	4.94	3.44	2.40	1.95
Nov	64.83	60.08	40.97	24.55	20.16	18.34	14.10	11.41	8.96	7.39	6.68	6.10	5.90	5.86	5.65	3.99	1.88
Dec	124.47	85.19	71.92	56.46	38.87	35.18	27.41	18.68	14.05	10.64	8.80	7.43	7.09	6.55	5.85	3.97	3.85

Table A. 6: EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR site 6 in X24H

Determination based on modelled present day hydrology in m3/s

Regional Type: E. Escarpment **PES = C Present day hydrology as the EWR**

	,																
Months	0.1%	1%	5%	10%	15%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	85%	90%	95%	99%	99.9%
lan	162.24	146.40	105 56	02.42	70 10	40.45	25 10	26.20	10 42	16.00	0.76	5 50	E 07	2.40	2.05	2.05	1 46
Jan	163.34	146.49	125.50	93.13	72.10	49.15	35.19	20.30	19.43	16.08	9.70	5.58	5.07	3.48	2.85	2.05	1.40

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

Feb	390.37	365.45	176.05	129.68	111.69	87.93	44.01	30.60	20.90	18.86	13.83	11.26	9.68	6.13	3.87	1.02	0.94
Mar	313.36	307.18	128.50	96.95	66.72	44.47	34.84	27.75	19.79	13.46	10.80	6.90	5.97	4.44	1.13	0.95	0.91
Apr	260.62	115.51	51.98	41.43	27.57	26.14	22.59	15.82	12.21	8.79	4.68	3.61	2.52	1.42	1.13	0.89	0.89
Мау	54.90	32.57	18.08	13.72	10.97	7.96	5.07	3.88	3.06	1.69	1.50	1.36	1.32	1.27	1.05	0.92	0.89
Jun	20.79	12.62	6.43	4.97	4.25	3.24	1.92	1.65	1.58	1.54	1.42	1.38	1.35	1.33	1.30	1.17	1.07
Jul	7.37	5.59	4.20	4.06	3.48	2.82	2.18	1.64	1.59	1.53	1.48	1.38	1.30	1.26	1.15	0.90	0.60
Aug	7.98	5.06	3.86	3.38	3.25	3.03	2.19	1.64	1.60	1.56	1.48	1.42	1.38	1.27	1.00	0.51	0.43
Sep	9.55	8.42	5.76	3.54	3.35	3.27	3.07	2.08	1.52	1.44	1.41	1.37	1.33	1.26	1.10	0.80	0.65
Oct	13.92	12.95	7.58	6.16	3.85	3.50	3.18	3.04	2.36	1.70	1.45	1.30	1.22	1.15	1.05	0.83	0.48
Nov	61.45	56.58	37.40	19.92	17.12	14.32	10.55	7.39	5.10	3.80	3.09	1.46	1.14	1.03	0.95	0.72	0.10
Dec	135.56	85.16	68.36	53.28	35.56	31.96	23.76	14.20	10.41	6.17	4.51	3.57	3.21	2.37	1.47	1.14	1.14

Table A. 7: EWR Rule for the Crocodile River at the EWR 7 in X23H

Determination based on modelled present day hydrology in m3/s Regional Type: E. Escarpment **PES = C Present day hydrology as the EWR**

Months	0.1%	1%	5%	10%	15%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	85%	90%	95%	99%	99.9%
Jan	32.35	22.56	17.47	8.49	6.12	5.75	4.45	3.37	2.64	1.88	1.32	0.82	0.72	0.42	0.22	0.00	0.00
Feb	74.39	54.72	23.28	16.21	14.47	7.46	4.16	3.38	2.84	2.27	1.80	1.25	0.95	0.85	0.47	0.39	0.05
Mar	42.19	40.79	20.66	13.14	9.15	7.20	4.74	3.44	2.80	2.15	1.67	1.27	1.01	0.65	0.34	0.07	0.02
Apr	14.62	13.75	7.08	6.15	4.91	3.95	3.24	2.87	2.32	1.85	1.23	0.76	0.54	0.34	0.20	0.00	0.00
Мау	5.39	4.99	3.47	2.79	2.46	1.98	1.53	1.17	0.97	0.80	0.47	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Jun	3.22	2.85	2.44	1.88	1.49	1.28	0.92	0.65	0.52	0.40	0.29	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Jul	2.09	2.03	1.81	1.40	1.19	0.96	0.78	0.53	0.38	0.28	0.20	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Aug	2.59	1.90	1.36	1.18	0.94	0.77	0.58	0.44	0.34	0.20	0.16	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Sep	2.87	2.82	2.29	1.60	1.25	1.12	0.88	0.72	0.64	0.55	0.47	0.41	0.35	0.22	0.14	0.07	0.05
Oct	3.18	3.04	2.54	2.09	1.74	1.38	0.93	0.77	0.60	0.43	0.33	0.25	0.21	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00
Nov	9.11	7.65	5.72	4.66	3.94	3.59	2.78	1.89	1.14	0.82	0.58	0.18	0.12	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Dec	21.01	14.79	8.16	7.27	5.98	4.60	3.01	2.34	1.79	1.29	0.81	0.51	0.35	0.19	0.02	0.00	0.00

Table A. 8: EWR Table and Rule for the Sabie River at the EWR 1 in X31B: B REC

EWR Table: B REC

[Desktop version:		2 Virgin MAR (MCM)	140.18				
BFI index	0.5	517	Distribution type	Eastern Escarpment				
	LOW F	LOWS	HIG	H FLOWS				
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average (m ³ /s)	Duration (days)				
	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	on top of base flow					
OCTOBER	1.25	0.4	6	4				
NOVEMBER	1.5	0.451	6	4				
DECEMBER	1.8	0.494	6	4				
JANUARY	2.1	0.569	15	5				
FEBRUARY	2.8	0.722	6	4				
MARCH	2.75	0.677						
APRIL	2.6	0.661	6	4				
MAY	2.25	0.598						
JUNE	2.1	0.567						
JULY	1.7	0.492						
AUGUST	1.44	0.439						
SEPTEMBER	1.3	0.417						
TOTAL MCM	61.81	17.007	8.515					
% OF VIRGIN	44.09	12.13	6.07					
TOTAL IFR			70.324					
% OF NMAR			50.17					

EWR Rule: B REC

Total Ecological Reserve flows												
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%		
Oct	1.938	1.932	1.909	1.732	1.534	1.456	1.299	0.959	0.64	0.464		
Nov	2.251	2.241	2.21	2.144	2.017	1.798	1.476	1.083	0.72	0.52		
Dec	2.594	2.58	2.542	2.461	2.308	2.049	1.671	1.215	0.796	0.567		
Jan	4.911	4.515	4.165	3.82	3.204	2.822	2.278	1.634	1.049	0.729		
Feb	4.287	4.121	3.951	3.747	3.371	2.991	2.436	1.766	1.151	0.814		
Mar	3.284	3.268	3.223	3.125	2.936	2.612	2.134	1.552	1.013	0.718		
Apr	3.564	3.553	3.508	3.41	3.214	2.868	2.344	1.694	1.084	0.748		
Мау	2.687	2.682	2.654	2.588	2.454	2.209	1.828	1.345	0.885	0.631		
Jun	2.508	2.505	2.48	2.422	2.301	2.078	1.725	1.272	0.838	0.598		
Jul	2.03	2.03	2.013	1.972	1.882	1.711	1.434	1.07	0.714	0.517		
Aug	1.72	1.718	1.702	1.664	1.584	1.436	1.203	0.904	0.618	0.46		
Sep	1.553	1.55	1.535	1.499	1.426	1.293	1.086	0.823	0.573	0.435		
Reserve flo	ws without H	ligh Flows										
Oct	1.493	1.489	1.472	1.434	1.359	1.227	1.027	0.778	0.546	0.417		
Nov	1.792	1.784	1.76	1.71	1.613	1.446	1.2	0.901	0.624	0.472		
Dec	2.15	2.138	2.107	2.043	1.92	1.712	1.408	1.041	0.704	0.52		
Jan	2.508	2.49	2.45	2.368	2.217	1.968	1.612	1.19	0.808	0.599		
Feb	3.343	3.325	3.277	3.175	2.98	2.65	2.169	1.588	1.055	0.763		
Mar	3.284	3.268	3.223	3.125	2.936	2.612	2.134	1.552	1.013	0.718		
Apr	3.105	3.095	3.057	2.973	2.806	2.51	2.063	1.507	0.986	0.7		
Мау	2.687	2.682	2.654	2.588	2.454	2.209	1.828	1.345	0.885	0.631		
Jun	2.508	2.505	2.48	2.422	2.301	2.078	1.725	1.272	0.838	0.598		
Jul	2.03	2.03	2.013	1.972	1.882	1.711	1.434	1.07	0.714	0.517		
Aug	1.72	1.718	1.702	1.664	1.584	1.436	1.203	0.904	0.618	0.46		
Sep	1.553	1.55	1.535	1.499	1.426	1.293	1.086	0.823	0.573	0.435		
Natural Du	ration curves											
Oct	2.599	2.266	1.971	1.732	1.534	1.456	1.359	1.273	1.116	0.971		
Nov	5.694	4.001	3.576	3.171	2.805	2.485	2.157	1.825	1.47	1.138		
Dec	8.714	7.116	5.727	4.966	4.085	3.562	3.147	2.789	2.431	1.665		
Jan	14.363	10.488	8.02	6.369	5.608	5.141	4.096	3.726	3.091	2.767		
Feb	20.685	16.1	11.76	7.688	6.758	6.114	4.952	4.415	3.191	2.501		
Mar	16.831	10.895	8.621	8.094	6.16	4.884	4.238	3.775	3.338	2.263		
Apr	8.931	7.222	6.046	5.285	4.699	4.109	3.789	3.383	3.09	2.153		
Мау	4.54	4.088	3.864	3.539	3.442	3.017	2.722	2.55	2.296	1.725		
Jun	3.546	3.079	2.859	2.735	2.689	2.6	2.265	2.068	1.867	1.454		
Jul	2.819	2.483	2.352	2.147	2.05	1.968	1.826	1.669	1.508	1.292		
Aug	2.236	2.087	1.874	1.807	1.688	1.62	1.512	1.441	1.325	1.094		
Sep	2.211	2.06	1.69	1.609	1.52	1.447	1.366	1.3	1.188	1.003		

Table A. 9: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Sabie River at the EWR 2 in X31D: B REC

EWR Table: B REC

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (I	MCM)	262.106			
BFI index	0.517	Distrib	ution type		Eastern Escarpment			
	LOW F	LOWS	HIGH FLOWS					
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average (m ³ /s)		Duration (days)			
	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	on top of base flow					
OCTOBER	1.598	0.747						
NOVEMBER	1.904	0.815	10		4			
DECEMBER	2.265	0.861	10		4			
JANUARY	2.797	0.952	10		4			
FEBRUARY	3 772	1 170	10		4			
I EBI(0) I(()	0.772	1.170	20		5			
MARCH	3.619	1.093	10		4			
APRIL	3.461	1.082						
MAY	3.028	0.992						

JUNE	2.774	0.964							
JULY	2.274	0.863							
AUGUST	1.897	0.798							
SEPTEMBER	1.692	0.779							
TOTAL MCM	81.420	29.155	13.159						
% OF VIRGIN	31.06	11.12	5.02						
TOTAL IFR		94.597							
% OF NMAR	36.08								

EWR Rule: B REC

Total Ecological Reserve flows												
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%		
Oct	1.91	1.907	1.893	1.866	1.811	1.711	1.544	1.297	1	0.776		
Nov	3.041	3.031	3.004	2.948	2.841	2.65	2.336	1.881	1.342	0.939		
Dec	3.447	3.434	3.4	3.332	3.204	2.977	2.608	2.079	1.455	0.991		
Jan	4.657	4.465	4.281	4.084	3.84	3.424	2.98	2.355	1.63	1.093		
Feb	9.243	8.598	8.022	7.476	6.892	5.9	5.092	3.933	2.567	1.55		
Mar	5.638	5.449	5.261	5.052	4.777	4.3	3.741	2.933	1.973	1.256		
Apr	4.134	4.124	4.089	4.017	3.874	3.612	3.173	2.526	1.746	1.159		
Мау	3.617	3.612	3.585	3.528	3.413	3.196	2.824	2.265	1.579	1.059		
Jun	3.314	3.311	3.289	3.239	3.139	2.949	2.619	2.117	1.497	1.025		
Jul	2.717	2.717	2.701	2.666	2.592	2.449	2.193	1.796	1.296	0.912		
Aug	2.267	2.265	2.251	2.221	2.158	2.039	1.833	1.519	1.131	0.836		
Sep	2.023	2.02	2.008	1.98	1.926	1.823	1.647	1.382	1.057	0.811		
Reserve fl	ows without	High Flows										
Oct	1.91	1.907	1.893	1.866	1.811	1.711	1.544	1.297	1	0.776		
Nov	2.276	2.269	2.25	2.212	2.14	2.01	1.798	1.49	1.124	0.851		
Dec	2.706	2.696	2.672	2.622	2.528	2.362	2.091	1.704	1.247	0.907		
Jan	3.341	3.324	3.289	3.22	3.092	2.87	2.516	2.018	1.438	1.01		
Feb	4.505	4.487	4.442	4.353	4.183	3.882	3.394	2.693	1.867	1.253		
Mar	4.322	4.307	4.266	4.183	4.023	3.736	3.266	2.585	1.777	1.173		
Apr	4.134	4.124	4.089	4.017	3.874	3.612	3.173	2.526	1.746	1.159		
Мау	3.617	3.612	3.585	3.528	3.413	3.196	2.824	2.265	1.579	1.059		
Jun	3.314	3.311	3.289	3.239	3.139	2.949	2.619	2.117	1.497	1.025		
Jul	2.717	2.717	2.701	2.666	2.592	2.449	2.193	1.796	1.296	0.912		
Aug	2.267	2.265	2.251	2.221	2.158	2.039	1.833	1.519	1.131	0.836		
Sep	2.023	2.02	2.008	1.98	1.926	1.823	1.647	1.382	1.057	0.811		
NaturalDu	rationcurves											
Oct	4.828	4.182	3.704	3.166	2.838	2.707	2.55	2.378	2.08	1.807		
Nov	9.869	7.284	6.508	5.768	5.193	4.506	4.035	3.376	2.758	2.153		
Dec	17.723	13.766	10.82	9.256	7.628	6.627	5.873	5.052	4.533	3.02		
Jan	25.414	19.12	14.539	11.862	10.73	9.177	7.803	6.918	5.899	5.178		
Feb	39.249	30.638	21.077	14.335	12.831	11.351	9.206	8.011	5.824	4.506		
Mar	32.239	20.677	17.443	15.308	11.193	9.334	7.833	6.918	5.985	4.159		
Apr	17.215	13.519	11.304	9.776	8.731	7.793	7.029	6.265	5.694	3.931		
Мау	8.434	7.643	7.243	6.694	6.437	5.701	5.089	4.772	4.297	3.174		
Jun	6.694	5.849	5.417	5.174	5.085	4.784	4.244	3.87	3.534	2.704		
Jul	5.335	4.663	4.421	4.025	3.846	3.737	3.401	3.155	2.864	2.386		
Aug	4.282	3.943	3.543	3.409	3.203	3.043	2.838	2.692	2.468	2.012		
Sep	4.147	3.897	3.241	3.025	2.897	2.728	2.585	2.423	2.238	1.852		

Table A. 10: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Sabie River at the EWR 3 in X31K: A/B REC

EWR Table: A/B REC

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (MCM)		495.858		
BFI index	0.499	Distrib	ution type	Ea	stern Escarpment		
	LOW F	LOWS	HIGH FLOWS				
MONTH	Maintenance (m ³ /s)	Drought (m³/s)	Daily average (m ³ /s) on top of base flow		Duration (days)		
OCTOBER	2.703	1.090					
NOVEMBER	3.362	1.234	8		3		

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR	(MCM)	495.858				
BFI index	0.499	Distrib	ution type	Ea	astern Escarpment				
	LOW F	LOWS		HIGH FL	OWS				
MONTH	Maintenance (m ³ /s)	Drought (m³/s)	Daily average on top of bas	e (m³/s) se flow	Duration (days)				
			20		4				
DECEMBER	4.274	1.386	8 20		3 4				
JANUARY	5.546	1.626	8 20		3 4				
FEBRUARY	7.843	2.121	8		3				
MARCH	7.508	1.995	20 40		4 5				
APRIL	6.941	1.908							
MAY	5.794	1.673							
JUNE	5.120	1.565							
JULY	4.086	1.351							
AUGUST	3.326	1.208							
SEPTEMBER	2.881	1.143							
TOTAL MCM	155.440	47.960	31.847	7					
% OF VIRGIN	31.35	9.67	6.42						
TOTAL IFR		187.28							
% OF NMAR	37.78								

EWR Rule: A/B REC

Total Ecolog	Total Ecological Reserve flows												
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%			
Oct	3.23	3.223	3.199	3.148	3.048	2.864	2.557	2.103	1.556	1.144			
Nov	6.082	6.06	6.001	5.88	5.65	5.236	4.558	3.575	2.409	1.539			
Dec	7.104	7.073	6.999	6.851	6.569	6.07	5.259	4.096	2.725	1.706			
Jan	10.172	9.664	9.19	8.7	8.118	7.132	6.15	4.766	3.159	1.971			
Feb	20.234	18.756	17.44	16.198	14.88	12.642	10.847	8.273	5.241	2.984			
Mar	11.597	11.217	10.834	10.402	9.828	8.828	7.636	5.911	3.863	2.334			
Apr	8.289	8.269	8.196	8.044	7.745	7.198	6.281	4.928	3.296	2.069			
Мау	6.92	6.911	6.857	6.742	6.511	6.078	5.335	4.217	2.847	1.808			
Jun	6.115	6.11	6.066	5.971	5.777	5.409	4.77	3.798	2.597	1.683			
Jul	4.881	4.881	4.851	4.784	4.643	4.37	3.883	3.127	2.175	1.444			
Aug	3.974	3.971	3.944	3.886	3.768	3.544	3.156	2.566	1.835	1.28			
Sep	3.443	3.439	3.415	3.365	3.264	3.074	2.748	2.258	1.657	1.202			
Reserve flow	ws without Hig	gh Flows											
Oct	3.23	3.223	3.199	3.148	3.048	2.864	2.557	2.103	1.556	1.144			
Nov	4.017	4.004	3.968	3.897	3.759	3.512	3.106	2.52	1.823	1.303			
Dec	5.105	5.085	5.035	4.935	4.746	4.411	3.866	3.084	2.163	1.478			
Jan	6.624	6.588	6.514	6.37	6.102	5.638	4.898	3.855	2.644	1.748			
Feb	9.366	9.326	9.229	9.035	8.666	8.013	6.951	5.429	3.635	2.3			
Mar	8.966	8.933	8.844	8.664	8.319	7.7	6.685	5.215	3.471	2.169			
Apr	8.289	8.269	8.196	8.044	7.745	7.198	6.281	4.928	3.296	2.069			
Мау	6.92	6.911	6.857	6.742	6.511	6.078	5.335	4.217	2.847	1.808			
Jun	6.115	6.11	6.066	5.971	5.777	5.409	4.77	3.798	2.597	1.683			
Jul	4.881	4.881	4.851	4.784	4.643	4.37	3.883	3.127	2.175	1.444			
Aug	3.974	3.971	3.944	3.886	3.768	3.544	3.156	2.566	1.835	1.28			
Sep	3.443	3.439	3.415	3.365	3.264	3.074	2.748	2.258	1.657	1.202			
NaturalDura	ationcurves												
Oct	8.86	7.624	6.814	5.761	5.111	4.723	4.488	4.178	3.711	3.088			
Nov	18.808	14.742	11.802	10.093	9.086	8.221	7.272	5.76	4.911	3.746			
Dec	33.923	25.989	21.229	16.726	13.922	12.291	10.275	9.491	7.706	5.066			
Jan	55.88	37.817	26.202	23.749	19.71	17.111	13.702	11.645	10.447	8.18			
Feb	82.507	64.559	41.46	31.754	23.177	20.747	16.923	13.368	10.074	7.647			
Mar	66.439	45.318	34.009	28.054	20.968	16.599	14.501	11.787	10.122	6.776			
Apr	32.28	25.035	20.359	17.535	14.271	13.499	12.222	11.084	9.63	6.227			

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

May	15.17	13.355	12.444	11.391	10.783	9.849	8.703	8.18	7.396	5.115
Jun	11.682	10.073	9.525	9.136	8.6	8.194	7.353	6.632	6.03	4.568
Jul	9.58	8.162	7.646	7.042	6.735	6.452	6.022	5.451	5.052	4.036
Aug	7.553	7.105	6.254	6	5.679	5.417	5.01	4.749	4.238	3.435
Sep	7.612	7.06	5.741	5.409	5.235	4.842	4.552	4.209	3.866	3.14

Table A. 11: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Mac Mac River at the EWR 4 in X31C: A/BREC

EWR Table: A/B REC

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (N	ACM)	65.782
BFI index	0.499	Distrib	oution type		Eastern Escarpment
	LOW F	LOWS		HIGH	+ FLOWS
MONTH	Maintenance (m ³ /s)	Drought (m ³ /s)	Daily average on top of base	(m³/s) e flow	Duration (days)
OCTOBER	0.047	0.160			
NOVEMBER	0.561	0.200	4		3
DECEMBER	0.675	0.254	4		3
JANUARY	0.836	0.329	4		3
FEBRUARY	1.133	0.459	15		4
MARCH	1.098	0.449	4		3
APRIL	1.053	0.427			
MAY	0.915	0.365			
JUNE	0.840	0.329			
JULY	0.682	0.258			
AUGUST	0.565	0.204			
SEPTEMBER	0.500	0.172			
TOTAL MCM	24.435	9.442	5.210		
% OF VIRGIN	37.15	14.35	7.92		1
TOTAL IFR			29.65		
% OF NMAR			45.07		

EWR Rule: A/B REC

Total Eco	ological Res	serve flows	5							
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%
Oct	0.561	0.56	0.556	0.546	0.527	0.493	0.435	0.35	0.247	0.17
Nov	0.933	0.929	0.92	0.902	0.867	0.804	0.701	0.551	0.374	0.242
Dec	1.061	1.056	1.046	1.025	0.985	0.914	0.799	0.635	0.441	0.297
Jan	1.45	1.385	1.324	1.261	1.185	1.057	0.927	0.744	0.531	0.374
Feb	3.539	3.245	2.988	2.753	2.517	2.118	1.839	1.439	0.969	0.619
Mar	1.763	1.7	1.638	1.573	1.491	1.349	1.193	0.967	0.699	0.499
Apr	1.258	1.256	1.246	1.226	1.187	1.116	0.997	0.82	0.608	0.448
Мау	1.093	1.092	1.085	1.069	1.037	0.976	0.873	0.718	0.528	0.384
Jun	1.004	1.003	0.996	0.982	0.954	0.899	0.804	0.66	0.482	0.346
Jul	0.815	0.815	0.81	0.8	0.777	0.734	0.658	0.538	0.388	0.273
Aug	0.675	0.675	0.67	0.66	0.64	0.602	0.536	0.435	0.311	0.216
Sep	0.597	0.597	0.592	0.583	0.564	0.529	0.469	0.378	0.267	0.183
Reserve	flows witho	ut High Flo	ows							
Oct	0.561	0.56	0.556	0.546	0.527	0.493	0.435	0.35	0.247	0.17
Nov	0.67	0.668	0.662	0.65	0.627	0.585	0.516	0.417	0.3	0.212
Dec	0.807	0.803	0.796	0.781	0.753	0.703	0.622	0.506	0.369	0.268
Jan	0.999	0.994	0.984	0.965	0.929	0.867	0.768	0.628	0.465	0.345
Feb	1.354	1.349	1.337	1.313	1.268	1.187	1.056	0.868	0.646	0.481
Mar	1.312	1.308	1.297	1.275	1.232	1.155	1.03	0.848	0.632	0.471
Apr	1.258	1.256	1.246	1.226	1.187	1.116	0.997	0.82	0.608	0.448
Мау	1.093	1.092	1.085	1.069	1.037	0.976	0.873	0.718	0.528	0.384

Jun	1.004	1.003	0.996	0.982	0.954	0.899	0.804	0.66	0.482	0.346		
Jul	0.815	0.815	0.81	0.8	0.777	0.734	0.658	0.538	0.388	0.273		
Aug	0.675	0.675	0.67	0.66	0.64	0.602	0.536	0.435	0.311	0.216		
Sep	0.597	0.597	0.592	0.583	0.564	0.529	0.469	0.378	0.267	0.183		
NaturalDurationcurves												
Oct	1.198	1.038	0.896	0.773	0.691	0.665	0.624	0.594	0.508	0.437		
Nov	2.373	1.79	1.601	1.431	1.273	1.111	1.003	0.845	0.671	0.525		
Dec	4.379	3.465	2.696	2.3	1.983	1.777	1.449	1.269	1.12	0.769		
Jan	6.168	4.869	3.674	3.035	2.74	2.304	2.001	1.732	1.538	1.307		
Feb	10.342	7.358	5.25	3.869	3.204	2.931	2.323	2.046	1.509	1.145		
Mar	8.255	5.399	4.26	3.999	2.707	2.389	1.956	1.788	1.553	1.079		
Apr	4.433	3.422	2.917	2.442	2.184	1.96	1.833	1.597	1.447	1.003		
Мау	2.053	1.889	1.822	1.706	1.632	1.445	1.322	1.213	1.109	0.806		
Jun	1.628	1.478	1.37	1.319	1.277	1.204	1.069	0.984	0.887	0.694		
Jul	1.284	1.157	1.068	1.004	0.96	0.933	0.833	0.788	0.709	0.601		
Aug	1.072	0.974	0.889	0.851	0.795	0.75	0.706	0.657	0.605	0.493		
Sep	1.038	0.949	0.795	0.756	0.71	0.675	0.629	0.59	0.544	0.448		

Table A. 12: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Marite River at the EWR 5 in X31G: B/C PES

EWR Table: B/C PES

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (MCM)	157.094
BFI index	0.436	Distrib	ution type	Eastern Escarpment
MONTH	LOW FL	OWS		HIGH FLOWS
MONTH	Maintenance (m³/s)	Drought (m³/s)	Daily average (m [°] /s) on top of base flow	Duration (days)
OCTOBER	0.491	0.277		
NOVEMBER	0.650	0.317	4	3
DECEMBER	0.904	0.366	4, 8	3, 4
JANUARY	1.247	0.440	8	4
FEBRUARY	1.849	0.587	4 25	3 5
MARCH	1.783	0.555	4	3
APRIL	1.553	0.511		
MAY	1.163	0.422		
JUNE	0.970	0.386		
JULY	0.752	0.333		
AUGUST	0.608	0.302		
SEPTEMBER	0.521	0.290		
TOTAL MCM	32.657	12.537	10.524	
% OF VIRGIN	20.79	7.98	6.70	
TOTAL IFR			43.18	
% OF NMAR			27.49	

EWR Rule: B/C PES

Total Eco	ological Res	serve flows	5							
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%
Oct	0.612	0.611	0.607	0.599	0.583	0.554	0.506	0.435	0.35	0.285
Nov	1.078	1.074	1.065	1.046	1.01	0.944	0.837	0.681	0.497	0.359
Dec	1.996	1.987	1.966	1.925	1.846	1.706	1.478	1.152	0.768	0.482
Jan	2.604	2.456	2.321	2.187	2.034	1.776	1.539	1.206	0.819	0.533
Feb	6.912	6.293	5.752	5.262	4.772	3.945	3.383	2.576	1.626	0.919
Mar	2.669	2.602	2.53	2.444	2.323	2.11	1.837	1.443	0.974	0.625
Apr	1.932	1.928	1.911	1.878	1.811	1.689	1.485	1.184	0.82	0.547
Мау	1.447	1.445	1.435	1.413	1.367	1.283	1.138	0.919	0.651	0.448
Jun	1.207	1.206	1.198	1.181	1.146	1.08	0.965	0.789	0.572	0.407
Jul	0.936	0.936	0.931	0.92	0.896	0.849	0.766	0.636	0.474	0.349

Aug	0.757	0.757	0.752	0.743	0.723	0.686	0.623	0.525	0.405	0.314
Sep	0.649	0.648	0.645	0.637	0.621	0.591	0.541	0.464	0.37	0.299
Reserve f	lows witho	out High Flo	ows							
Oct	0.612	0.611	0.607	0.599	0.583	0.554	0.506	0.435	0.35	0.285
Nov	0.809	0.807	0.801	0.788	0.764	0.72	0.648	0.544	0.421	0.329
Dec	1.125	1.121	1.111	1.091	1.052	0.983	0.872	0.713	0.525	0.385
Jan	1.552	1.544	1.527	1.495	1.436	1.332	1.168	0.936	0.666	0.467
Feb	2.3	2.291	2.268	2.222	2.135	1.98	1.729	1.369	0.945	0.629
Mar	2.218	2.211	2.189	2.146	2.064	1.916	1.674	1.323	0.907	0.596
Apr	1.932	1.928	1.911	1.878	1.811	1.689	1.485	1.184	0.82	0.547
Мау	1.447	1.445	1.435	1.413	1.367	1.283	1.138	0.919	0.651	0.448
Jun	1.207	1.206	1.198	1.181	1.146	1.08	0.965	0.789	0.572	0.407
Jul	0.936	0.936	0.931	0.92	0.896	0.849	0.766	0.636	0.474	0.349
Aug	0.757	0.757	0.752	0.743	0.723	0.686	0.623	0.525	0.405	0.314
Sep	0.649	0.648	0.645	0.637	0.621	0.591	0.541	0.464	0.37	0.299
NaturalD	urationcurv	/es								
Oct	2.427	2.057	1.732	1.568	1.251	1.165	1.064	0.993	0.904	0.698
Nov	6.273	4.853	3.781	2.924	2.384	2.215	1.728	1.335	1.161	0.887
Dec	11.88	8.804	6.366	5. 4 58	4.182	3.607	2.733	2.333	1.863	1.236
Jan	22.357	14.804	9.371	7.874	6.269	4.734	3.913	3.536	2.543	1.829
Feb	30.853	22.83	14.339	9.809	7.626	6 <i>.4</i> 53	4.803	3.542	2.65	1.521
Mar	23.174	16.114	11.649	9.293	6.459	4.663	4.01	3.192	2.599	1.546
Apr	10.729	8.183	6.709	4.776	4.001	3.65	3.202	2.805	2.446	1.412
Мау	4.043	3.454	3.185	3.032	2.726	2.543	2.337	1.983	1.8	1.131
Jun	2.924	2.704	2.442	2.28	2.149	1.952	1.813	1.624	1.481	1.154
Jul	2.363	2.109	1.927	1.815	1.65	1.576	1.434	1.34	1.247	0.978
Aug	2.035	1.688	1.583	1.493	1.363	1.303	1.221	1.139	1.049	0.825
Sep	2.072	1.674	1.424	1.308	1.235	1.161	1.069	1.011	0.922	0.725

Table A. 13:EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Mutlumuvi River at the EWR 6 in X32F: BREC

EWR Table: B REC

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (N	ICM)	45.007		
BFI index	0.473	Distrib	ution type		Eastern Escarpment		
	LOW FI	LOWS		HIGH FLOWS			
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average	m³/s)	Duration (days)		
	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	on top of base flow				
OCTOBER	0.270	0.150					
NOVEMBER	0.300	0.160	1.6		3		
DECEMBER	0.280	0.170	1.6		3		
JANUARY	0.510	0.190	1.6		3		
FEBRUARY	0.740	0.272					
MARCH	0.733	0.271	1.6		3		
APRIL	0.660	0.243					
MAY	0.520	0.185					
JUNE	0.460	0.175					
JULY	0.420	0.170					
AUGUST	0.350	0.160					
SEPTEMBER	0.300	0.150					
TOTAL MCM	14.506	6.016	2.810				
% OF VIRGIN	32.23	13.37	6.24				
TOTAL IFR			17.32				
% OF NMAR			38.47				

EWR Rule: B REC

Total Ecological Reserve flows											
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%	
Oct	0.323	0.322	0.32	0.316	0.308	0.293	0.268	0.232	0.188	0.154	
Nov	0.464	0.462	0.459	0.451	0.436	0.41	0.368	0.305	0.232	0.177	
Dec	0.437	0.435	0.432	0.425	0.412	0.389	0.351	0.297	0.233	0.186	
Jan	0.79	0.763	0.736	0.707	0.668	0.603	0.528	0.423	0.302	0.212	
Feb	2.341	2.145	1.973	1.816	1.554	1.343	1.112	0.889	0.615	0.372	
Mar	1.056	1.03	1.002	0.969	0.923	0.843	0.743	0.598	0.426	0.297	
Apr	0.789	0.787	0.781	0.768	0.742	0.695	0.617	0.501	0.362	0.257	
Мау	0.621	0.62	0.616	0.606	0.587	0.551	0.489	0.397	0.283	0.196	
Jun	0.55	0.549	0.546	0.538	0.522	0.491	0.439	0.359	0.26	0.185	
Jul	0.502	0.502	0.499	0.493	0.48	0.454	0.408	0.337	0.247	0.179	
Aug	0.418	0.418	0.416	0.41	0.399	0.378	0.342	0.287	0.219	0.167	
Sep	0.359	0.358	0.356	0.352	0.342	0.325	0.296	0.251	0.197	0.155	
Reserve	lows witho	ut High Flo	ows								
Oct	0.323	0.322	0.32	0.316	0.308	0.293	0.268	0.232	0.188	0.154	
Nov	0.359	0.358	0.355	0.35	0.34	0.323	0.294	0.252	0.202	0.165	
Dec	0.335	0.334	0.332	0.327	0.319	0.304	0.28	0.245	0.204	0.174	
Jan	0.609	0.606	0.6	0.588	0.566	0.527	0.465	0.377	0.275	0.2	
Feb	0.884	0.881	0.873	0.856	0.825	0.77	0.68	0.551	0.4	0.287	
Mar	0.876	0.873	0.865	0.85	0.82	0.766	0.678	0.55	0.399	0.286	
Apr	0.789	0.787	0.781	0.768	0.742	0.695	0.617	0.501	0.362	0.257	
Мау	0.621	0.62	0.616	0.606	0.587	0.551	0.489	0.397	0.283	0.196	
Jun	0.55	0.549	0.546	0.538	0.522	0.491	0.439	0.359	0.26	0.185	
Jul	0.502	0.502	0.499	0.493	0.48	0.454	0.408	0.337	0.247	0.179	
Aug	0.418	0.418	0.416	0.41	0.399	0.378	0.342	0.287	0.219	0.167	
Sep	0.359	0.358	0.356	0.352	0.342	0.325	0.296	0.251	0.197	0.155	
NaturalD	urationcurv	es									
Oct	0.653	0.579	0.511	0.47	0.399	0.381	0.362	0.351	0.299	0.202	
Nov	1.269	0.984	0.795	0.664	0.594	0.552	0.471	0.382	0.324	0.212	
Dec	2.856	1.919	1.449	1.157	0.87	0.717	0.609	0.564	0.429	0.28	
Jan	5.638	3.663	2.188	1.52	1.262	1.064	0.904	0.747	0.605	0.381	
Feb	11.615	5.824	3.125	1.914	1.554	1.343	1.112	0.889	0.744	0.372	
Mar	7.389	4.338	3.342	2.091	1.396	1.184	1.008	0.825	0.706	0.321	
Apr	3.985	2.658	1.551	1.389	1.161	1.011	0.914	0.799	0.71	0.37	
Мау	1.359	1.191	1.086	0.997	0.851	0.806	0.717	0.687	0.586	0.31	
Jun	1.042	0.934	0.88	0.81	0.706	0.675	0.606	0.583	0.505	0.285	
Jul	0.818	0.728	0.683	0.642	0.605	0.553	0.515	0.467	0.429	0.269	
Aug	0.709	0.642	0.579	0.549	0.523	0.474	0.437	0.418	0.366	0.243	
Sep	0.644	0.583	0.532	0.486	0.448	0.428	0.394	0.37	0.328	0.224	

Table A. 14:EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Tlulandizeka (Sand) River at the EWR 7 in
X32C: C REC

EWR Table: C REC (PES)

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (I	MCM)	28.896		
BFI index	0.472	Distrib	ution type		Eastern Escarpment		
	LOW F	LOWS	HIGH FLOWS				
MONTH	Maintenance (m3/s)	enance Drought Da n3/s) (m3/s) or		(m3/s) e flow	Duration (days)		
OCTOBER	0.07	0					
NOVEMBER	0.07	0	1.5		3		
DECEMBER	0.12	0.05	1.5		3		
JANUARY	0.2	0.1	1.5, 4		3, 3		
FEBRUARY	0.26	0.14	9		4		
MARCH	0.27	0.16	1.5		3		
APRIL	0.25	0.12					

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (N	NCM)	28.896		
BFI index	0.472	Distrik	oution type		Eastern Escarpment		
	LOW F	LOWS	HIGH FLOWS				
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average	(m3/s)	Duration (days)		
	(m3/s)	(m3/s)	on top of base flow		Duration (days)		
MAY	0.2	0.09					
JUNE	0.18	0.06					
JULY	0.15	0.04					
AUGUST	0.1	0.02					
SEPTEMBER	0.08	0					
TOTAL MCM	5.105	2.037	3.188				
% OF VIRGIN	17.67	7.05	11.03				
TOTAL IFR			8.29				
% OF NMAR			28.7				

EWR Rule: C REC (PES)

Total Eco	Total Ecological Reserve flows												
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%			
Oct	0.097	0.097	0.096	0.094	0.089	0.081	0.067	0.046	0.021	0.002			
Nov	0.205	0.204	0.201	0.196	0.187	0.169	0.141	0.099	0.05	0.014			
Dec	0.271	0.27	0.267	0.261	0.251	0.231	0.2	0.156	0.103	0.064			
Jan	0.899	0.815	0.743	0.677	0.613	0.505	0.436	0.339	0.227	0.143			
Feb	1.674	1.499	1.349	1.217	1	0.86	0.719	0.575	0.38	0.228			
Mar	0.546	0.522	0.501	0.479	0.454	0.41	0.367	0.305	0.231	0.176			
Apr	0.349	0.348	0.345	0.34	0.329	0.309	0.277	0.228	0.17	0.126			
Мау	0.279	0.278	0.277	0.272	0.264	0.249	0.222	0.182	0.132	0.095			
Jun	0.251	0.251	0.249	0.245	0.237	0.221	0.194	0.154	0.103	0.065			
Jul	0.209	0.209	0.207	0.204	0.198	0.184	0.161	0.125	0.079	0.044			
Aug	0.139	0.139	0.138	0.135	0.13	0.121	0.104	0.079	0.047	0.023			
Sep	0.111	0.111	0.11	0.108	0.103	0.093	0.078	0.054	0.025	0.003			
Reserve	lows witho	out High Flo	ows										
Oct	0.097	0.097	0.096	0.094	0.089	0.081	0.067	0.046	0.021	0.002			
Nov	0.097	0.097	0.096	0.093	0.088	0.08	0.066	0.045	0.021	0.002			
Dec	0.167	0.167	0.165	0.162	0.156	0.145	0.128	0.104	0.075	0.053			
Jan	0.279	0.278	0.275	0.27	0.26	0.244	0.217	0.18	0.136	0.104			
Feb	0.363	0.361	0.358	0.352	0.341	0.321	0.288	0.242	0.187	0.146			
Mar	0.377	0.376	0.373	0.367	0.357	0.337	0.306	0.26	0.206	0.165			
Apr	0.349	0.348	0.345	0.34	0.329	0.309	0.277	0.228	0.17	0.126			
Мау	0.279	0.278	0.277	0.272	0.264	0.249	0.222	0.182	0.132	0.095			
Jun	0.251	0.251	0.249	0.245	0.237	0.221	0.194	0.154	0.103	0.065			
Jul	0.209	0.209	0.207	0.204	0.198	0.184	0.161	0.125	0.079	0.044			
Aug	0.139	0.139	0.138	0.135	0.13	0.121	0.104	0.079	0.047	0.023			
Sep	0.111	0.111	0.11	0.108	0.103	0.093	0.078	0.054	0.025	0.003			
NaturalD	urationcurv	/es											
Oct	0.418	0.37	0.325	0.302	0.258	0.246	0.235	0.22	0.194	0.131			
Nov	0.822	0.625	0.502	0.421	0.378	0.355	0.301	0.247	0.208	0.135			
Dec	1.856	1.232	0.933	0.739	0.553	0.459	0.388	0.358	0.276	0.175			
Jan	3.786	2.333	1.523	0.982	0.821	0.687	0.59	0.478	0.381	0.246			
Feb	7.374	3.592	2.001	1.232	1	0.86	0.719	0.575	0.471	0.236			
Mar	4.831	2.916	2.136	1.296	0.889	0.754	0.653	0.526	0.455	0.213			
Apr	2.515	1.69	0.988	0.876	0.752	0.644	0.586	0.517	0.459	0.243			
Мау	0.889	0.777	0.694	0.624	0.556	0.515	0.463	0.444	0.377	0.202			
Jun	0.667	0.602	0.556	0.521	0.455	0.44	0.394	0.37	0.324	0.193			
Jul	0.523	0.467	0.437	0.414	0.388	0.358	0.336	0.306	0.28	0.179			
Aug	0.455	0.411	0.37	0.351	0.336	0.302	0.284	0.269	0.235	0.153			
Sep	0.409	0.374	0.34	0.313	0.289	0.27	0.251	0.243	0.208	0.143			

Table A. 15: EWR Table and EWR Rule for the Sand River at the EWR 8 in X32J: B REC

EWR Table: B REC

Desktop ve	ersion:	2	Virgin MAR (N	ICM)	133.6		
BFI index	0.425	Distrib	ution type		Eastern Escarpment		
	LOW F	LOWS		HIGH FLOWS			
MONTH	Maintenance	Drought	Daily average ((m³/s)	Duration (days)		
	(m³/s)	(m³/s)	on top of base	flow			
OCTOBER	0.26	0					
NOVEMBER	0.34	0.05	5		4		
DECEMBER	0.56	0.1	5		4		
JANUARY	0.9	0.2	5		4		
FEBRUARY	1.63	0.3	30		5		
MARCH	1.52	0.3	5		4		
APRIL	1.17	0.25					
MAY	0.72	0.2					
JUNE	0.62	0.15					
JULY	0.5	0.1					
AUGUST	0.39	0.05					
SEPTEMBER	0.3	0.02					
TOTAL MCM	23.23	4.49	9.77				
% OF VIRGIN	17.39	3.36	7.31				
TOTAL IFR			33				
% OF NMAR			24.7				

EWR Rule: B REC

Total Eco	logical Res	serve flows	5									
Month	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	99%		
Oct	0.362	0.359	0.354	0.343	0.324	0.29	0.237	0.161	0.074	0.009		
Nov	0.891	0.885	0.873	0.85	0.807	0.732	0.613	0.444	0.249	0.105		
Dec	1.184	1.174	1.152	1.108	1.026	0.891	0.699	0.47	0.263	0.15		
Jan	1.963	1.845	1.734	1.616	1.402	1.231	0.982	0.682	0.406	0.255		
Feb	7.673	6.839	6.131	4.551	3.509	3.038	2.381	2.03	1.129	0.622		
Mar	2.902	2.785	2.665	2.525	2.26	1.995	1.593	1.094	0.626	0.369		
Apr	1.629	1.62	1.594	1.54	1.438	1.264	1.011	0.706	0.425	0.271		
Мау	1.003	0.996	0.979	0.945	0.883	0.779	0.632	0.457	0.299	0.212		
Jun	0.863	0.857	0.842	0.812	0.757	0.665	0.534	0.379	0.238	0.161		
Jul	0.696	0.692	0.683	0.666	0.634	0.579	0.49	0.366	0.221	0.115		
Aug	0.543	0.539	0.532	0.518	0.491	0.446	0.373	0.27	0.15	0.062		
Sep	0.417	0.415	0.409	0.397	0.376	0.339	0.28	0.197	0.101	0.03		
Reserve	Reserve flows without High Flows											
Oct	0.362	0.359	0.354	0.343	0.324	0.29	0.237	0.161	0.074	0.009		
Νον	0.473	0.47	0.464	0.452	0.429	0.39	0.327	0.239	0.136	0.06		
Dec	0.78	0.773	0.759	0.731	0.678	0.59	0.466	0.318	0.184	0.11		
Jan	1.253	1.246	1.227	1.185	1.107	0.975	0.781	0.548	0.334	0.216		
Feb	2.351	2.343	2.311	2.24	2.1	1.852	1.476	1.01	0.573	0.332		
Mar	2.192	2.185	2.155	2.09	1.961	1.732	1.385	0.955	0.552	0.33		
Apr	1.629	1.62	1.594	1.54	1.438	1.264	1.011	0.706	0.425	0.271		
Мау	1.003	0.996	0.979	0.945	0.883	0.779	0.632	0.457	0.299	0.212		
Jun	0.863	0.857	0.842	0.812	0.757	0.665	0.534	0.379	0.238	0.161		
Jul	0.696	0.692	0.683	0.666	0.634	0.579	0.49	0.366	0.221	0.115		
Aug	0.543	0.539	0.532	0.518	0.491	0.446	0.373	0.27	0.15	0.062		
Sep	0.417	0.415	0.409	0.397	0.376	0.339	0.28	0.197	0.101	0.03		
NaturalD	urationcurv	es										
Oct	1.62	1.456	1.299	1.18	1.012	0.915	0.866	0.818	0.694	0.459		
Nov	3.549	2.859	1.971	1.686	1.447	1.289	1.165	0.93	0.806	0.521		
Dec	10.45	5.462	3.573	2.655	2.363	1.695	1.441	1.31	0.967	0.635		

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

Jan	18.089	9.558	5.395	3.655	3.3	2.729	2.173	1.77	1.37	0.829
Feb	38.538	16.286	9.077	4.551	3.509	3.038	2.381	2.03	1.674	0.798
Mar	26.43	10.57	7.486	4.958	2.987	2.714	2.195	1.792	1.512	0.691
Apr	9.267	5.127	3.573	2.998	2.5	2.215	1.941	1.779	1.535	0.795
Мау	3.177	2.815	2.52	2.184	1.923	1.729	1.602	1.497	1.262	0.683
Jun	2.442	2.23	2.091	1.806	1.663	1.505	1.381	1.292	1.111	0.648
Jul	2.046	1.807	1.676	1.52	1.404	1.296	1.18	1.079	0.978	0.609
Aug	1.759	1.557	1.411	1.333	1.213	1.113	1.045	0.96	0.833	0.538
Sep	1.601	1.489	1.35	1.223	1.115	1.026	0.941	0.876	0.772	0.494

B1 APPENDIX B

The EcoSpecs and TPCs for the different components per EWR site is provided below.

B1.1 CROCODILE SUB-CATCHMENT

There was no available baseline RHAM data for EWR 4, 5, and 7, so EcoSpecs and TPCs tied to this format of physico-chemical data could not be generated. No Geomorphology RHAM data was available for EWR 4 and 5 and EcoSpecs and TPC data provided is based on GAI data.

Table B1 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Overall for the in-channel sediments:
		Fines should not exceed 25%.
In-channel sediment	Maintain the bed material size	Sand (< 6 mm) should not exceed 10%.
(substrate)	distribution within the active	Cobbles should exceed 25%.
distribution.	available physical habitats.	Within all of the fast habitats:
		Neither sands nor fines should exceed 5%.
		Cobbles should exceed 5%.
	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
		Most of the embedded material should be found in the shallow habitats.
Proportion of		Per substrate type:
embedded sediments.		Proportion of GRAVELS that are embedded should be less than 25%.
		Proportion of COBBLES that are embedded should be less than 40%.
		Proportion of BOULDERS that are embedded should be less than 50%.
Active channel width	Maintain channel width	For discharges around 0.1 m^3 /s the average width of the active channel
		should be between 4 and 6 m wide.
Lower bank stability.	Extent of undercut banks.	Overall for the site, the proportion of undercut banks should not exceed 50%

Table B2 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	ТРС
		Cattle: ≥ 3
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: \geq 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	0.5	>3
Water ealeur and extent	0.5 Croon	Green: ≥ 3.
water colour and extern	0.5, Green	All other colours: \geq 1
Turbidity/clarity	1	≥ 2
Water surface indicator and extent	1 Sour	All indicators: ≥ 2
	1, Scum	Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	4	> 4

EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invesion (perennial	Maintain an absence of perennial exotic species.	An occurrence of perennial exotic species.
exotics).	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 1% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 5%.
Torrotrialization	Maintain absence of terrestrial woody species.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 2%.
Terrestriansation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial grasses at 5% or lower.	An increase in terrestrial grass species cover > 10%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species below 5%.	Increases in riparian woody species cover above 10%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover between 80% and 100%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 70%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain absence of reed cover.	An increase in reed cover above 5%.

Table B3 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness	1 indigenous fish species has been sampled at site EWR 1.	Not applicable due to the fact that only one species is present.	Loop in optimal habitat for
Relative abundance	During recent surveys BANO were sampled at 0.75 individuals per minute (indiv/min).	Relative abundance of less than 0.5 BANO individual per minute sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	BANO, deteriorate (to be quantified by RHAM).
Alien fish species	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A
SD habitats	BANO will be most appropriate indicator		Reduced suitability of SD
SS habitats	of SD, SS, overhanging vegetation and		SS overhanging and
Overhanging vegetation	instream vegetation habitats at the site. BANO should under present conditions be present at site 100% of time at	BANO absent during any survey or with relative abundance < 0.5 indiv/min.	instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified
vegetation	relative abundance of > 0.5 indiv/min.		WITN RHAM).

Table B4 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPC
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle area is greater than 15 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle area is less than 16 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 8 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 9 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.5 m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.53 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river in the riffle area is greater than 4.5 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 4.6 m.
To ensure that there are at least 8% fast flow over coarse substrate.	There is less than 9% fast flow over coarse substrate.
To ensure that less than 20% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	More than 18% of the coarse substrates are embedded.
To ensure that less than 20% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.	More than 18% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPC
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 180; ASPT value: > 6.2.	SASS5 scores below 190 and ASPT below 6.3.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category ($82 - 88$), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 83 or less.
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow- dependent taxa in the VFCS (Very fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Philopotamidae (Abundance A) Tricorythidae (Abundance A) Prosopistomatidae (Abundance A) Psephenidae (Abundance A)	Any one of these taxa missing or present as a single individual in any two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow- dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Heptageniidae (Abundance B) Elmidae (Abundance B)	Any one of these taxa missing or present in an A abundance or less for two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following six key taxa: Psephenidae Tricorythidae Philopotamidae Elmidae Heptageniidae Prosopistomatidae	Presence of less than five of the six key taxa listed in any survey.
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as D abundance (> 1000).	Any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 500 for two consecutive surveys.
The REC is the same as the PES thus these values also refer to the	REC.

Table B5 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Overall for the in-channel sediments:
		Fines should not exceed 20%.
In-channel sediment	Maintain the bed material size	Sand should not exceed 15%.
(substrate)	distribution within the active	Cobbles should exceed 30%.
distribution.	available physical habitats.	Within all of the fast habitats:
		Neither sands nor fines should exceed 5%.
		Cobbles should exceed 20%.
		Overall for the in-channel sediments:
	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Most of the embedded material should be found in the shallow habitats.
Proportion of		And per substrate type:
embedded sediments.		Proportion of GRAVELS that are embedded should be less than 20%.
		Proportion of COBBLES that are embedded should be less than 30%.
		Proportion of BOULDERS that are embedded should be less than 15%.
Active channel width. Maintain channel width.		For discharges around 0.7 m^3 /s the average width of the active channel should be between 8 and 11 m wide.
Lower bank stability. Extent of undercut banks.		Overall for the site, the proportion of undercut banks should not exceed 50%.

Table B6EWR 2 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Cattle: ≥ 3
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: ≥ 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	2	>3
Matar adaur and avtant	Nono	Green: ≥ 3.
Water colour and extent	None	All other colours: ≥ 1
Turbidity/clarity	None	≥ 2
Mater surface indicator and extent	Nono	All indicators: ≥ 2
	None	Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	3	> 4

Table B7 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial	Maintain an absence of perennial exotic species.	An occurrence of perennial exotic species.
exotics).	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 1% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 5%.
Torrostrialization	Maintain absence of terrestrial woody species.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 2%.
Terrestnansation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial grasses at 5% or lower.	An increase in terrestrial grass species cover > 10%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species below 5%.	An increase in riparian woody species covers above 15% (15% based on VEGRAI max).
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover between 80% and 100%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 70%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain reed cover at 2% or lower.	An increase in reed cover above 5%.

Table B8 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	5 indigenous fish species have been sampled during the baseline survey (PES determination).	Less than 5 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories
Relative abundance.	During recent surveys (baseline/PES) fish were sampled at 2.2 5 indiv/min electrofishing.	Relative abundance of less than 1.5 5 indiv/min electrofishing at the site (during same season as baseline data).	and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during baseline surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any	N/A.

		survey.	
FD ² Habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance &
FS ³ habitats.	During baseline survey CPRE	CPRE and ANAT present less than	quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e.
Flow dependant	was present at site at relative abundance of 1 4 indiv/min	any survey) <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in	decreased flows, increased zero
spp (flow alteration)	electrofishing, while ANAT was	relative abundance of CPRE below 1 indiv/min electrofishing, and < 0.1	riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal
Water quality intolerance.	present at 0.2 5 mar/min.	indiv/min for ANAT.	with RHAM).
Substrate.	During baseline survey CPRE was present at site at relative abundance of 1.4 indiv/min electrofishing, while BNEE was present at 0.24 5 indiv/min.	CPRE & BNEE present less than 100% of time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR decrease in relative abundance of CPRE below 1 indiv/min electrofishing, and < 0.1 indiv/min for BNEE.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of substrates (i.e. excessive algal growth on substrates, sedimentation) [To be quantified with RHAM].
SD habitats.		BNEE present less than 100% of	Reduced suitability (abundance &
SS habitats.	During baseline survey BNEE was present at 0.24 indiv/min.	time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR decrease in relative abundance of < 0.1 indiv/min for BNEE.	quality) of substrates (i.e. excessive algal growth on substrates, sedimentation) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	During baseline survey PPHI was present at site at relative	PPHI and BNEE present less than 100% of time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR decrease in	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	electrofishing, while BNEE was present at 0.24 5 indiv/min.	relative abundance of PPHI below 0.15 indiv/min electrofishing, and < 0.1 indiv/min for BNEE.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	None available at site.		

Table B9 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle area is greater than 20 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle area is less than 21 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 10 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 11 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.7m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.6 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river in the riffle area is greater than 11 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 11.5 m.
To ensure that there are at least 10% fast flow over coarse substrate.	There is less than 11% fast flow over coarse substrate.
To ensure that less than 20% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	More than 18% of the coarse substrates are embedded.
To ensure that less than 20% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.	More than 18% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 180; ASPT value: > 6.2.	SASS5 scores below 190 and ASPT below 6.3.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category (82 – 88), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 83 or less.
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow- dependent taxa in the VFCS (Very fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Perlidae (Abundance B)) Tricorythidae (Abundance B) Prosopistomatidae (Abundance A)	Any one of these taxa missing or present in an A abundance or less in any two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow- dependent taxa in the FFCS: • Heptageniidae (Abundance B) • Elmidae (Abundance B)	Any one of these taxa missing or present in an A abundance or less for two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following five key taxa: Perlidae Tricorythidae Elmidae Heptageniidae Prosopistomatidae	Presence of less than four of the five key taxa listed in any survey.
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys. The REC is the same as the PES thus these values also refer to the	Any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 500 for two consecutive surveys. REC

Table B10 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
In-channel sediment	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
(substrate) distribution.		Sand should NOT BE LESS THAN 5%.
		Cobbles should NOT BE LESS THAN 5%.
Active channel width	Maintain channel width	For discharges around 1.1 m^3 /s the average width of the active channel
/ louve chainler whath	Maintain onarmor wiath.	should be between 18 and 24 m wide.

Table B11 EWR 3 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Cattle: ≥ 3
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: ≥ 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	1	>3
Water ealeur and extent	0.5, Green	Green: ≥ 3.
water colour and extern		All other colours: ≥ 1
Turbidity/clarity	1	≥ 2
Water surface indicator and extent	0	All indicators: ≥ 2
water surface indicator and extent	U	Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	5	> 4

Table B12 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 5% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 10%.
exotics).	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 15% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 20%.
Terrestrialisation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species at 25% or lower.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 40%.
Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 20 and 70% within the riparian zone.	A decrease in riparian woody species cover below 20% OR an increase above 70%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover between 30% and 90%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30% OR above 90%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain reed cover below 10%.	An increase in reed cover above 10% on the marginal zone.
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 5% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 10%.

Table B13 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Six naturally occurring indigenous fish species have been sampled during the baseline (EWR-PES) survey.	Less than 4 naturally occurring indigenous fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During baseline (EWR/PES) surveys fish were sampled at 1.3 indiv/min electrofishing.	Relative abundance of less than 0.9 indiv/min sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys, but one introduced species CGAR present at relative abundance of 0.03 indiv/min electrofishing.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey or increased abundance (> 0.06 indiv/min) of CGAR.	N/A.
FD Habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance
FS habitats.		CPRE & AURA present less than 100% of time (not sampled	& quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows increased
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	During baseline survey CPRE was present at site at relative		zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid
Water quality intolerance.	abundance of 0.63 indiv/min electrofishing, while AURA was present at 0.6 indiv/min.	decrease in relative abundance of < 0.3 indiv/min for CPRE or AURA.	substrates, excessive algal growth on (to be quantified with RHAM). Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
Substrate.	During baseline survey CPRE was	CPRE & AURA present less	Reduced suitability (abundance

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	present at site at relative abundance of 0.63 indiv/min electrofishing, while AURA was present at 0.6 indiv/min. BARG were only sampled with cast net.	than 100% of time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR decrease in relative abundance of < 0.3 indiv/min for CPRE or AURA. Absence of BARG during 2 consecutive surveys.	& quality) of substrates, increased sedimentation, and excessive algal growth on (to be quantified with RHAM).
SD habitats.	AMOS the only indicator species for SD habitats. The sampling of this species is however generally coincidental and it will therefore not be a useful indicator species.		
SS habitats. Overhanging vegetation. Undercut banks.	PPHI is the best indicators of SS, overhanging and undercut banks and was be present at site during the baseline (EWR-PES) survey at a relative abundance > 0.05 indiv/min.	PPHI absent more than 50% of time (absent during 2 consecutive surveys) or present with relative abundance < 0.03 indiv/min.	Significant change in SS, overhanging vegetation and undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	TSPA the only indicator species for instream vegetation in this reach. This species was however not sampled during the baseline (EWR PES) surveys, and therefore EcoSpecs and TPCs cannot be derived at present.		

Table B14 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle area is greater than 50 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle area is less than 53 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 25 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 27 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.7m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.6 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river in the riffle area is greater than 23 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 24 m.
To ensure that there are at least 15% fast flow over coarse substrate.	There is less than 16% fast flow over coarse substrate.
To ensure that less than 15% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	More than 13% of the coarse substrates are embedded.
To ensure that less than 25% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.	More than 23% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 150; ASPT value: > 6.4.	SASS5 scores below 160 and ASPT below 6.5.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a C category ($62 - 78$), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 64 or less.
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the VFCS: Perlidae (Abundance A)) Tricorythidae (Abundance B) Psephenidae (Abundance B)	Any one of these taxa missing or present as a single individual in any two consecutive surveys. Tricorythidae and/or Psephenidae present in an A abundance in any two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Heptageniidae (Abundance B) Elmidae (Abundance B)	Any one of these taxa missing or present in an A abundance or less for two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following five key taxa: Perlidae Tricorythidae Elmidae Heptageniidae Psephenidae	Presence of less than four of the five key taxa listed in any survey.
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys.	Any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 500 for two consecutive surveys.

Table B15 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs
ACTIVE CHANNEL SU	BSTRATE CHANGES	
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	 Overall for the in-channel sediments: Fines and Sands (< 6 mm diameter) should not exceed 10%. GAI level IV in 2007 measured 7%. Gravels (6 – 60 mm diameter) should not be less than 10%.

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs
		 GAI level IV in 2007 measured 13%. Cobbles (< 60 mm) should not be less than 60%. GAI level IV in 2007 measured 80%. Sampling protocol:
		Sediment is to be sampled in the active channel riffle.
ACTIVE CHANNEL MO	DRPHOLOGY	
Active channel morphology.	Maintain the channel/reach type.	EWR 4 is classified as a mixed pool-rapid channel type and is representative of the macro-reach. The channel consists of an active channel inset into a wider macro-channel. There is strong bedrock influence at the site, but increased erosion in the catchment has increased the fines load. Filling in of pools by sediment would represent an undesirable trend. Monitoring could take place through occasional (5 - 10 year) resurveyed cross-sections at the EWR site.
GAI level IV EC	-	-
GAI level IV PES score.	Maintain or improve the GAI score. PES score from the GAI level IV should exceed 81%.	

Table B16 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at	An increase in perennial exotic species cover >
exotics).	20% or lower.	30%.
	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover >
Torrostrialization	at 10% or lower within the riparian zone.	10%.
Terrestrialisation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover >
	at 30% or lower within the riparian zone.	30%.
	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species	A decrease in riparian woody species cover
Indigenous Riparian Woody	between 5 and 60%.	below 5% OR above 60%.
Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species	A decrease in riparian woody species cover
	between 20 and 70%.	below 20% OR above 70%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover above 30%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30%.
	Maintain reed cover between 10% and 20%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% or a decrease below 40%.
Fillagililles (leed) cover.	Maintain reed cover between 10% and 20% OR	An increase in reed cover above 70% or a
	between 80% and 90%.	decrease below 40%.

Table B17 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Eight of the 20 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey. Sampling conditions were not optimal due to high flows and crocodiles, and it can be expected that more species are present at the site.	Less than 10 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During the baseline (EWR-PES) surveys fish were sampled at 0.9 indiv/min (should be higher during optimal sampling conditions).	Relative abundance of less than 1 individual per minute sampled at the site (during optimal sampling conditions).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD habitats.		CPRE and BMAR absent	
FS habitats.	During the baseline survey CPRE was present at site at relative abundance of 0.13 indiv/min electrofishing, while BMAR was present at 0.32 indiv/min.	from site during any survey AND <u>/OR</u> present at relative abundance < 0.1 indiv/min for CPRE and < 0.2 indiv/min for BMAR.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased
Substrate.	During the baseline survey CPRE was present at site at relative abundance of 0.13 indiv/min electrofishing, while LMOL was present at 0.05 indiv/min electrofishing.	CPRE and LMOL absent from site during any survey AND/OR present at relative abundance < 0.1 indiv/min for CPRE and < 0.03 indiv/min for LMOL.	sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	OPER & CPRE will be most appropriate indicators of flow at the site. Both	OPER <u>and</u> CPRE absent during any survey or with	

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Water quality intolerance.	species were present during baseline (EWR-PES) survey) with OPER at relative abundance of 0.26 indiv/min and CPRE at 0.13 indiv/min.	relative abundance < 0.15 indiv/min for OPER and < 0.1 indiv/min for CPRE.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	BMAR & LMOL will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats at the site. Both species should under baseline conditions be present at site 100% of time, with BMAR sampled during baseline survey at relative abundance of 0.32 indiv/min, while LMOL were present 0.05 indiv/min.	BMAR & LMOL absent during any survey or with relative abundance < 0.2 indiv/min for BMAR and < 0.03 indiv/min for LMOL.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	OPER & BMAR are the best indicators of water column habitats and were present during the baseline survey at relative abundance of 0.26 indiv/min for OPER and 0.32 indiv/min for BMAR.	OPER &/or BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance < 0.15 indiv/min for OPER and < 0.2 indiv/min for BMAR.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	PPHI & BMAR will be most appropriate indicators of SS habitats at the site. Both species were present during the baseline survey at relative abundance of 0.08 indiv/min for PPHI and 0.32 indiv/min for BMAR.	PPHI & BMAR absent during any survey or PPHI present at relative abundance < 0.04 indiv/min and BMAR at < 0.2 indiv/min.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	PPHI & BPAU are the best indicators of overhanging vegetation habitats and was present at site during the baseline survey. PPHI was sampled at abundance of 0.08 indiv/min, while BPAU occurred at 0.03 indiv/min.	PPHI &/or BPAU absent during any survey or PPHI present with relative abundance < 0.04 indiv/min and BPAU < 0.01 indiv/min.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	PPHI is the best indicators of undercut banks, it was present during baseline surveys at a relative abundance of 0.08ind/min.	PPHI absent during any survey or present with relative abundance < 0.04 indiv/min.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	Species with high indicator value for instream vegetation is BPAU. BPAU should be present 100%, sampled during baseline surveys at 0.03 indiv/min.	BPAU absent during any survey or with relative abundance < 0.01 indiv/min.	Significant change in instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B18 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS	
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle area is greater than 25 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle area is less than 27 cm.	
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 15 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 17 cm.	
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.7 m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.6 m/s.	
To ensure that the average width of the river in the riffle area is greater than 14.5 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 15 m.	
To ensure that there are at least 14% fast flow over coarse substrate.	There is less than 15% fast flow over coarse substrate.	
To ensure that less than 15% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	More than 13% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	
To ensure that less than 25% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.	More than 23% of the coarse substrates are covered with algae.	
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS	
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 155; ASPT value: > 5.8.	SASS5 scores below 160 and ASPT below 5.9.	
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a C category ($62 - 78$), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 64 or less.	
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the Perlidae (A abundance) in the VFCS (Very fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope:	Perlidae missing or present as a single individual in any two consecutive surveys.	
 To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow- dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Heptageniidae (Abundance A) Elmidae (Abundance A) 	Any one of these taxa missing or present as a single individual for two consecutive surveys.	

 To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following five key taxa: Perlidae > 2 spp of Hydropsychidae Elmidae Heptageniidae Coenagrionidae 	Presence of less than four of the five key taxa listed in any survey.
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined	Any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 500 for two
as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys.	consecutive surveys.

Table B19 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs
ACTIVE CHANNEL SUF	BSTRATE CHANGES	
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel sediments: Fines and Sands (< 6 mm diameter) should not exceed 85%. • GAI level IV in 2007 measured 78%. Gravels (6 – 60 mm) should not be less than 10%. • GAI level IV in 2007 measured 15%. Sampling protocol: Sediment is to be sampled across the active channel.
ACTIVE CHANNEL MO	RPHOLOGY	
Active channel morphology.	Maintain the channel/reach type.	Increased erosion in the catchment has increased the fines load and could lead to filling in of pools and loss of bedrock influence. This would represent an undesirable trend. Monitoring could take place through occasional (5 - 10 year) resurveyed cross-sections at the EWR site.
GAI level IV EC		
GAI level IV PES score.	Maintain or improve the GAI score. PES	S score from the GAI level IV should exceed 60%.

Table B20 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics)	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 10% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 15%
Torrootriolization	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species at 10% or lower within the riparian zone.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 10%.
Terrestrialisation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species at 30% or lower within the riparian zone.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 30%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 5 and 60%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 5% OR above 60%.
Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 20 and 70%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 20% OR above 70%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover above 40% (in summer).	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30%.
	Maintain reed cover above 10%.	A decrease in reed cover below 10%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain reed cover between 10% and 90%.	An increase in reed cover above 90% or a decrease below 10%.
	Maintain reed cover below 50%.	An increase in reed cover above 50%.

Table B21 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	During the baseline survey CPRE was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. OPER was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0 indiv/min electrofishing.	Less than 10 fish species sampled using electrofishing during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.		Relative abundance of less than 1.5 indiv/min sampled at the site (during optimal sampling conditions).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	One alien fish species (CCAR) sampled at site during baseline (EWR) survey at relative abundance of 0.02	Presence of more than 1 (CCAR) alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey, AND/OR an	N/A.

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	indiv/min electrofishing.	increase in relative abundance of CCAR becoming > 0.02 indiv/min electrofishing.	
FD habitats.	During the baseline survey CPAR was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. BMAR was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.93 indiv/min electrofishing.	CPAR present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys) and BMAR absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.5 indiv/min for BMAR.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), (to be quantified with RHAM).
FS habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FS habitats (i.e.
Substrate.	During the baseline survey CPAR & LCYL were not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site.	CPAR & LCYL present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	flows), Increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration). Water quality intolerance.	During the baseline survey CPRE was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. OPER was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.03 indiv/min electrofishing.	CPRE & OPER present less than 33% of time (not sampled for more than 3 consecutive surveys) <u>AND/OR</u> OPER present at relative abundance below 0.02 indiv/min.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	OMOS & BMAR will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats at the site. Both species were sampled during baseline survey, OMOS being present at 0.28 indiv/min electrofishing, and BMAR at 0.93 indiv/min electrofishing.	OMOS & BMAR absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> OMOS present at relative abundance < 0.15 indiv/min and < 0.5 indiv/min for BMAR.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	During the baseline survey MBRE was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. BMAR was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.93 indiv/min electrofishing.	MBRE present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys) and BMAR absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.5 indiv/min for BMAR.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	During the baseline survey BRAD was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. BVIV was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.4 indiv/min electrofishing.	BRAD present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys) and BVIV absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.3 indiv/min for BVIV.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	During the baseline survey BTRI was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. BVIV was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.4 indiv/min electrofishing.	BTRI present less than 75% of time and BVIV absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.3 indiv/min for BVIV.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	During the baseline survey MMAC & PCAT were not sampled, but it is expected to be present (at low abundance) at site.	MMAC & PCAT present less than 33% of time (not sampled for more than 3 consecutive surveys).	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	During the baseline survey TREN was not sampled, but it is expected to be present at site. BVIV was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.4 indiv/min electrofishing.	TREN & BVIV absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.3 indiv/min for BVIV.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B22 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle area is greater than 15 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle area is less than 16 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 10 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 11 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.8 m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.6 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river is greater than 35 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 36 m.
To ensure that there are at least 14% fast flow over coarse substrate.	There is less than 15% fast flow over coarse substrate.
To ensure that less than 15% of the coarse substrates are embedded.	More than 13% of the coarse substrates are embedded.

To onsure that loss than 25% of the coarse substrates are covered	More than 22% of the coarse substrates are covered with
with algae.	algae.
To ensure that at least 1% of the marginal area contains inundated vegetation.	Less than 2% of the marginal area contains inundated vegetation.
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 110; ASPT value: > 5.	SASS5 scores below 120 and ASPT below 5.1.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a C category (62 $-$ 78), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 64 or less.
 To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Libellulidae (Abundance A) Elmidae (Abundance A) 	Any one of these taxa missing in two consecutive surveys.
 To maintain sufficient quantity and quality of inundated vegetation to support the following vegetation dwelling taxa: Atyidae Coenagrionidae 	Any one of these taxa missing in two consecutive surveys.
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following five key taxa: Tricorythidae Elmidae Libellulidae Atyidae Coenagrionidae To operagrionidae	Presence of less than four of the five key taxa listed in any survey.
as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys.	Any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 500 for two consecutive surveys.

Table B23 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
	Maintain the physical habitat	Overall for the site:
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	diversity; specifically preventing the loss of bedrock habitat through smothering by sands.	Bedrock should be more than 30%.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	The site is bedrock controlled and little adjustment of the channel can occur. No TPC has been set for this metric.

Table B24 EWR 6 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Cattle: ≥ 3
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: ≥ 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	2	>3
Materia and and and and	0.5 Croon	Green: ≥ 3.
Water colour and extern	0.5, Green	All other colours: ≥ 1
Turbidity/clarity	2	≥ 2
Mater evenes indicator and extent	Nono	All indicators: ≥ 2
		Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	4	> 4

Table B25 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Maintain the absence of perennial exotic species.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 5%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 5 and 60%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 5% OR above 60%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover above 30% (in summer).	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30%.
	Maintain reed cover above 10%.	A decrease in reed cover below 10%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain reed cover between 10% and 90%.	An increase in reed cover above 90% or a decrease below 10%.
	Maintain reed cover below 50%.	An increase in reed cover above 50%.

Table B26 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Four of the 34 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey. Sampling conditions were not optimal due to high flows and crocodiles, and it can be expected that more species (approx. 21) should be present at the site (highlighted in yellow in Section 9.5.2) (approx. 13 spp. should be sampled using electrofishing).	Less than 10 fish species sampled using electrofishing during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During previous surveys (not baseline EWR survey) conducted under optimal sampling conditions, fish were sampled at > 10 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 7 individual per minute sampled at the site (during optimal sampling conditions).	
Alien fish species.	No alien species previously sampled at site.	Presence of any alien fish species during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	CPAR and BMAR should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data for site: CPAR sampled 67% of time and BMAR 100% of time).	CPAR present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys) and BMAR absent during any survey.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows) (to be quantified with RHAM).
FS habitats. CPAR and LCYL should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data	CPAR & LCYL present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Substrate.	for site: CPAR and LCYL sampled 67% of time).	than 2 consecutive surveys).	Increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	LMOL and BMAR should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data for site: LMOL sampled 33% of time and BMAR 100% of time).	LMOL and BMAR absent during any survey.	
Water quality intolerance.	LMOL and CPAR should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data for site: LMOL sampled 33% of time and CPAR 67% of time).	LMOL and CPAR absent during any survey.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	TREN and OMOS should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data for site: TREN sampled 100% of time and OMOS 67% of time).	TREN and OMOS absent during any survey.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	HVIT and BIMB should be present at the site in deep pools (based on available data for site both species sampled 33% of time).	HVIT & BIMB present less than 33% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	BVIV and GGIU should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data for site: BVIV sampled 67% of time and GGIU 33% of time).	BVIV present < 100% of time and GGIU present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	BVIV and TREN should always be present at the site under baseline conditions (based on available data	BVIV & TREN absent during any	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	for site: BVIV sampled 67% of time and TREN 100% of time).	survey.	significant change in instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	No indicator species of undercut banks previous sampled at site.		

Table B27 EWR6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS
To ensure that the maximum depth over the bedrock area is greater than 50 cm.	The maximum depth over the bedrock area is less than 52 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle area is greater than 25 cm.	The average depth over the riffle area is less than 26 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle area is greater than 0.4 m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle area is less than 0.45 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river is greater	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 51 m.

than 50 m.		
To ensure that there are at least 5% fast flow over bedrock.	There is less than 6% fast flow over bedrock.	
To ensure that less than 60% of the bedrock is covered with algae.	More than 65% of the bedrock is covered with algae.	
To ensure that at least 3% of the marginal area contains inundated vegetation.	Less than 4% of the marginal area contains inundated vegetation.	
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS	
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 120; ASPT value: > 4.8.	SASS5 scores below 125 and ASPT below 4.8.	
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a C category (62 – 78), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 64 or less.	
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the Tricorythidae in the VFCS (Very fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope:	Tricorythidae missing in any two consecutive surveys.	
To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Libellulidae (Abundance A) Elmidae (Abundance A)	Any one of these taxa missing in two consecutive surveys.	
• To maintain sufficient quantity and quality of inundated vegetation to support the Coenagrionidae.	Coenagrionidae missing in two consecutive surveys.	
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following four key taxa: Tricorythidae Elmidae Libellulidae Coenagrionidae	Presence of less than three of the six key taxa listed in any survey.	
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys.		

Table B28 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution. (substrate) distribution. (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
		Sand should not exceed 10%.
		Cobbles should exceed 5%.
		Within all of the fast habitats:
	available physical habitats.	Sands should not exceed 5%.
		Cobbles should exceed 5%.
Proportion of embedded sediments.	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Embedded cobbles or gravels should be less than 5% of the site.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 0.9 m^3 /s the average width of the active channel should be between 5 and 8 m wide.
Lower bank stability.	Extent of undercut banks.	Overall for the site, the proportion of undercut banks should not exceed 20%.

Table B29 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Maintain cover (%) of perennial exotic species at 30% or lower.	An increase in perennial exotic species cover > 30%.
Terrestrialisation.	Maintain cover (%) of terrestrial woody species at 15% or lower.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 10%.
	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species below 70%, but always present.	An increase in riparian woody species cover above 70% OR below 1%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 5 and 60%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 5% OR above 60%.
	Maintain cover (%) of riparian woody species between 20 and 70%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 20% OR above 70%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover above 30% (in summer).	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30%.
	Maintain reed cover above 10%.	A decrease in reed cover below 10%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Maintain reed cover between 10% and 90%.	An increase in reed cover above 90% or a decrease below 10%.
	Maintain reed cover below 50%.	An increase in reed cover above 50%.

Table B30 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT	
Species richness.	Twelve of an expected 17 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 8 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity- depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).	
Relative abundance.	During recent baseline survey fish were sampled at 2.6 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 1.8 individual per minute sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	N/A.	
Alien fish species.	No alien /introduced fish species sampled at site during recent baseline survey.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.	
FD Habitats.	During the recent baseline survey BELIT	BEUT and CPRE absent from	Deduced evitebility	
FS habitats.	was present at relative abundance of 0.13	the site during any survey OR	(abundance & quality) of FD	
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	indiv/min and CPRE at relative abundance of 0.75 indiv/min.	0.09 for BEUT and < 0.5 for CPRE.	& FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased	
Substrate.	During recent baseline survey BMAR was present at a relative abundance of 1.27 indiv/min and CPRE at relative abundance of 0.75 indiv/min.	BMAR and CPRE absent from a site during any survey and/or present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min for BMAR and < 0.5 for CPRE.	sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Water quality intolerance.	BEUT & CPRE will be most appropriate indicators of water quality at the site. Both species should under present conditions be present at site 100% of the time. During the recent baseline survey BEUT was present at relative abundance of 0.13 indiv/min and CPRE at 0.75 indiv/min.	BEUT and CPRE absent during any survey or BEUT with relative abundance < 0.09 indiv/min and CPRE < 0.5 indiv/min.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).	
SD habitats.	BUNI & BMAR will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats at the site. During the recent baseline survey BUNI was present at a relative abundance of 0.1 indiv/min and BMAR at 1.27 indiv/min.	BMAR absent during any survey or with relative abundance < 1 indiv/min and or BUNI present less than 50% of time (absent for 2 consecutive surveys) or present with relative abundance of < 0.06 indiv/min.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Water column.	BMAR & MACU are the best indicators of water column habitats at the site. During the recent baseline survey BMAR was present at a relative abundance of 1.27 indiv/min and MACU at 0.05 indiv/min.	BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min, and MACU resent less than 50% of time (absent for 2 consecutive surveys) or with relative abundance of < 0.02 indiv/min.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).	
SS habitats.	BUNI & BMAR are the species with most indicator value for SS. BUNI was present during the recent baseline survey at a relative abundance of 0.1 indiv/min., while BMAR was present at 1.27 indiv/min.	BUNI present less than 50% of time (absent for 2 consecutive surveys) or with relative abundance of < 0.06 indiv/min AND/OR MAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Overhanging vegetation.	BUNI & BEUT are the species with most indicator value for overhanging vegetation at the site. BUNI was present during the recent baseline survey at a relative abundance of 0.1 indiv/min, and BEUT at 0.13 indiv/min.	BUNI & BEUT present less than 50% of time (absent for 2 consecutive surveys) or BUNI with relative abundance of < 0.06 indiv/min and BEUT with relative abundance of < 0.09 indiv/min.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Undercut banks.	BEUT will be the most appropriate indicator of undercut banks at site EWR 7 and should be present 100%. It was sampled during baseline survey at 0.13 indiv/min.	BEUT present less than 50% of time (absent for 2 consecutive surveys) I with relative abundance of < 0.09 indiv/min.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).	

Table B31 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

HABITAT ECOSPECS	HABITAT TPCS
To ensure that the maximum depth over the riffle/rapid area is greater than 30 cm.	The maximum depth over the riffle/rapid area is less than 32 cm.
To ensure that the average depth over the riffle/rapid area is greater than 15 cm.	The average depth over the riffle/rapid area is less than 16 cm.
To ensure that the maximum velocity over the riffle/rapid area is greater than 0.8 m/s.	The maximum velocity over the riffle/rapid area is less than 0.6 m/s.
To ensure that the average width of the river is greater than 3 m.	The average width of the river in the riffle are is less than 3.2 m.

To ensure that there are at least 25% fast flow over bedrock substrate.	There is less than 26% fast flow over bedrock.	
To ensure that less than 50% of the bedrock substrates are covered with algae.	More than 51% of the bedrock is covered with algae.	
BIOTA ECOSPECS	BIOTA TPCS	
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 185; ASPT value: > 5.7.	SASS5 scores below 190 and ASPT below 5.8.	
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category $(82 - 88)$, using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 84 or less.	
To maintain suitable flow velocity(maximum > 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the VFCS biotope: Perlidae (Abundance A) Psephenidae (Abundance A) Philopotamidae (Abundance A)	Any one of these taxa missing or present as a single individual in any two consecutive surveys.	
 To maintain suitable flow velocity (0.3 - 0.6 m/s) and clean, unembedded surface area (cobbles) to support the following flow-dependent taxa in the FFCS (Fast flow over coarse sediment) biotope: Heptageniidae (Abundance A) Elmidae (Abundance A) 	Any one of these taxa missing or present as a single individual in two consecutive surveys.	
To maintain suitable water quality, shading, temperature and habitat conditions for the following five key taxa: Perlidae Psephenidae Philopotamidae Elmidae Heptageniidae	Presence of less than four of the five key taxa listed in any survey.	
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as D abundance (> 1000) over more than two consecutive surveys		
The REC is the same as the PES thus these values also refer to the REC.		

B1.2 SABIE-SAND SUB-CATCHMENT

There was no available baseline RHAM data for EWR 2, 4, 5, 6 and 7, so EcoSpecs and TPCs tied to this format of physico-chemical data could not be generated. No Geomorphology RHAM data was available for EWR 2, 6 and 7 and EcoSpecs and TPC data provided is based on GAI data.

Table B32 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution. Maintain the bed n within the active cl the available phys.	Maintain the bed material size distribution	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
		Sand (< 6 mm) should not exceed 25%.
	within the active channel in order to maintain	Gravels should be more than 5%.
	the available physical habitats.	And within all of the fast habitats:
		Sand should not exceed 10%.
Proportion of embedded sediments.	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Embedded cobbles or gravels should be less than 5% of the site.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 3 m³/s the average width of the active channel should be between 11 and 15 metres wide.

Table B33 EWR 1 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Water odour type and extent	None	Cattle: ≥ 3
		Chemical pollution: \geq 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	1	>3
Water colour and extent	0.5, Green	Green: ≥ 3.
		All other colours: ≥ 1
Turbidity/clarity	1.5	≥ 2
Water surface indicator and extent	None	All indicators: ≥ 2
		Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	4	> 4
Table B34 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	ТРС
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 10 - 15%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 15%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Riparian woody species cover between 30% and 60%.	An increase in riparian woody species cover above 60% OR a decrease below 30%.
	Riparian woody species cover between 30% and 60%.	An increase in riparian woody species cover above 60% OR a decrease below 30%.
	Riparian woody species cover between 30% and 60%.	An increase in riparian woody species cover above 60% OR a decrease below 30%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 30% and 40%.	An increase in reed cover above 40%.
	Reed covers between 20% and 30%.	An increase in reed cover above 30%.

Table B35 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Three of an expected 7 naturally occurring indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR-PES) survey.	Less than 3 naturally occurring indigenous fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During the baseline (EWR-PES) surveys fish were sampled at 2.8 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 1.5 indiv/min sampled at the site (during optimal sampling conditions).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats. FS habitats. Substrate. Flow dependant spp (flow alteration). Water quality intolerance.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 2 indiv/min electrofishing, while CANO was present at 0.76 indiv/min.	VNEL and CANO absent from site during any survey <u>OR</u> present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min for VNEL and < 0.4 indiv/min for CANO.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
SD habitats.	AMOS only SD indicator sampled at EWR site during baseline survey, present at relative abundance of 0.01 indiv/min electrofishing.	AMOS only SD indicator sampled at site and not a reliable indicator species as they are generally coincidentally sampled (TPCs for BANO & BBRI can be defined in future if they are sampled at site).	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	No indicator species available at site of	or in reach for water column as cover.	
SS habitats.	BANO, BBRI & TSPA only SS and overhanging vegetation indicator species expected at site. None of these species were present during	TPCs for BANO, BBRI & TSPA can be defined in future if they are sampled at the EWR site	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	baseline (EWR) survey.		Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	AMOS only undercut bank indicator sampled at EWR site during baseline survey, present at relative abundance of 0.01 indiv/min electrofishing.	AMOS only SD indicator sampled at site and not a reliable indicator species as they are generally coincidentally sampled. (TPCs for BBRI can be defined in future if they are sampled at site).	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	BANO & TSPA only instream vegetation indicator species expected at site. None of these species were present during baseline (EWR) survey.	TPCs for BANO & TSPA can be defined in future if they are sampled at the EWR site.	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B36 EWR 1: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: Habitat	TPCS
Average depth over the top of wetted cobbles/bedrock should exceed 0.1 m. Maximum depth measured should exceed 0.25 m.	Maximum depth less than 0.28 m.
Average and maximum velocities should be > 0.2 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.25 and 0.65 m/s.
Small % of FCS, VFCS and inundated vegetation to be present.	No FCS present.

< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
Marginal vegetation (MV) inundated to a depth of > 0.25 m.	MV inundated to a depth of < 0.2 m.
ECOSPECS: Biota	TPCS
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category (80 – 89), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 80 or less.
Presence of at least three of the following taxa: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Athericidae, Baetidae > 2spp.	One or more of the following taxa present as individuals only, or absent: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Athericidae, Baetidae > 2 spp.
No macroinvertebrate family consistently dominating the fauna defined as C abundance (> 100) over two consecutive surveys.	Any one or more taxa occurring in an abundance of > 100 individuals over two consecutive surveys.

Table B37 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs	
ACTIVE CHANNEL SU	ACTIVE CHANNEL SUBSTRATE CHANGES		
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.Overall for the in-channel sediments: 		
ACTIVE CHANNEL MC	ACTIVE CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY		
Active channel morphology.	Maintain the channel/reach type. Maintain the channel/reach type.		
GAI level IV EC	-	-	
GAI level IV PES score.	Maintain or improve the GAI score. PES score from the GAI level IV should equal or exceed 85%.		

Table B38 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 10 - 15%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 15%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Riparian woody species cover between 20% and 70%.	An increase in riparian woody species cover above 70% OR a decrease below 20%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Non-woody cover between 50 and 60%.	An increase in non-woody cover above 60%.

Table B39 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	14 of the 22 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 12 fish species sampled using electrofishing during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During the baseline (EWR-PES) surveys fish were sampled at 4.3 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 2.5 indiv/min sampled at the site (during optimal sampling conditions).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 0.43 indiv/min electrofishing, while BEUT was present at 0.57 indiv/min (electrofishing).	VNEL and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.25 indiv/min for VNEL and < 0.3 indiv/min for BEUT.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows) (to be quantified with RHAM).
FS habitats.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 0.43 indiv/min while	VNEL and CANO absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.25	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero

	CANO was present at 1.82 indiv/min (electrofishing).	indiv/min for VNEL and < 1.2 indiv/min for CANO.	flows) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Substrate.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 0.43 indiv/min while BPOL was present at 0.15 indiv/min (electrofishing).	VNEL absent from site during any survey and BPOL absent during 2 consecutive surveys OR present at relative abundance < 0.25 indiv/min for VNEL and < 0.08 indiv/min for BPOL.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of substrate habitats (increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates, etc.) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	During the baseline survey OPER was present at site at relative abundance of 0.12 indiv/min while CANO was present at 1.82 indiv/min (electrofishing).	OPER and CANO absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.05 indiv/min for OPER and < 1.2 indiv/min for CANO.	
Water quality intolerance.	During the baseline survey BEUT was present at site at relative abundance of 0.57 indiv/min while CANO was present at 1.82 indiv/min (electrofishing).	BEUT and CANO absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.3 indiv/min for BEUT and < 1.2 indiv/min for CANO.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	During the baseline survey BMAR was present at site at relative abundance of 0.42 indiv/min while BPOL was present at 0.15 indiv/min (electrofishing).	BMAR absent from site during any survey and BPOL absent during 2 consecutive surveys OR present at relative abundance < 0.25 indiv/min for BMAR and < 0.08 indiv/min for BPOL.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	During the baseline survey BMAR was present at site at relative abundance of 0.42 indiv/min while BPOL was present at 0.15 indiv/min (electrofishing).	BMAR absent from site during any survey and BPOL absent during 2 consecutive surveys OR present at relative abundance < 0.25 indiv/min for BMAR and < 0.08 indiv/min for BPOL.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	MACU & PPHI are the best indicator species of SS at the site (as observed during baseline surveys). During the baseline survey MACU was present at site at relative abundance of 0.05 indiv/min while PPHI was present at 0.25 indiv/min (electrofishing).	PPHI absent from site during any survey and MACU absent during 2 consecutive surveys OR present PPHI present at relative abundance < 0.15 indiv/min.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	During the baseline survey BEUT was present at site at relative	BEUT and PPHI absent from site during any survey OR present at	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	PPHI was present at 0.25 indiv/min (electrofishing).	for BEUT and < 1.5 indiv/min for PPHI.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	The only species with high indicator value for instream vegetation is TSPA. During the baseline survey TSPA was present at site at relative abundance of 0.07 indiv/min.	TSPA absent during 2 consecutive surveys or present with relative abundance < 0.03 indiv/min.	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B40 EWR 2: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCS
Average and maximum depth should exceed 0.1 m and 0.2 m respectively.	Average and maximum depth less than 0.15 and 0.25 m respectively.
Average and maximum velocities should exceed 0.2 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.25 and 0.65 m/s.
> 10% of FCS to be present and > 5 % of VFCS.	< 12% FCS present. < 5% FCS.
< 10% algal cover on cobbles and boulders.	> 10% algal cover on cobbles and boulders.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
Adequate inundation of marginal and instream vegetation.	Marginal and/or instream vegetation largely exposed.
ECOSPECS	TPCS
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 160; ASPT value: > 6.8.	SASS5 scores below 160 and ASPT below 7.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B/C category (77.4 - 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 80 or less.
Presence of the following taxa at A or greater abundances: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Elmidae, Baetidae > 2 spp.	One or more of the following taxa present as individuals only, or absent altogether: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, and Elmidae. Less than 2 spp of Baetidae.
To ensure that no group consistently dominates the fauna, defined as C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	The presence of any taxon occurring in an abundance of > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.

Table B41 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
to show at so for sof		Sand (<6 mm) should not exceed 50%.
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.		Bedrock should be more than 20%.
		Within all of the fast habitats:
		Sand should not exceed 30%.
Proportion of	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure	Embedded cobbles should be less than 30% of the site.
embedded sediments.	bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Embedded boulders should be less than 30% of the site.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 1.6 m ³ /s the average width of the active channel should be between 10 and 13 m wide.

Table B42 EWR 3 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
		Cattle: ≥ 3
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: ≥ 1
		Other sources: ≥ 2
Filamentous algae in water column	0.5	>3
Mater ealers and extent	0.5, Green	Green: ≥ 3.
water colour and extent		All other colours: ≥ 1
Turbidity/clarity	0.5	≥ 2
Water surface indicator and extent	Nono	All indicators: ≥ 2
Water surface indicator and extern	None	Salt deposits: ≥ 1
Algal cover on hard surfaces	4	> 4

Table B43 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 1 and 5%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 5%.
	The absence of terrestrial woody species.	A presence of terrestrial woody species.
Terrestrialisation.	The absence of terrestrial woody species.	An increase in terrestrial woody species covers above 5%.
	Terrestrial woody cover between 10 and 20%.	An increase in terrestrial woody species covers above 20%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Indigenous riparian woody cover between 20 and 40%.	A decrease in riparian woody species cover below 10% OR an increase above 40%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Maintain grass, sedge and dicotyledonous forb cover between 30% and 90%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 30% OR above 90%.

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
	Reed covers between 20 and 40%. An increase in reed cover above 80% OF decrease below 20%.	
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 20 and 40%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% OR a decrease below 20%.
	Reed covers between 1 and 20%.	An increase in reed cover above 30% OR a total loss of reed cover.

Table B44 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	15 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 13 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent surveys fish were sampled at 4.5 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 3.5 indiv/min sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data) when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	BMAR and CANO are expected to always be present at the EWR site (conditions similar to baseline conditions). This is based on available data for the site: (192 CANO individuals sampled during EWR survey at 2.02 indiv/min), and BMAR 100% present during historical surveys, and sampled at relative abundance of 0.74 indiv/min under baseline conditions.	BMAR and CANO present less than 100% of time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR decrease in relative abundance of < 0.5 indiv/min for BMAR and < 1.5 indiv/min for CANO.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
FS habitats.	BMAR and LMOL are expected to always be present at the site (conditions similar to baseline conditions). This is based on available data for the site: BMAR	BMAR and LMOL present less than 100% of time (not sampled during any survey) AND/OR	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), (to be quantified with RHAM).
and LMOL 100% present during historical surveys, and both species Substrate. sampled at a relative abundance of 0.7 indiv/min under baseline conditions	decrease in relative abundance of < 0.5 indiv/min for both species.	Increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).	
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	CANO is expected to always be present at the site (conditions similar to baseline conditions) and OPER sampled 60% of the historical surveys. 192 indiv CANO sampled during EWR survey (2.02 indiv/min.), and OPER sampled at a relative abundance of 0.14 indiv/min under baseline conditions.	OPER present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys) and CANO absent during any survey AND/OR decrease in relative abundance of < 1.5 indiv/min. for CANO.	
Water quality intolerance.	Both species were sampled during baseline survey: OPER sampled at a relative abundance of 0.14 indiv/min (60% of historical surveys), and BEUT sampled at a relative abundance of 0.12 indiv/min (40% of historical surveys).	OPER and BEUT present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	OMOS & TREN will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats at the site. Both species were sampled during historical surveys (80 - 100% of the time) and during the baseline survey, but at low numbers, OMOS being present at 0.04 indiv/min electrofishing, and TREN at 0.01 indiv/min electrofishing. BMAR have a lower indicator value (0.88), but is more abundant (0.74 indiv/min electrofishing) and thus should be used in conjunction with TREN & OMOS.	BMAR absent during any survey (or with relative abundance < 0.5 indiv/min.) AND/OR <u>both</u> TREN and OMOS absent during any survey.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	OPE & MBRE were sampled during baseline survey: OPER sampled at a relative abundance of 0.14 indiv/min (60% of historical surveys), and	Adult BMAR individuals (> 150 mm) absent during any survey AND/OR <u>both</u> MBRE and OPER absent during any survey.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	MBRE sampled at a relative abundance of 0.01 indiv/min (80% of historical surveys). BMAR have a lower indicator value (0.82), but is more abundant (0.74 indiv/min electrofishing) and could be used in conjunction with MBRE & OPER.		
SS habitats.	BVIV was present during baseline EWR survey at relative abundance of 0.17 indiv/min electrofishing.	BVIV absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.1 indiv/min for BVIV.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	Both species were sampled during baseline survey: BVIV is the best indicator of overhanging vegetation habitats (Indicator value = 0.98) and is expected to be present at site EWR3 100% of the time at > 0.17 indiv/min electroshocking. Alternative overhanging vegetation indicators (SMER, TREN & BUNI) occur in very low numbers, thus PPHI have been selected as additional indicator. PPHI had a relative abundance of 0.25 indiv/min during baseline survey and it occurred 60% of surveys conducted at site.	BVIV absent during any survey AND/OR decrease in relative abundance below 0.1 indiv/min for BVIV. PPHI present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	Both species were sampled during the baseline survey at relatively high numbers. Despite lower numbers in historical sampling surveys, it is expected that both species should be present at site EWR3 100% of the time. During baseline survey BEUT at a relative abundance of 0.12 indiv/min, and PPHI at 0.25 indiv/min. electrofishing.	Both BEUT & PPHI absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.07 indiv/min for BEUT and < 0.15 indiv/min for PPHI.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	TREN & BVIV will be most appropriate indicators of Instream vegetation habitats at the site. Both species were sampled during the baseline survey and 100% of the time during historical surveys. However, TREN was sampled at low numbers (0.01 indiv/min electrofishing). BVIV were sampled at 0.17 indiv/min electroshocking.	BVIV absent during any survey <u>AND/OR</u> decrease in relative abundance below 0.1 indiv/min for BVIV. <u>AND/OR</u> TREN present less than 50% of time (not sampled for more than 2 consecutive surveys).	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B45 EWR 3: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCS
Average and maximum depth should exceed 0.25 m and 0.5 m respectively.	Average and maximum depth less than 0.25 and 0.5 m respectively.
Average and maximum velocities should exceed 0.3 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.3 and 0.6 m/s.
> 2% of FCS to be present.	< 2% FCS present
< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
Marginal and instream vegetation to be inundated to a depth of > 0.25 m.	Marginal vegetation inundated to a depth of < 0.27 m.
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCS
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 190; ASPT value: > 6.	SASS5 scores below 200 and ASPT below 6.2.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category (> 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 82.01 or less.
Presence of at least 7 of the following 9 high-scoring taxa: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Baetidae > 2spp, Helodidae, Athericidae, Philopotamidae, Chlorocyphidae and Pyralidae.	Two or more of the following taxa present only as individuals, or absent altogether: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Helodidae, Athericidae, Chlorocyphidae, Pyralidae, and Philopotamidae. Less than 2 spp of Baetidae.
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of invertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa can be at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae, Baetidae). No group to consistently dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance, i.e. > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.

Table B46 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel sediments:
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.		Sand percentage should not exceed 30%.
		Gravels should be more than 15%.
		Cobbles should not be less than 10%.
		Within all of the fast habitats:
		Sand should not exceed 10%.
Proportion of	Maintain minimum embeddedness to ensure	Embedded cobbles should be less than 20% of the site.
embedded sediments.	bed mobility and create habitat for instream biota.	Embedded boulders should be less than 30% of the site.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 1 m ³ /s the average width of the active channel should be between 12 and 16 m wide.

Table B47 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 1 and 5%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 5%.
Terrestrialisation	The absence of woody kloof species.	A presence of woody kloof species.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Indigenous riparian woody cover between 20 and 60%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 20%.
	Indigenous riparian woody cover between 60 and 80%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 60%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Non-woody cover between 30 and 60%.	An increase in non-woody cover above 70%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	The absence of reeds.	The presence of reeds.

Table B48 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	5 of the 12 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 5 fish species sampled using electrofishing during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent surveys fish were sampled at 3.1 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 1.6 indiv/min sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 1.58 indiv/min electrofishing, while BEUT was present at 0.25 indiv/min (electrofishing).	VNEL and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min for VNEL and < 0.1 indiv/min for BEUT.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows) (to be quantified with RHAM).
FS habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance
Substrate.	During the baseline survey VNEL was present at site at relative abundance of 1.58 indiv/min electrofishing, while CANO was present at 0.81 indiv/min (electrofishing).	VNEL and CANO absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min for VNEL and < 0.4 indiv/min for CANO.	& quality) of FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of substrate habitats (increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates, etc.) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	During the baseline survey CANO was present at site at relative abundance of 0.81 indiv/min	CANO and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at	
Water quality intolerance.	electrofishing, while BEUT was present at 0.25 indiv/min (electrofishing).	for CANO and < 0.1 indiv/min for BEUT.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	OPER was only indicator of SD habitats sampled during baseline conditions and it was present in very low abundance (0.02 indiv/min).	Due to low abundance of OPER at site, it may not be a valid indicator and will require verification. Preliminary TPC: Absence of OPER for 2 consecutive surveys.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	OPER was only indicator of water	Due to low abundance of OPER at	Reduction in suitability of water

NETRIA	5000550	750	
METRIC	ECOSPEC	IPC	HABITAT
	column sampled during baseline conditions and it was present in very low abundance (0.02 indiv/min).	site, it may not be a valid indicator and will require verification. Preliminary TPC: Absence of OPER for 2 consecutive surveys.	column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	BBRI & PPHI are the best indicators of SS habitats at site, but they were not sampled during baseline EWR survey.	Due to absence of any SS habitat indicators at site during baseline survey, no TPC can be set at present. Should these species be sampled in future, TPCs could be defined.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	During the baseline survey BEUT	BEUT absent from site during any	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	(electrofishing).	abundance < 0.1 indiv/min.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	TSPA is the best indicators of instream vegetation habitats at site, but it was not sampled during baseline EWR survey.	Due to absence of an instream vegetation habitat indicator at site during baseline survey, no TPC can be set at present. Should these species be sampled in future, TPCs could be defined.	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B49 EWR 4: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCs
Average and maximum depth should exceed 0.15 m and 0.35 m respectively.	Average and maximum depth less than 0.16 and 0.37 m respectively.
Average and maximum velocities should exceed 0.2 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.25 and 0.65 m/s.
> 5% of FCS to be present and a small % of VFCS.	< 7% FCS present. No FCS.
Small % of MV to be inundated to a depth of > 0.2 m.	Marginal vegetation inundated < 0.2 m or exposed.
< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCs
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 190; ASPT value: > 6.	SASS5 scores below 190 and ASPT below 6.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B category (> 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 82.01 or less.
Presence of at least 7 of the following 9 high-scoring taxa: Perlidae, Heptageniidae Baetidae > 2spp, Helodidae, Athericidae, Philopotamidae, Chlorocyphidae, and Pyralidae.	Two or more of the following taxa present only as individuals, or absent altogether (for 2 consecutive samples): Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Helodidae, Athericidae, Chlorocyphidae, Pyralidae, and Philopotamidae. Less than 2 spp of Baetidae.
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of invertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa may occur at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae).	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance, i.e. > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.
No group to dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys	

Table B50 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Maintain the had motorial size distribution		Overall for the in-channel sediments:
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Sand percentage should not exceed 30%.
		Within all of the fast habitats:
		Sand should not exceed 10%.
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 1 m^3 /s the average width of the active channel should be between 9 and 12 m wide.

Table B51 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 10 - 15%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 15%.
Terrestrialisation	The absence of terrestrial woody species.	The presence of terrestrial woody species.
	Terrestrial woody cover between 1 and 5%.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 5%.
	Terrestrial woody cover between 15 and 20%.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 20%.

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Indigenous riparian woody cover between 70 and 80%.	A decrease in riparian woody cover below 30% OR an increase above 80%.
Non-woody Indigenous Cover (grasses, sedges & dicotyledonous forbs).	Non-woody cover between 40% and 50%.	A decrease in sedge, grass and dicotyledonous forb cover below 40% OR an increase above 90%.
	Reed covers between 20 and 30%.	A decrease in reed cover below 30%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 20 and 30%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% or a decrease below 20%.
	Reed covers below 20%.	An increase in reed cover above 40%.

Table B52 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Fifteen of the 23 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 11 fish species sampled using electrofishing during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent surveys fish were sampled at 4 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 3 individual per minute sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance
FS habitats. Substrate.	During the baseline survey CANO was present at site at relative abundance of 1.36 indiv/min electrofishing, while BMAR was present at 1 indiv/min (electrofishing).	CANO and BMAR absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance 1 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.6 indiv/min for BMAR.	& quality) of FD, FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of substrate habitats (increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates, etc.) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	During the baseline survey CANO was present at site at relative abundance of 1.36 indiv/min electrofishing, while AURA was present at 0.15 indiv/min (electrofishing).	CANO and AURA absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance 1 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.05 indiv/min for AURA.	
Water quality intolerance.	During the baseline survey CANO was present at site at relative abundance of 1.36 indiv/min electrofishing, while BEUT was present at 0.39 indiv/min (electrofishing).	CANO and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 1 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.2 indiv/min for BEUT.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	During the baseline survey CGAR was present at site at relative abundance of 0.1 indiv/min electrofishing, while BMAR was present at 1 indiv/min (electrofishing).	CGAR and BMAR absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance 0.05 indiv/min for CGAR and < 0.6ind/min for BMAR.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	BMAR & OPER are the best indicators of water column at site. During the baseline survey OPER was present at site at very low relative abundance of 0.02 indiv/min electrofishing, while BMAR was present at 1 indiv/min (electrofishing).	BMAR absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.6ind/min for BMAR OR OPER absent for 2 consecutive surveys.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	PPHI & TSPA are the best indicators of SS habitats at site. During the baseline survey both were sampled at very low relative abundance of	PPHI AND TSPA absent for 2 consecutive surveys.	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	0.03 indiv/min for PPHI and 0.02 indiv/min TSPA (electrofishing).		Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	During the baseline survey MMAC was present at site at relative abundance of 0.13 indiv/min electrofishing, while BEUT was present at 0.39 indiv/min (electrofishing).	MMAC and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.05 indiv/min for MMAC and < 0.2 indiv/min for BEUT.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	TSPA is the best indicators of instream vegetation habitats at site. During the baseline survey it was	TSPA absent for 2 consecutive surveys.	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	sampled at very low relative abundance of 0.02 indiv/min (electrofishing).		

Table B53 EWR 5: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCs
Average depth > 0.1 m, maximum depth > 0.2 m.	Maximum depth < 0.25 m.
Average and maximum velocities should be > 0.2 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.25 and 0.65 m/s respectively.
> 5% of FCS to be present and a small % of VFCS.	< 5% FCS present.
< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
Small % of MV to be inundated to a depth of > 0.2 m.	MV exposed or inundated to a depth < 0.2 m.
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCs
To ensure that the SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 225; ASPT value: > 6.2.	SASS5 scores below 230 and ASPT below 6.4.
To ensure that the MIRAI score remains within the range of a B/C category (77.4 - 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 80% or less.
Presence of at least 7 of the following 9 high-scoring taxa: Perlidae, Heptageniidae Baetidae > 2 spp, Elmidae, Athericidae, Hydropsychidae > 2 spp, and Pyralidae.	Two or more of the following taxa present only as individuals, or absent altogether (for 2 consecutive samples): Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Elmidae, Athericidae, and Pyralidae. Less than 2 spp of Baetidae or Hydropsychidae.
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of macroinvertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae, Hydropsychidae, Baetidae, Heptageniidae). No group to dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance, i.e. > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.

Table B54 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs			
ACTIVE CHANNEL S	ACTIVE CHANNEL SUBSTRATE CHANGES				
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel mobile sediments (i.e. bedroc excluded): Sands (<6 mm) should not exceed 10%.			
ACTIVE CHANNEL N	IORPHOLOGY				
Active channel morphology.	Maintain the channel/reach type.	The site is in a multi-channel, bedrock to mixed anastomosing reach which is strongly bedrock controlled. Whilst the bars have become larger and increasingly stabilised as a result of vegetation, the typically high energy active channels remain almost absent of fine sediment. The multiple bedrock distributaries which are almost free of sands and diana must be maintained.			
GALIEVELIV EC					
score.	Maintain or improve the GAI score. PES s	score from the GAI level IV should equal or exceed 71%.			

Table B55 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 15 - 20%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 20%.	
	Riparian woody cover between 1 and 80%.	An increase in riparian woody cover of more than 70% OR a decrease below 5%.	
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Riparian woody cover between 5 and 60%.	An increase in riparian woody cover of more than 50% OR a decrease below 10%.	
	Riparian woody cover between 20 and 70%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 20% OR above 70%.	
	Reed covers between 10% and 20%.	A decrease in reed cover below 20%.	
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 10% and 90%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% or a decrease below 20%.	
	Reed covers between 40% and 50%.	An increase in reed cover above 40%.	

Table B56 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	14 out 29 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the recent baseline (EWR) survey.	Less than 12 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent baseline (EWR) fish were sampled at 5.2 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 4.5 indiv/min sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien /introduced fish species sampled at site during recent baseline survey.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	During the recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at a relative abundance of 0.50 indiv/min and BMAR at 0.55 indiv/min.	CANO and BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance of < 0.30 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.35 indiv/min for BMAR.	
FS habitats.	During the recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at a relative abundance of 0.50 indiv/min, CSWI at 0.03 indiv/min and BMAR at 0.55 indiv/min.	CANO and BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance of < 0.30 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.35 indiv/min for BMAR and CSWI absent for two consecutive surveys.	Reduced suitability (abundance & quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased
Substrate.	During the recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at a relative abundance of 0.50 indiv/min, LMOL at 0.08 indiv/min and BMAR at 0.55 indiv/min.	CANO and BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance of < 0.30 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.35 indiv/min for BMAR and LMOL absent for two consecutive surveys.	zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	CANO & CSWI and BEUT will be most appropriate indicators of flow at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at a relative abundance of 0.50 indiv/min, CSWI at 0.03 indiv/min and BEUT at 0.43 indiv/min.	CANO and BEUT absent during any survey or present at relative abundance of < 0.30 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.20 indiv/min for BEUT and CSWI absent for two consecutive surveys.	
Water quality intolerance.	CANO and BEUT will be most appropriate indicators of water quality at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at a relative abundance of 0.50 indiv/min and BEUT at 0.43 indiv/min.	CANO and BEUT absent during any survey OR present at relative abundance of < 0.30 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.20 indiv/min for BEUT.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	OMOS & BMAR will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey OMOS was present at a relative abundance of 0.72 indiv/min and BMAR at 0.55 indiv/min.	OMOS and BMAR absent during any survey or present at relative abundance of < 0.35 indiv/min for BMAR and < 0.50 indiv/min for OMOS.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	Species with high indicator value for water column is MBRE & BMAR. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey MBRE was present at a relative abundance of 0.02 indiv/min and BMAR at 0.55 indiv/min.	BMAR absent during any survey or present at a relative abundance of < 0.35 indiv/min and MBRE absent for two consecutive surveys.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	BVIV & MACU will be most appropriate indicators of SS habitats	BVIV absent during any survey or present at a relative abundance of	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows,

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

METRIC	FCOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey BVIV was present at a relative abundance of 0.12 indiv/min and MACU at 0.03 indiv/min.	< 0.05 indiv/min and MACU absent for two consecutive surveys.	altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats). (To be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	BVIV & BTRI will be the most appropriate indicators of overhanging vegetation habitats at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey BVIV was present at a relative abundance of 0.12 indiv/min and BTRI at 0.72 indiv/min.	BVIV & BTRI absent during any survey or BVIV present with relative abundance < 0.05 indiv/min and BTRI < 0.5 indiv/min.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	MMAC& BEUT will be the most appropriate indicators of undercut banks habitat at the site. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey MMAC was present at a relative abundance of 0.03 indiv/min and BEUT at 0.43 indiv/min.	BEUT absent during any survey or present at a relative abundance of < 0.20 indiv/min and MMAC absent for two consecutive surveys.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	Species with high indicator value for instream vegetation at this site is TREN & BVIV. During the recent baseline (EWR) survey TREN was present at a relative abundance of 0.07 indiv/min and BVIV at 0.12 indiv/min.	BVIV absent during any survey or with relative abundance < 0.05 indiv/min and TREN absent for two consecutive surveys.	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B57 EWR 6: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCs
Average depth > 0.2 m, maximum depth measured > 0.3 m.	Average depth < 0.25 m.
Average and maximum velocities should be > 0.2 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.25 and 0.65 m/s
Small % of FCS to be present.	No FCS present.
< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.
< 10% embeddedness of cobbles.	> 10% embeddedness of cobbles.
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCs
SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 180; ASPT value: > 6.	SASS5 scores below 190 and ASPT below 6.
MIRAI score remains within the range of a B/C category (77.4 - 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 80% or less.
Presence of Heptageniidae and Hydropsychidae 2 sp.	Absence of Heptageniidae, and/or less than 2 spp of hydropsychids or individuals only.
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of macroinvertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae, Hydropsychidae, Baetidae, Heptageniidae). No group to dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance, i.e. > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.

Table B58 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs
ACTIVE CHANNEL SUI	BSTRATE CHANGES	
In-channel sediment (substrate) distribution.	Maintain the bed material size distribution within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Overall for the in-channel sediments: Sands (<6 mm diameter) must be more than 90%.
ACTIVE CHANNEL MORPHOLOGY		
Active channel morphology.	Maintain the channel/reach type.	Historically this reach had a much wider active channel and more open macro-channel (i.e. less vegetation on the macro-channel floor). Currently the banks and bars are highly stabilised by the dense reedbeds. The active channel should widen over time and the density of vegetation on the macro-channel floor reduce with the provision of increased flows and floods; in doing so reducing some of the historical degradation trends.

Metric	EcoSpec	TPCs	
GAI level IV EC			
GAI level IV PES score.	Maintain or improve the GAI score. PE	S score from the GAI level IV should exceed 61%.	

Table B59 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation

METRIC	ECOSPEC	ТРС
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 15 - 20%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 20%.
Torrostrialization	Terrestrial woody cover between 5 and 10%.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 10%.
Terrestrialisation.	Terrestrial woody cover between 20 and 30%.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 30%.
	Riparian woody cover between 1 and 80%.	An increase in riparian woody cover of more than 70% OR a decrease below 5%.
Indigenous Riparian Woody Cover.	Riparian woody cover between 5 and 60%.	An increase in riparian woody cover of more than 50% OR a decrease below 10%.
	Riparian woody cover between 20 and 70%.	A decrease in riparian woody species covers below 20% OR above 70%.
	Reed covers between 10% and 20%.	A decrease in reed cover below 20%.
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 10% and 90%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% or a decrease below 20%.
	Reed covers between 40% and 50%.	An increase in reed cover above 40%.

Table B60 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Five of the 28 expected indigenous fish species were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey. Sampling conditions were not optimal due to high flows and it can be expected that at least 14 species are present at the site.	Less than 10 fish species sampled during a survey when sampling conditions are optimal and habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent baseline (EWR) survey fish were sampled at 3.5 individuals per minute. This may be even higher during optimal sampling conditions.	Relative abundance of less than 2 individual per minute sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data with optimal sampling conditions).	N/A.
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.			Reduced suitability (abundance
FS habitats. Substrate.	During recent baseline (EWR) survey CANO was present at site at a relative abundance of 0.15 individual/min and BMAR at a relative abundance of 1.56 indiv/min.	CANO and BMAR absent from site during any survey OR present at relative abundance < 0.1 indiv/min for CANO and < 1.2 indiv/min for BMAR.	& quality) of FD & FS habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	CANO & BEUT will be most appropriate indicators of flow at the site. During the recent baseline	CANO and BEUT absent from site during any survey OR present at	
Water quality intolerance.	survey CANO was present at site at a relative abundance of 0.15 indiv/min and BEUT at a relative abundance of 1.13 indiv/min.	relative abundance < 0.1 indiv/min for CANO and < 0.9 indiv/min for BEUT.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
SD habitats.	OMOS & BMAR will be most appropriate indicators of SD, SS & water column habitats at the site.	OMOS and BMAR absent from	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	During recent baseline (EWR) survey OMOS was present at site at a relative abundance of 0.02	site during any survey OR BMAR present at relative abundance of < 1. 2 indiv/min.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
indiv/min and BMAR at a relative abundance of 1.56 indiv/min. SS habitats.			Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging	BTRI & BEUT will be most	BTRI and BEUT absent from site	Significant change in
vegetation.	overhanging vegetation habitats at	relative abundance < 0.40	(to be quantified with RHAM).

Comprehensive Reserve Determination study for the Inkomati River System (WMA5)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
	the site. During recent baseline (EWR) survey BTRI was present at site at a relative abundance of 0.67 indiv/min and BEUT at a relative abundance of 1.13 indiv/min.	indiv/min for BTRI and < 0.9 indiv/min for BEUT.	
Undercut banks.	BEUT is the most appropriate indicator of undercut banks at this site. During recent baseline (EWR) survey BEUT was present at site at a relative abundance of 1.13 indiv/min	BEUT absent during any survey or present with relative abundance < 0.9 indiv/min.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	No indicator species for instream vege recent baseline (EWR) survey and the this habitat at this site cannot be derive species be sampled in future, TPCs sh	Significant change in Instream vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).	

Table B61 EWR 7: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCs		
Average depth >01m, Maximum depth > 0.15 m.	Maximum depth < 0.17 m.		
Average and maximum velocities > 0.3 and 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.32 and 0.65 m/s respectively.		
> 10% FCS and of VFCS.	< 10% FCS and/or VFCS.		
< 10% algal cover on coarse substrates and/or MV.	> 10% algal cover on coarse substrates including bedrock.		
< 5% embeddedness of cobbles.	Any embeddedness of cobbles.		
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCs		
SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 190; ASPT value: > 6.	SASS5 scores below 195 and ASPT below 6.2.		
MIRAI score remains within the range of a B/C category (77.4 - 82.01%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 80% or less.		
Presence of at least 4 of the following 5 taxa at A (or greater) abundance: Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Chlorocyphidae, Helodidae, Athericidae. At least 2 spp of Hydropsychidae and Baetidae.	Absence (or individuals only) of any 2 of the following taxa over Perlidae, Heptageniidae, Chlorocyphidae, Helodidae, Athericidae. Less than 2 spp of baetids or hydropsychids.		
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of macroinvertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae, Hydropsychidae, Baetidae, Heptageniidae).	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance,		
No group to dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (> 100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	- i.e. > 100 individuais for two consecutive surveys.		

Table B62 EWR 8: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Geomorphology

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	
In-channel sediment	Maintain the bed material size distribution	Overall for the in-channel sediments:	
(substrate) distribution.	within the active channel in order to maintain the available physical habitats.	Sand percentage should not exceed 60%.	
Active channel width.	Maintain channel width.	For discharges around 0.5 m ³ /s the average width of the active channel should be between 4 and 7 m wide.	

Table B63 EWR 8 EcoSpecs and TPCs: Physico-chemical (Visual)

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	
		Cattle: ≥ 3	
Water odour type and extent	None	Chemical pollution: ≥ 1	
		Other sources: ≥ 2	
Filamentous algae in water column	1	>3	
Water colour and extent	2 Proum	Green: ≥ 3.	
water colour and extent	2, BIOWII	All other colours: ≥ 1	
Turbidity/clarity	2	≥ 2	
Water surface indicator and	Mana	All indicators: ≥ 2	
extent	None	Salt deposits: ≥ 1	
Algal cover on hard surfaces 1		> 4	

EWR 8: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Riparian vegetation Table B64

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	
Exotic Invasion (perennial exotics).	Exotic species cover between 5 - 10%.	An increase in exotic species covers above 10%.	
Rivers for Africa	Main Report	Report no 26/8/3/10/12/01	

Terrestrialisation.	The absence of terrestrial woody species.	An increase in terrestrial woody species cover > 5%.	
	Reed covers above 30%.	A decrease in reed cover below 30%.	
Phragmites (reed) cover.	Reed covers between 20% and 80%.	An increase in reed cover above 80% or a decrease below 20%.	

Table B65 EWR 8: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Fish

METRIC	ECOSPEC	TPC	HABITAT
Species richness.	Thirteen of the 30 expected indigenous fish species (for the reach) were sampled during the baseline (EWR) survey at EWR 8.	Less than 10 fish species sampled during a survey when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	Loss in diversity, abundance and condition of velocity-depth categories and cover features (to be quantified by RHAM).
Relative abundance.	During recent surveys fish were sampled at 13.1 indiv/min.	Relative abundance of less than 8.0 individual per minute sampled at the site (during same season as baseline data) when habitat can be sampled efficiently.	
Alien fish species.	No alien fish species sampled at site during recent surveys.	Presence of any alien/introduced fish species at site during any survey.	N/A.
FD Habitats.	BMAR & LCYL will be most		Poducod suitability (abundanco
FS habitats.	metrics at the site. BMAR is		& quality) of the flow dependant
Substrate. Flow dependant spp (flow alteration).	expected to always be present at the site at a relative abundance of 0.24 indiv/min electrofishing (conditions similar to baseline conditions). Under baseline survey LCYL were absent at site EWR8 while LMOL was monitored at very low numbers (0.02 indiv/min.)	BMAR absent during any survey (or with relative abundance < 0.18 indiv/min.) AND/OR <u>both</u> LMOL and LCYL absent during any survey.	species in FD, FS and substrate habitats (i.e. decreased flows, increased zero flows), increased sedimentation of riffle/rapid substrates, excessive algal growth on substrates (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water quality intolerance.	Under baseline survey LCYL were absent at site EWR 8 while LMOL was monitored at very low numbers (0.02 indiv/min.)	Both LMOL and LCYL absent during any survey.	Decreased water quality (as indicated by PAI, RHAM visual, or water quality assessments).
TREN & OMOŚ will be most appropriate indicators of SD habitats and expected to always be present at the site. Under baseline conditions TREN was monitored at a relative abundance of 0.17 indiv/min, while OMOS was monitored at 3.69 indiv/min		TREN and OMOS absent during any survey AND/OR TREN present with relative abundance < 0.10 indiv/min and OMOS < 2.0 indiv/min.	Reduced suitability of SD habitats (i.e. increased flows in dry season, alteration in seasonality, sedimentation of pools) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Water column.	BMAR & OMOS will be most appropriate indicators of Water column habitats and expected to always be present at the site. Under baseline conditions BMAR was sampled at a relative abundance of 0.24 indiv/min electrofishing and OMOS was monitored at a relative abundance of 3.69 indiv/min.	BMAR and OMOS absent during any survey AND/OR BMAR present with relative abundance < 0.18 indiv/min and OMOS < 2.0 indiv/min.	Reduction in suitability of water column (i.e. increased sedimentation of pools).
SS habitats.	TREN & BVIV will be most appropriate indicators of SS, overhanging vegetation and instream vegetation habitats and expected to always be present at the	TREN & BVIV absent during any	Significant change in SS habitat suitability (i.e. increased flows, altered seasonality, increased sedimentation of slow habitats) (to be quantified with RHAM).
Overhanging vegetation.	site. Under baseline conditions TREN was monitored at a relative abundance of 0.17 indiv/min_and	with relative abundance < 0.10 indiv/min and BVIV < 2.0 indiv/min.	Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Instream vegetation.	BVIV was monitored at a relative abundance of 4.05 indiv/min.		Significant change in overhanging vegetation habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).
Undercut banks.	PPHI is the best indicators of undercut banks and should be present at site EWR 8 100% of the time at a relative abundance > 3.81 indiv/min.	PPHI absent during any survey or present with relative abundance < 0.2 indiv/min.	Significant change in undercut bank habitats (to be quantified with RHAM).

Table B66 EWR 8: EcoSpecs and TPCs: Macroinvertebrates

ECOSPECS: HABITAT	TPCs
Maximum depth > 0.15 m.	Maximum depth < 0.17 m.
Average and maximum velocities should be > 0.3 and > 0.6 m/s respectively.	Average and maximum velocities less than 0.32 and 0.65 m/s respectively.

> 15% inundated marginal vegetation to be present.	< 17% inundated marginal vegetation.		
< 10% algal cover on bedrock and/or MV.	> 10% algal cover on bedrock or MV.		
ECOSPECS: BIOTA	TPCs		
SASS5 scores and ASPT values occur in the following range: SASS5 score: > 100; ASPT value: > 5.	SASS5 scores below 105 and ASPT below 5.3.		
MIRAI score remains within the range of a C category (62.01 - 77.04%), using the same reference data used in this study.	A MIRAI score of 66% or less.		
Presence of Heptageniidae and Atyidae.	Absence (or individuals only) of Heptageniidae and Atyidae		
Balanced community structure, i.e. majority of invertebrates at A abundance, certain taxa at B abundance (e.g. Simuliidae). No group to dominate the fauna i.e. be present in C abundance (>	The presence of one or more taxon occurring in C abundance, i.e. > 100 individuals for two consecutive surveys.		
100) over more than two consecutive surveys.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

B1.3 DIATOM ECOSPECS AND TPCS RELATING TO RHAM WATER QUALITY INDICATORS: PES

Based on the diatom results from the October 2007 survey, EcoSpecs and TPCs for a B EC were derived. Therefore if a live sample count is needed that includes all metrics, the EcoSpecs and TPCs provided below will apply. Detailed information on the rankings used in this table is available in the R-DRAM document (DWA, 2009b). This is applicable to Crocodile sub-catchment: EWR 1 and 2; Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: EWR 1, EWR 3 and EWR 8 where RHAM data for visual physico-chemical variables were available.

Table B67 Diatom EcoSpecs and TPCs based on a B EC

Physico-chemical metric	EcoSpecs	Class rank*	TPC
рН	6 - 8 Circumneutral	3	≥2; ≤4
Salinity	Fresh brackish (100 - 500 μS/cm)	2	<2
Nutrients	Slightly elevated concentrations of organically bound nitrogen.	1	≤2
Organics	β -mesosaprobic: BOD ₅ < 4mg/l, O ₂ deficit <30%	2	<2
SPI score	≤13.3 - ≥16.8	BEC	≥ 13.3

* According to Van Dam et al. (1994) in OMNIDIA (Lecointe et al., 1993).

RHAM Water Quality			Diatoms (R-DRAM)			
RHAM indicator	Trigger/Water quality indicator	трс	Considered metric/species	EcoSpec Class ranking	TPC ¹	TPC ²
	Chemical	≥1	рH	3	≥2; ≤4	Live sample count: Frustulia and Eunotia spp. count above 75
	Chemical	≥1	Salinity	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <40
Water odour type and extent	Cattle	≥3	Nutrients	1	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <30
	Cattle	≥3	Organics	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <20
	Other sources	≥2	SPI score	B EC	≥ 13.3	≥ 13.3
	Orange water (Iron- oxidizing bacteria or acid mine drainage)	≥1	рН	3	≥2; ≤4	Live sample count: Frustulia and Eunotia spp. count above 75
Water colour	Milky water (Chemical pollution)	1	Salinity	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <40
		21	Organics	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <20
	Green (Algae, eutrophication)	≥3	Nutrients	1	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <30
Turbidity/Clarity	Moderately turbid	≥2	Epithemia adnata (EADN)	>30	N/A	Live sample count for EADN is <30
Extent of algal growth on rocks	Algal cover on hard surfaces	≥2	Nutrients	1	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <30
Water surface and	Salt deposits on bank	≥1	Salinity	2	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <40
vegetation clues	Scum	≥2	Organics	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <20

RHAM Water Quality			Diatoms (R-DRAM)			
RHAM indicator	Trigger/Water quality indicator	трс	Considered metric/species	EcoSpec Class ranking	TPC ¹	TPC ²
	Foam	≥2	Nutrients	1	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is <30

1 Based on total live sample count.

2 Based on live sample counts per metric.

Based on the diatom results, EcoSpecs and TPCs for a C EC were derived. Therefore if a live sample count is needed that includes all metrics, the EcoSpecs and TPCs provided below will apply. This is applicable to Sabie-Sand sub-catchment: EWR 3, and 6 where RHAM data for visual physico-chemical variables were available.

Table B68 Diatom EcoSpecs and TPCs based on a C EC

Physico-chemical metric	EcoSpecs	Class rank*	TPC
рН	6 - 8 Circumneutral	3	≥2; ≤4
Salinity	Fresh brackish (100 - 500 μS/cm)	2	<2
Nutrients	Elevated concentrations of organically bound nitrogen.	2	≤3
Organics	β-ά-mesosaprobic: BOD <7 (10), O2 deficit <50%	3	<3
SPI score	≤8.9 - ≥13	C EC	≥ 8.8

* According to Van Dam et al. (1994) in OMNIDIA (Lecointe et al., 1993).

RHAM Water Quality			Diatoms (R-DRAM)				
RHAM indicator	Trigger/Water quality indicator	трс	Considered metric/species	EcoSpec Class ranking	TPC ¹	TPC ²	
Water odour type and extent	Chemical	≥1	рH	3	≥2; ≤4	Live sample count: Frustulia and Eunotia spp. count above 80.	
	Chemical ≥1		Salinity	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 50 – 100.	
	Cattle	≥3	Nutrients	2	≤3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 40 – 80.	
	Cattle	≥3	Organics	3	<3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 30 – 90.	
	Other sources	≥2	SPI score	C EC	≥ 8.8	≥ 8.8	
Water colour	Orange water (Iron- oxidizing bacteria or acid mine drainage)	≥1	рН	3	≥2; ≤4	Live sample count: Frustulia and Eunotia spp. count above 80.	
	Milky water (Chemical pollution)	≥1	Salinity	2	<2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 50 – 100.	
			Organics	3	<3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 30 – 90.	
	Green (Algae, eutrophication)	≥3	Nutrients	2	≤3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 40 – 80.	
Turbidity/Clarity	Moderately turbid	≥2	Epithemia adnata (EADN)	>50	N/A	Live sample count for EADN is <30.	
Extent of algal growth on rocks	Algal cover on hard surfaces	≥2	Nutrients	2	≤3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 40 – 80.	
Water surface and riparian bank and vegetation clues	Salt deposits on bank	≥1	Salinity	2	≤2	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 50 – 100.	
	Scum	≥2	Organics	3	<3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 30 – 90.	
	Foam	≥2	Nutrients	2	≤3	Live sample count for all species included in this metric is between 40 – 80.	

1 Based on total live sample count

2 Based on live sample counts per metric